## THE A R R O W

of

PI BETA PHI

# INFORMATION NUMBER

SEPTEMBER
1 9 4 2

#### THE ARROW OF PIBETA PHI



#### STAFF

Office of Publication: 715 Main St., Marshall, Ill.

- Arrow Editor: Adèle Taylor Alford (Mrs. T. N.), 930 Olive Ave., Coronado, Calif.
- Assistant Editor and Business Manager: GLADYS WARREN, 715 Main St., Marshall, Ill., or 115 Robinson Ave., San Diego, Calif.
- Alumnæ Club Editor: LOTTA JOHNSON WEIR (Mrs. Benjamin), 855 6th St., Charleston, III.
- Chapter Letter Editor: CANDACE SECOR ARMSTRONG (Mrs. James G.), R.R. 1, Box 489, Orlando, Fla.
- News from Little Pigeon: MILDRED ODELL SALE (Mrs. Clarence M.), 3741 Purdue, Dallas, Texas.
- Exchanges and College Notes: JUANITA DAY CARMAN (Mrs. Ernest), 761 Wilson St., Laguna Beach, Calif.
- From Pi Phi Pens: Mercedes Baker Jorgulesco (Mrs. Jonel), 7 Glenwolde, Tarrytown, N.Y.
- "What a Fraternity Girl Thinks": CANDACE SECOR ARMSTRONG (Mrs. James G.), R.R. 1, Box 489, Orlando, Fla.
- Arrow File: Pi Beta Phi Central Office, Marshall, Ill.
- Arrow Contributors: Whitney Smith; Margaretta Spence Drake; Mary Mar-Jorie Pebworth; Mary Blackman Parsons; Eleanor Stone Thornhill; Marjorie Bright Sharpe; Flo Leland Thompson; Hope Kimbrough Mc-Croskey; Mary Elizabeth Lasher.

## Three Little Words"Enclosed Find Check"-

are just about the nicest that you can find in the morning mail. Three alumnæ clubs and three chapters received checks as magazine commission winners for 1941-42. The winning clubs and chapters are announced below. The same prizes will be offered next year. See if your club or chapter can be a winner in 1942-43.

#### ALUMNÆ CLUB WINNERS

To Denver, Colorado for making the highest total commissions (\$251.29), a prize of \$10.00 To Casper, Wyoming for making the highest per capita commissions (\$4.08), a prize of \$10.00 To Moscow, Idaho for making the greatest percentage increase (1711%), a prize of \$5.00.

#### ACTIVE CHAPTER WINNERS

To Wisconsin Alpha for making the highest total commissions (\$69.25), a prize of \$10.00 To Pennsylvania Beta for making the highest per capita commissions (\$1.52), a prize of \$10.00 To Illinois Epsilon for making the greatest percentage increase (4758%), a prize of \$5.00.

Remember that the Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency can sell any magazine at its lowest authorized price. Send new orders and renewals. Do not send your renewal slip and check to the publishers . . . send it to the Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency and help the Settlement School. Use the subscription blank on page 115 of this issue. The Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency realized a profit of \$5,123.00 from the sale of magazines in 1941-42. Did you help to attain this profit? If not remember the Agency this year when you place magazine subscriptions.

Below is a representative selection of magazines. If you don't find the magazine you want remember that the Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency can accept subscriptions for all magazines published and that it can meet any legitimate magazine competition.

C			1	1 1		40000	43
See	magazine	SUDSCRI	ption t	nank	on	page	43.

See maga	zine	subscript	tion blank on page 43.		
	1	2		1	2
	Year	Years.		Year	Years
Aero Digest	3.00	\$ 4.00	Liberty	3.50	\$ 6.00
American Girl	1.50	2.00	Life	4.50	9.00
American Home	1.50	2.25	Look	2.00	3.50
American Magaine	2.50	4.00	Mademoiselle	2.50	4.00
American Mercury	3.00	5.00	McCall's	1.50	2.40
Arts and Decoration	3.00	5.00	Nation	5.00	8.00
Atlantic Monthly	5.00	7.00	Nature Magaine	3.00	5.00
Better Homes and Gardens	1.50	2.50	News Week	5.00	7.50
Child Life	2.50	4.00	New Yorker	6.00	9.00
Children's Activities	3.00	5.00	Omnibook	5.00	9.00
Children's Playmate	1.50	2.50	Open Road for Boys	1.50	2.50
Christian Herald	2.00	2.50	Photoplay & Movie Mirror	2.50	4.00
Collier's Weekly	3.00	5.00	Popular Aviation	2.50	4.00
Consumers Digest	1.50	3.00	Popular Mechanics	2.50	5.00
Consumers Union Reports	3.00	5.00	Popular Photography	2.75	4.50
Coronet	3.00	5.00	Popular Science	2.00	3.50
Cosmopolitan	3.00	5.00	Radio News	2.50	4.00
Design	3.00	5.50	Reader's Digest	3.00	5.00
Esquire	5.00	8.00	Redbook	2.50	4.00
Etude	2.00	3.50	Saturday Evening Post	3.00	5.00
Flower Grower	2.00	3.00	Scribner's-Commentator	3.00	5.00
Forbes	5:00	7.50	Spur	4.00	6.00
Fortune	10.00	17.00	Story Parade	2.00	3.50
Forum	4.00	6.00	Time	5.00	9.00
Good Housekeeping	3.00	4.50	Town and Country	5.00	9.00
Harper's Magazine	4.00	6.00	Travel	4.00	7.00
House Beautiful	4.00	6.00	True Story	1.00	2.50
House and Garden	3.00	4.00	Vogue	5.00	8.00
Hygeia	2,50	4.00	Woman's Home Companion	1.50	2.50
Jack and Jill	2.00	3.00	Your Life	3.00	5.00
Ladies' Home Journal	1.50	2.25			

#### SEE PAGE 126 FOR FRATERNITY DIRECTORY

#### THE ARROW OF PI BETA PHI

#### September · 1942

## CONTENTS

Membership Statistics as of June 5, 1942	4
Editorials	5
Announcements	7
Report of Grand Council Meetings, 1941-1942	8
Annual Reports of National Officers	14
College Fraternities in War Time	42
Settlement School Reports	44
Committee Reports	63
Reports of Province Presidents	71
Reports of Province Vice-Presidents	87
Alumnæ Club Reports	106
Alumnæ Personals	116
In Memoriam	123
Official Calendar	124
Fraternity Directory	126

¶THE ARROW is printed in the months of September, December, March, and May by Pi Beta Phi Fraternity at the press of the George Banta Publishing Company, 450 Ahnaip St., Menasha, Wis. Subscription price is \$1.50 a year, 50c for single copies, \$15.00 for life subscription.

Cend subscriptions, change of address notice, and correspondence of a business nature to Pi Beta Phi Central Office, Marshall, Ill.

Correspondence of an editorial nature is to be addressed to the editor, Mrs. T. N. Alford, 930 Olive Ave., Coronado, Calif. Items for publication should be addressed to the editor to arrive not later than July 15, October 15, January 15, March 5.

Member of Fraternity Magazines Associated. All matters pertaining to national advertising should be directed to Fraternity Magazines Associated, 1618 Orrington Ave., Evanston, Ill.

CEntered as second-class matter at the post office at Marshall, Ill., and Menasha, Wis., under the act of March 3, 1879. Acceptance for mailing at special rate of postage provided for in the act of February 28, 1925.

Membership Statistics as of June 5, 19	342
Total Initiates for Year 1941-42 1,494	
Total Number of Initiates to Date	36,720
Total Expulsions to Date	
Total Honorable Dismissals to Date 108	
Total Honorable Dismissal Reinstate-	
ments	
Total Honorable Dismissals Still in	
Force 97 97	
Total Dismissals in Force	
Automatic Probations Now Pending	
Automatic Dismissals in Force 20	
Total Loss by Dismissal 263	
Total Loss by Death	
Total Loss by Dismissal and Death2,127	2,127
Total Members of Pi Beta Phi Now Living and in Good	
Standing	34.593
Total Subscribers to the ARROW	
Total Members Non-Subscribers to the ARROW	
Total Members Non-Subscribers "lost"	
Total Members Subscribers "lost"	
Total Members whose names have been temporarily removed	-,
from the mailing list until time when an address is	
established	104
CSCADIISHCCI -	104
	34,593

#### THE ARROW OF PI BETA PHI

SEPTEMBER, 1942

VOLUME 59 

NUMBER 1

#### **EDITORIALS**

#### Indiana Epsilon

WITH even more than usual pleasure Grand Council announces the granting of a charter to Pi Phi Epsilon, petitioning group at DePauw University, Greencastle, Indiana. Long years ago, from 1871 to 1877, Pi Beta Phi had at DePauw, then called Indiana Asbury, a chapter which was called Indiana Alpha. After its charter was given up, the chapter name was given to a group at Franklin College, and of the DePauw chapter we have only a few

names listed in the Directory.

With the cooperation and cordial welcome of the college authorities, and with the assistance of Dean G. Herbert Smith (lately chosen president of Willamette University, at Salem, Oregon), a colony was established in the fall of 1941. The girls were successful from the first, under the supervision of Marianne Reid Wild, Assistant to the Grand Vice-President, and with the loyal support of local alumnæ and of the Indianapolis Alumnæ Club. Last fall they rushed against the other well-established Panhellenic groups, and pledged a fine group of girls. During the year inspections were made by Gertrude Deer Owens, Delta Province President, and by Ruth Barrett Smith, Grand Vice-President, as Grand Council representative; visits were made by girls from the required two nearest chapters. All their reports were favorable, the group met all national requirements, and under normal conditions, the group would have been allowed to petition Convention. When Convention had to be postponed, the chapter had further visits, this time by representatives of all the chapters in the province, and as provided in the Constitution, the question of granting a charter was put before Delta Province chapters. The result was a unanimous vote in favor of their admission. The new chapter will be Indiana Epsilon of Pi Beta Phi, and installation ceremonies, with Miss Onken as the installing officer, were August 31-September 2. By the time this is read, the new chapter will be actually functioning.

The thanks of the Fraternity go to all the alumnæ who have made the new chapter possible, especially to Mrs. Wild and to Mary Lou Stansfield, Colorado B, in whose capable hands was placed the active organization of the chapter. To the new chapter goes a very

warm welcome from Pi Phis everywhere.

The story of the installation will appear in the December Arrow.

#### Of Constitutional Changes

Last year two committees gave many hours of hard work to study of the constitution of Pi Beta Phi; one worked on a tabulation of suggested changes which were sent in by alumnæ clubs and chapters, the other compiled arguments for and against the principal propositions suggested. The findings of both committees were sent to Grand Council, and at their special meeting in February a careful study was made of both reports. With those reports as a basis, Grand Council took the action which is detailed in the minutes of that meeting which are included in this Arrow. The action divides itself into three sections:

first, action which Grand Council was empowered to take under powers granted to it by

the constitution:

second, action which Grand Council recommends to the next Convention;

third, subjects for discussion and action by the next Convention.

All these propositions merit careful study and intelligent consideration. The changes made by Grand Council will be issued to clubs and chapters in a revised copy of the Statutes; for the other possible changes, read the minutes in this issue.

#### Of War Work

The Arrow hopes this year to have much interesting material about what Pi Phis are doing, and the Editor has already asked that information about Pi Phis who are prominent in war work be sent to Gladys Warren, assistant editor, by September 15. Please, will corresponding secretaries continue this help during the year, so that the Arrow may give a picture of life as Pi Phis are living it today? We want especially pictures, action if possible, and fifty word write-ups—and this includes women in all kinds of national war effort, the air service, the WAACs and the WAVES.

#### Of Changes

Please note carefully the many changes of officers and of addresses in this number, and make use of this list only in all official correspondence.

#### What of This Year?

A new college year comes to Pi Beta Phi, and never before has a year been so unpredictable in every aspect. Until the colleges open we cannot tell how they will be affected by the war; inevitably many problems will have to be solved, many questions answered. Whatever changes may come in college life, however our chapters may be touched by them, the National Fraternity will give them its support as always. Pi Beta Phi stands ready to help in any possible way, not only its own members, but the national war effort. Already we have made a considerable investment of fraternity funds in War Bonds, something over \$120,000; in the months to come we will buy more than this. Mrs. Copp tells in her reports as Settlement Committee Chairman, how the facilities of the School have been offered to the United States Government, and of this you will hear more in the months to come.

Already sacrifices have been made, and more must come. Scarcely a member of Pi Beta Phi is left untouched by the war, through the participation of members of their families in every branch of war service. The ARROW wants to know as much as possible about Pi Phi relatives in the armed services, and the Editor will be grateful for any news which may be used without violation of military secrecy. Already much sad news has come to us. Two Pi Phi husbands have been reported as among the known dead, Commander Howard R. Healy, United States Navy, husband of Josephine Kenkel, Minnesota A, who was lost on the Lexington, and Lieutenant Dana Bradford, U. S. Army Air Corps, husband of Marybelle Jondrow, Montana A. Two more are reported as missing when Corregidor surrendered, Colonel Ray O'Day, United States Army, husband of Juanita Gregory, Washington B, former vice-president of Lambda Province, and father of Phyllis O'Day, also Washington B, and Colonel H. F. Searight, United States Army, husband of Louise Crow, Texas A; both of these are presumed to be prisoners of the Japanese. Also on Corregidor was Gerald Worthington, husband of Anne Scott Worthington, Ontario A, and when last heard of Anne herself was in Manila, and is undoubtedly there still, as a Japanese prisoner—no word of her has come for many months to her mother, Mary Herdman Scott, Alpha West Province President. Words can never express the sympathy of Pi Phis everywhere to those to whom such sorrow has come, nor to those to whom it may come in future months. It is equally hard for those to whom the armed services have been always a part of their lives, and for those to whom military service is all new. Many friends are dead or missing; ships that were like familiar friends lie on the floor of the sea; regiments are fighting in the far places of the earth; news is so long withheld that always like an overhanging cloud is the fear that something may already have happened to us, that a message of tragedy may be already on its way to usso may it come to any one!

Now more than ever is there need of the friendship and the normal activities which Pi Beta Phi means. Essential peace time services such as our Settlement School must not be allowed to suffer—such things are obligations which must continue to be met, in addition to the new effort required by the war. That means hardship? Yes, hardship indeed it may be

to support such long-standing obligations, and still buy War Bonds and contribute besides to all the myriad activities that have sprung up. Yet how much harder it would be if we lost the war for lack of the individual effort each one of us can give—or if, in winning it, we lost from our lives the fine privilege of service to our own projects!

#### Attention, Alumnae Clubs

Central Office is being flooded these days with notices of change of address for our members. The Pi Phis are on the move! Perhaps a move to new jobs, perhaps to new war work,

perhaps to accompany husbands to the vicinity of camps or naval stations.

What are you as alumnæ clubs or as individuals doing to get in touch with new Pi Phis who have come to your locality? Here is a task ready for your hand. Find these Pi Phis, make them welcome, bring them to your meetings, and you will have fun doing it. A Pi Phi once said, "I never knew what my fraternity could mean to me until I married and moved to a strange city—and a Pi Phi came to call on me."

adile Taylor alford

### Announcements ...

ANNOUNCEMENT of Balfour Cup and National Amy B. Onken Award winners will appear in the December Arrow.

The Pi Beta Phi Fellowship for 1942-43 has been awarded to Marian Webster, Ontario B, who will use it in continuing her medical studies.

. . .

In this issue we publish again the blank for voluntary service to the Fraternity. Will you make use of it, if you have time to devote to Pi Phi work?

+++

The Fraternity Loan Fund has been extended to cover applicants desiring to do graduate as well as undergraduate work.  $\rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow$ 

The special rate of \$7.50 for Life Subscription to the ARROW for those initiated before 1908, is continued for this year. All subscriptions should be sent to Central Office.

+++

For the year 1943-44, the Fraternity will offer one graduate fellowship with a value of \$500. The fellowship is open to any member of the Fraternity who has received her bachelor's degree, and it may be used at any university which offers special opportunities in graduate work along the line desired by its holder.

Two points will be considered by the Grand Council in awarding the fellowship: scholastic standing and all-around development of character with its resultant ability worthily to represent the Fraternity. Each applicant must state definitely the university she wishes to enter, the courses which she desires to pursue, and the ultimate aim of her graduate study.

Applications accompanied by photographs of applicants, transcripts of college grades, credentials from college professors, and other recommendations, must be in the hands of the

Grand President not later than January 1, 1943.

All material must be collected by the applicant and submitted as a whole. Blank forms for application for the fellowship may be obtained from the Grand President at any time. If she so desires, any applicant of former years who has not received the fellowship may make a new application.

### Report of Grand Council Meetings 1941-1942

A CALLED meeting of Grand Council was held November 30-December 2, 1941 in New York City immediately following National Panhellenic Congress. The time of the meeting was given to a discussion of plans for the 1942 Convention scheduled for June 21-27, 1942 at Swampscott, Massachusetts, and to consideration of general fraternity business.

+ +

A mid-year meeting of Grand Council was held in Jacksonville, Illinois, February 25-March 4, 1942.

A report of the Conference of Deans of Women was given by the ARROW Editor who was the Fraternity's representative at the Conference. At a joint session of Deans of Women and representatives of fraternities, it was voted to recommend to National Panhellenic Congress that the decision as to whether or not chapters shall rush, pledge, or bid during summer sessions be left to individual college Panhellenics.

Grand Council authorized the Grand President as/and National Panhellenic Congress delegate to vote that National Panhellenic Congress Groups continue, as they are now doing, to support the Fraternity Compact "that students in a university summer school are ineligible for fraternity pledg-

The reasons for this recommendation were:

- 1. The shortness of time to prepare chapters and chapter conditions for the suggested change.
- 2. The present indefiniteness of plans of college administrations.
- 3. The uncertainty as to what percentage of present undergraduate actives will register for the summer session this year.
- 4. The probability that few freshman women will enter universities at the beginning of the summer session.

However, if all members of National Panhellenic Congress favor a change which would allow groups to "rush and pledge regular college stu-dents at the beginning of each session of the college year—it being understood that college students attending the summer school only are ineligible"—Grand Council authorized the Grand President as/and National Panhellenic Congress delegate to reverse her vote and to conform with the prevailing opinion.

Grand Council recommended, if National Panhellenic Congress votes for the suggested change, that a meeting of National Panhellenic Congress delegates be called to work out the necessary details of functioning.

After discussing an offer to the Fraternity by Ida Matthias, Washington A, whereby furniture belonging to her could be used in the Holt House, permission was obtained from Mrs. Matthias to allow a member of Grand Council to inspect the furniture now stored in Monmouth. The Grand President was authorized to go to Monmouth for this purpose.

Additional uses for the Holt House were dis-

cussed. Grand Council did not approve the suggestion that the membership of the Fraternity be solicited by mail for funds for the Holt House. Grand Council suggested that the Holt House Committee prepare an approved list of Monmouth clubs which would be allowed to use the Holt House.

Since the original site and dates of the 1942 Convention were necessarily cancelled because of the declaration of war, further discussion of the 1942 Convention in the light of the National Emergency was necessary.

Grand Council voted:

"That if Convention be held, it be held at the Stanley

Hotel in Estes Park, Colorado.
"That the proposed dates for Convention be August 30September 5, 1942.
"That a letter be sent to chapters calling for a vote on
postponement of Convention, according to the Constitu-

"That the selection of a railroad for travel to Convention, in the event that Convention is held, be left to the discretion of the Grand President and the Grand Treas-

"That in the event Convention is not held, the money in the Convention Fund be invested immediately in Defense Bonds."

Conditions at the Settlement School were discussed at length, and suggestions of the chairman of the Settlement School Committee were considered.

Grand Council authorized a reprint, in booklet form, of Agnes Wright Spring's article and the pictures of the Settlement School which appeared in the Arrow, December, 1941. It was decided that copies of the booklet be given to initiates.

The report of the committee appointed to summarize recommendations and suggestions from clubs, chapters, and individuals, including the suggestions from province conferences and from alumnæ club questionnaires, was read and discussed at length.

Grand Council compiled the arguments for and against the major recommendations submitted on limited tenure of office and on increased alumnæ representation, this compilation to be sent to clubs and chapters.

The report of the committee appointed to collect and compile suggestions from clubs, chapters and individuals on revision of the Constitution was reviewed and discussed.

Grand Council adopted the following recommendations relative to changes in the Statutes of the Constitution:

That Statute II, Section 1, b, be amended by striking out "from the lower classes when such choice is advisable" and inserting "otherwise from the sophomore class," so that the clause shall read, "Be chosen from the junior class when possible, and otherwise from the sophomore class.

That Statute III, A, Section 2, be amended by striking out "LETTERS OF GREETING."

That Statute III, A, Section 4, be amended by inserting a new "b" to read:

"To have special supervision over the work of all Province Presidents."

That Statute III, A, Section 4, j, be amended

by striking out "beginning July 1, 1934," so that the clause shall read:

"To visit or to send a substitute, who shall preferably be from Grand Council, to every chapter once during every two year period."

That Statute III, A, Section 5, be amended by inserting a new "b" to read:

"To have special supervision over the work of all Province Vice-Presidents."

That Statute III, A, Section 6, c, be amended by adding "and the Holt House Committee" so that the clause shall read:

"To act as supervisor of all standing committees except the Settlement School Committee and the Holt House Committee."

That Statute III, A, Section 8, be amended by striking out "d."

That Statute III, A, Section 10, be amended by striking out "d" and "e."

That Statute III, A, Section 10, f, be amended by adding "and Mothers' Clubs" so that the clause shall read:

"To have special supervision over new clubs and Mothers' Clubs."

That Statute III, A, Section 10 be amended by striking out "g."

That Statute III, A, Section 11 be amended by

striking out "b."

That Statute III, A, Section 12 be amended by striking out "b" and inserting a new "b" to read: "To collect and to preserve all possible documents and relics of historical interest,"

That Statute III, A, Section 12, be amended by striking out the present "e" and inserting a new 'e" to read:

"In the interim of conventions to submit to Grand Council and to place in the historical files an annual report which shall be a comprehensive review of the immediately preceding year, reporting in detail events showing fraternity development and those of permanent historical interest."

That Statute III, A, Section 13, be amended by inserting a new "e" to read:

"To act as director of the Magazine Agency."

That Statute III, A, Section 15, be amended by

striking out "c, 1."

That Statute III, A, Section 15, be amended by striking out "d" and inserting a new "d" to read:

"Upon each annual visit, carefully to examine the chapter's archives, noting whether these are complete and properly kept."

That Statute III, A, Section 15, e, be amended by inserting "Assistant to the" between "the" and 'Grand" so that the clause will read:

"To collect the first year alumnæ dues from all chapter graduates in the province, to forward same to the Assistant to the Grand Treasurer, and to issue to each of these girls a national membership card."

That Statute III, A, Section 15, be amended by inserting a new "g" to read:

"To collect all chapter contributions to fraternity projects and to forward these promptly to the proper officials."

That Statute III, A. Section 15, g, be amended by striking out "to submit to the Grand President for the Grand Council" and inserting "After each chapter visit, to submit to Grand Council" to read:

"After each chapter visit to submit to Grand Council a detailed report of each chapter, giving particular attention to the points of strength and weakness in each and suggesting methods of improvement."

That Statute III, A, Section 16 be amended by striking out "c."

That Statute III, A, Section 16, e, be amended by inserting "Assistant to the" between "the" and "Grand," to read:

"To collect alumnæ department dues from members in the province and to forward same to the Assistant to the Grand Treasurer."

That Statute II, A, Section 16 be amended by striking out "f" and inserting a new "f" to read:

"To collect all alumnæ club contributions to fraternity projects and to forward these promptly to the proper offi-cials."

That Statute III, A, Section 16, be amended by striking out "j" and inserting a new "j" to read:

"To submit annually in chart form a statistical report of the work of the province, for publication in the Information Arrow."

That Statute III, B. Section 5, b, be amended by striking out "collect" and inserting "be responsible for the collection of," to read:

"To be responsible for the collection of all money due the chapter,

That Statute III, B, Section 5, be amended by striking out "c."

That Statute III, Section 5, e, be amended by inserting "Assistant to the" between "the" and "Grand," to read:

"To forward to the Assistant to the Grand Treasurer all initiation fees within three days from date of initia-

That Statute III, B, Section 6, a, be amended by striking out "Busey System" and inserting "required uniform accounting system" to read:

"To familiarize herself with the required uniform ac-counting system and the work of the Chapter Treasurer."

That Statute III, B, Section 7, a, be amended by striking out "Manual for Pledge Instruction" and inserting "Pledge Supervisor's Manual" to read:

"To organize the pledge group and to direct it according to the program outlined in the Pledge Supervisor's Manual."

That Statute III, B, Section 8, be amended by adding "d" to read:

"To maintain and to keep in order the chapter room."

That Statute IV, Section 2, a, be amended by adding "Secured before making any arrangements to live elsewhere," so that the clause will read:

"So far as college regulations permit, all active non-resident members shall live in the chapter house except upon special written dispensation of the Alumnæ Ad-visory Committee concerned, secured before making any arrangements to live elsewhere."

That Statute IV, Section 5, be amended by strik-ing out "a bound copy of the year's volume" and inserting "the Information Number and the bound copy of the open issues," to read:

"Each chapter shall keep an Arrow file, adding annually the Information Number and the bound copy of the open issues."

That Statute IV, Section 5, a, be amended by inserting "Assistant to the" between "the" and "Grand," to read:

"This bound copy shall be sent to each chapter upon payment by the chapter of the required amount to the Assistant to the Grand Treasurer."

That Statute IV, Section 6, be amended by strik-ing out "and an article" between "letter" and "for" so that the sentence will read:

"Each chapter shall submit to the Chapter Letter Editor a chapter letter for each open issue of the ARROW unless otherwise directed by the Editor."

That Statute IV, Section 6, a, be amended by striking out "five" and inserting "six" to read:

"All material for the ARROW must be in the hands of the Editor not less than six weeks before the date of its intended publication."

That Statute IV, Section 23, be amended by striking out the section and inserting a new section 23 to read:

23 to read:

"Each chapter shall have an Alumnæ Advisory Committee consisting of five alumnæ.

a. When there is a local chartered alumnæ club, these alumnæ must be paid members of that club. Three members shall be elected by the chapter and two by the alumnæ club concerned.

b. When there is no local chartered alumnæ club but there are resident alumnæ, these Alumnæ Advisory Committee members must be paid members of the Alumnæ Department with their national alumnæ dues paid by November 15 of the current fraternity year. All members shall be elected by the chapter.

c. Elections shall be held between March 15 and May 1, each year."

That Statute IV, Section 24, be amended by in-serting "which may consist of one member only if so desired" between "committee" and "whose," to

"Each chapter shall appoint a committee, which may consist of one member only if so desired, whose duties shall be as follows:

a. To impress upon active members and pledges the importance and value of participation in the activities of the college.

b. To direct and supervise their activities by keeping a card file to show the record for the individual's activities and by compiling a chart at the end of each semester from the data of the files.

c. To encourage expression of chapter appreciation for individuals accomplishments."

That Statute IV, Section 27, be amended by striking out "both local and national active dues, to read:

"A chapter may allow a non-student member of the Fraternity the privileges of active membership in the chapter, under the provisions of Constitution, Article V, Section 6, a, 2, only when it accepts responsibility for her payment of all local fees."

That Statute IV, Section 30, A, 2, be amended by striking out "d" and inserting a new "d" to

"Be restored to good standing and receive full chapter privileges when her financial obligations have been acceptably met.

That Statute V, be amended by striking out Section 1 and inserting a new Section 1 to read:

"Affiliates. A member of Pi Beta Phi wno transfers from one college campus to another on which there is a II B & chapter may become an affiliate of the second chapter, after she has complied with all college and fraternity requirements in scholarship and conduct for at least one

term or semester.

a. Upon invitation of the second chapter, issued upon not less than a three-fourths vote of that chapter.

b. With the consent of her original chapter."

That Statute V be amended by striking out Sec-

tion 2 and inserting a new Section 2 to read:

"Transfer of Membership.
The transfer of membership from one chapter to an-

the transfer of membership from one chapter to another shall be
a. Upon the request of the second chapter.
b. Upon the three-fourths vote of the first chapter.
c. Upon the issuing by the first chapter of an official
Note of Transfer to Membership."

That Statute V, Section 2, be amended by striking out, in the heading of Section 2, "Transfer"

between "OF" and "AFFILIATION" so that the heading will read:

"NOTICE OF AFFILIATION."

That Statute VI, Section 3, a, be amended by striking out "a secret number" and inserting "an Information Number for the use of members only' to read:

"The first issue of each volume shall be an Informa-tion Number for the use of members only."

That Statute VI be amended by striking out Section 4 and inserting a new Section 4 to read:

"Copies of the Arrow shall be furnished the members of Grand Council, the Province Presidents, and the Province Vice-Presidents for their files."

That Statute VII be amended by striking out Sections 1 to 4 inclusive.

That Statute VII, present Section 5, be amended by striking out "after January 1, 1939," to read:

"As a prerequisite for initiation, all members initiated shall purchase through the Fraternity a II B Φ badge and shall pay to the National Treasury an initiation fee of \$40.00 which shall release them from the payment of annual active national dues."

That Statute VIII, Section 1, be amended by

striking out Section 1.

That Statute VIII, Section 2, be amended by inserting a new "a" to read:

"The establishment of chartered alumnæ clubs shall be encouraged by the Fraternity."

That Statute VIII, Section 3, be amended by striking out "m."

That Statute IX, Section 1, be amended by striking out "e" and inserting a new "e" to read:

"The Fraternity approves of the following three ways of providing for the disposition of a badge upon the death of its owner:

1. The badge may be buried with the member.

2. The badge may be bequeathed to a member of the Fraternity or to an active chapter or to an alumnæ club, to be used as an honor pin.

3. The badge may be sent to the Grand President for such disposition as Grand Council may decide upon."

That Statute IX, Section 1, g, be amended by inserting between "arrow" and "may" the words purchased from the official jeweler only," to read:

"A small arrow, purchased from the official jeweler only, may be worn as a recognition pin."

That Statute IX, Section 12, a, be amended by striking out "to be appointed by Grand Council at its meeting immediately preceding Convention who shall" and inserting "to be elected by Convention to" to read:

"The personnel of this board shall be the Grand President, the Grand Treasurer, the immediately retiring Grand President and Grand Treasurer, and a fifth member to be elected by Convention to serve during the immediately succeeding interim of Convention."

That Statute IX, Section 12, f, be amended by adding "subject to the approval of the Trust Company" to read:

"All decisions relative to the disposition of trust funds shall be made by a majority vote of the committee subject to the approval of the Trust Company."

That Statute IX, Section 12, be amended by adding "g" to read:

"This Board shall pay to the Grand Treasurer on January 1 and on June.1 of each year and on intermediate dates as desired by the Grand Treasurer all moneys constituting income from trust funds." constituting income from trust funds.

That Statute IX, Section 12, be amended by adding "h" to read:

"The chairman of the Board shall make an annual

port to the Fraternity which shall be published in the Information Assow.

That Statute IX, Section 14, g, be amended by striking out "during" and inserting "at the time of" to read:

"A joint session of Grand Council, the director of the School, the chairman of the Committee, and such members of the Committee as may be present, shall be held at the time of Convention.

That Statute IX, Section 14, j, be amended by striking out "school" and inserting "Committee" to read:

"The chairman of the Committee, the treasurer of the Committee, and the director shall each make an annual report to Grand Council and a report to Con-vention of work done."

That Statute IX, Section 18, b, be amended by adding "Upon request the Director of Central Office will send any of these publications to a member in good standing, subject to return in good condition and within a reasonable length of time.

That Statute IX, Section 19, be amended by striking out "secret" and inserting "Information" so that the Section will read:

"All II B Φ badges and recognition pins, Information issues of the ARROW, membership certificates, coats of arms or monograms from miscellaneous II B Φ jewelry, and ritualistic or secret material are considered fraternity property in case of dismissal from II B Φ."

Grand Council discussed the plan submitted by the Pi Phis of Muskogee, Oklahoma, that, on a specified date, clubs and chapters everywhere hold benefit dances for "A Bomber for MacArthur." It was suggested that they carry out the plan in the State of Oklahoma and if successful that they report the idea to the chairman of the Committee for Participation in National Defense.

Grand Council voted:

That if National Panhellenic Congress does not bond its treasurer, II B & provide the bond for the Fraternity's delegate, the present treasurer.

That the Director of Central Office be authorized to remove "Lessons in Parliamentary Procedure" from the list of required articles for Chapter Archives.

That the printing of a new edition of the Cook Book be authorized.

That Mildred Odell Sale be asked to fill the vacancy on the Settlement School Committee caused by the resignation of Agnes Wright Spring.

That Ann Leichliter Munn be asked to serve as a member of the Settlement School Committee.

That Mr. Lee be asked what arrangements could be made to protect the Fraternity from responsibility for the safety, housing and feeding, and transportation of delegates attending Convention if, during a convention, there should arise an acute national situation which would make transportation impossible and would bring danger to the assembled delegates.

That the Fellowship for 1942-43 be awarded to

Marian Webster, Ontario B.

That the Fraternity finance the assembling and dressing of the figurines of the Founders which the Jacksonville Alumnæ Club will present to the Fraternity to be a part of the historical display at the Holt House.

That the Grand Treasurer consult Mr. McKinley, tax expert, in reference to Social Security legislation as it affects the Fraternity.

That the dispensation be made permanent which

allows smoking in the dining room or in the living room of a chapter house for one hour after dinner.

That in the event Convention is held, Grand Council recommend that Convention authorize the immediate publication of the Constitution as it will stand, including the changes made by the 1942 Convention.

That in the event Convention is held, Grand Council recommend to Convention that it authorize the printing of a Constitution as soon as possible after a Committee on Constitution composed of two representatives of active chapters; two of alumnæ clubs; and one representative of Grand Council has studied the Constitution and has provided for the coordination of the Constitution and the Statutes; for the arrangement of sections of each in logical sequence; has verified the agreement with correct parliamentary procedure and with the laws of the State of Illinois, as these apply to the Corporation; and has prepared a complete index. The Committee should be given authority to secure, at fraternity expense, the advice of competent authority on Illinois laws governing Not-For-Profit organizations; on parliamentary procedure; and on indexing.

Grand Council voted to make to Convention the following recommendations covering changes in the

Constitution proper:

That Article I, ORGANIZATION, be amended by inserting a new Section 6 CHARTERED ALUMNÆ CLUBS to read: "Alumnæ clubs may organize as chartered alumnæ clubs.'

In case the immediately preceding recommendation is carried, That the present Article I, Section 6, be amended by inserting "and chartered alumnæ clubs" between "chapters" and "of," so that the section will read:

"The chapters and chartered alumnæ clubs of this Fra-ternity shall be grouped into provinces which shall be designated by the Greek letters in alphabetical order."

That the present Article I, Section 8, be amended by striking out "July 1 and shall end on June 30" and inserting "August 1 and shall end on July 31," so that the section will read:

"The fiscal year of this Fraternity shall begin on August 1 and shall end on July 31."

That Article I be amended by striking out the present Section 9 to 15, inclusive.

That if the immediately preceding recommendation be carried, the Constitution be amended by inserting a new Article II, INSIGNIA, to read:

"ARTICLE II. INSIGNIA

"ARTICLE II. INSIGNIA

Section 1. BADGE. The badge of this Fraternity shall be a yellow gold arrow one inch in length, bearing the letters II B \$\Phi\$ transversely on its feather, with a loop chain of twelve links pendent from the shalt.

Section 2. PLEDGE PIN. The pledge pin of II B \$\Phi\$ shall be an arrow head of Roman gold mounted with the Greek letter B in burnished gold.

Section 3. RECOGNITION PIN. The recognition pin of this Fraternity shall be a miniature of the badge.

Section 4. COAT OF ARMS. The coat of arms of this Fraternity shall have the following heraldic blazoning: on a Lozenge Gules, an eagle displayed charged on the breast with a sun in splendor, both proper thereon the word 'Lux' of the first. In the dexter claw, a monogram of the letters I.C. and in the sinister claw, the badge of the II B \$\Phi\$ Fraternity.

Section 5. GRAND COUNCIL GUARD. The distinguishing badge of the Grand Council of this Fraternity shall be a guard pin adapted from the coat of arms with a small diamond displacing the word 'Lux' and with the Lozenge Gules omitted.

Section 6. PROVINCE PRESIDENT GUARD. The distinguishing badge of the Province President of this

Fraternity shall be a guard pin adapted from the coat of arms, being the upper half of the eagle with the letters 'P.P.' at the base.

Section 7. PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT GUARD. The distinguishing badge of the Province Vice-President of this Fraternity shall be a guard pin adapted from the coat of arms, being the upper half of the eagle with the letters 'P.V.P.' at the base.

Section 8. MOTHER PIN. The distinguishing badge of a II B \( \theta \) mother or patroness shall be a miniature Roman gold arrow head mounted with the Greek letters II B \( \theta \) in burnished gold.

Section 9. BROTHER PIN. The distinguishing badge of a II B \( \theta \) brother, father, fiance, or husband shall be a monogram of the Greek letters II B \( \theta \).

That present Article V, Section 2, ELECTION TO MEMBERSHIP, be amended by inserting be-tween "points" and "listed" the words "which are" so that the sentence would read:

"Before any person may be elected to membership, the active chapter concerned must have in its files data covering the following points, which are listed on the official recommendation blank, signed by the person recommending." recommending.

That present Article V, Section 6, be amended by striking out "a" and inserting a new "a" to read:

ad: Active Membership.

The college students initiated or officially transferred into active chapters of II B Φ shall constitute the active membership of the Fraternity. Every undergraduate student, attending the college at which she was initiated or one with whose active chapter she has been affiliated through official transfer, must be active. 2. A graduate student shall have the option in her own chapter of being active or of becoming inactive.

her own chapter of being active or of becoming inactive.

3. Any other member of Π B Φ may be allowed
privileges of active membership in an active
chapter upon a two-thirds vote of the
chapter concerned, provided that she pays
all local dues and meets all other Fraternity
and chapter obligations of active membership."

That present Article V, Section 8, be amended by inserting before "A" the words "Grand Council or" so that the section would read:

"Grand Council or a chapter may place on probation, pending action on dismissal or the breaking of a pledge, a girl who has jeopardized her affiliation with the Fraternity by acts inimical to the best interests of II B ..."

That present Article V, Section 8, be amended by adding:

"Grand Council may place on probation, pendin action on the withdrawal of its charter, a chapter which has jeopardized its right to a place in the Fraternity.

That present Article VI, Section 8, be amended by striking out CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION OF OFFICERS, since this is no longer a requirement of the State of Illinois.

Grand Council will further recommend:

That Constitution, Article II, be amended by inserting a new Section 3, LIMITATION UPON

VOTING PERSONNEL, to read:
"At least three-fifths of the voting personnel of any
convention shall consist of the delegates from the active chapters.

That present Statute II be amended by adding a new Section 5, DELEGATES-AT-LARGE to read:

"Each province shall have one delegate-at-large to

"Each province shall have one delegate at all the convention.

a. This delegate shall be elected from the official alumnæ delegates to the Alumnæ Session from the province concerned, present at Convention.

b. The election shall be held by the official alumnæ delegates to the Alumnæ Session from the province concerned, present at Convention, at least one hour

before the opening of the first regular business session of Convention. c. The election shall be presided over by the Vice-President of the province concerned."

That Article II, Section 3, c, be amended by striking out "and review the work of" so that it will read:

"Receive reports from all national and province offi-cers and standing committees."

That Article II, present Section 3, be amended by inserting a new "a" to read:

"The accredited delegate of a chartered alumnæ club shall be a voting representative of her club in the Alumnæ Session of Convention and shall be allowed the privilege of the floor at the regular sessions of Con-

That present Article II, Section 5, ELECTION OF DELEGATES, be amended by adding a new sentence to read:

"Delegates-at-large to a Convention shall be elected by a majority vote of the delegates to the Alumnæ Ses-sion of their respective provinces, present at Conven-tion."

That present Article II, Section 7, POSTPONE-MENT OF CONVENTION, be amended by striking out "beginning with the year 1938."

That present Article III B, Section 3, RESTRIC-TIONS UPON CHAPTER OFFICERS, be amended by striking out "during the entire immediately preceding year" and inserting "for the entire calendar year immediately preceding the date on which the election is held" so that the first sentence of the section will read:

"To be eligible for election to any chapter office, a member must have a college scholarship record free from condition or failure for the entire calendar year imme-diately preceding the date on which the election is

That present Article IV be amended by striking out Section 1, and inserting a new Section 1, METHOD OF ESTABLISHING A CHAPTER, to

"METHOD OF ESTABLISHING A CHAPTER. A chapter of II B \( \Phi \) may be established through the granting of a charter to an already established group meeting the Fraternity's requirements or to a group to be established through colonization.

a. Upon recommendation of the Committee on Extension.

b. Present 'b.' c. Present 'c'."

That present Article V, Section 1, a, 4, be amended by striking out "and" and inserting "or in the event that she cannot be reached, by" so in the event that she cannot be reached, by that the clause would read:

"refusal to grant such consent being subject to over-ruling by the Grand President or in the event that she cannot be reached by the Province President."

That the Constitution be amended by adding a new Article IV, NATIONAL STANDING COM-MITTEES, in which provision shall be made for the Board of Trustee Funds and for all Standing Committees and special committees whose duties shall be or have been defined by law, exact wordings to be formulated by the proposed Committee on Constitution.

That Statutes IV be amended by inserting a new Section 34, REGULATIONS GOVERNING THE CHAPTER EXECUTIVE COUNCIL, to read:

"a. The chapter president shall be a member of the Executive Council by virtue of her office and shall serve on the Council for her entire term as president.

b. Election of other members shall be by vote of the

chapter.

c. Each member elected as a representative of her class shall serve for the full regular term unless the chapter, wishing to give executive council experience to more members of the class, decides by a three-fourths vote to set up a shorter term of office for the class representatives. This shorter term must be for at least six weeks.

d. Other members must serve for the full term."

That the Fraternity nationally establish the Order of the Golden Arrow, instituted by Iowa B for its own alumnæ, to give recognition to all Pi Beta Phis of fifty or more years of membership.

his of fifty or more years of membership.

a. That membership in the Order of the Golden Arrow be automatic upon the fiftieth anniversary of one's initiation into the Fraternity.

b. That this membership be recognized by a Certificate of Membership to be issued by the Director of Central Office, signed by the Grand President.

c. That all members of the Order of the Golden Arrow, not already life subscribers to the Arrow, receive life subscriptions as the gift of the Fraternity.

Grand Council will place on the agenda of

Convention for full discussion the following topics relative to fraternity policy:

Limited Tenure of Office.

Election of Nominating Committee.

Personnel of Convention and of the Alumnæ
Session of Convention.

Policy of having reports of officers and committee chairmen read at Convention.

The province officers will be asked to consider at their pre-convention meetings the question of the desirability of having province officers elected at Convention by the official delegates from their chapters or alumnæ clubs, respectively, present at Convention, and to make to Convention any recommendation of policy which they determine upon as desirable.

The meeting of Grand Council adjourned. -LOIS SNYDER FINGER, Grand Secretary

+ + +

"Have you made a contribution to the Holt House Fund?"

## Annual Reports of National Officers

#### MESSAGE OF THE GRAND PRESIDENT

To Pi Beta Phi Fraternity:

AT A TIME so critical for Civilization itself, it would not be enough for Π B Φ to continue 'as usual" its service to its chapters and alumnæ clubs, to the colleges and universities on whose campuses it is represented, to its great altruistic project at Gatlinburg, and to its memorial at Mon-mouth, even though that service has been so high and fine that it has set a record unequalled in the fraternity world. The goal for service during the year which has just begun must be set at a point never before attained even by II B o, since it must include with that to its own established interests a new and worthy service to the war efforts of two great nations. The goal can be reached—and it will be!—but the strivingtowards-it must be that of every member of the fraternity, active and alumna, since united effort alone will bring results worthy of Pi Beta Phi's seventy-five-year-long record of great leadership, great achievements, and great contributions. The officers and committee members of the Fraternity are deeply conscious of the fact that no person could carry the responsibility of directing Pi Beta Phi's course during such crucial days if she were not strengthened by the assurance of loyal cooperation and willingness-to-serve on the part of individual members, active chapters, and alumnæ clubs; by a deep conviction that the fraternity gives service vitally necessary for the preservation of the ideals and standards upon the basis of which alone the problems of today can be solved and the future can safely be built; and by a personal dedication to the things of deep, inner significance upon which Π B Φ was founded. Upheld by these things, they pledge themselves to go forward with you in a war-time service of inestimable importance.

College fraternities, more successfully than any other agency, today reach and influence the most important people in the world—the educated leaders of tomorrow. If they should fail to mean to these college boys and girls a clarification of purposes, a strengthening of standards, and guidance towards a full assumption of the responsibility which comes with the acceptance of special privilege, fraternities will be false to their reason for being and will lose their right to continue. Pi Beta Phi cannot fail! In the July 1942 issue of The Magazine of Signa Chi, Booth Tarkington, in writing of "the goodwill and understanding and cheerful affection" which mean fraternity friendship, said: "Such brotherly friendship is always beyond price but never so illimitably so as today when enemies can best be met by phalanxes of indissoluble friends." The privilege of being friends in II B & has never before seemed so beautiful; let us prove our utter thankfulness for it, in a world so largely given over to enmity and hatred, by manifesting a deeper devotion to II B  $\Phi$ than ever before. This is not a call to narrow selfishness; it is one to a full awakening to the riches in our possession! Less privileged young women than those who make up the active membership of  $\Pi$  B  $\Phi$  will find many agencies working to help them develop to their best and greatest possibilities; your own actives will not—they are dependent upon the fraternity which you are.

That the decision of the active chapters to postpone the 1942 convention was a wise and right one seems increasingly evident, as the government calls for greater and greater conservation of travel facilities of all kinds. Not holding the convention, however, meant the loss of an opportunity for broadened fraternity friendships, increased understanding of fraternity needs and policies, and deepened devotion to ideals which comes with being a part of a great group of enthusiastically loyal Pi Beta Phis. The Fraternity will give its best, however, to insure that only the joys of personal contacts with other Pi Phis will actually have been lost. It will work consistently to keep the members as a whole familiar with the work and development of the Fraternity and it will strive to give them, too, constant inspiration. At recent conventions, Pi Beta Phis high in the fields of education and youth-leadership have brought to active chapter members messages of such direct helpfulness that these have been the basis for spirited and constructive discussions both at conventions and at chapter meetings in the months following conventions. Now, at this time of special need, Grand Council has again called upon Maria Leonard, Indiana P, Dean of Women at the University of Illinois, Founder and President of A A Δ, leader in countless fields of civic, religious, cultural, and educational service, and has found her not just willing but eager to give to her fraternity. Once each month for eight months of the coming college year, Dean Leonard will bring to the active chapters of Π B Φ a thought-provoking, helpful, and inspiring message and an outline for a chapter discussion to be based upon it. Dean Leonard's unselfish giving of herself, from a life whose normal demands are so overwhelming, is of itself an inspiration and a challenge to all Pi Beta Phis. Clara Hall Sipherd, Iowa B, retiring Alpha Province West President, will supervise for the fraternity the use of these chapter meeting programs and discussion outlines and so will give to all chapters the constructive leadership which has been so marked in her work with her own Province.

The Settlement School, which came into being because of the Fraternity's desire to honor its Founders and to perpetuate their ideal of service to those less fortunate than themselves, offers to Pi Beta Phis a type of war service not available to those outside the Fraternity and so, especially their own. The school must continue to meet the needs which it is always its privilege to satisfy—those for an educational training capable of sending out boys and girls ready to take their places as fine citizens, for a health program which fits in so splendidly with present demands for "Hale America," and for a means of livelihood which has lept an entire community self-supporting and self-respecting. It must now meet, too, the added demands placed upon it by the war.

Already its staff has given invaluable service with the Red Cross and U.S.O.; its facilities and equipment have been made available for federally-conducted classes in the care and repair of vital machinery; and it has been made the center of the community's morale-building agencies of all kinds. Federal and State authorities have been apprized of the strong desire of the Fraternity to have its every facility at Gatlinburg used to the fullest possible extent in any and every war service for which it is fitted. What the future will mean in opportunities distinctive for the school and Arrowcraft is not yet certain; that they will measure up to the opportunities to the fullest extent which Pi Beta Phis make possible is unquestionable. Support for the Settlement School is support for an institution, the need for whose service has already been greatly increased by war conditions and whose constant service is reason for infinite pride.

The Fraternity's special type of war service has, as yet, been to encourage the fullest possible cooperation by individual members, chapters, and alumnæ clubs with locally-set-up agencies such as the Red Cross, U.S.O., Defense, and so on. Conditions change so rapidly that plans for other types of participation by the Fraternity as a whole have as yet not crystallized but the Fraternity will be kept in touch with developments. Every effort will be made to insure the fact that Pi Beta Phis as a whole may know of the outstanding services, hard work, and contributions made by individuals and groups, so that the record of Fraternity's contributions during this world war may be complete.

A visit to Holt House today would be a stepping-back to the days of 1867 for a glimpse of things as they were when the Fraternity was born! The parlor, the sitting room, and the room of the founding have been furnished in lovely old furniture of the period and they bring a lump to one's throat as she pictures the college girls who gathered in this place to complete the founding of the Fraternity, Already Pi Beta Phis and members of other fraternities from Coast to Coast have crossed the welcoming threshold of Holt House and found there a true inspiration. Among these guests was Dr. George Starr Lasher, Editor and Director of Public Relations of O X Fraternity, father of Mary Elizabeth Lasher, Ohio A. After his visit he wrote to the Grand President a letter which expressed his pleasure in the restoration and the thrill which his visit had given him. It is not possible to say how much of herself Lorette Terrell, Chairman of the Holt House Committee, has put into the restoration but it has been a labor of real love; to her, in special meas-ure, and to the other members of her Committee, go the grateful thanks of the Fraternity for a re-creation of Holt House which is an artistic masterpiece. Special thanks go, too, to Ida Jamieson Matthias, Washington A; her brother; her Pi Phi daughter; and her Pi Phi niece for per-mission to use in Holt House many lovely and valuable antiques which, in 1867, were actually in use in the Monmouth home of their ancestors. In the house, framed cards list the names of the donors of special gifts. In the near future, there will go to the Holt House figurines of the twelve Founders as they were as college girls, in order that those beloved women may live always in the minds and hearts of their Pi Phi family as they

actually were in appearance, dress, and personality—for personality each little figurine truly has! The figurines are the gift of the Jacksonville Alumnæ Club. The Fraternity arranged for the dressing of the figurines by Mrs. C. B. Powell and Miss Janette C. Powell, of Jacksonville, Illinois, true historians at heart and true artists. Mrs. Powell and Miss Powell are responsible, too, for the figurines of the Founders of P.E.O. which have

been placed at Cottey College.

It is the conviction of your Grand President that the chapters of the Fraternity have never been stronger, held a more assured position of leadership on their campuses, or been finer in their personnel than they were at the close of the recent college year. That the coming year will mean continued progress and development and increasing fineness may confidently be expected. Read for yourselves the reports of the officers and committee chairmen and so know just how great your pride in II B \$\Phi\$ should be! Note especially the fact that the report of the Committee on Scholarship shows that for the year 1940-41, the Fraternity established its all-time high for chapters holding first places on their campus fraternity scholarship lists by having twenty such first places, almost twice as many as in each of the two immediately previous years. What the coming college year will mean in decreased registration or in decreased financial ability to become fraternity pledges is as yet unknown. As always, II B \$\Phi\$ chapters will have held before them the ideal of quality of pledges, not quantity, but because II B \$\Phi\$ offers so much of indisputable and life-long value, there seems no reason to doubt that the Fraternity's pledge list will again be a long one of outstandingly splendid college girls.

Because of its desire to make available, in advance of a possible 1942 convention, copies of its recommendations to convention, Grand Council met in late February. The cancellation of convention cancelled, too, the necessity for a special mailing-out of these recommendations, since they now appear in the Information Arrow, available to the entire Fraternity many months before convention. All Fraternity members are urged to make a complete study of the minutes of Grand Council meeting, of the report of the survey of N.P.C. fraternities' alumnæ organization and limited tenure of office regulations, and of all reports in the Information Arrow, and to supplement this with a "refresher course" in fraternity publications, copies of which may always be borrowed from Central Office, for study. Know your Fraternity as it really is, not as someone else may think it is!

The uncertainty about what college and fraternity conditions might be this fall led to Grand Council's decision to postpone its meeting, usually convened just before convention or during the summer, until late September or early October, when statistics for fall registrations, fraternity pledgings, and active chapter memberships would be available. Decisions about national awards are being made through correspondence and these will be announced either in the Information or the December Arrow. The Π B Φ Fellowship for 1942-43 has been awarded to Marion Webster, Ontario B, who will work towards her Doctor of Medicine degree at the University of Western Ontario. During the summer, Marion has served

as interne at the Stratford Hospital in Stratford, Ontario, and the interest apparent there on the part of the entire community in her fellowship and in the fraternity which granted it, and the recognition which she herself received for her abilities and capabilities have been heartwarming. Applications for the Fellowship for 1943-44 should reach the Grand President by January 1, 1943. Application blanks and full information about the award will be sent at any time upon request. The fellowship is open to any graduate member of the Fraternity and may be used at any recognized university.

The Amy Burnham Onken Province Awards, given for individual achievements in scholarship, fraternity service, and extra-curricular activity participation, and for personality and character,

have been made as follows:

The reports of the Grand Vice-President and the Chairman of the Settlement School Committee cover so fully the work of the alumnæ department and the Settlement School that it seems unnecessary to do more than express great pride in the achievements of both and deep appreciation for service of the highest order. Reports of other officers and committee chairmen complete the picture of a year of exceptional accomplishments.

During the past year, the Settlement School Committee lost from its personnel Agnes Wright Spring, its splendid Little Pigeon editor, and Irene Eldridge, its competent and faithful treasurer, members who have meant much in furthering the success of the Settlement School. The two new members, Mildred Odell Sale and Ann Leichliter Munn, bring specialized talents and broad general understanding to their work and have already proved themselves worthy of a place on the list of devoted Pi Phis who have given so freely of themselves to the School. Lolita Snell Prouty, former secretary of the Committee, has taken over the work of the treasurer in a most capable way.

The pressure of family responsibilities or war conditions which call for changes of address or for special service have meant the loss, this summer, of some of the Fratemity's most loyal, capable, and loved officers. The Grand Vice-President will announce the changes in the official personnel of the alumnæ department. From the group of Province Presidents, the Grand President has given up with deepest regret Clara Hall Sipherd, Mary Hanley Brooks, Gertrude Deer Owens, Geraldine Mars Ristine, and June Harris Granger, whose exceptionally fine leadership and ability are reflected in the strength of the chapters with which they have worked. The fine service given by Florence Butler, treasurer of the Holt House Committee, will be carried on by her suc-

cessor, Iantha Silence Perfect, also of the Milwaukee Alumnæ Club, and that given by Sancha Kilbourn Garvey, Chairman of the Committee on Transfers, by Katherine Hosmer. The Grand President is positive that she is expressing the deep gratitude of the entire Fraternity when she expresses her own for the loyalty and devotion which have meant that officers who could continue have done so.

During the past year, the Fraternity worked closely with a petitioning group at DePauw University, colonized during last fall's rushing season through the work of the alumnæ of Greencastle and Indianapolis and actives from chapters in Illinois and Indiana, under the direction of Marianne Reid Wild, Assistant to the Grand Vice-President and Mary Lou Stanfield, Colorado B, who represented the Fraternity as a senior at DePauw and served the group as its excellent president. Remarkable success in rushing against established chapters of strong nationals and in building up a group which holds a high place in the esteem and liking of the administration and of the student body resulted in the group's receiving, this spring, the unanimous vote of Grand Council and of the Delta Province chapters approving the chartering of II & E as Indiana E. Installation will be held August 31 to September 2, and will add to the Fraternity's roll of chapters one worthy of its place there. The appreciation of the Fraternity for the helpfulness of the ad-ministrative officers of DePauw and for their interest in getting a chapter of II B & for their campus is very great, as is that which goes out to its own members who have played so big a part in the success at DePauw. During the coming year, Jeanne Stith, Iowa A, will act as the Fraternity's representative on the campus, and Marianne Reid Wild, Kansas A. will continue as Special Adviser. As Pi Beta Phi's National Panhellenic Delegate,

As Pi Beta Phi's National Panhellenic Delegate, the Grand President, with other Grand Council members, attended the meeting of N.P.C. held in New York City, late in November, and at that meeting, took office, through automatic accession, as Treasurer of N.P.C. and member of its Executive Committee. She has appreciated always Pi Beta Phi's interfraternity friendliness and cooperation but she asks that these qualities be made increasingly evident as the Fraternity assumes, through its delegate, increased responsibility for making constructive the work of the association

of twenty-one national fraternities.

During the past year, the Grand President made official visits to Arkansas A, Missouri T, Washington A and B, Alberta A, Idaho A, Montana A, and Oregon A and B, and found a lasting happiness in the gracious welcome of these hostess chapters and in the first-hand knowledge of their strength and fineness. She had the pleasure, too, of being the guest of the alumnæ clubs in Fayetteville; Springfield, Missouri; Everett; Seattle; Bozeman; Edmonton; Pullman; and Eugene at the times of her chapter visits; of being included with other Grand Council members as guests of the Jacksonville, Illinois, alumnæ club at the time of Grand Council meeting; and of sharing the great inspiration of the seventy-fifth anniversary Founders' Day celebrations at Chapel Hill, North Carolina, and Kansas City, Missouri; of being the house guest of North Carolina A; and of meeting many active chapter members of Missouri A.

Kansas A, Kansas B, and North Carolina B and many alumnæ from cities circling Kansas City and Chapel Hill at the time of the thrilling frater-

nity experiences there.

To all whose friendliness, cooperation, helpfulness, and loyalty have made a year of exceptionally heavy fraternity work possible, the Grand President expresses her never-to-be-forgotten gratitude; this goes out in special measure to the other members of Grand Council, to the Province Presidents with whom she has worked so especially closely and happily, and to the active chapter officers who, too, have given her such lasting inspiration through their cooperation and fine leadership.

The Grand President believes that Pi Beta Phis everywhere will find, as she has found, new courage to stand fast for the things that are finest and best in an expression of ideals and purposes given in an editorial by Jan McQuillen, Iowa Z, in that chapter's The Dart, issued this summer for its

alumnæ and rushees:

"The Dart—from the actives of Iowa Z of II B \$\Phi\$ to all its alums everywhere; but this year,

most especially to the alums who were actives during the first World War. Because they, more than anyone else, can realize the extra solemnity Pi Phi holds in days like these. They can sense the new meaning the rituals have in a world changed so abruptly. They can sympathize with the sudden catch in the throat as we realize that education and ideals are perhaps the only stable things in life. Those Pi Phis of the other war will see in this Darr, more quickly than most readers, evidences of the transition we are making; evidences of the new position we must occupy, neither scatterbrained Susie Sororities nor Know-It-All Collegians; evidences of a new kind of college life; evidences, too, of the same Pi Phi they know and will always love."

With the spirit of the Fraternity's undergraduates what this editorial expresses,  $\Pi$  B  $\Phi$  can face

the future unafraid!

Respectfully submitted,
AMY BURNHAM ONKEN
Grand President, II B

August 14, 1942.

#### MESSAGE OF THE GRAND VICE-PRESIDENT

To the alumnæ of Pi Beta hPi:

Since the last annual message to the alumnæ, important changes have come to all of us in our responsibilities, thought, and daily lives. Through draft or volunteer service, the Pi Beta Phis of these United States have been affected as have been our Canadian chapters and clubs for several years and the bond between has been drawn closer still. America's first effort now is toward the swiftest possible conclusion to this heinous war. As in all wars, while the brutality and excitement of actual conflict must rest upon the manpower of our nation, the burden of calm spirit, effective execution of many duties not normally theirs, and wise thinking for the future fall upon the women.

What is the role of the Pi Beta Phi alumna? Because any fraternity as such draws its members, selectively, from the privileged, its members should have particular ability to meet emergencies as they arise. Because Pi Beta Phi endeavors, from the time a girl becomes a pledge, to develop those inherent qualities of balance, leadership, and judgment to fit her to become an educated citizen, a Pi Beta Phi does have the specialized ability so needed now. In the present crisis she is proving and will continue to prove

this to be true.

Under the prevailing conditions, it is not surprising that some of the aims of alumnæ department officers for their clubs, in our seventy-fifth anniversary year, may have fallen short. It is splendid that so many clubs have recognized that old obligations must be met and present commitments carried out. The Province Vice-Presidents whose provinces this year have failed to show the customary gain in numbers offer several explanations: first of all, the upsetting and distracting influence of war; then perhaps the lack of the right approach by the clubs to the new graduates from whose numbers each year new material is gleaned; a lack of effort by the membership chairmen; and in some instances,

their own personal failure to give the adequate supervision and encouragement so necessary for every club.

Your very careful survey of all province officers' reports and charts in the Information Ar-ROW is urgently requested but your Grand Vice-President calls your attention to some of the outstanding achievements of the year at this time. Should some be overlooked, it is through failure to have all reports at hand for reference as this account is compiled.

Alumnæ club memberships show an increase this year in Alpha East, Beta, Gamma, Delta, Zeta, Eta, Theta, Iota, and Lambda provinces. Among the clubs deserving special note for their emphasis upon membership are those able to secure alumnæ dues from all their resident alumnæ. They are Montreal, Portland, Me., Gary, Jefferson City, Little Pigeon, Lakeland, Springfield, Ill., Chevenne, Hutchinson, Manhattan, Poudre Valley, Colo., Ardmore, Shreveport, Calgary, Olympia, Pullman, and Wenatchee.

Those clubs which offer to the young graduate whose first year national dues are already paid through constitutional requirement, the first year's local club membership dues as a gift, have found it a splendid way to attract her to Pi Phi activity and to secure her youthful enthusiasm

and ability in their club work,

Junior auxiliaries in the larger cities continue to prove their value to the younger alumnæ. It is an inspiration to find these groups working shoulder to shoulder with the senior group for Settlement School benefits, Arrowcraft sales and the furtherance of our interest and to realize that Pi Beta Phi, though celebrating its seventy-fifth birthday, continues to be ageless in spirit.

New clubs have been formed in Schenectady (Alpha West), where an alumnæ club has proved of great pleasure to the many young alumnæ arriving as their husbands take technical positions there; in Jackson (Zeta province) has been formed the first alumnæ club in the state of Mis-

sissippi; in Eta province a club of sixteen from the towns of Bloomington and Normal, Illinois is now chartered; in Minneapolis (Theta province) an evening group of young alumnæ has been formed; and Kappa province boasts of a new club in Ponca City, Oklahoma. Other groups from coast to coast have manifested an interest in getting together from time to time during the year and from these little beginnings we are hopeful of strong thriving clubs within the year. One of the aims for all clubs is one hundred

One of the aims for all clubs is one hundred per cent participation in the three fraternity projects and particularly was it asked this year in honor of our diamond jubilee. No one foresaw the extenuating circumstances of actual war and because, in spite of them, some were able to meet their goal, we feel a special honor roll is

due them:

ALPHA EAST Total clubs, 7 Hastford, Conn. Montreal, Que. Portland, Me.

ALPHA WEST Total clubs, 12 Northern New Jersey

BETA
Total clubs, 16
Akron, Ohio
Athens, Ohio
Central Pennsylvania
Cincinnati, Ohio
Cleveland, Ohio
Cleveland, Ohio
Columbus, Ohio
Harrisburg-Carlisle, Pa.
Ohio Valley
Pittsburgh, Pa.
Toledo, Ohio

GAMMA
Total clubs, 7
Chapel Hill, N.C.
Washington, D.C.
Baltimore, Md.
Tri-City, N.C.
Charlotte, N.C.
Columbia, S.C.

DELTA
Total clubs, 17
Ann Arbor, Mich.
Bloomington, Ind.
Detroit, Mich.
Fort Wayne, Ind.
Franklin, Ind.
Indianapolis, Ind.
Lafayette, Ind.
Richmond, Ind.
Southwestern Indiana

Epsilon
Total clubs, 11
Chattanooga, Tenn.
Jefferson City, Mo.
Kansas City, Mo.

Louisville, Ky. Nashville, Tenn. St. Joseph, Mo.

ZETA
Total clubs, 11
Atlanta, Ga.
Birmingham, Ala.
DeLand, Fla.
Jacksonville, Fla.
Lakeland, Fla.
Orlando, Fla.

ETA
Total clubs, 24
Carthage, III.
Decatur, III.
Fox River Valley, Wis.

THETA Total clubs, 15 Ames, Iowa Burlington, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Des Moines, Iowa Duluth, Minn. Grand Forks, N.D. Minneapolis, Minn.-Afternoon Minneapolis, Minn.-Evening Mt. Pleasant, Iowa Winnipeg, Man.

IOTA
Total, clubs, 17
Casper, Wyo.
Cheyenne, Wyo.
Colorado Springs, Colo.
Denver, Colo.
Hutchinson, Kan.
Kansas City, Kan.
Lincoln, Neb.
Manhattan, Kan.
Omaha, Neb.
Poudre Valley, Colo.
Topeka, Kan.
Wichita, Kan,

KAPPA
Total clubs, 26
Fayetteville, Ark,
Fort Smith, Ark.
Houston, Tex.
Muskogee, Okla.
New Orleans, La.
Oklahoma City, Okla.
San Antonio, Tex.
Stillwater, Okla.
Texarkana, Tex.
Tulsa, Okla.
LAMBDA

Total clubs, 19 Boise, Idaho Everett, Wash. Olympia, Wash. Portland, Ore. Salem, Ore. Spokane, Wash. Tacoma, Wash. Wenatchee, Wash.

Mu
Total clubs, 24
Long Beach, Calif.
Los Angeles, Calif.
Marian County
Nevada
Ogden, Utah
Palo Alto, Calif.
Pasadena, Calif.
San Jose, Calif.
San Mateo County,
Calif.
Santa Barbara, Calif.
Santa Monica, Calif.
Tucson, Ariz.
Ventura, Calif.

Gamma Province had one hundred per cent participation in all projects save for one club which failed to give to Holt House and all totals showed an increase over last year. Alpha East and Beta provinces had all but one club giving to the Settlement School. Delta Province had nine out of seventeen clubs contributing one hundred per cent; Epsilon had six out of eleven, with one hundred per cent contributions to the Settlement School. Zeta Province had six out of eleven; Eta, three out of twenty-four; Theta, ten out of fifteen; with all fifteen giving to the Settlement School; Iota, twelve out of seventeen and all but one club of the province gave to the Settlement School; Lambda, eight out of nineteen; and Mu, eleven out of twenty-four.

To read the splendid reports of the Settlement School year and the plans of the national committee for the future should make every alumna who has had a share in this achievement glow with pride. The regular donations to the School have been augmented by a fine increase in Magazine commissions. Many clubs increased their commissions and many others assisted in enlarging this field. Another year will find the same and still other contenders for the prizes offered by the publishing company and the fraternity for the largest commissions earned, the largest per capita commission and the greatest percentage increase, held this year by the Denver, Casper and Moscow clubs, respectively.

The largest Settlement School donations of the year came from Cleveland, long a loyal supporter of the School, with \$715.55. Close behind were St. Louis with \$700 and then Los Angeles with \$411.38. The Fraternity is grateful indeed for every dollar so eagerly earned and so loyally forwarded. These donations, together with earned magazine commissions, special gifts and the continued increased income from Arrowcraft sales mean continued progress in Gatlinburg and an ever increasing respect for our philanthrophy from the country at large.

Increased sale of Arrowcraft products has meant increased possibilities in the School and community and continued assistance to the weavers. Among the many clubs which have sponsored sales this year, several deserve special comment. Two top the list: Berkeley stands first for the second year, having sold this year \$1887.48 while the

Boston club has \$1,852.78 to its credit. All these figures are to July 1 date. In the order of their total sales Seattle (\$840.62), Beaumont (\$701.60), Honolulu (\$659.01), Westchester County, N.Y. (\$641.23), Portland, Ore. (\$630.00), New York City (\$590.08), Manhattan (\$530.00) follow, while in the four hundred dollar class are Milwaukee, Champaign-Urbana, Dallas, Houston, Denver, Philadelphia, San Francisco, and Cleve-

That the Honolulu club, in spite of its harrow-ing experiences and the evacuation of many of its members has been able to make its customary contribution of \$100 to the Settlement School and, in addition, to sell more than \$600 worth of Arrowcraft products, with its account paid in full, is a tribute to its spirit, one which sets all the fraternity a stirring example of fraternity loyalty and one which every club could do well to emulate.

Again we call attention to those Canadian clubs which have so consistently carried their full share of fraternity activity in spite of their terrific burdens of war which each year are cumulative. These are Montreal, previously mentioned as a hundred per cent membership club, London and

Winnipeg.

The Settlement School and other reports will carry comments on the contributions by the active chapters to our various projects but it is not amiss to include here, too, a brief word of appreciation. Delta, Eta, Kappa, Lambda and Mu Province chapters were one hundred per cent in contributions to the Settlement School and the Loan Fund while Epsilon and Zeta Chapters gave one hundred per cent to the Settlement School.

Loan Fund donations from alumnæ clubs measure up well with last year's and are satisfying to the committee because demands have not

increased greatly.

Contributions to the Holt House restoration show an increase over last year. As more alumnæ see Holt House for themselves and appreciate its charm of period beauty, commemorating, in Monmouth, the founding of Pi Beta Phi still more widespread will be the approval of the 1940 Convention's decision to maintain this memorial

through the years.

Club questionnaires have brought new and varied ideas for the four constitutionally required meetings as well as the regular programs, Clubs have used the new film to advantage in publicizing the Settlement School. One club had its constitutional meeting presented through the medium of visual education with paper dolls; another with a Professor Quiz program. One group benefited from a program on "Books-Their Place in American Defense"; a number have used Time's outlines on current topics; some consider Husbands' night, their best; one club listed its most outstanding program of the year, a visit to Central Office, certainly a real education on fraternity efficiency with Beatrice Purdunn as guide. Many clubs have liked especially the social gatherings as definite relief from the strain of war effort on so many other days of the month.

Diverse methods have been used to aid the active chapters. Money or other gifts and help in chapter house financing were listed most frequently. The Portland, Maine club presents an award to the most cooperative Sophomore in its province. The Cincinnati club gives a scholarship cup to the high ranking chapter of its province. These are given as possible examples of what a club may do when unfortunately it is too far from an active chapter to know its special needs and desires.

Founders' Day was fittingly celebrated among clubs and chapters alike with the 75th anniversary as the primary theme but with plans rightly simplified from the standpoint of economy, the difficulties of transportation, and in some districts, the possibility of black-outs. The largest affair reported was in Indianapolis when actives from all four Indiana chapters and alumnæ from all over the state, four hundred seventeen strong, gathered for luncheon. Guests of the day were members of Pi Phi Epsilon from De Pauw University, soon to become Indiana Epsilon of Pi Beta Phi.

Here we would mention another bridging of the years by another means, one of great pleasure to older—ever young alumnæ, and instigated by Iowa Beta. Forming the "Order of the Golden Arrow," they honor each of their own alumnæ as she passes her fiftieth anniversary of initiation into the chapter. Grand Council, recognizing the particular fitness of cherishing our I.C.s and all those who reach this honor position, has recommended for Convention consideration, the establishment of such a national order. In addition to whatever each chapter may wish to do for its own alumnæ at such a milestone, the fraternity would send a special membership certificate and would present to those not already subscribers, life subscriptions to the ARROW. With the lack now of any living Founder, this would seem an especial honor to confer upon the older generations.

In addition to carefully planned programs, good budgets and able Ways and Means committees have spelled success. This coming year difficulties of transportation may mean fewer meetings or in larger cities, some group or sectional meetings may be necessary. This past year, constitutional require-ments have been met, with very few exceptions. It is particularly urged that all clubs use the ritual for their business meetings whenever possible. One club president decided this year that every member should know the ritual and say it with greater meaning, which meant a finer club year for all, in

the opinion of its members.

From a president whose club has more than doubled its membership this year, I quote:

The Wichita club has more than doubled its paid membership this year. Reasons-

1. We sent out the year books with a bill for dues and hostess fee before the first meeting. (We had more dues paid at first meeting than ever before.)

2. Careful selection of committee chairmen.

3. Executive Board met before each meeting. Result—meetings went off more smoothly with less wrangling.

4. Good programs.

5. The telephone committee functioned beautifully. The chairman picked a committee with pleasant voices and each alumna was called before each meeting. No one felt left out.

6. We made typewritten names with the first

name to be pinned on at each meeting.

As I see it-organization-with as many serving on committees as possible, and personal attention make for a well-knit club." To this could be added, fine leadership can mean a successful and happy year. Much depends upon the spirit and

the personality of club officers.

Appreciation is here expressed to the special committee (Helen Russell, Northern New Jersey, Emily Yaple, Detroit, Mildred Sale, Dallas) which so ably summarized the suggestions received from Province conferences of last year. This material on major issues was sent to all alumnæ clubs and chapters in anticipation of Convention. For the same purpose, that of summarizing in advance of convention, suggestions on changes in the Constitution, a committee from the Ames club, headed by Laura Knapp, functioned for Grand Council; to her and her committee thanks are also expressed. Likewise our appreciation goes to another alumnæ committee (Elizabeth Bare, Columbus, Roberta Rowland, Burlington, Iowa, Isabel Cramer, St. Louis) which has been working on some possible manner of securing an increase in alumnæ life memberships but to date has drawn no conclusions. Suggestions will be happily received by your Grand Vice President and referred to a second committee which will function during the coming

As always the fraternity urged club participation in community needs and to these, since December, have been added ever increasing service to our country. Space cannot be given here to list the many places of leadership in the war program, individual Pi Phis hold today. We are exceedingly proud of them and an ensuing issue of the Arrow will feature at least some of these women.

Our Canadian clubs, because of their longer participation, have been thoroughly organized in war work for some time but rapidly, many other alumnæ clubs have volunteered as units. To name a few: St. Louis has an "Arrow Volunteer Unit in Red Cross"; New York City organized and headed the Panhellenic Unit of A.W.F.S.; Los Angeles organized a Grey Lady Unit and in addition, has equipped and staffed several recreational rooms for various army units; New Orleans has its own Bandage Rolling Unit; Muskogee has its own unit which meets weekly and which guaranteed that every member would have one hundred hours of Red Cross by July 1; Seattle has furnished a reading and recreational room at the Naval Air Station there; San Francisco, together with many other war duties, contributed \$100 toward the purchase of auxiliary mobile lights; Hartford assisted in buying a Rolling Kitchen Unit; Pasadena has given able assistance to the Visiting Nurses' Association there; Denver has a unit of A.W.V.S. registered in its name; Reno has a "Pi Beta Phi Alumnæ Club Canteen Unit"; Bloomfield Hills also has its own Red Cross unit and in addition serves coffee and doughnuts to inductees departing from their area; Miami raised \$272 for Bundles for Bluejackets; Baltimore and Toledo organized their own First Aid units; the Minneapolis Afternoon club has sewed regularly together for Red Cross since June 1941 while the new Evening club organized a Home Nursing Unit.

Though perhaps greater opportunities present themselves in the larger cities or in key defense areas, clubs everywhere have done much. Less than ten percent failed to report some form of defense work on their questionnaires. Group activities ranged from cookie donations up to 340 dozen by one club to the purchase of War stamps and bonds; from knitting and sewing to contributions of money to U.S.O., Red Cross or local defense causes; from serving as hostesses or chaperons at entertainment centers to donations to the Blood Banks; three clubs, Topeka, Ardmore, and Fresno, each reported adopting and sewing for an English refugee child and his family.

Meanwhile local projects have not been overlooked for Community Funds, Day Nurseries, Underprivileged children, Childrens' Hospitals, the Y.W.C.A., Camp Fire, Girl Scout, or other agencies have shared Pi Phis' spirit of helpfulness. The postponement of Convention brought an-

The postponement of Convention brought another disappointment in a long list of those resulting from war. It has brought heavier burdens to all those in places of fraternity responsibility which can only be carried with the fullest understanding and cooperation on the part of all. Each club's effort to continue as normally and effectively as ever, without the help and inspiration which Convention only can give, must be met by every officer's resolution to give to her clubs all possible enthusiasm and ability. Pulling together, there cannot fail to be another fine year ahead for each province of the alumnæ department.

The fraternity is fortunate in that it loses only one Province Vice President this year but it is with extreme regret that we have accepted the resignation of Winifred Smith Paige, Zeta Province Vice President. Her clubs, to whom she has endeared herself so deeply, will share the loss. Her office has been filled by the appointment of Helen Cavenaugh Lloyd (Mrs. John H.), Florida P., from the Miami Alumnæ club, whom we wel-

come most cordially.

The Grand Vice President made chapter visits this year to Nova Scotia A, Maine A, Massachusetts A, Vermont A and B, in connection with her attendance, together with the others of Grand Council, at the meeting of National Panhellenic Congress in New York City. Later in the year Ohio A, B and A, Pennsylvania B and P, West Virginia A and Utah A were also visited. These contacts gave her renewed faith in the college girl of today and fraternity enthusiasm and pride were rekindled by the very warm welcome accorded her everywhere and by the splendid evidence of the supervision which Pi Phi officers give to their chapters. It was also her pleasure to be the first house guest of Washington A in its beautiful new chapter home and, because of her nearness to them, to be honored on several other occasions during the college year.

Fine contacts were very much enjoyed with the alumnæ clubs of Salt Lake City, Portland, Me., Halifax, Burlington, Vt., Hartford, Columbus, Athens, Delaware, the Central Pennsylvania club, and through a conference, with the presidents of several of the clubs in the Chicago district. Together with the others of Grand Council as honor guests, she enjoyed the hospitality of the New York City alumnæ club at their annual tea and Arrowcraft sale in Beekman Tower and the Jacksonville, Ill. alumnæ club at luncheon during the February meeting of the Council there. To sum up one's feeling after visiting with all these grand Pi Phis, she could quote from the report of a Province Vice President who said that in each place visited everyone was so very nice she would like to live there. Surely there is no finer cordiality

than that of Pi Beta Phis'.

To the many who have encouraged and assisted in making the alumnæ department a strong branch of fraternity activity, your Grand Vice President expresses her heartfelt appreciation. To the Assistant to the Grand Vice President, the Director of Central Office, to the Province Vice Presidents, and to the others of Grand Council, she offers her special gratitude. To the fraternity she pledges the best of her ability.

> Respectfully submitted, RUTH BARRETT SMITH

#### REPORT OF THE GRAND SECRETARY

The duties of the Grand Secretary are not only those of routine involved in acting as Recording and Corresponding Secretary for the Fraternity. The Grand Secretary is privileged, too, to work directly with Alumnæ Advisory Committees and with the Standing Committees of the Fraternity. These committees are made up of alumnæ who stand back of the front line of undergraduate fraternity life as a reserve battalion,—a potent force ready to assist with plans and with direct action when help is needed.

During the past year the four hundred and twenty members of Alumnæ Advisory Committees and the seventy-two members of Standing Committees have continued to give constructive help to chapters as their respective positions demanded, both through personal contacts with chapter members and through directive correspondence with them. Because the work of all these committees is so closely interwoven, it has been stressed this past year that frequent and close contacts be maintained between the chapter advisors and the supervisors of chapter committees whenever that was possible.

Reports of all committees indicate that the closing days of the school year just passed brought new and unusual problems to be faced. The Pi Phis making these reports realize along with other fraternity officers and members that alumnæ are going to be called upon in this great emergency to contribute even more generously of time and thought, to insure for the youth of today the continuity of our Fraternity which so richly contributed to their character building in undergraduate days. This condition is a direct challenge to Alumnæ Advisory Committees and to Standing Committees—one which means definite service to a very special group of American and Canadian youth, our active Pi Phis—and one which, in turn, is a direct contribution to defense.

It has been our aim, always, to provide adequate help and inspiration for these committees through manuals, through regular reports and instructions, and through personal correspondence—and for Standing Committees, through quarterly issues of The Leader's Digest. Experience has proved that strength and real accomplishments are in direct proportion to regular contacts maintained and to cooperation given.

It is a real satisfaction to the Fraternity and to the committees themselves that the work of the past year has been carried on with increased efficiency, due largely to the specific directions given in the new manuals. The work of Standing Committees is best told by the reports of committee chairmen found elsewhere in this issue of the Arrow. Alumnæ Advisory Committees report semi-annually and annually to the Grand Secretary.

These reports give definite evidence of a clear understanding of chapter problems and indicate the intelligent and effective way in which chapters have been assisted.

Supervision has been given to the two chapters chartered at the 1940 Convention—Wisconsin Gamma and Tennessee Beta—and to the group at DePauw which was working for a charter and which has recently become Indiana Epsilon. One chapter, only, of the eighty-three chapters of the Fraternity was under special supervision and it has responded exceedingly well to suggestions and to assistance given.

assistance given.

These duties of supervision, as well as those involved in acting as secretary for the Fraternity have been made pleasant and stimulating because of the fine spirit of cooperation and the gratifying response given by all Pi Phis contacted.

The Grand Secretary had the privilege this year, along with the other members of Grand Council, of attending the National Panhellenic Congress in New York City and the joint meetings of that body and the National Interfraternity Council.

Inspiration and renewed enthusiasm came when contacts were made with the fine girls of our active chapters. During the year just passed the following chapters were visited: Alabama A; Georgia A; Florida A, B, and F; Oklahoma A and B; Texas A and B; and Louisiana A and B. Very happy associations were made possible by contacts with alumnæ in Birmingham, Alabama; Atlanta, Georgia; Deland and Orlando, Florida; Oklahoma City, Norman and Stillwater, Oklahoma; Dallas and Houston, Texas; and Baton Rouge and New Orleans, Louisiana; and with the Jacksonville, Illinois club at the time of Grand council meeting in Jacksonville.

Founders' Day observance this year was especially appealing and inspiring. It was a special privilege to be a part of Texas Alpha's Fortieth Birthday celebration and its observance of the Fraternity's Seventy-fifth Anniversary. The Grand Secretary was happy to attend the joint Founders' Day luncheon of the Santa Monica and the Los Angeles clubs and that of the Pasadena and the Glendale clubs, and it was with regret that the invitations of the Long Beach and the San Diego clubs could not be accepted.

In these stirring days when all of us are anxious to serve our country well, it is a real satisfaction to this officer to have a part in keeping alive and virile the already-established and well-functioning organization of Pi Beta Phi—an international defense project second to none, and an institution which must be preserved if peace is to be won.

Respectfully submitted, LOIS SNYDER FINGER

#### REPORT OF THE GRAND TREASURER

Urbana, Illinois August 15, 1942

To the Grand Council of the Pi Beta Phi Fraternity.

I HAVE audited the Cash Receipts and Expenditures of your Grand Treasurer, Mrs. Lois F. Stoolman, for the period August 16,

1941 to August 1, 1942.

In connection with the examination of the various accounts and records, cash receipts from the different sources were traced into the several books of account and cash disbursements, as evidenced by checks cancelled and returned by the banks, were compared with the relative cash book entries and found to be in accordance therewith. The balance of cash on hand, as shown by the books, was satisfactorily reconciled with the amounts as shown on deposit by the banks. Securities belonging to the various funds are carried in the books and statements at cost price. Those

in the hands of the Grand Treasurer were inspected during the course of the audit.

Schedules "A" through "I," attached hereto, are in agreement with the books as closed and in form and content are similar to those

submitted to you in the past.

From my examination of the various books and records and subject to the foregoing comments, it is my opinion that the Cash Receipts and Expenditures for the period under review have properly been accounted for and I believe that the accompanying Balance Sheet presents the financial condition of Pi Beta Phi Fraternity on August 1, 1942.

It is a pleasure for the auditor to add, in conclusion, that the various books and records examined were found to be extremely

well kept.

Respectfully,

NELSON D. WAKEFIELD Certified Public Accountant

			Schedule "A"
BALANCE SHEET			ochedure 21
August 1, 1942			
Assets			
Cash in Banks—U.S. —Canada —Savings and Certificates of Deposit	\$ 13,225.72 186.09 21,835.16	\$ 35,246.97	
Accounts Receivable—Chapters and Miscellaneous Cook Books Prepaid Insurance Securities—Other than Trust Funds	102,286.95	122.07 64.33 24.00	
Chapter House Mortgages—Endowment Fund Drive —Building Funds Student Loans	42,543.58 19,750.00 19,616.52	184,197.05	
Holt Property		12,281.13	
ARROW, General, Fellowship, Alumnæ Life Membership and Settlement School Endowment Trusts		555,334.46	
TOTAL ASSETS			\$787,270.01
Liabilities			
Accounts Payable—Unemployment Compensation Canadian Contributions Undistributed Endowment Fund Drive—for Chapter House Building Student Loan Fund Alumnæ Funds Convention Fund—Active and Alumnæ Contingent Fund Chapter House Building Fund \$13,001.82	\$ 47,864.47 33,019.03 11,176.38 20,319.07 86,436.76	\$ 13.44 104.58	
Chapter House Building Fund Loan from Contingent Fund 20,000.00	33,001.82	231,817.53	
Alumnæ Life Membership Trust Fund ARROW Endowment Trust Fund General Endowment Trust Fund Settlement School Endowment Trust Fund Fellowship Endowment Trust Fund	125.00 392,470.32 106,350.36 46,073.76 10,315.02	555,334.46	
TOTAL LIABILITIES			\$787,270.01

CONTINGENT FUND August 16, 1941 to August 1, 1942		Schedule "B"
Balance—Contingent Fund—August 16, 1941		\$ 73,470.77
Receipts Chapter Dues and Initiation Dues Interest on Securities Fines Directory ARROW File Interest on Fellowship Securities Liability Insurance Jewelry Miscellaneous	15,002.00 5,907.60 108.00 2,978.00 207.50 450.82 198.81 5,835.45 33.79	
Total Receipts		\$ 30,721.97
TOTAL RECEIPTS AND BALANCE		\$104,192.74
Expenditures  ARROW File Fellowship Award Allowance for General Expense Central Office Officers' Office Expense Traveling Expense Committee Expense Chapter Expense—General Chapter Expense—General Chapter Expense—Tennesse B Chapter Expense—Tennesse B Chapter Expense—DePauw General Expense Green and Palmer—Attorney Fee ARROW Miscellaneous Refund Initiates Loss on Securities	97.90 500.00 1,750.00 2,700.20 3,004.85 3,832.46 385.10 918.48 28.85 285.22 58.41 1,191.93 983.62 500.00 1,186.27 16.44 10.00 306.25	
	500.27	
TOTAL EXPENDITURES  Balance—Contingent Fund—August 1, 1942		\$ 17,755.98
STUDENT LOAN FUND August 16, 1941 to August 1, 1942	3	chedule "C"
Balance—Student Loan Fund—August 16, 1941		\$ 31,278.71
Chapters Alumnæ Clubs Interest from Student Loans	\$ 533.80 842.00 364.52	
Total Receipts		\$ 1,740.32
TOTAL RECEIPTS AND BALANCE		\$ 33,019.03
Contributions in Canadian Banks—Undistributed Chapters Clubs		\$ 20.00 19.00
Less exchange on checks		39.00
Amount on deposit Canadian Bank for Loan Fund, August 1, 1942		\$ 38.78
STUDENT LOANS August 16, 1941 to August 1, 1942	S	chedule "D"
Balance—Unpaid Loans—August 16, 1941.  Loans made during period	\$ 20,577.47 4,611.00	
TOTAL LOANS		\$ 25,188,47 5,571.95
Balance—Unpaid Loans—August 1, 1942	-	\$ 19,616.52

ALUMNÆ FUND			Schedule "E"
August 16, 1941 to August 1, 1942			
Balance—Alumnæ Fund—August 16, 1941	A		. \$ 10,478.43
Receipts Alpha Province Beta Province Gamma Province Delta Province Epsilon Province Zeta Province Eta Province Eta Province Interpreta In	lumnæ   Dues   539.00   \$ 643.00   235.00   476.00   476.00   476.00   546.00   546.00   546.00   546.00   810.00   810.00	Senior Dues 68.00 42.00 78.00 55.00 53.00 99.00 47.00 92.00 60.00 61.00	
Total Dues	\$,277.00	775.00	
Alumnæ Dues \$ 6 Senior Dues Canadian  TOTAL DUES Interest Refunds	315.82 5.72	7,380.04 321.54	
TOTAL RECEIPTS			\$ 7,701.58
TOTAL RECEIPTS AND BALANCES			\$ 18,180.01
Expenditures Convention Fund Travel, Office and Miscellaneous Central Office		1,000.00 2,451.84 3,551.79	\$ 10,100.01
TOTAL EXPENDITURES			\$ 7,003.63
Balance—Alumnæ Fund—August 1, 1942			\$ 11,176.38
"ARROW" PUBLICATION			Schedule "F"
Receipts Initiation Interest Chapter Dues Advertising Arrows From Contingent Fund—For Deficit  TOTAL RECEIPTS  August 16, 1941 to August 1, 1942  August 16, 1941 to August 1, 1942	_	4,467.00 9,589.32 25.50 218.40 19.00 1,186.27	\$ 15,505.49
Receipts  Initiation Interest Chapter Dues Advertising Arrows From Contingent Fund—For Deficit  TOTAL RECEIPTS  Expenditures Banta Publishing Company Editor's Allowance and Miscellaneous Office Expense L. G. Balfour Co. Central Office Expense	\$	9,589.32 25.50 218.40 19.00	\$ 15,505.49
Receipts Initiation Interest Chapter Dues Advertising Arrows From Contingent Fund—For Deficit  TOTAL RECEIPTS  Expenditures Banta Publishing Company Editor's Allowance and Miscellaneous Office Expense L. G. Balfour Co.	\$	9,589.32 25.50 218.40 19.00 1,186.27 14,019.27 984.72 1.50	
Receipts  Initiation Interest Chapter Dues Advertising Arrows From Contingent Fund—For Deficit  TOTAL RECEIPTS  Expenditures Banta Publishing Company Editor's Allowance and Miscellaneous Office Expense L. G. Balfour Co. Central Office Expense  TOTAL EXPENDITURES  CONVENTION FUND	\$	9,589,32 25,50 218,40 19,00 1,186,27 14,019,27 984,72 1,50 500,00	\$ 15,505.49
Receipts Initiation Interest Chapter Dues Advertising Arrows From Contingent Fund—For Deficit  TOTAL RECEIPTS  Expenditures Banta Publishing Company Editor's Allowance and Miscellaneous Office Expense L. G. Balfour Co. Central Office Expense  TOTAL EXPENDITURES		9,589,32 25,50 218,40 19,00 1,186,27 14,019,27 984,72 1,50 500,00	\$ 15,505.49 \$ 15,505.49
Receipts  Initiation Interest Chapter Dues Advertising Arrows From Contingent Fund—For Deficit  TOTAL RECEIPTS  Expenditures Banta Publishing Company Editor's Allowance and Miscellaneous Office Expense L. G. Ballour Co. Central Office Expense  TOTAL EXPENDITURES  CONVENTION FUND August 16, 1941 to August 1, 1942  Balance—Convention Fund—August 16, 1941  Receipts Initiation Active Dues Province Distribution—From Alumnæ 1941-42		9,589,32 25,50 218,40 19,00 1,186,27 14,019,27 984,72 1,50 500,00	\$ 15,505.49 \$ 15,505.49 Schedule "G"
Receipts Initiation Interest Chapter Dues Advertising Arrows From Contingent Fund—For Deficit  TOTAL RECEIPTS  Expenditures Banta Publishing Company Editor's Allowance and Miscellaneous Office Expense L. G. Balfour Co. Central Office Expense  TOTAL EXPENDITURES  CONVENTION FUND August 16, 1941 to August 1, 1942  Balance—Convention Fund—August 16, 1941  Receipts Initiation Active Dues	\$	9,589,32 25,50 218,40 19,00 1,186,27 14,019,27 984,72 1,50 500.00	\$ 15,505.49 \$ 15,505.49 Schedule "G"
Receipts Initiation Interest Chapter Dues Advertising Arrows From Contingent Fund—For Deficit  TOTAL RECEIPTS  Expenditures Banta Publishing Company Editor's Allowance and Miscellaneous Office Expense L. G. Balfour Co. Central Office Expense  TOTAL EXPENDITURES  CONVENTION FUND August 16, 1941 to August 1, 1942  Balance—Convention Fund—August 16, 1941  Receipts Initiation Active Dues Province Distribution—From Alumnæ 1941-42  TOTAL RECEIPTS TOTAL RECEIPTS AND BALANCE		9,589,32 25,50 218,40 19,00 1,186,27 14,019,27 984,72 1,50 500.00	\$ 15,505.49 \$ 15,505.49 Schedule "G" \$ 11,834.02
Receipts Initiation Interest Chapter Dues Advertising Arrows From Contingent Fund—For Deficit  TOTAL RECEIPTS  Expenditures Banta Publishing Company Editor's Allowance and Miscellaneous Office Expense L. G. Balfour Co. Central Office Expense  TOTAL EXPENDITURES  CONVENTION FUND August 16, 1941 to August 1, 1942  Balance—Convention Fund—August 16, 1941  Receipts Initiation Active Dues Province Distribution—From Alumnæ 1941-42  TOTAL RECEIPTS	\$ 	9,589,32 25,50 218,40 19,00 1,186,27 14,019,27 984,72 1,50 500.00	\$ 15,505.49 \$ 15,505.49 Schedule "G" \$ 11,834.02
Receipts Initiation Interest Chapter Dues Advertising Arrows From Contingent Fund—For Deficit  TOTAL RECEIPTS  Expenditures Banta Publishing Company Editor's Allowance and Miscellaneous Office Expense L. G. Balfour Co. Central Office Expense  TOTAL EXPENDITURES  CONVENTION FUND August 16, 1941 to August 1, 1942  Balance—Convention Fund—August 16, 1941  Receipts Initiation Active Dues Province Distribution—From Alumnæ 1941-42  TOTAL RECEIPTS  TOTAL RECEIPTS  TOTAL RECEIPTS AND BALANCE  Expenditures Refunds		9,589,32 25,50 218,40 19,00 1,186,27 14,019,27 984,72 1,50 500.00 7,450.00 1,000.00	\$ 15,505.49 \$ 15,505.49 Schedule "G" \$ 11,834.02

Н.,	Schedule "I		COST OF HOLT PROPERTY
			August 16, 1941 to August 1, 1942
.45	\$ 10,288.		Cost of Property to August 16, 1941
		\$ 81.17 1,448.40 17.71 51.81 24.75 42.14 140.60 182.60	Expenditures  Architect Fee Balance due Aldrich & Aldrich Contractor—Rickey Mrs. F. Terrel—Light Fixtures E. B. Colwell—Window Shades Grading Yard Geo. McGrath Axel Ahlstrand—screens Taxes
40	A 1 003	3.50	Miscellaneous
	\$ 1,992		TOTAL EXPENDITURES
=	\$ 12,281.		Cost of Property, August 1, 1942
1,,	Schedule "		ENDOWMENT TRUST FUNDS
			August 1, 1942
			Arrow
.32	\$392,470.	\$ 6.72 796.89 51,725.97 339,940.74	Cash on Deposit—First Trust Company of Lincoln, Neb. Cash on Deposit—Harris Trust & Savings Bank of Chicago, Ill. Securities on Deposit—First Trust Company of Lincoln, Neb. Securities on Deposit—Harris Trust & Savings Bank of Chicago, Ill.
36	106,350.	\$ 51.56 106,298.80	Cash on Deposit—Harris Trust & Savings Bank of Chicago, Ill
.76	46,073.	\$ 1,363.71 44,710.05	Settlement School Cash on Deposit—Harris Trust & Savings Bank of Chicago, Ill. Securities on Deposit—Harris Trust & Savings Bank of Chicago, Ill.
.02	10,315.		Fellowship Securities on Deposit—First Trust Company of Lincoln, Neb.
.00	125.		Alumnæ Life Subscription Securities on Deposit—First Trust Company of Lincoln, Neb
	\$555,334.		TOTAL ASSETS
=			Endowment Trust Funds
		\$392,470.32 106,350.36 46,073.76 10,315.02 125.00	Arrow Endowment Trust Fund General Endowment Trust Fund Settlement School Endowment Trust Fund Fellowship Endowment Trust Fund Alumnæ Endowment Trust Fund
.46	\$555,334		TOTAL ENDOWMENT TRUST FUNDS
			Respectfully submitted
	Treasurer		Lois F. Stoolman, Grand Lillian B. Holton, Assa
			ARROW ENDOWMENT SECURITIES
1	Cos	Par Value	August 1, 1942
			Bonds-Harris Trust & Savings Bank
.58 .00 .50 .75 .00 .50 .50 .50 .50 .50 .50 .50 .50 .5	\$ 5,012 5,267 5,175 3,000 5,112 3,288 4,700 1,007 601 3,352 5,306 5,025 5,000 3,037 4,497 8,137 5,150 5,250 5,200 5,250 5,200 5,250 5,200 5,250	5,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00	American Tobacco Co.—Deb. 3s '62 Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe Equipment Trust—2½s '49 Atlantic Refining Company—Deb. 3s '53 Bell Telephone Co. of Canada—1st B 5s '57 Bethlehem Steel Corporation Cons.—3½s '59 Brooklyn Edison Company, Inc.—Cons. 3½s '56 Canada, Dominion of, Government of—2½s '45 Canada, Dominion of, Government of—3s '51 Canada, Dominion of, Government of—3s '51 Canadian Pacific Equipment Trust—2½s '45 Central Illinois Light Co.—3½s '66 Chesapeake & Ohio Equipment Trust—2½s '45 Clinton County, Iowa Primary Road—Ref. 2½s '46 Columbia Gas & Electric Corp.—Deb. 5s '52 Consolidated Gas & Electric Cight & Power Co. of Baltimore—3½s '71 Crane Company—Deb. 2½s '50 Dallas Power & Light Company—1st 3½s '67 Detroit Edison Company—Cen. & Ref. H 3s '70 Dow Chemical Company—Deb. 2½s '50 Dubuque County, Iowa, Primary Road—Ref. 2½s '43
	\$ 5,012 5,267 5,175 3,000 5,112 3,288 4,700 1,007 601 3,352 5,306 5,025 5,000 3,037 4,497 8,137 5,150 5,350 5,250	\$ 5,000.00 \$ 5,000.00	Lois F. Stoolman, Grand Lillian B. Holton, Assa ARROW ENDOWMENT SECURITIES August 1, 1942

	10,000 00 5,000.00 6,000.00	10,190.63 5,175.00 4,963.59 1,220.00 4,825.00 2,859.75 4,800.00 5,175.00 2,1859.75 4,800.00 5,175.00 2,190.00 3,232.50 5,143.75 2,060.20 5,512.50 3,142.50 3,071.25 5,200.00 5,387.85 4,170.00 2,135.00 2,135.00 2,135.00 10,000.00 7,125.00 10,000.00 10,700.00 11,500.00 11,500.00 11,500.00 11,500.00 11,500.00
Analysis U. S. Gov't Bonds Municipal Bonds Public Utility Bonds	\$130,375.00 15,000.00	
(Operating Companies) (Holding Companies) Railrosd Bonds Industrial Bonds Foreign Bonds Defaulted Bonds and c/d	63,000.00 8,000.00 47,000.00 55,000.00 12,600.00 3,000.00	
Foreign Bonds	8,000.00 47,000.00 55,000.00 12,600.00	
Foreign Bonds Defaulted Bonds and c/d	8,000.00 47,000.00 55,000.00 12,600.00 3,000.00	Cost
Industrial Bonds Foreign Bonds Defaulted Bonds and c/d  Total	8,000.00 47,000.00 55,000.00 12,600.00 3,000.00 \$333,975.00	Cost \$ 2,040.00 3,369.80 2,030.00 7,493.11 1,996.40 4,312.48 2,110.00 3,000.00 -1,040.22 4,233.26 2,200.00 1,100.00 7,690.24 9,110.46
Industrial Bonds Foreign Bonds Defaulted Bonds and c/d  Total.  Bonds and Real Estate—First Trust Company American Telephone & Telegraph Co.—Deb. 3½ '66 \$ Baltimore and Ohio—4% '48 Columbia Gas & Electric—5% '52 Consolidated Edison—2½% '48 Cudahy Packing Co.—2½% '48 Cudahy Packing Co.—2½% '55 Kansas City Terminal—4% '60 Long Island Ry.—4% '49 Northern States Power Co.—3½% '67 Pacific Gas & Electric Co.—4% '64 Texas Corporation—3% '48 U. S. Defense Svgs. Bonds—Series G 2½% '53 U. S. Defense Svgs. Bonds—Series G 2½% '53 Maughan Farm—NW¼ 33-24-5 W of 6 PM Winder Farm—SW¼ and S½ of NW¼ 24-24-5 W of 6 PM	8,000.00 47,000.00 55,000.00 12,600.00 3,000.00 \$333,975.00 Par Value 2,000.00 3,000.00 2,000.00 2,000.00 4,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00	\$ 2,040.00 3,369.80 2,030.00 7,493.11 1,996.40 4,312.48 2,110.00 3,000.00 -1,040.22 4,233.26 2,200.00 1,100.00 7,690.24
Industrial Bonds Foreign Bonds Defaulted Bonds and c/d  TOTAL  Bonds and Real Estate—First Trust Company American Telephone & Telegraph Co.—Deb. 3½ '66 \$ Baltimore and Ohio—4% '48 Columbia Gas & Electric—5% '52 Consolidated Edison—2½ % '48 Cudahy Packing Co.—2½ % '55 Kansas City Terminal—4% '60 Long Island Ry.—4% '49 Northern States Power Co.—3½% '67 Pacific Gas & Electric Co.—4% '64 Texas Corporation—3% '48 U. S. Defense Svgs. Bonds—Series G 2½% '53 U. S. Defense Svgs. Bonds—Series G 2½% '53 Maughan Farm—NW¼ 33-24-5 W of 6 PM Winder Farm—SW¼ and S½ of NW¼ 24-24-5 W of 6 PM  TOTAL \$  Analysis U. S. Govt Bonds Public Utility Bonds (operating companies) Railroad Bonds Industrial Bonds Municipal Bonds Municipal Bonds Foreign Bonds Foreign Bonds Foreign Bonds Foreign Bonds	8,000.00 47,000.00 55,000.00 12,600.00 3,000.00 \$333,975.00 Par Value 2,000.00 2,000.00 2,000.00 4,000.00 2,000.00 4,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 2,000.00 4,000.00 2,000.00 4,000.00 2,000.00 4,000.00 2,000.00 4,000.00 2,000.00 4,000.00 2,000.00 4,000.00 2,000.00 4,000.00 2,000.00 4,000.00 2,000.00 4,000.00 2,000.00 4,000.00 4,000.00 2,000.00 4,000.00 4,000.00 2,000.00	\$ 2,040.00 3,369.80 2,030.00 7,493.11 1,996.40 4,312.48 2,110.00 3,000.00 -1,040.22 4,233.26 2,200.00 1,100.00 7,690.24 9,110.46
Industrial Bonds Foreign Bonds Defaulted Bonds and c/d  TOTAL  Bonds and Real Estate—First Trust Company American Telephone & Telegraph Co.—Deb. 3½ '66 \$ Baltimore and Ohio—4% '48 Columbia Gas & Electric—5% '52 Consolidated Edison—2½% '64 '48 Cudahy Packing Co.—2½% '55 Kansas City Terminal—4% '60 Long Island Ry.—4% '49 '60 Long Island Ry.—4% '49 '55 Northern States Power Co.—3½% '67 Pacific Gas & Electric Co.—4% '64 Texas Corporation—3% '48 U. S. Defense Sygs. Bonds—Series G 2½% '53 Maughan Farm—NW¼ 33-24-5 W of 6 PM Winder Farm—SW¼ and S½ of NW¼ 24-24-5 W of 6 PM  TOTAL   *  **Analysis* U. S. Govt Bonds Public Utility Bonds (operating companies) Bailwad Bonds Public Utility Bonds (operating companies)	8,000.00 47,000.00 55,000.00 12,600.00 3,000.00 \$3333,975.00  Par Value  2,000.00 3,000.00 2,000.00 2,000.00 4,000.00 2,000.00 4,000.00 1,000.00 4,000.00 1,100.00 7,690.24 9,110.46  50,100.70  Par Value \$ 3,300.00 15,000.00 9,000.00	\$ 2,040.00 3,369.80 2,030.00 7,493.11 1,996.40 4,312.48 2,110.00 3,000.00 -1,040.22 4,233.26 2,200.00 1,100.00 7,690.24 9,110.46

#### GENERAL ENDOWMENT SECURITIES

August 1, 1942	Des Wales	-	
Bonds-Harris Trust & Savings Bank	Par Value	C	032
Bell Telephone Co. of Canada—1st B 5s '57 Canada, Dominion of, Government of 2½s '45 Canada, Dominion of, Government of 2½s '45 Canadian Pacific Equipment Trust—5s '44 Cansumers Power Company—1st 1936 3¾s '66 Great Northern Equipment Trust—E 2s '45 Missouri, State of—Road O 4s '45 Missouri, State of—Road O 4s '45 Northern States Power Company—1st & Ref. 3½s '67 Pacific Gas & Electric Co.—1st & Ref. 1 3½s '66 Pennsylvania Equipment Trust—G 2¾s '45 Railway Express Agency, Inc.—Serial Note A 2¾s '47 St. Louis-San Francisco Railway Co.—Cons. A 4½s '78 Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., Inc.—Deb. 3s '64 Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Co.—Deb. 3½s '62 Southern Pacific Equipment Trust—N 2¼s '46 Texas Corporation—Deb. 3s '59 Union Oil Co. of California—Deb. 3s '59 Union Pacific Railroad Co.—1st R. & Land Grant 4s '47 U. S. of America—Svgs. Bonds C '48 U. S. of America—Svgs. G TAXABLE 2½s '54 U. S. of America—Svgs. G TAXABLE 2½s '54 U. S. of America—Svgs. G TAXABLE 2½s '54 U. S. of America—Treasury 2½s '48 U. S. of America—Treasury 2½s '49 U. S. of America—Treasury 2½s '49 U. S. of America—Treasury 2½s '49 U. S. of America—Treasury 3'xs '48/46 U. S. of America—Treasury 2½s '49 U. S. of America—Treasury 3½s '47/45 Wisconsin Michigan Power Co.—1st 3¾s '61	\$ 2,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 3,000.00 3,000.00 3,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 1,000.00 2,500.00 2,500.00 2,500.00 1,430.00 2,500.00 1,430.00 2,500.00 1,430.00 2,500.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,000.00	4,9 5,1 1,1 5,3 4,8 1,0 1,0 1,0 1,0 1,0 5,1 1,1 1,1 1,1 1,1 1,1 1,1 1,1 1,1 1,1	00.00 062.50 10.00 12.50 10.00 168.75 191.03 144.90 140.00 190.31 123.75 72.50 61.25 77.50 00.00
TOTAL BONDS	\$103,850.00	\$106,2	98.80
Analysis	Par Value		
U. S. Gov't Bonds Public Utility Bonds (operating companies) Railroad Bonds Industrial Bonds Municipal Bonds Foreign Bonds Defaulted Bonds and C/D	\$ 46,350.00 17,000.00 15,000.00 13,000.00 1,000.00 8,500.00 3,000.00		
TOTAL	\$103,850.00		
FELLOWSHIP			
August 1, 1942			
Bonds & Real Estate-First Trust Company	Par Value	C	ost
Pacific Gas and Electric Co.—4% '64  U. S. Defense Svgs, Bonds—Series G 2½% '53  Frankle Farm—W½ of E½ of NW¼; NW¼, N½, SW¼ of NW¼ 10-21-1	3,000.00 500.00 6,694.37	50	20.65 00.00 94.37
TOTAL \$	10,194.37	\$ 10,31	15.02
Analysis U. S. Gov't Bonds Public Utility Bonds Real Estate—Parm	* 500.00 3,000.00 6,694.37		
TOTAL	\$ 10,194.37		
ALUMNÆ LIFE MEMBERSHIP			
Bonds			
U. S. Savings Bond—Due 2/1/49 U. S. Treasury—2½% '72	100,00 50.00		75.00 50.00
TOTAL	150.00	\$ 12	25:00

#### ARROW EDITOR

It is difficult to write of the events of this year for the Arrow, a year that held special significance for II B \$\Phi\$ in being the seventy-fifth anniversary of the Fraternity, and also the fifty-seventh year of unbroken publication for the magazine. As always, the Arrow has told of interesting events and personalities in II B \$\Phi\$, against a new background of great changes in our national life. For the third time in its existence, the Arrow has seen war come to the United States; for the second time in its existence, the Arrow has seen war

come to Canada. With the coming of war after Pearl Harbor, there has come a marked change in the subject matter of the material submitted, an increased emphasis on serious things in chapter and alumnæ club letters.

Even before Pearl Harbor, this change appeared in the articles sent in for the "What a Fraternity Girl Thinks." Both the editor of that section and the editor of the Arrow felt that there was evidenced a great improvement over those of the previous year. Most of the articles showed serious

thought; and although they were written in October, many girls chose to write of the war which was to come and of the part which our chapters might play in a then only possible war effort; besides this, when the subjects chosen related purely to college and chapter life, the treatment was more careful, the thinking much more worthwhile

The section of Pi Phi personalities has presented Pi Phis active in various important work; chapter letters have told of campus Red Cross activities, much sewing, and always much knitting; alumnæ letters told of meetings given over to Red Cross work of all kinds, as well as the individual efforts of members towards the war effort. These things have become the every-day activities of Pi Phis everywhere. Even the alumnæ personals reflect the war, in the great increase in the number of wed-

ding announcements!

Two issues of the year have been unusual in their size and their contents. In December we gave many additional pages to a graphic presentation of the Settlement School, inspired by the feeling of Grand Council and the Settlement School Committee that the School as it exists today should again be presented to our membership, and especially that our people in Gatlinburg should be introduced to Pi Phis everywhere. To the brilliant historical text of Agnes Spring's article were added the fine photographs made especially for the Arrow by Dorothy MacLean, & M, of Gatlinburg. If we may judge by reader reaction shown in the wonderful letters of appreciation which came to the Editor following that issue, our Arrow readers enjoyed it and gained from it a new point of view on the School. To all who wrote those letters, and for all those kind messages, the Editor wishes to express the deepest appreciation. Later in the year Grand Council voted to have that section of the Arrow made up in the form of booklets, to be given hereafter to all initiates into the Fraternity; this has been done, and the booklets are ready for Fall distribution.

The May issue honored the seventy-fifth anniversary of  $\Pi$  B  $\Phi$  by a presentation of our Founders as they really were, in an article written by Frances Rosser Brown, National Historian, which showed her fine appreciation and love for the past of the Fraternity. The leading article was written for the Arrow by Dr. James Grier, son of Ada Bruen Grier, Founder, and the Editor cherishes the memory of a very personal talk with Dr. Grier about his mother and the other Founders when she made her official visit to Monmouth in the Fall of 1941.

War conditions forced the abandonment of two cherished plans for the year. The Editor had hoped to present to the Fraternity a folio of pictures of chapter houses and active chapters as they existed on the seventy-fifth anniversary; this proved to be entirely too expensive, and was given up with regret, at least on the part of the Editor. Also, when Convention was planned for the New Ocean House, Swampscott, Massachusetts, this June, the finest sort of cooperation from that hotel had resulted in some of the most interesting and beautiful publicity material that a Convention has ever had, with many fine pictures and cuts. Then came Pearl Harbor, the plans for Convention were perforce changed, and the fine pictures had to be returned. With them went our thanks to Mr. Clement Kennedy (now Colonel Kennedy, U.S.A.,

on active duty), manager of the hotel, and to Miss Duffy, the assistant manager, for all their kindness and their interest.

During the year the Arrow Staff has had only one change. Agnes Wright Spring, Wyoming A, Editor of News from Little Pigeon, and former Arrow Editor, was forced by ill health to resign, much to the regret of all Pi Phis. Her place was taken by Mildred Odell Sale, North Dakota A, whose experience with Pan Pipes of  $\Sigma$  A I, as well as her work with the National Professional Panhellenic, of which she is now president, fit her splendidly for the work.

The Staff has seemed to the Editor to be even more efficient and more interested than ever, in spite of war work which includes absorbing tasks such as air raid warden and worker in a filter center. To them go a full measure of gratitude

for all their fine work for the ARROW.

During the year the paper scarcity gave great concern. Rising prices and small supplies forced a slight drop in the quality of the paper used, one so little different in appearance that probably many readers never noticed the change. It was possible to be sure of only enough for one issue at a time, on account of the large quantity required for the printing of an issue of our present circulation— 30.650 were printed in May, using much more than a carload of paper. However, now in June the paper shortage appears to be a thing of the past-it has now been reported to me that "the paper situation has cleared up almost to the point where we need no longer worry about it.' publishers of the ARROW, the George Banta Publishing Company, have continued their fine service, although under what must at times have been serious difficulties, since many of their workers are being called into the armed forces, and such skilled people are hard to replace. General costs such as wages are showing an increase, keeping pace with the cost of living, and there may be a slight increase in such items as typesetting for another year.

A statement of the cost of the ARROW and also of the investments of the ARROW Endowment Fund appears in the report of the Grand Treasurer.

During the year the Editor has found much interest and much education in attending National Panhellenic Congress in New York, including the Editors' Conference; at the latter, Christelle Ferguson, X  $\Omega$  Editor, was chosen the new president, and the Editor of the Arrow became secretary of the Conference. The Editor also represented  $\Pi$  B  $\Phi$ at the meeting of the National Association of Deans of Women at the Fairmont Hotel in San Francisco in February. On her way to National Panhellenic, the Editor made chapter visits to all chapters in Eta Province, and was besides privileged to meet with several alumnæ clubs along her route: at Carthage, Ill., as the guest of Miriam Williams, Eta Province President; in Monmouth, where a tea given by the alumnæ at the Holt House gave a first thrilling view of the reconstruction there; at Decatur, Ill., an evening meeting where the Settlement School film was shown; at Champaign, a delightful tea at the chapter house; Beloit, a supper party with the alumnæ in the new house; and Fox River Valley, a luncheon which also included Mrs. MacClyment, province vice-president, who was making her visit to the club at the same time. The Editor was also invited by the North Shore Club (now the Chicago North Suburban) to

attend their December meeting, but the time conflicted with her visit to Wisconsin B, arranged long before. However, the president of the club came to the chapter house of Illinois E for a visit which

had to be all too brief.

On the same trip, a visit was made to the Central Office and Mrs. Purdunn, a long-anticipated pleasure and a real inspiration; a visit was made to the George Banta Publishing Company in Menasha, where proof was read for the December ARROW. The Editor was happy to stop in Charleston, III., to see Lotta Johnson Weir, alumnæ letter editor, with an added visit on the way to Champaign to visit Illinois Z; and to meet Mercedes Jorgulesco in New York and to be with her for the joint N.I.C.-N.P.C. dinner—a first meeting with Mrs. Jorgulesco. On the way home from New York a very brief call was made on D.C. A.

Following the Deans' Conference in February, a trip was made to Jacksonville, Illinois, for a special meeting of Grand Council, with the added pleasure of a fine luncheon meeting with the Jacksonville Club.

1941-1942 has been a full and more than usually busy year, with a lowering background of war and tragedy. Yet the ARROW Editor wishes to express her gratitude for all that it has brought in fine and always comforting personal contacts, for the inspiration of being in close touch with so many Pi Phis, and for the privilege of absorbing work for  $\Pi$  B  $\Phi$ .

ADÈLE TAYLOR ALFORD

#### ASSISTANT TO THE GRAND PRESIDENT

THE past year has been one of many changes, a Tyear when one and all have become more and more conscious of what counts and of what does not. In many instances there has had to be rapid readjustment but from all points one is struck by the earnest desire to meet what is required.

There has been very little change in the requirements from this office, but there has been an attempt to bring the chapters closer together by sharing problems and ideas. Everyone seems anxious to help one another, and to hear what other persons are doing. Through questionnaires and letters the Assistant to the Grand President has attempted to help to develop this working together

among the chapters.

In September, the rush captains received a letter and questionnaire which drew to their attention the various rules and regulations necessary to their carrying out their responsibilities to the fullest extent. There were no changes in these regulations, but this coming year a list of the opening dates of all colleges or universities where there are Π B Φ chapters is to be forwarded to each rush captain. From this list she will be able to judge whether or not a chapter will be back and in a position to give its approval or otherwise of a rushee if she has been a student on their campus, when necessary, and according to regulation. If a chapter has not yet returned, then a rush captain will from this list of dates be in a position to know to write direct to the Grand President for permission to pledge a rushee who has attended previously a college where there is a chapter of Π B Φ. We hope that this adjustment will do

away with a great deal of wasted time.

A letter and questionnaire were sent out to pledge supervisors, the latter part of September. The training of our pledges is so very important, and we cannot stress too much the necessity of making a wise choice of pledge supervisor. From the many letters received from the pledge supervisors during the year, one cannot help but realize that this past year has proved to be no exception in the Fraternity's having excellent officers training its pledges. As much personal help as possible was given where needed, and the number of pledges initiated shows that Pi Beta Phi has had its usual successful year. These figures are shown in the

Report from Central Office.

Health certificates for all employees handling

food in II B & chapter houses is a national requirement. There are several chapters who do not have houses, but the great majority of chapters do live in houses and each of these houses has at least one person to prepare the food. These employees must have a clear bill of health at the time of being engaged each year. Several universities and colleges assist this measure by giving free medical examinations, but whatever the system, the employee must be examined. The Fraternity depends on each chapter president and Alumnæ Advisory Board to see that this regulation is met, and to ascertain whether or not this requirement had been met, a questionnaire was sent to the chapter presidents in November. Some chapters, at that time, were still not aware of this requirement, and, therefore, steps will be taken to have it brought to their attention each year when the fall supplies are sent out late in the summer.

In order to get the most accurate figures for the number pledged during the year, forms are sent to each pledge supervisor to be completed and returned, one to Central Office and one to the Assistant to the Grand President. This office would like to thank the officers who cooperated so fully in this respect. It is only through such cooperation that complete records for a chapter can be main-

tained.

The pledge supervisors and rush captains were again written to in February, and plans for the hold-over pledges were discussed with the pledge supervisors; and spring rushing and early preparation for the major rushing period were discussed with the rush captains. To think things well out in advance cannot be stressed too much with any officer.

It was the pleasure of the Assistant to the Grand President to visit Manitoba A in February, and Minnesota A and North Dakota A in April. Since she used to be province president for these chapters, it was like being home to be with them again. While visiting North Dakota A it was de-lightful to meet with the alumnæ at luncheon and renew many old friendships. After being for three or four years out of direct touch with these chapters, such as one has when a province president, it was indeed enjoyable to be back with them and gratifying to find them progressing so splendidly.

Since money cannot readily be sent from Canada to the United States, the Assistant to the Grand President does the banking of all national Fraternity money for the chapters and clubs in Canada. Dues and contributions are all kept on deposit in

War work is becoming part of the curriculum everywhere. A year ago the American chapters in Theta Province made afghans for Manitoba A to present to the Red Cross, To-day we are all in the war together and it is wonderful to see the way in which each and everyone is adjusting herself to the various demands upon her time and energy. Naturally one wonders what the future holds. Already  $\Pi$  B  $\Phi$  has given up its Convention, which is resulting in many officers continuing in office who otherwise might not have continued. As the members of this great Fraternity need the support

of their officers, so the officers need the support and encouragement from the members. Let it always be said that Pi Phis never failed.

For this officer, the past year has meant again many, many happy associations. Once more she cannot speak too warmly nor be too grateful for the friendship and help which has always been extended to her by the Grand President to whom she greatly appreciates and enjoys being Assistant. She wishes also to thank the other members of Grand Council and the Director of Central Officefor their ever ready assistance, and many national and chapter officers for their fine cooperation.

Respectfully submitted, ISABEL A. CLARK

#### ASSISTANT TO THE GRAND VICE-PRESIDENT

HE poet Mason once said "Time's gradual The poet Mason once said Thine of touch has moldered into beauty many a tower." The seventy-five years of Time which belong to II B Φ make us realize that this is indeed true. We realize, as we have the privilege of meeting Pi Phis over the country, that the Fraternity is not only a thing of beauty, but a strong influence for good.

The unusual experience of working with the petitioning group at DePauw University—soon to be installed as Indiana E of II B 4—has shown us the real strength of the Fraternity; that the group could rush so successfully against such old and well established N.P.C. groups proves that clubs and chapters have made membership in Π B Φ seem worthwhile and desirable.

This officer had the pleasure of representing the Fraternity at a special Guest Day during the Housemothers' Training Course sponsored by Pur-

due University at Lafayette, Indiana.

In the fall we again had the pleasure of being on the Purdue campus when we spoke at the Achievement Dinner, an event sponsored by the City Panhellenic and attended by actives and alum-næ for the presentation of individual and group scholarship awards. It was especially nice to find that the president of the City Panhellenic and the presiding officer for the evening was the incoming president of our Alumnæ Club.

The Manual on Rushing Recommendations for Alumnæ Clubs and Chapters was completed and distributed. This function of the Fraternity-rushing-is important to both groups and it is hoped that each year will see increased mutual understanding. It is interesting to note that in reports submitted this year by club presidents only four felt that their rushing recommendations committees had not functioned satisfactorily. These dissatis-factions are brought about either by the fact that chapters in soliciting recommendations do not allow enough time to gather the required information or do not give enough information about the girl such as the school from which she graduated or her father's name to make it possible to give or refuse consent to pledge, or clubs do not give as detailed information to the chapters. This is especially true concerning grades. In some cases recommendations have over-rated the girl or have not made clear to the chapter concerned just how interested they are in a particular girl.

The usual contacts with the mothers' clubs

have been maintained. Our letter has been answered by a great many of these clubs, and much interesting news of what they are doing has come to our attention. If the clubs which we have had the pleasure of knowing personally—Kansas B, Indiana F, and Tennessee B, are any criterion each one is meaning to the chapter it sponsors assistance which cannot be measured in dollars and cents, Tennessee A's deserves special mention because for some years it has made an annual contribution to our Settlement School, Individual letters have been written about new clubs to Texas B, and Ohio A. Clubs have also been organized in Wichita, Kansas, and Kansas City (Missouri and Kansas) to sponsor the Kansas A chapter. Manitoba A asked for program suggestions. The mothers of the recently chartered chapter, Indiana E, have already met and effected an organization.

Five new alumnæ clubs have been chartered this year, and have already made a valuable contribuiton to the work of the national Alumnæ Department. If Pi Phis located in areas where there are enough members for a club will read the exciting story of how the new Jackson, Mississippi, Club came into being, they too will follow suit. The new clubs in addition to Jackson are: Schenectady, New York, Bloomington-Normal, Illinois, Ponca City, Oklahoma, and the Minneapolis Evening Club. There are several localities where there are sufficient numbers for an organized club, namely: Montgomery, Alabama; El Dorado, Hot Springs, and Pine Bluff, Arkansas; Bakersfield, Burlingame, San Bernadino, and Whittier, California; Greeley, Colorado; Wilmington, Delaware; Gainesville, Florida; Aurora, Moline and Rock Island, and Quincy, Illinois; Anderson, Columbus and Edinbug, Frankfurt, and South Bend, Indiana; Daven-port, Dubuque, Mason City, Ottumwa, and Water-loo, Iowa; Springfield, and Worcester, Massachusetts; Jackson, and Lansing, Michigan; Rochester, Minnesota; Joplin, Missouri; Great Falls and Lewiston, Montana; Sparks, Nevada; Ithaca, New York; Durham, and Raleigh, North Carolina; Bismarck, and Fargo, North Dakota; Chillicothe, Ohio; Bartlesville, Enid, and Shawnee, Oklahoma; Medford, Oregon; Scranton, Pennsylvania; Charleston, South Carolina; Aberdeen, and Sioux Falls, South Dakota; Galveston, San Angelo, and Wichita Falls, Texas; Salina, Kansas; and Norfolk and Williamsburg, Virginia. Anyone wishing to assist in the organization of a club in any of these areas should get in touch with the Grand Vice-Presi-dent, the Province Vice-President of the province

concerned, or this officer,

With the number of Pi Phis who are able to accompany their husbands or fathers to their as-signed stations of service, the Pi Beta Phi Army and Navy Auxiliary should be a welcome means of finding new friends in strange places. The Army Division is ably headed by Phyllis O'Day, Washington B, and the Navy by Elizabeth Hawkins Custer

(Mrs. Ben Scott), California A.

It was the pleasure of this officer to visit for Grand Council South Dakota A, Nebraska B, Kansas A, and B, Kentucky A, Tennessee A and B, During the course of these visits she also had the pleasure of meeting alumnæ in Vermillion, Manhattan, and Lawrence, and with them a group from Kansas City, Missouri, and finally the Louisville Club. We regret that confusion in schedules made it impossible to make the planned visits to Missouri A and B. We are looking forward to these in the fall. To all our grateful appreciation for the cordial welcome received.

It continues to be a privilege to work with the Grand Vice-President. We hope that in some measure that we have been of assistance to Mrs. Smith. We enjoyed the opportunity of writing one of her monthly letters to the Province Vice-Presidents and only wish that there were more opportunities to be of service to her. To Miss Onken and the other members of Grand Council, the Province Officers, and Mrs. Purdunn of the Central Office we express appreciation for assistance and advice at all times.

In this time of strife in our nation and Canada we realize that  $\Pi$  B  $\Phi$  can be a vital force in the preservation of morale. We, therefore, pledge, that we as an officer of the Fraternity will give just a little more in devotion and service to the Fra-

ternity that this may be so.

Respectfully submitted, MARIANNE R. WILD

#### NATIONAL HISTORIAN

I'T IS with pleasure that the National Historian announces that Pennsylvania B and Michigan A share the honor of the award of the Nita Hill Stark Vase for the best history covering the two schools years 1940-41 and 1941-42. It is an added pleasure to be able to say that the decision as to the winner was hard to make as the average quality of the chapter histories was high and the differences between the best fifteen histories were minor. Honorable mention is given to the following, not in order of merit, but alphabetically—Arizona A, Colorado B, Illinois Z, Indiana A, Iowa Γ, Kentucky A, Massachusetts A, Oregon B, Tennessee B, West Virginia A, and Wisconsin T.

Some histories were outstanding in particular features, but not in others. The National Historian's dream history is made up of the writing ability of Michigan A, Tennessee A, and Massachusetts A; the informal pictures of Ontario B; the personal descriptions of Kentucky A; the individual pictures with honors listed of Iowa I; the honor chart of Arizona A; identification of clip-pings of Arkansas A and Oklahoma A; assortment of clippings of Wisconsin A; and the clever group pictures paying attention to background, arrangement, and dress of Pennsylvania B, Wisconsin B,

Arizona A, and others.

The National Historian is still most anxious to add more historical material to the national archives. The accessions received during 1941-42 are listed so that all Pi Phis may know what has been received since the report of September 1941, and they are also listed so that Pi Phis may get a clearer idea of what is wanted for the archives. If you have duplicates of any of the following, or similar articles, which you should like to give to the Fraternity, the Fraternity will be grateful for them.

Accessions 1941-42

Silver hat pin with II B & crest, 1912; Gold bar pin, Evanston, 1912; Gold stick pin, St. Louis, 1904; Gold bar pin, California, 1915; all being favors given at II B & Conventions, presented by Sarah Pomeroy Rugg, Massachusetts A

Convention picture taken at Boulder, Colorado, 1899, presented by Gertrude Bayless Mills, Missouri A

Picture of Fannie Whitenack Libbey, Nina Harris Allen, and Amy Burnham Onken taken at Convention, 1938, presented by Queen Smith, Missouri A

Copy of picture of Fannie Whitenack Libbey taken in 1868 and piece of material of dress worn in the picture; picture of Fannie Whitenack Libbey taken at the age of ninety; picture taken at the unveiling of the marker given by II B  $\Phi$  in memory of Fannie Whitenack Libbey, presented by Joan Libbey Sawyer, daughter of Fannie Whitenack Libbey

Letter written by Fannie Whitenack Libbey, presented Sue Winton Fletcher, Colorado B

Paper, The Order of the Golden Arrow, compiled by the Indianola Alumnæ Club, presented by Agnes Wright Stone, Iowa B

Picture of the Libbey burial plot in Featherstone, Minnesota; clipping concerning the unveiling of the marker in memory of Fannie Whitenack Libbey; invitation to presentation of The National Achievement Award to Carrie Chapman Catt at the White House, May 16, 1941, presented by

Amy Burnham Onken, Illinois E

Kodak pictures of Amy Burnham Onken, Anna Lytle Tannahill, and Fannie Whitenack Libbey and Emma Brownlee Kilgore taken at Charlevoix, Michigan, pre-

Lulu Clark Ingraham, Virginia A

Thirteen Kodak pictures taken indoors at Convention, 1940, in seven of which is Fannie Whitenack Libbey, presented by Erminie L. Pollark, Vermont B

Convention pictures of 1938 and another, the date of which we are not sure, presented by Carrie Hopkins Williamson, Louisiana A

Announcements of the establishment of Vermont B, Missouri A, and California B; Engraved invitation to a dance given by Colorado A; Convention Banquet programs for 1899, 1901; Newspaper clippings concerning installation of Texas A and Convention at Syracuse in 1901; Convention Delegate Badge, 1901; Grand Ball program in Honour of the 17th Biennial Convention; Banquet program, March 31, 1892; Historical Paper No. 1, 1867-1893; Picture of Grand Council, 1893, presented by

Ida Greeley Smith Griffith, Kansas A

Letters from the following contained items of historical value—Maryelenor Fraser, Colorado A; Fanny K. Read Cook, Michigan B; Esther Friedlander, Minnesota A; Marion Baker, Pennsylvania B; Ruth Sundell Orr, Wisconsin A; Harriet R. Johnstone, Washington A; Jessie

Lockett, Illinois H; Vera Kirkpatrick, Nebraska B; Harriette A. MacClyment, Illinois Δ; Helen MacK. Williamson, Illinois B.

The number of books published by members of Π B Φ in 1940 and 1941 was twenty-one, copies of fifteen of which are in the II B ₱ Library.

The 75th Anniversary of Π B Φ, coming in a year of world upheaval as did the 50th Anniversary in 1917, finds the Fraternity a tried line of de-fense. This is an especially fitting time for each Pi Phi to re-read the history of the Fraternity and to renew her knowledge of its many accomplishments for good.

The National Historian wishes to thank the Grand President, the ARROW Editor, and the Director of Central Office for their aid and encouragement throughout the year; the chapter historians for their cooperation; and all other Pi Phis who in different ways have made her year of service a happy one.

Respectfully submitted. FRANCES ROSSER BROWN

#### NATIONAL SUPERVISOR OF CHAPTER ACCOUNTING 1941-42

Chapters reporting monthly	65
Chapters reporting quarterly	18
Chapters operating houses	52
Chapters operating rooms or apartments	25
Total Bank Balance, June 1941\$	99,824.89
Total Bank Balance, June 1942\$	
Total Delinquency, June 1941	\$4,476.28
Total Delinquency, June 1942	\$4,548.45
Chapters operating at a profit, June 1941	
Chapters operating at a profit, June 1942	64
Chapters buying War Bonds, 13, total amount	\$3,600.00
Total Assessments, June 1941\$8	
Total Assessments, June 1942\$	
Total Expenses, June 1941\$8	
Total Expenses, June 1942\$	332,427.12

#### HONOR ROLL, 1942

Chapter with all reports 100% and no delinquents during year

#### Texas A

Chapters with all reports 100% during year District of Columbia A

#### Massachusetts A

Chapters with no delinquents during year

Vermont B		Ohio A	Colorado	
Ontario A		Minnesota A	Texas B	
Pennsylvania	В	Kansas B	Idaho A	

#### Chapters ending year with no delinquents

Maine A	Missouri A
Vermont A	Kentucky A
Vermont B	Iowa B
New York F	Iowa T
Ontario B	Iowa Z
North Carolina A	Nebraska B
West Virginia A	Kansas A
Michigan B	Colorado B
Indiana F	California A
Wisconsin A	Arkansas A
Wisconsin B	Louisiana B
Wisconsin T	Alberta A
Illinois Z	Montana A
	hington B

Several chapters missed the Honor Roll by very narrow margins,

No figures for Virginia A included in this report.

> Respectfully submitted. ADA L. WAUGH, National Supervisor LOIS BOARDMAN NICHOLS EDWINNA REED PERKINS BETTY SEERY RAUCH LAHOMA VINCENT CURRAN Assistant Supervisors

#### PI BETA PHI MAGAZINE AGENCY

FIVE THOUSAND one hundred and twenty-three dollars represent the commissions on magazines made from May 16, 1941 through May 15, 1942. This is the best year the II B & Magazine Agency has ever had. Of this amount alumnæ clubs contributed \$4,414.71, active chapters contributed \$610.14, and individuals contributed \$98.15. During this same period \$343.44 has been collected from bonuses, refunds and cancellations, which will pay the operating expenses of the agency. Three thousand dollars have been sent to the

Treasurer of the Settlement School.

Below are shown the profits for the past fifteen

1927-28	Approximate	\$1,200.00
1928-29	Approximate	1,100.00
1929-30	Approximate	810.00
1930-31	Approximate	950.00
1931-32	Approximate	1,500.00
1932-33	Approximate	1,400.00
1933-34	Approximate	2,050.00
1934-35	Approximate	2,000.00

1935-36	Approximate	1,450.00
1936-37	Approximate	2,366.48
1937-38	Approximate	2,445.09
1938-39		2,716.58
1939-40		3,153.20
1940-41		4,018.51
1941-42		5,123.00

Several mailings were sent to alumnæ clubs and active chapter magazine chairmen this year, in August, November, February, and May. These mailings included special offers, instructions, totals for the half year and totals for the full year,

The contest winners for the year 1941-42 were:

#### ALUMNÆ CLUBS:

Denver, Colorado, Alumnæ Club, Mrs. W. T. Barber, Chairman, \$10.00 prize for making the highest total commissions (\$251.29)

Casper, Wyoming, Alumnæ Club, Mrs. W. Hocker, Chairman, \$10.00 prize for making the highest per capital commissions (\$4.08) Moscow, Idaho, Alumnæ Club, Miss Frances McMonigle, Chairman, \$5.00 prize for making the highest percentage increase (1711%)

#### ACTIVE CHAPTERS:

Wisconsin A, Therese Pick, Chairman, \$10.00 prize for making the highest total commissions (\$69.25)

Pennsylvania B, Mary Elizabeth Foley, Chairman, \$10.00 prize for making the highest per capita commissions (\$1.52)

Illinois E, Georgia Bayless and Jeanne Montague, Chairman, \$5.00 prize for making the highest percentage increase (4758%)

Supplies such as order blanks, price lists, enclosure cards were sent direct to the alumnæ club and active chapter chairmen from the Franklin

Square Agency,
This year sixty-six chapters (this includes the petitioning group of II & E) contributed to the profits of the agency. Last year sixty chapters were represented. One hundred and seventy-eight clubs contributed to the profits of the agency this year against last year's number of one hundred and seventy-four. It is hoped that next year all clubs and chapters will contribute to the Settlement School through the magazine agency. The only clubs located in Canada that contributed to magazine commissions were Calgary and Edmonton.

Following is the financial statement for the year; magazine statistics; and commissions credited to alumnæ clubs, chapters and individuals. The 1940-41 commissions are also given so that the contributors can see their gains or losses.

The Director of the Magazine Agency wishes to

thank all who have contributed to the success of the agency this year, and asks for your continued interest and support.

Respectfully submitted. BEATRICE S. PURDUNN (Mrs. C. M.)

#### ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENT PI BETA PHI MAGAZINE AGENCY

16 1041 suponen Miv 15

42	MAY 15, 19	MAY 16, 1941 THROUGH	
		Receipts	
\$ 1,603.19	\$17,993.60	Bank Balance, May 16, 1941         Magazine Subscription Deposits.           Total: Bonuses         \$307.62           Cancel.         1.75           Refunds         9.07           Prize         25.00	
	343.44	\$343.44	
\$18,337.04	\$18,337.04		
\$19,940.23		Total	
	ts	Disbursemen	
\$ 6,974.69 5,802.55 3,000.00 28.86 99.00 78.09 7.25 2.19 99.49 91.20	ons to Frank Treasurer	Payments for Miscellaneous Magartions Payments for Magazine Subscriptic lin Square Agency Checks sent to Settlement School Bank charge for service on check Express and Postage Miscellaneous Expense and Suppl Salaries Telegram and Telephone Refunds Returned Checks Total Bank Balance End of Period	
\$19,940.23			

#### Magazine Sale Statistics from May 16, 1941 through May 15, 1942

Iota Province Eta Province Delta Province Epsilon Province Beta Province Mu Province Alpha West Theta Province Lambda Province Kappa Province Gamma Province Zeta Province Alpha East	Total 785.27 601.02 514.97 490.40 437.16 402.12 348.51 308.80 302.75 249.75 244.49 199.30 168.91	\$ 755.15 389.70 470.15 461.52 326.50 372.72 338.31 264.75 239.66 236.80 226.83 178.75 153.87	Chapters \$ 30.12 182.72 44.82 28.88 110.66 29.40 10.20 44.05 63.09 12.95 17.66 20.55 15.04	Miss Onken\$28,60
Miscellaneous Army-Navy Aux.	68.05 1.50			68.05 1.50
Total\$5	,123.00	\$4,414.71	\$ 610.14	\$98.15

#### THE EIGHT HIGHEST TOTAL COMMISSIONS PER CHAPTER 1941-42

Chapter	Amount 1941-42	Chairman	Amount 1940-41
1. Wisconsin A 2. Pennsylvania B 3. Illinois E 4. Oregon B 5. Illinois Z 6. Wisconsin B	\$69.25 48.78 46.15 32.25 24.22 17.10	Therese Pick Mary Elizabeth Foley Georgia Bayless and Jea Doris Jones Margaret Enochs Martha Jean Baker	\$ 8.45 35.09 nne Montague
7. Ohio 2	16.60	Marjorie Huselton	18.50

#### THE EIGHT HIGHEST COMMISSIONS PER CAPITA ACTIVE CHAPTERS

THE DIGIT INCOME. COMMISSIONS IN STREET				
Chapter	Amount	Chairman		
1. Pennsylvania B 2. Wisconsin A 3. IIIinois E 4. Iowa B 5. IIIinois Z 6. Pennsylvania Γ 7. Oregon B 8. Ohio Δ	1.47 1.28 1.08 90 87 79	Therese Pick George Bayless and Jeanne Montague Jeanie Hestor Margaret Enochs Marjorie Huselton Doris Jones		

#### THE EIGHT HIGHEST TOTAL COMMISSIONS PER CLUB

	THE EIGHT HIGHEST	TOTAL COM	IMISSIONS PE	R CLUB	
1. Denvei 2. Indian 3. Washi 4. St. Lo 5. Wichit 6. Pittsbu 7. Hartfo 8. Detroit		nount 0-1941 51.29 61.55 49.03 42.00 12.84 09.75 09.20 03.75	Chairman Mrs. W. T. I Miss Sarah Bi Mrs. E. P. A. Mrs. H. L. H Miss Louise Pc Mrs. Albert W Mrs. Haggema Mrs. A. S. Ro	Barber rk Ilen libs well Viggins n and Miss Doris La binson	148.40 122.15
	THE EIGHT HIGHEST COMMIS	SIONS PER (	CAPITA FOR	LUMNÆ CLUBS	
1. Casper 2. Denver 3. Duluth 4. Northe 5. Pittsbu 6. Hartfo	Club , Wyo. , Colo. , Minn. , Ind. , rgh, Pa. , rd, Conn.	Amount\$4.083.493.463.052.892.87		Chair.  Mrs. W. Mrs. W. Mrs. J. Miss Jean Mrs. Alb Mrs. Ala Miss Dor	A. Hocker T. Barber T. Adams n. Kinzler ert Wiggins nggeman and
7. Santa 8. Buffal	Maria-Obispo	2.82 2.54 /		Miss Ma	riorie Hall
	THE EIGHT HIGHEST, G	REATEST P	ERCENTAGE I		
2. Iowa 3. Michig 4. Ohio I 5. Wiscon 6. Maine 7. New 1	Chapters       E     47.       B     17.       an Å     11.       S     9.       ssin Å     7.       A     36.       Cork Δ     33.       2     2	73% 2. Al 90% 3. Lo 29% 4. San 20% 5. M 67% 6. Og 05% 7. Av	bany, N.Y ng Beach, Cali n Antonio, Tex organtown, W. den, Utah on, Ill.	Clubs f	
	Alph	A PROVINCE	EAST	Committee	C
Club No.	Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman		Commissions Earned 1941-42	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1941-42	Commissions Earned Last Year 1940-41
E-110 E-113 E-114 E-115 E-116 E-117	Boston, Mass.—Mattie Empson Hartford, Conn.—Mrs. Haggeman and Mis Montreal, Can.—Margaret Kerr New Haven, Conn.—Mrs. G. R. Newton Porland, Me.—Mrs. Donald Daniels Augusta, Me.—Abby L. Sargent Maine A.—Ruth McKay Nova Scotia A.—Elizabeth Bligh Vernont A.—Jean Bell Vermont B.—Barbara L. Lane Massachusetts A.—Laura Guild	s Doris Lang	\$ 31.27 109.20 none 1.80 4.40 7.20 7.01	\$ .69 2.87 none .13 .37 .32 none .25 none	\$ 20.20 91.15 2.60 2.40 1.00 1.90 0.50 none 2.69 none 2.85
	TOTAL FOR ALPHA PROVINCE EAST FOR YE	AR 1941-42	\$168.91		
	Alpha Province East Alumnæ Club Commis Alpha Province East Active Chapter Commi	sions			\$153.87 15.04
	TOTAL				\$168.91
	ALPHA	PROVINCE V	VEST		
Club No.	Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman		Commissions Earned 1941-42	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1941-42	Commissions Earned Last Year 1940-41
W-120 W-121 W-123 W-124 W-125 W-126 W-126 W-127 W-128 W-129 W-130 W-131	Albany, N.Y.—Mrs. Oliver Wolfe Buffalo, N.Y.—Mrs. J. A. C. Halbin Mid-Hudson Valley—Mrs. D. Jackson Mohawk Valley—Mrs. E. K. Reid New York City—Mrs. E. B. White Northern N.J.—Mrs. E. W. Deck Rochester, N.Y.—Mrs. S. Mackey Syracuse, N.Y.—Mrs. J. R. MacAllister Toronto, Ont.—Mrs. Cecil Banwell Westchester—Mrs. C. S. Neale Schenectady, N.Y.—Mrs. G. R. Nelson New York A—Marguerite Griggs New York I—Janet Rodger New York A—Edna Jones Ontario A—June McBride Ontario B—Phyllis Godwin		\$ 11.55 27.90 6.70 18.95 27.30 60.68 37.95 none 99.48 2.50 3.00 2.75 4.45 none none	\$ .72 2.54 .48 1.35 1.19 1.10 2.53 1.00 none 1.58 .06 .09 .08 .20 none	\$ .75 22.90 4.85 5.70 41.50 47.00 52.10 14.25 none 46.80 none 2.25 3.40 1.10 1.20 none
	TOTAL FOR ALPHA PROVINCE WEST FOR YE				
	Alpha Province West Alumnæ Club Comm Alpha Province West Active Chapter Com				10.20
	TOTAL				\$348.51

	Beta Provinc			
Club		Commissions Earned	Commissions Earned Per Capita	Commissions Earned Last Year
200 201 202 203 204 205 206 209 210 211 212 213 214 215 216 217 218	Akron, Ohio—Mrs. Wm. McIlwain Athens, Ohio—Mrs. R. W. McKinstry Central Pa.—Mrs. O. M. Miles Charleston, W.Va.—Elizabeth Cramer Cincinnati, Ohio—Stella Koons Cleveland, Ohio—Mrs. C. R. Yeager Columbus, Ohio—Mrs. Fritz Hirsch Harrisburg-Carlisle—Mrs. H. Simmons Mahoning Valley—Mrs. James Cole Morgantown, W.Va.—Mrs. H. H. Rhys Ohio Valley—Mrs. Charles Petty Philadelphia, Pa.—Mrs. R. Townley Pittsburgh, Pa.—Mrs. Albert Wiggins Portsmouth, Ohio—Mrs. Ralph Herms Southern N.J.—Miss Dorothy Sholl South Hills, Pittsburgh—Mrs. R. W. Taylor, Jr. Toledo, Ohio—Martha Wall Pennsylvania B—Mary E. Foley Pennsylvania F—Marjorie Huselton Ohio A—Dorothy Roads Ohio B—Frances Arant Ohio Δ—Rose Heyman West Virginia A—Mary Elizabeth Irvine	12.95 33.85 21.95 16.80 6.80 15.15 6.80 1.00 29.05 109.75 none 24.40 9.25 1.75 48.78 16.60 12.95 14.40 16.75	1941-42 \$ .36 .42 .78 none 1.41 .22 .13 .24 .89 .38 .08 .58 2.89 none 1.06 .36 .05 1.52 .87 .45 .28	1940-41 \$ 11.20 1.50 none 8.05 30.10 25.45 17.80 1.55 5.85 .80 none 19.15 71.75 none 13.15 1.50 none 13.15 1.50 none 13.15 1.70 none 13.15 1.50 none
	TOTAL FOR BETA PROVINCE FOR 1941-42.  Beta Province Alumnæ Club Commissions			\$326.50
	Beta Province Active Chapter Commissions			-
	Gamma Province			
Club .		Commissions Earned 1941-42	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1941-42	Commissions Earned Last Year 1940-41
300 301 302 303 304 305 306	Baltimore, Md.—Doris Weltner Chapel Hill, N.C.—Mrs. J. P. Hazzard, Jr. Columbia, S.C.—Dorothy Ozburn Richmond, Va.—Mrs. I. C. Moss, Jr. Tri City, N.C.—Mrs. Ed. Harrison Washington, D.C.—Mrs. E. P. Allen Charlotte, N.C.—Mrs. C. N. Anderson Maryland A—Elizabeth Barton D.C. A—Martha Sebree Virginia A—Anne Melville Virginia F—Lucile Jennings North Carolina A—Dorothy Jackson North Carolina B—Peggy Mercer South Carolina A—Mary Faye Ninninger	15.20 .70 none	\$ .60 1.96 .32 .26 .06 1.39 1.27 .02 none .11 .33 .04 .14	\$ 26.10 14.15 none 1.40 5.70 148.40 10.10 2.70 .95 1.91 15.26 1.08 4.95 4.00
	TOTAL FOR GAMMA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1941-42			
	Gamma Province Alumnæ Club Commissions			\$226.83 17.66
	TOTAL ,		***********	\$244,49
Club 1	Name of Ciao, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned	Commissions  Barned  Per Capita  1941-42	Commissions Earned Last Year 1940-41
400 401 402 403 404 405 406 407 408 409 410 411 412 413 414 415	Ann Arbor, Mich.—Mrs. J. A. Perkins Bloomfield Hills, Mich.—Mrs. Chas. Kinnison Bloomington, Ind.—Mrs. J. E. Krueger Detroit, Mich.—Mrs. A. S. Robinson Flint, Mich.—Mrs. E. P. Vary Ft. Wayne, Ind.—Betty Wolfe Franklin, Ind.—Katherine Graves Richmond, Ind.—Marjorie Mangrum Gary, Ind.—Mrs. R. F. Haussman Grand Rapids, Mich.—Mrs. W. Jolley Hillsdale, Mich.—Mrs. E. B. Penrod Indianapolis, Ind.—Sarah E. Birk Lafayette, Ind.—Mrs. C. F. Walker Southwestern Ind.—Mrs. E. Travlor Southwestern Mich.—Mrs. R. Sharer Terre Haute, Ind.—Mrs. Don Gerrish Northern Ind.—Jean Kinzler Michigan A—Virginia Tindall Michigan B—Jean Rendinell Indiana A—Rose Marie Kinnear Indiana B—Barbara Smith Indiana I—Jean Lindstaedt Indiana A—Jean McCartney Pi Phi Epsilon—Mary Catherine Downs  Total for Delta Province for Year 1941-42	\$ 9.95 24.60 1.50 103.75 3.50 115.25 16.15 23.85 26.50 20.70 none 161.55 4.35 9.70 9.35 5.95 33.50 6.45 6.17 2.00 2.00 14.35 3.45 10.40	\$ .26 1.17 .06 1.05 .39 .31 .41 2.17 1.66 1.29 none 2.15 .12 .42 .85 .66 3.05 .34 .16 .09 .05 .33 .07 none	\$ 8.20 40.25 1.00 98.35 3.00 16.45 65.35 14.30 17.90 16.50 none 134.00 .70 5.20 4.70 1.00 3.29 2.45 15.85 8.05 4.40 none
	Delta Province Alumnæ Club Commissions Delta Province Active Chapter Commissions	***********		\$470.15 44.82
	TOTAL			

	EPSILON PROVING	CE		
Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1941-42	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1941-42	Commissions Earned Last Year 1940-41
500 501 502 503 504 505 506 507 508 509 510	Chattanooga, Tenn.—Mrs. T. W. Bridge Columbia, Mo.—Mrs. H. S. Scurlock Kansas City, Mo.—Mrs. L. J. Miller Little Pigeon—Mrs. J. F. Manley Louisville, Ky.—Mrs. F. S. Fitch Memphis, Tenn.—Mrs. J. D. Biles, Jr. Nashville, Tenn.—Mrs. Lee Hunt St. Joseph, Mo.—Mrs. Garland Wilson St. Louis, Mo.—Mrs. H. W. Hibbs Springfield, Mo.—Susie Dillard Jefferson City, Mo.—Mrs. R. F. Gaylord Missouri A—Pat Curtis Missouri B—Suzanne Schmitz Missouri F—Mary Jean Eckert Kentucky A—Mary Anne Nofsinger Tennessee A—Mary Jane Forbes	\$ 49.50 45.40 101.50 27.27 20.10 4.15 34.45 none 142.00 20.15 17.00 3.00 10.75 4.50 3.25 6.68	\$ .72 1.46 1.09 1.95 .56 .19 2.15 none 1.56 .59 1.13 .11 .37 .17	\$ 82.60 61.00 144.10 26.05 18.15 10.40 25.25 none 122.15 11.60 12.90 3.80 8.65 4.45 4.10 6.21
	Tennessee B—Marguerite Holman	\$490.40	.06	none
	Epsilon Province Alumnæ Club Commissions			\$461.52
	Epsilon Province Active Chapter Commissions			
	ZETA PROVINCE			
Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1941-42	Commissions Earned Per Capita	Earned Last Year
600 601 602 603 604 605 606 607 608 609 610 611	Atlanta, Ga.—Mrs. T. E. Smith Birmingham, Ala.—Mrs. J. W. McIntosh Daytona, Fla.—Mrs. Albert Buschman DeLand, Fla.—Mrs. Albert Buschman DeLand, Fla.—Mrs. C. T. McMurray Lakeland, Fla.—Mrs. R. Q. Craig Miami, Fla.—Mrs. W. T. Cox Orlando, Fla.—Mrs. A. F. Schrup St. Petersburg, Fla.—Mrs. N. H. Heindel Tampa, Fla.—Mrs. Wm. Mayo Jackson, Miss.—Mrs. D. Botterell Alabama A—Jean Emond Florida A—Frances Inman Florida B—Betty Ferran Florida F-Sally Spurlock Georgia A—Jean Young  TOTAL FOR ZETA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1941-42 Zeta Province Alumnæ Club Commissions Zeta Province Active Chapter Commissions	4.80 3.70 2.70 6.30 \$199.30	***********	20.55
	ETA PROVINCE	Commissions	Commissions Earned	Commissions Earned
Club	No. Name of Ciuo, Coapier, and Coairman	Earned 1941-42	Per Capita 1941-42	Last Year 1940-41
700 701 702 703 704 705 706 707 708 709 710 711 713 714 715 716 717 718 719 720 721 721 722 724	Avon, Ill.—Mrs. E. N. Davis Beloit, Wis.—Mrs. W. E. Blakely Carthage, Ill.—Mrs. J. W. Williams Champaign-Urbana—Mrs. B. C. Parks Chicago Business Women—Cosette Nelson Chicago North—Mrs. E. P. Russell Chicago South—Mrs. E. G. Cole Chicago West—Mrs. L. H. Norton Decatur, Ill.—Joanne McDavid DuPage County—Mrs. A. N. Hammerschmidt Elgin, Ill.—Mrs. A. E. Coleman Galesburg, Ill.—Mrs. J. H. Isley Jacksonville, Ill.—Mrs. J. H. Isley Jacksonville, Ill.—Mrs. Frank Gibson Madison, Wis.—Mrs. R. M. Kennicott Milwaukee, Wis.—Mrs. R. M. Kennicott Milwaukee, Wis.—Mrs. R. M. Sennicott Monmouth, Ill.—Mrs. L. E. Barnum North Shore—Mrs. Richard Hall Oak Park-River Forest, Ill.—Louise Tracy Peoria, Ill.—Mrs. C. R. Mitchell Rockford, Ill.—Mrs. C. R. Mitchell Rockford, Ill.—Mrs. C. H. Daunis Individual Account—Miss Onken Fox River Valley—Mrs. H. K. Alexander	27.63 13.65 15.40 28.99 12.95	\$ .74 .24 .79 .76 .88 .69 .28 1.10 .33 .62 .80 none .21 1.20 .91 .84 1.23 .27 .63 .36 none	\$ 1.00 1.50 5.80 37.71 4.25 23.15 16.00 7.25 19.00 3.70 10.70 none .90 5.90 15.35 12.95 22.60 4.35 1.40 12.75 34.25

725	Bloomington, Ill.—Mrs. W. H. Gilman Wisconsin A—Therese Pick Wisconsin B—Martha Jean Baker Wisconsin Γ—Rebecca Clarke Illinois A—Helen Goddard Illinois B-Δ—Elizabeth Crafton Illinois E—Georgia Bayless, Jeanne Montague Illinois Z—Margaret Enochs Illinois H—Grace Henry	22.50 69.25 17.10 2.05 none 9.80 46.15 24.22 14.15	1.41 1.47 .53 .10 none .42 1.28 .90	8.45 20.17 8.25 none 8.40 .95 21.65 12.70	
	TOTAL FOR ETA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1941-42	\$601.02			
	Eta Province Alumnæ Club Commissions Eta Province Individual Account Commissions Eta Province Active Chapter Commissions			\$389.70 28.60 182.72	
	TOTAL			\$601.02	

ETA		

Člub 1	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1941-42	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1941-42	Commissions Earned Last Year 1940-41
800 801 802 803 804 805 806 807 808 809 810 811 812 814	Ames, Iowa—Mrs. E. W. Timm Burlington, Iowa—Mrs. J. B. Lundgren Cedar Rapids, Iowa—Mrs. George Schoonover Council Bluffs, Iowa—Mrs. Edward Schoenbaum Des Moines, Iowa—Mrs. C. Wheeler Duluth-Superior, Minn.—Mrs. J. T. Adams Grand Forks, N.D.—Mary C. Herrick Indianola, Iowa—Ruth A. Greenwalt Iowa City, Iowa—Mrs. O. B. Limoseth Minneapolis, Minn.—Mrs. Clark Walker Mr. Pleasant, Iowa—Mrs. P. Wright St. Paul, Minn.—Mrs. R. V. Powers Sioux City, Iowa—Mrs. Roy Hanks Minneapolis Evening Group—Mrs. Roy C. Kohler North Dakota A—Patricia Bonner Minnesota A—Marjorie Satersmoen Iowa A—Velma Ward Iowa B—Jeanie Hestor Iowa Z—Barbara Henry	24.05 25.05 11.50 13.10 83.00 10.65 none 9.90 21.05 10.90 39.15 none 8.55 1.50 none 11.74 14.05	\$ .49 1.60 2.09 .96 .30 3.46 1.07 none .30 .27 .44 1.15 none .43 .05 none .69 1.08	\$ 11.90 7.05 16.40 3.80 27.55 56.35 12.75 none 2.25 37.85 12.25 32.47 12.65 none none 5.30 14.90 .75 3.60 none
	TOTAL FOR THETA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1941-42	\$308.80		
	Theta Province Alumnæ Club Commissions			\$264.75 44.05
	Тотац			\$308.80

#### IOTA PROVINCE

Club.		Commissions Earned 1941-42	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1941-42	Commissions Earned Last Year 1940-41
900 901 902 903 904 905 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 913 915 916	Boulder, Colo.—Mrs. H. Howlett Casper, Wyo.—Mrs. W. A. Hocker Cheyenne, Wyo.—Lois Downing Colorado Springs, Colo.—Mrs. W. B. Crouch Denver, Colo.—Mrs. W. T. Barber Laramie, Wyo.—Mrs. Harold Prahl Lawrence, Kan.—Mrs. George Marshall Lincoln, Neb.—Ruth Louise Dierks Manhattan, Kan.—Mrs. Walter Leonard Omaha, Neb.—Mrs. E. F. Owen Poudre Valley, Colo.—Mrs. A. L. Nye Pueblo, Colo.—Mrs. Walter Benning Topeka, Kan.—Jean McFarland Vermillion, S.D.—Mrs. Ralph Konegni Wichita, Kan.—Louise Powell Kansas City, Kan.—Mrs. V. E. Tharp Hutchinson, Kan.—Mrs. Carl Hayes South Dakota A—Janet Speelman Nebraska B—Gay Gaden Kansas A—Cora Hepworth Kansas B—Joan Schmidt Colorado A—Esther Green Colorado B—Blanche Robertson Wyoming A—Phoebe Corthell	93.95 15.80 12.00 251.29 29.15 19.95 76.70 45.02 42.15 8.40 4.15 20.00 8.75 112.84 5.40 3.00 4.15 none none	\$ .25 4.08 .34 .75 3.49 .91 .49 2.19 1.41 .67 .60 .21 .95 none 1.64 .27 .17 .20 none none	\$ 9.35 52.80 14.35 13.35 128.00 16.90 28.80 58.95 28.90 33.22 9.95 4.55 3.20 81.55 9.40 none none none 2.00 3.80 12.05 .60
	TOTAL FOR IOTA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1941-42	\$785.27		
	Iota Province Alumnæ Club Commissions		*******************	\$755.15 30.12
	TOTAL	**********		\$785.27

### KAPPA PROVINCE

	ALIITA TAOTA	· CL	Commissions	Commission
Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1941-42	Earned Per Capita 1941-42	Earned Last Year 1940-41
1001 1002 1004 1005 1006 1007 1010 1011 1012 1014 1015 1016 1017 1022 1023 1024 1025 1028	Ft. Smith, Ark.—Mrs. A. P. McCanne Gainesville, Tex.—Lucille K. Bell Houston, Tex.—Mrs. M. Crosswell, Jr. Little Rock, Ark.—Mrs. G. T. Huckaby Muskogee, Okla.—Mrs. A. C. Bonds Norman, Okla.—Gladys Scivally Oklahoma City, Okla.—Mrs. W. H. Ford, Jr. Okmulgee, Okla.—Mrs. D. Baker Nita Hill Stark Club—Mrs. F. Seewald San Antonio, Tex.—Mrs. L. L. Palmer Shreveport, La.—Mrs. A. N. Barnette Texarkana, Tex.—Mrs. A. N. Barnette Texarkana, Tex.—Ark.—Mrs. G. B. Clark Tulsa, Okla.—Mrs. J. W. Spears Tyler, Tex.—Mrs. R. L. Caton Waco, Tex.—Mary Louise Scott Corsicana, Tex.—Iza.—Mrs. J. W. Walker	none 7.60 49.05 20.55 16.10 .50 none 11.80 7.10 15.35 18.15 none 19.85 44.70 12.75 none 8.60 none none 1.80 2.10 1.20 1.25 none 4.70 .80	\$ .03 none .28 .71 .82 none none none .51 .27 .90 .31 none none 1.44 .51 none none .10 none none .00 .05 .05 none .07 .03	\$ 2.25 1.00 3.70 30.65 9.80 16.40 2.55 5.00 10.55 35.65 none 8.55 5.25 2.45 2.75 11.25 none none none none none
	Louisiana B-Lucille Hopkins	. 4.40	.20	6.85
	TOTAL FOR KAPPA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1941-42	. \$249.75		
	Kappa Province Alumnæ Club Commissions			\$236.80 12.95
	TOTAL			\$249.75

# LAMBDA PROVINCE

Club 1	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1941-42	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1941-42	Earned Last Year 1940-41
1100	Boise, Idaho-Mrs. Ralph Raber	\$ 5.15	\$ .19	\$ 2.55
1101	Boseman, MontMrs. W. J. Lowry		1.01	18.55
1102	Calgary, AltaMrs. Herman Hayes	21.90	.88	17.35
1103	Corvallis, Ore.—Pauline McGill	10.05	.50	18.10
1104	Edmonton, AltaMrs. A. D. McTavish	31.66	1.17	25.20
1105	Eugene, OreMrs. John A. Warren		.96	9.55
1106	Olympia, Wash.—Betty Ann Robbins	11.95	.66	none
1107	Portland, Ore,-Mrs. C. A. Cook	25.80	.28	11.07
1108	Salem, OreMrs. Carl Rickson		.45	5.15
1109	Seattle, WashMrs. Harold K. Goldback	. 36.40	.37	23.50
1110	Spokane, WashKatherine Achre	18.10	.43	4.40
1112	Wenatchee, WashMrs. W. F. Horan	7.20	.42	3.00
1113	Yakima, WashMrs. Ronald Gillette	none	none	1.95
1114	Everett, Wash,-Mrs. Parker Williams	9.10	.76	17.30
1115	Butte, MontAlice Elise Hopkins	. 3.80	.32	12.75
1116	Billings, Mont.—Dorothy Parizek	none	nene	4.70
1117	Moscow, Idaho-Francis McMonigle	16.30	.82	.90
1118	Tacoma, WashMrs. G. R. Walker	1.50	.05	none
1119	Pullman, WashMrs. Harold Wheeler	none	none	none
	Alberta A-Doris Jonson	none	none	none
	Montana A-Salle Hoyt	4.64	.08	2.75
	Idaho A-Shirley Anne Davidson	none	none	none
	Washington A-Jean Livingston	11.65	.28	8.95
	Washington B-Betty Christensen	14.55	.49	none
	Oregon A-Virginia Young	none	none	none
	Oregon B-Doris Jones		.79	20.00
	TOTAL FOR LAMBDA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1941-42	\$302.75		
	Lambda Province Alumnæ Club Commissions Lambda Province Active Chapter Commissions			\$239.66 63.09
	TOTAL			\$302.75

	Mu Province			
Club No		Commissions Earned 1941-42	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1941-42	Commissions Earned Last Year 1940-41
1201 1202 1203 1204 1205 1206 1207 1208 1209 1210 1211 1212 1213 1214 1215 1216 1217 1218 1219 1210 1211 1212 1213 1214 1215 1216 1217 1218 1219 1210 1211 1212 1213 1214 1214 1215 1216 1217 1218 1219 1219 1219 1210 1210 1211 1212 1213 1214 1214 1215 1216 1217 1218 1219 1219 1219 1219 1219 1219 1219	Albuquerque, N. M.—Mrs. H. A. Hofflander Berkeley, Calif.—Mrs. W. R. Meyer El Paso, Tex.—Mrs. E. H. Lowenhaupt Fresno, Calif.—Mrs. H. O. Hibbard Glendale, Calif.—Mrs. R. W. Core Honolule, T. H.—Mrs. LeBourdais Long Beach, Calif.—Mrs. R. M. Husted Los Angeles, Calif.—Mrs. F. W. Bahnsen Reno, Nev.—Miriam Butler Ogden, Utah—Mrs. B. L. Fisher Palo Alto, Calif.—Mrs. W. C. Griffin Pasadena, Calif.—Mrs. W. C. Griffin Pasadena, Calif.—Mrs. W. C. Griffin Pasadena, Calif.—Mrs. H. A. Michel Phoenix, Ariz.—Eleanor Baker Sacramento. Calif.—Mrs. Klabau Salt Lake City, Utah—Esther Nelson San Diego, Calif.—Mrs. E. E. Poston San Diego, Calif.—Mrs. E. E. Poston San Jose, Calif.—Mrs. James Hart Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif.—Jane Christopher Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif.—Jane Christopher Santa Monica, Calif.—Mrs. R. Sellman Tucson, Ariz.—Mrs. Henry Dahlberg Marin County—Mrs. J. R. George, Jr. Santa Maria-San Luis Obispo—Marjorie Hall San Mateo County, Calif.—June Grantley California A—Marjorie Hunt California A—Marjorie Hunt California T—Doris Mae Huck California T—Doris Mae Huck California D—Mary McNeal Nevada A—Margaret Hermansen Arizona A—Doris Dayton Utah A—Jean Howell  TOTAL FOR MU PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1941-42 Mu Province Alurnnæ Club Commissions Mu Province Active Chapter Commissions	.70 1.25 8.00 none none 42.30 53.65 6.25 7.70 13.10 14.65 14.70 10.00 24.15 14.10 31.68 13.50 3.45 34.97 34.32 3.00 31.05 none none 2.00 none 8.95 2.00 10.05 6.40	\$ .73 .02 .07 .47 none none 1.11 .65 .23 .45 1.31 .41 .49 .45 .83 .56 .45 1.23 .29 1.06 .69 .25 2.82 none none	\$ 10.55 2.40 3.95 none none none 3.30 37.25 6.15 .95 8.75 17.10 7.85 13.00 22.65 8.55 30.95 9.70 none 20.05 34.55 5.60 17.25 none none 3.25 none none 3.25 15.75
				29.40
	Total			\$402.12
	MISCELLANEOUS	S		
credit	sions on orders sent in to the II B & Magazine Agency wi should be given			\$ 68.05 1.50
				\$ 69.55

# CENTRAL OFFICE REPORT

THE cost of maintaining the Central Office from		Chapters	Initiates
August 15, 1941 through May 31, 1942 was	1932-33	78	1,140
as follows:	1933-34	77	1,085
Salaries, including Director's Salary\$3,026.34	1934-35	79	1,281
Rent 270.00	1935-36	79	1,237
Express and Postage	1936-37	80	1,347
Telegraph and Telephone	1937-38	80	1,354
Bank Charge 7.89	1938-39	81	1,331
Social Security Tax	1939-40	81	1,397
Ribbon	1940-41	83	1,513
Personal Property Tax	1941-42	83	1,494
TOTAL\$6,172.47			
C. H	The II B or	embership statist	ice as of Jun

Collections from chapters, individuals and alumnae clubs from August 15, 1941 through May 31, 1942 are distributed as follows:

The II B  $\Phi$  membershi 1942, were as follows:

Total Initiates for the Year 1

Miscellaneo																										566.0
Songbooks		×	÷	Ŕ			*	*	×	÷	è							,		×					÷	30.7
		ď			÷	÷	×								,		. ,							v		365.6
																										 24.5
Ribbon									J	į.	è	Ü		è				i								142.5
Robes	ķ.				4		÷	÷				į.	+	×		ě.		4								130.7
Cook Bool	ĊŚ					b.	V.								ļ,		٠,		ų.	V	 					693.3

The number of initiates for the past ten years, 1932-33 through 1941-42, are as follows:

The II B & membership statistics as of June 5 1942, were as follows:

Total Initiates for the Year 1941-421,494 Total Number of Initiates to Date	36,720
Total Honorable Dismissals Still in   Force	

Total Loss by Dismissal ......

Total Loss by Death	
Total Loss by Dismissal and Death2,127 Total Members of Pi Beta Phi Now Living and	2,127
in Good Standing	34,593

The following standing committee manuals were revised and issued to all chapters in the fall of 1941: Chapteron Committee Manual, Fraternity Study and Examination Committee Manual, Chapter House Building and Plans Committee Manual, Loan Fund Committee Manual, Music Committee Manual, Social Exchange Committee Manual, Transfer Committee Manual, Scholarship Committee Manual. The Extension Committee Manual and the Publicity Committee Manuals will be revised in the summer of 1942 and issued with the fall supplies. Other mimeographing completed and distributed by the Central Office was: Social Exchange Bulletins; Manual for Alumnæ Committees on Rushing Recommendations and Their Relation with Active Chapters; Leader's Digests; Rush Captain's Manual; fall, winter, and spring supplies.

Two satin robes and thirty-one sateen robes were ordered and delivered through the Central Office this year.

The future work of the Central Office will consist in issuing new supplies, mimeographing of new material and manuals, issuing stationery and re-arranging the files so new cards may be inserted.

The problem of the Central Office this year was to keep its files up-to-date. With so many changes in addresses due to the war, it has been difficult and expensive to keep up with the Arrow subscribers. It will be appreciated if new addresses are sent promptly to the Central Office.

The Director of the Central Office is very grateful and appreciative of the way that the alumnæ clubs and active chapters have cooperated with her this year. She is grateful to all the national officers and members of Grand Council for the privilege of working with them.

Respectfully submitted, BEATRICE S. PURDUNN

# REPORT ON JEWELRY SALES

SINCE August 1940 fraternity jewelry has been ordered through the Central Office. Chapter treasurers are requested to fill out official jewelry order blanks and forward them to the Central Office with check for the amount of the jewelry. It is then okayed and forwarded to L. G. Balfour Company for manufacture and delivery.

Company for manufacture and delivery.

The following items of jewelry have been sold to members this year:

, and the same of	
Plain Badges	169
Jeweled Badges	1 . 478
Plain Recognition Pins (gold plated) .	410
Jeweled Recognition Pins and 10K Reco	gnition Pins 136
Mothers' Pins	137
Brothers' Pins	21
Pledge Pins	

Recognition pins may now be ordered through any Balfour representative. The invoices for these pins giving the name of the member purchasing, are sent to the Central Office for approval. Four hundred twenty-five recognition pins have been ordered in this manner in 1941-42.

A Manual, "How To Order Jewelry" was distributed to all chapter treasurers, and tax information pages were also sent giving instructions on figuring federal and USE taxes,

Again this year the Fraternity gave scholarship rings to the girl in each chapter who had the highest scholarship rating. Seventy-five chapters ordered rings and in one of these chapters there was a three way tie, so three rings were awarded to the girls in that chapter. Fifty-three rings were ordered set with rubies indicating that the girl had won the ring for the first time; eighteen rings were ordered set with sapphires indicating that the girl had won the ring the second time; six rings were ordered set with diamonds indicating that the girl had won the scholarship ring the third time. Letters of congratulation were sent to the winners of the awards by the Chairman of the Scholarship Committee.

The Director of the Central Office is grateful for the fine cooperation she has received from chapter treasurers and individuals who have sent in orders for jewelry this year.

Respectfully submitted, BEATRICE S. PURDUNN

# STANDARDIZATION AND SURVEY

CHAPTERS RECEIVING EXCEPTIONALLY HIGH GRADES

Cooperation (10% perfect)
(an average from eight to ten grades)

Illinois Z																	
Oklahoma	A	1				,											9.87
Texas A						i											9.80
Colorado	B					å											9.77
California	A	1															9.70
Kansas B																	
Colorado	A		4									×			á		9.66
Texas B																	9.65

Extracurricular Activities 20% out of a possible 20%

(20% out of	a possible 20%)
Arizona A	New York A
California A	New York T
California T	New York A
Colorado A	Nebraska B
Colorado B	North Dakota A
Illinois B-Δ	Oklahoma A
Illinois E	Ontario A
Iowa Γ	Oregon A
Kansas B	Tennessee A
Kentucky A	Texas A
Missouri A	Vermont B
Missouri B	Virginia T
Nevada A	Washington B

## Cooperation with Central Office (5% out of a possible 5%)

Missouri B Arizona A New York I Arkansas A Colorado A North Carolina A Colorado B Nova Scotia A Florida A Oklahoma A Illinois B-A Ontario A Ontario B Illinois Z Oregon B Indiana A Indiana B Pennsylvania B Indiana I South Carolina A Tennessee A Iowa B Kansas A Texas A Texas B Kansas B Vermont A Kentucky A Louisiana B Virginia I' Washington A Maine A Maryland A Washington B Michigan A Wisconsin A Wisconsin B Missouri A Wisconsin T

# Internal Organization

(15% out of a possible 15%)

Kentucky A Arizona A California A Missouri B Nevada A California B New York I California A Colorado A Oregon A Texas A Colorado B Illinois Z Virginia I Iowa A Washington A Washington B Iowa I

### Financial Responsibility

(An average from two to four grades. 5% out of a possible 5%)

Arizona A
Arkansas A
Illinois Z
Iowa P
Maryland A
Minnesota A
North Carolina B
Ohio A

Oklahoma A
Pennsylvania B
Texas A
Texas B
Wermont B
Washington B
Wisconsin A

# CHAPTERS RECEIVING LOW GRADES Internal Organization

Illinois H Missouri T
Louisiana A Oklahoma B
Manitoba A Tennessee B
Minnesota A Wisconsin B
Missouri A

Cooperation with Central Office

California P Oregon A
Florida P Utah A
Georgia A West Virginia A
Idaho A Wyoming A
New York A

#### DISMISSALS AND REINSTATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR 1941-42

Expulsions

Mary Dilworth, Georgia A Jacquelyn Beatty, Wyoming A

#### Dismissals

Catharine Niles, Iowa Z Jean Isabel Slater, Ontario B Vernice Lee, Minnesota A Rebecca Gray, Alabama A

#### Reinstatements

Leona C. Tisdale, Virginia I' Louise de Jarnette, Florida B Beth Mitchell, Florida B Dorothy Sellers, Florida B

Automatic Probation Virginia Middleton, Ohio B

Automatic Dismissal Rebecca Nay, West Virginia A Suzanne Knox, North Carolina B

+ + +

Send all your magazine subscriptions to Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency, Central Office, Marshall, Ill.

# College Fraternities in War Time

Report of the N.I.C. War Committee, summarized by GEORGE STARR LASHER

The National Interfraternity Conference, alive to the heavy responsibilities which rest upon all fraternity men in the changed conditions of college life which the war has brought about, appointed a committee to study the problems of fraternity life today with instructions to make recommendations with reference to policy. The War Committee is composed of men of wide experience and proven devotion to the fraternity cause; the Chairman is Cecil J. Wilkinson, the veteran executive secretary of  $\Phi \Gamma \Delta$ ; the other members are Hamilton W. Baker, Bernard R. Kennedy, William L. Phillips, Hubert M. Poteat, Delos Smith, and C. F. Williams. The Committee have just published their report, a penetrating study, with practical recommendations for meeting the difficulties that leahead. It is a pamphlet of sixteen pages; copies are obtainable from the Chairman of the War Committee, 1001 Fifteenth St. N.W., Washington, D.C., or from  $\Phi \Delta \theta$  Headquarters, Oxford, Ohio. The following abstract of the report has been prepared by Professor George Starr Lasher, editor of the Ratile of Theta Chi; we are grateful to him for this service.—The Editor.

THAT college fraternities throughout the United States and Canada need to prepare definitely to meet war conditions is clearly recognized by the National Interfraternity Conference. As a result its War Committee has just issued a report outlining clearly means for meeting the problems that most chapters will face and presenting a program that suggests methods through which a fraternity chapter may aid war efforts constructively.

In urging students to remain in college until called into service, the War Committee quotes a statement to college students by Brigadier-General Lewis B. Hershey, director of Selective

Service, as follows:

"It would appear plain enough that patriotism, real patriotism, sans maudlin sensationalism, demands that you stick with your present job and stick with it hard and work with it hard and give it all you have got, until such time as your Selective Service Board decides that you can serve your country more effectively in some other pursuit."

The making of fraternity life more purposeful and hence more attractive to prospective members is urged by the Wal Committee in order to safeguard established chapters. Means suggested for maintaining safe membership levels are: to make rushing an all-year activity where accelerated programs are in operation; to revise rushing regulations to meet the situations; to shorten the long periods of deferred pledging; to initiate earlier, even modifying scholarship restrictions as a war measure; to survey, with the aid of deans, all unorganized men in order to discover all who would be interested in joining fraternities; and to train pledges thoroughly so that they may appreciate the value of their fraternity-to-be and to serve it as officers and leaders.

Recognizing that the Achilles heel of the fraternity in wartime is finances, the War committee recommends economies in chapter-house management and social programs as follows: careful purchasing of supplies and invoice checking; a use of cooperative buying if practical; low-cost but appetizing menus secured through cooperation with home economics departments; penalties for failure to turn out electric lights upon leaving rooms; a monitor on the long-distance telephone; dances without "party frills" such as name bands, expensive programs, decorations, favors, and refreshments; reduction of rushing expenses to a minimum; elimination of unnecessary servants, with members and pledges taking over their work; the abandoning of offering "free rides" as an inducement for pledging; reduction of the size and expense of chapter publications, with elimination of gossip-column trivia about undergraduates.

Equally important, the War Committee states, is business-like insistence upon a "pay-as-you-eatand-sleep" policy, with bills paid promptly and no accounts receivable. If such a policy is campus-wide, chapters will have an easier problem of enforcement. Some chapters safeguard themselves effectively by following the usual practice of colleges, requiring payment of bills in advance. This program also suggests diligent solicitation of debts owed by alumni; letters to parents of pledges making clear the financial obligations of membership; the professional auditing of accounts; the training of two or more assistant treasurers; the suspension, if it can be arranged, of principal reductions on mortgages for the duration and, if possible, the modification of interest rates.

The War Committee urges that chapters which find the going hard should not let false pride keep them from entering into arrangements with other chapters for combined eating or lodging facilities or fraternity residence in college dormitories or from offering accommodations in fraternity houses to alumni, nonfraternity men, or recommended townsmen, subject, of course, to codes agreed upon

in advance.

Because of the responsibility of the fraternity to assist in developing and maintaining civilian morale, the War Committee urges the conducting by chapters of "freedom's forums" to discuss various themes bearing on the war effort; to invite alumni to the houses to discuss current events; to send a cheering word occasionally or regularly to members in uniform; to make students conscious of their responsibility in preparing for the war effort by thoroughgoing academic achievement as long as they are on the campus; to abandon all forms of Hell Week activities, as the public will not gaze indulgently on silly pranks when other college men are dying on land and sea for their country; to keep intramural activities within sensible bounds; to display the national flag daily; to take an active part in community war service projects; to make chapter house facilities available to service men on leave; and to purchase Defense Bonds and stamps with surpluses in established funds and as an investment for the chapter.

The War Committee calls upon all chapters that have not done so to organize a war-time alumni council, with members assigned to such specific fields of supervision as house and grounds, debt collections, house corporation, rushing, scholarship, chapter publication, alumni relationships, including compilation of records in service, cooperation with college or university, interfraternity rela-

tionships, pledge training, archives, traditions, discipline, and morale.

In addition, the committee insists that each college campus should have an interfraternity alumni council to meet frequently for the discussion of matters in which all Greek-letter groups have a common interest. Regional and city interfraternity

organizations also might easily be of value in

solving fraternity problems.

National offices of fraternities, the War Committee predicts, will keep constantly in touch with undergraduate chapters, inspiring them to worthy performances and at the same time encouraging alumni to organize campaigns to help the chapters.

The committee points out that adequate manuals for chapter officers should be published to meet the rapidly increasing turn-over in chapter offices. The desirability of more frequent visits by traveling secretaries is urged by deans of men, but some fraternities are finding difficulty to secure suitable visiting officers.

In concluding its report, the War Committee states, "The hour has now come to put the emphasis where the emphasis belongs—on our intangibles, our immeasurables, our imponderables, on those spiritual values without which fraternities can today present to a tortured world no excuse whatever for their continued existence."

+ + +

# Pi Beta Phi Magazine Subscription Blank

(Send to Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency, Marshall, Ill.)

Da	ate		
Subscriber's Name:			
Address			
Magazines Requested		.,	Price \$
			Price \$
(Indicate if new or renewal, wh			
Total amount of money order or check made	out to P	i Beta Phi Magazi	ne Agency, Marshall,
Illinois			\$
Credit the subscription to			
Signed:			
Address			

# Settlement School Reports

# REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN OF THE SETTLEMENT SCHOOL COMMITTEE

Member of Grand Council and of the Settlement School Committee:

T is a very real privilege to report to you the current status of Settlement School affairs and to discuss with you our plans, hopes and dreams, fore-runners of future achievement.

A survey of the past year's accomplishments brings to your Settlement School Chairman a realization of how dependent we are upon cooperation, faith, unity of purpose, and genuine sincerity. With this the hardest tasks are made easy, great problems solve themselves, and the "can't be done" is accomplished. I wish to acknowledge with grateful appreciation the generous spirit and unreserved support which has made my first year as Chairman an experience so lovely that I shall be indebted forever to Π B Φ. Because your fine spirit of generosity has added another year of constructive development in the lives and homes of many fine mountain people, it is a happy experience to review the results of the Pi Phis' united effort.

As a prelude to these uncertain times, the joint meeting of Grand Council and Settlement School Committee at the School June 20-23, 1941, served to establish a fine understanding between these ten representatives of our national opinion. To talk freely, to vote frankly and honestly, to enjoy personal relationship, to exchange differences of opinion and proceed toward constructive agreement was a perfect foundation for real progress at

a time when changes are obligatory.

We of Committee wish to express to Grand Council our appreciation for their trust and confidence and belief in our sincerity which has been expressed continuously by their generous approval and constructive support throughout the past year. At the invitation of Committee, Miss Onken served as Grand Council contact member. Through her, the committee has maintained constant and close touch with our National Officers in the belief that only by complete understanding of conditions, of Committee decisions and policies can be served well the best interests of our vital project. Miss Onken's prompt attention to details, her conscientious cooperation, her wise counsel, based upon years of intimate experience in School and Fraternity affairs, her open-minded and generous spirit has contributed at all times immeasurably to the advancement of our program and been an inspiration to those who work with her. To each member of Grand Council we are greatly in-debted for ever willing assistance and immediate personal response to our frequent requests for help.

This report will summarize events and conditions from July, 1941 to July, 1942. At the conclusion of Marie Hagee's term of service June, 1941, I was appointed to serve as Chairman. From Lillian Holton and Marie Hagee, the previous chairmen under whom it was my pleasure to serve, came an example of wise administration and unselfish devotion to the service which they had pledged their best effort. The advantages of intelligent planning and wise decisions brought to new leadership a sound business structure and forward looking policies. To keep the right direction, to hold fast to the ground gained, to advance con-sistently toward accomplishment, to be worthy of Pi Phi trust, to clarify new goals, all these desires have been shared by five very humble and privileged Pi Phis, your Settlement School Committee.

Committee members present at the June, 1941 meeting were Irene Eldridge, Beth Brainard LeRoy, Lolita Snell Prouty, Agnes Wright Spring and Ethel Hogan Copp. The retiring chairman, Marie Bacon Hagee, was invited to be present at this meeting with Grand Council. She gave valued assistance in clarifying plans and outlining policies. We thank her again for this additional profice. We thank her again for this additional service.

Irene Eldridge continued as the efficient treas-urer to complete four years of faithful service July 1, 1942, with a balanced budget to prove her watchfulness. Professional duties forced her to withdraw before completing her five year term. Lolita Prouty has accepted the appointment to the treasurer's position, having served as secretary during her first year on the committee. Indicative of her sincerity and serious sense of obligation to this Fraternity responsibility, Mrs. Prouty took a course in bookkeeping and typing in order to better execute her duties. With the background of a mathematics major in college and a fine record of achievement in Club, Civic and College circles, you can understand Committee's confidence in our new financial advisor.

Beth LeRoy completes her third year on the Committee by earning honorable mention in the field of public relations. She distributes the films and sends out information upon request. We wish that every Club and Chapter could be inspired by Mrs. LeRoy's sincere enthusiasm. With deep human sympathy and inspired vision, she faithfully unfolds her three fold plan for Pi Phi's service to humanity through Settlement School channels. Proud we are that Mrs. LeRoy has been invited to tell the story of Settlement School not only to Pi Phis but to various church groups—Baptist, Pres-byterian, Methodist, and Catholic—to Woman's Clubs and over the radio! It would delight any Pi Phi to know the enthusiasm of "outside" admirers. Mrs. LeRoy's inspiration and devotion to furthering Pi Phi interests was largely responsible for the outstanding success of the sale of Arrowcraft products at the New England Flower Show last October.

To sell over \$2,000.00 worth of Arrowcraft is in itself noteworthy. But the Fraternity and the Settlement School Committee is indebted for all time to the large group of Boston area Pi Phis whose spontaneous response to a sudden call to hard labor deserves honorable mention along with our grati-

To the satisfaction which all Pi Phis will feel because of this national recognition of the quality and high standards of our Settlement School service, will be added the even greater joy occasioned by the complete unselfish cooperation of Boston Pi Phis in their enthusiastic effort to do justice to a

wonderful opportunity.

In January because of ill health it became necessary for Agnes Wright Spring, Wyoming A, to resign from the committee, having served only from summer 1941, Mildred Odell Sale accepted the appointment to take Mrs. Spring's place, assuming the duties of Editor of News from Little Pigeon. In addition she will coordinate the effort to develop our library and its services. Mrs. Spring's article in the December Arrow proved so delightful a story of Settlement School that Grand Council has arranged to have it printed in booklet form to distribute to pledges. We appreciate Mrs. Spring's fine abilities and unselfish effort. We hope that restored good health soon will permit her again to share her talents with the Fraternity. It is good fortune indeed that brings us Mildred Sale's editorial experience, creative writing ability, and executive talents, combined with a delightful personality and alert sound judgment.

The appointment of Ann Leichliter Munn, Iowa I', to fill the vacancy created by Irene Eldridge's resignation completes the fortunate group of five who will serve together for the coming year. Ann Munn's radiant charm won for her an instant place in the hearts of Committee, Staff and community. With her special training in Arts and Crafts, she brings understanding assistance to the current emphasis toward growth and expansion in this field.

I have appreciated the perfect cooperation from Committee and the Director in the matter of communications, a most important part of our duties. By use of carbon copies, a duplicate of each letter is sent to each member of Committee, to the contact member from Grand Council and to the Grand Vice-President. This enables us to execute promptly the administration of School affairs. Always there are monthly reports, weekly letters, and frequently daily contact by letter or telegraph. In addition to normal committee correspondence, I have sent carbon copies of all important outside correspondence to each member in order that each have the advantage of first impressions.

Following the 1941 summer decision of Committee to take advantage of the best possible professional opinions to clarify our plans and guide our course, a survey was made by Dr. William S. Taylor, Dean of Education of the University of Kentucky, and his associate, Professor Seay. Their evaluation of our project was given to you in the December Arrow. Subsequent detailed helpful suggestions and working plans have been submitted by Dr. Taylor, as we move toward a wider field of service. In addition to his own offer of continued service, Dr. Taylor is alert and generous in bringing to us national recognition and help in many

fields of specialized service.

As an example we feel now that our long needed advancement in library service is assured. May K. Duncan, Librarian at University of Kentucky, has already completed book lists for our Elementary and High Schools. Soon we hope to report the reality of an extended package library service. Several Clubs and individuals have shown enthusiastic approval of our effort to improve our library by sending selected books or money. Chicago Alumnæ Club South's recent gift of fifty new books from Miss Duncan's list was substantial proof to Committee that generous Pi Phis are eager to cooperate when we make the needs known.

To get a clear vision of Settlement School, we think of our one hundred acres and our thirteen buildings in the beautiful valley, so deep in the heart of the Smokies. We think of our service in education through our High School and our Elementary School. Through the conscientious effort of eight teachers in each school, half Pi Phis, half County, our program has been most satisfactory this year. Ben Fleming has completed his second year as Superintendent, having advanced from first grade through our school—out to college—and back to teach. His sincerity, loyalty, and high ideals have combined to bring about the finest spirit of teaching cooperation that has ever been enjoyed at the School. Much appreciation is due his wife, Josephine Fleming, who unselfishly and generously gives of her time and varied abilities whenever a need presents itself. Mr. Fleming's program is made doubly full by his teaching of mathematics.

Mr. Pern Price as Principal has continued to develop the Elementary School, insure its grade A rating and increase our field of service. Mr. Price is energetic, a fine and progressive teacher, and alert to community need. Participation in the annual National School Week Program in the Fall brought convincing evidence of the advanced and broad trends of our educational program. Great enthusiasm and interest was shown by both parents and pupils alike, as huge crowds gathered on "Open House Night" to inspect the School and

view the results of the year's activities.

Mention of the teaching staff cannot be made without bringing to mind a picture of happy group living which impressed your Chairman during her first winter visit to the School. In conformance with Fraternity requirement, I went to the School for a two weeks' visit in late October. This visit gives opportunity to observe and study the project in its season of full activity. At this time the Chairman assists the Director and Staff in every possible way to carry out the plans of the administration and the wishes of the Fraternity. It is her privilege, as well, to further community understanding of the policies and plans and assist in maintaining a balanced and happy relationship of responsibility.

An after dinner glimpse into Teacher's Cottage living room brought surprised delight on an October evening. It might have been any Pi Phi chapter house. Girls everywhere, music, sparkling animation, much laughter and chatter, a confusion of yarn, knitting needles, books, patterns, assorted articles for Britain's bundles or Xmas giving in every stage of incompletion, no room to step, no-

body to listen.

Pi Phis, province presidents, and parents should consider more seriously the very special advantage that is in store for any Pi Phi who is fortunate enough to teach for a few years in our School. It is more than a teacher's job. It is an opportunity. Sharing in a joyous group living which offers rare opportunity for experiencing soul satisfying service develops womanly qualities which are highly desirable.

This is just another yardstick by which to measure the dividends which return to Pi Phis because of service rendered. We are not enjoying full benefits if we fail to acquaint young Pi Phi teachers with the enriching experience that may be theirs.

The curriculum is being strengthened constantly and changed to meet community need and progres-

sive educational demands. Several years in advance of the State decision to make Physical Education and a Health Education course compulsory in Tennessee Schools after 1942, Pi Phi School has offered this training. Our satisfaction this year in securing a part time music teacher through W.P.A. funds was short lived. However, we will strive to make music possible in some other way since a soul satisfying educational program is incomplete without music. We will never be satisfied until we are able to fill this great lack. However, it is nice to be able to tell you that Community Sings will be held in our Auditorium or on our grounds during the coming year. Most noteworthy this year is the development of and interest in the Craft courses under John Moore. If you will read back through the reports of several Chairmen you will be reminded that the need for encouragement and education in the field of Crafts was long ago considered of real importance.

The progress this year has been very satisfying. Committee is delighted to report to the Fraternity at large that a qualified group has accepted the responsibility of advising and directing the Craft program. You will remember Miss Jessie Harris, convention initiate at Ashville in 1938. Miss Harris was chosen for this Pi Phi distinction because, as Director of Home Economics at the University of Tennessee, she had won national recognition in her field and because she had rendered invaluable service to our Settlement School project over a period of years. It is now your good fortune to have the advice of Miss Harris, as well as that of her Pi Phi friend and associate, Miss Ida Anders, Iowa Γ, and Miss Hurd, University of Tennessee's Craft

Director.

These three constitute our new Craft Advisory Committee. Not only in the field of Craft, but in every field of advancement will the continuity of their vision and direction be felt. They have professional experience, national viewpoint, broad understanding of our mountain people to combine with loyalty and belief in our project.

Long felt has been the need for a connecting link to prevent delay, to keep visions clear, to keep straight the path toward a greater service. With changing committee members, staff and directors, much inspirational leadership has been lost. We do welcome sincerely their generous response to our invitation to serve officially and anticipate con-

structive progress.

Arrowcraft again brings us great distinction and clears a net profit of over \$11,000.00. The amazing national merchandising achievement of Pi Phi Alumnæ Clubs in disposing of Arrowcraft products is primarily responsible for Arrowcraft becoming a profitable business. Not to be overlooked, however, is the sound business ability of our Arrowcraft Director, Ethel Snow, Iowa I. Her strict attention to the safeguarding of Pi Phi interests, her excellent judgment in the merchandising, her untiring patience and promptness in dealing with our willing, but ofttimes inexperienced Alumnæ Chairmen, have combined fortunately to increase our Arrowcraft business. Only a small bit of concentrated effort regularly on the part of each Pi Phi is all that it will take to keep Arrowcraft a paying department and give sole means of support to many mountain families. This again reminds us of that vast untouched field for craft

endeavor which can result in a national center so worthy and so great as to be the source of untold pride and satisfaction to new generations of Pi Phis. But that is in itself a long and fascinating story-a dream that can come true if Pi Phis want

Through the combined efforts of Staff, professional advisors, and Committee, the coming year should produce many new designs and new objects to augment our lovely Arrowcraft display. We are mindful of the new and greater opportunities which curtailment of foreign trade has created. We are alert to every possibility of strengthening the economic stability of our areas. We approach this through two mediums. One is through art and craft courses in our Schools to prepare our future workers in basic appreciation of color, form, and design. The other means is through our adult education classes and direction of hand work among mountain people which is necessary to maintain themselves.

Winogene Redding continues her fine work as supervisor of our adult weaving program. Two outstanding community achievements are the results of her vision and enthusiastic effort. The Gatlin-burg Garden Club has made noteworthy improvements in the community with the planting of Dogwood trees along the highway and two parked areas near the center of business. There has been general impetus given to home and civic beautification. Under her direction our Weaver's Guild has taken its place among America's Summer Players. Their original play "Store Britches" continues this summer as a successful contribution to the enjoy-

ment of visitors.

Next to education, we think of Pi Phi's Health Service. Continuing under the sincere direction of Mrs. Marjorie Chalmers, R.N., certain needed re-organization of this important field of community service has progressed successfully. To withdraw certain services, long accepted by community, even to devote more time and energy to the field of preventive and health education, is a delicate transition. Obviously the steady growth of our community with a resident physician now available has changed the aspect of our health service. By limiting our service to needly first aid and emergency, more time can be given to health education instruction. In addition, the war emergency need for Red Cross training courses has been met adequately and with distinction by our Health Service. Difficult as it is to believe, the past year's experience shows again that the service of a regular County nurse is not available regularly in this extended area.

Elizabeth Comstock Peck, California B, is beginning her second year as Director with the warm regard of Staff, Community, and Committee to prove how genuine and kindly is her consideration for others and how quickly she has caught the spirit of Pi Phi service to a great cause. She has been tireless in her efforts to produce congenial

efficiency.

The only general Staff change was made when Annette Morse, Illinois A, resigned after four years' faithful service as house manager because of her own family need, Miss Lena Hodgins of Champaign, Illinois, is deserving of the compliments that her delicious food and smooth running household bring to her.

Bequests made possible two very fine accomplishments during the past year. A new Stuart dormitory for boys was built with the net sum of \$9,250.00 which was left for this purpose by Anne Elizabeth Stuart, Nebraska B. With colonial in-fluence, expressed in simple lines, and permanency assured by use of native stone, heavy hand split shingles, and slate, already there is evidenced a fulfillment of her dream. The boys are proving their pride in an adequate charming home by assuming all responsibility for its perfect upkeep. Proud the donor would be if she could glimpse the satisfaction and inspiration that her generous gift has given to those fine young people whom she so

joyously served.

Although there is no concrete evidence as yet in stone or wood, the sum of \$1,000.00 was given to Settlement School by District of Columbia to start a fund for Health Center improvement. To the memory of this generous unknown Pi Phi donor who chose to share her joy in giving with her chapter, we pledge ourselves to continued effort to justify her faith. We believe that soon this sum will attract enough to it to make her dream and ours come true. With so many, many Pi Phis desirous of replacing the obsolete little old building which for so long has been inadequate to our Health Service demands, we are confidently mak-ing plans and studying the advice and suggestions of experts, that we may be ready when Pi Phi generosity makes suitable housing and equipment possible.

Have you ever thought how satisfactory a choice our leaders made when they gave us a philanthropy with such varied channels? Almost any individual personal preference may be satisfied. With quite natural differences of opinions as to the most worthy field, Pi Phi Fraternity has proven that unified effort can coordinate a variety of needed services into one tremendous influence for good.

We shall continue our effort to acquaint our members with each step as we unfold an expanded program of usefulness. It has been a pleasure to answer the many questions asked by devoted Pi Phis, We shall continue to welcome construc-

tive suggestions.

Our Committee is trying hard to keep pace with national trends, community changes and worthy fields for the generous expression of Pi Phi's philanthropy. We believe that no school and no welfare organization could be in a more fortunate situation to begin this uncertain period of national emergency. We are proud to report that we have no Settlement School debts and there are no involvements. Our determination is to keep our affairs in good order, do our best to maintain the standards which we have pridefully built up, fulfill the obligations to which we are pledged and upon which is dependent the greater proportion of all necessary income and to continuance of the present program committments. This we believe we can do provided the normal contributions from earned money and gifts continue.

To explain this I will quote a frequently asked

question—
"To what extent does the Settlement Schol depend upon Pi Phi contributions?"

The answer is:

To exist, Settlement School is absolutely dependent upon the continuance and the receipt of the present, and recent past, average of active and alumnæ contributions.

Reason: The approximate running and maintenance budget in round numbers is \$30,000, exclusive of Arrowcraft, Originally there was one general source for Settlement School support, namely gifts and contributions earned by Pi Phis. Gradually by development of wise business procedure two other sources were added, namely-income from sources within the Fraternity, for example, the in-terest on the endowment and the commissions from the magazine agency, and income from practical application of business principles to the school administration as our program became more and more involved, such as sale of farm products, staff living small fees for certain health service, and agriculture and craft courses.

The third source came from the gradually shifting to State, County, and Community of such financial responsibility as their growing ability could assume, for the educational system particularly. Here I will mention an interesting fact that few Pi Phis understand. The larger proportion of increase in expenditure, as we have increased the facilities and service of our School, has come from this gradual increase in governmental appropriation. So carefully and fairly has this balance of responsibility been worked out that there has never been a question of the integrity of local government in assuming its rightful share. Nor has the State or County ever questioned Pi Phi's integrity as the growing demands forced us to request increased appropriation for teachers.

With these three sources in mind, it is simple to understand that the basic income from actives and alumnæ, although approximately only one-third of the total running budget, is the nucleus which attracts the other two-thirds. This is the foundation. If we remove or lessen our recent average contributions, we jeopardize the receipt of the other twothirds of necessary income. By maintaining our normal average of the first third, it is quite normal to anticipate increased income from these other

sources.

My own personal belief is that we can carry on for the emergency at this safe level for actual Pi Phi contributions, provided they can be upheld. I believe that future bequests and Pi Phi gifts for special equipment will provide generously for new buildings as the need is evidenced through our wise determination of actual justified need.

As you know the budget for the year is determined at the summer Committee meeting. Since the first third is not fixed, it becomes necessary for the Committee to take the sum of the average expectancy from study of the past several years con-tributions from actives and alumnæ. You can well imagine our worry if alumnæ clubs' contributions drop below the normal expectancy.

Another frequent question is-

'Are Pi Phi contributions used solely for the Arrowcraft Shop?

The answer is, No! Arrowcraft at present is selfsupporting and pays it share of general running expenses of the School. (School in this sense means project, not educational department.)

While we cannot safely predict anything in these uncertain times, it is reasonable to suppose that Arrowcraft can be counted upon to maintain itself

1. Pi Phi alumnæ continue their effort to sell Arrowcraft products.

2. If the traveling public still buy in our two local shops. (This we know will suffer because of curtailment of tires.)

3. If Wage and Hour regulations upon hand looming in the home do not create a cost increase

impossible to accommodate.

Arrowcraft was "in the red" for many years as Pi Phi strove to rehabilitate the mountain peopleand this was considered a profitable procedure, our worthy contribution to human betterment.

A third question often asked is-

"What help do we receive from Government agencies?"

The educational system receives financial help as follows:

#### County

1. Elementary Teachers' salaries are paid to them directly by the County. This sum does not appear on our budget, either in income or disbursement.

2. Rent for Elementary School building of \$1,000.00 per year. (Additional cost of maintenance and repairs is paid by Pi Phi.)

3 Some School supplies and books

#### State and Smith-Hughes Fund

1. Three-fourths of High School Teachers' salaries

Smith-Hughes provides part salary for certain vocational courses such as agriculture and home economics. The State allows \$500.00 annually for adult weaving instruction.

The Health Center receives from the State Health Department serums for certain required

vaccinations and injections.

Regarding other governmental agencies:

1. We were able to get a part time music teacher this current year through the Works Progress Administration. This was canceled in January when all such service was discontinued by government order.

2. Several adult trade instruction classes were

established under the Defense Training authority. No so called "W.P.A." funds were or are rated by the community for services such as are offered at the School other than the aforementioned music assistance (now non-existent).

Often the question is asked-

Why do we not rate financial assistance from certain well known Foundations?"

The answer is

"We are rated as a Foundation by other Founda-tions. As such, we do not quality for their assistance. However, the Committee is hopeful of getting certain "gift" assistance to fulfill specified needs such as a library of fine records, scores, and machine for music appreciation community pro-

We are making an exhaustive study to determine just what classification will attract other such supplementary assistance. We have the attention and sincere interest of three officials of the Carnegie and Rockefeller Foundations. We welcome further

Pi Phi help to coordinate our requests.

As to further Health Center assistance we are informed by two sources of factual information, State and County, and by a national expert in governmental budgeting, that there is no possible fund available to underwrite the educational health service through which Pi Phi has raised the whole health status of a large area. There is still only one County nurse in our entire County and even this

has been irregular.

I invite your study and understanding of the following outline of Pi Phi sources of income which have gradually suggested themselves as sound permanent methods to serve to stabilize our project, give security, and insure in a measure our ability to meet our assumed responsibility.

1. Income from Pi Beta Phi.

#### General

Active Chapters Alumnæ Clubs Individual gifts Bequests Commissions from Magazine Agency Interest on Endowment Fund Interest on Savings Account Contributions specified for furnishings or improvements Miscellaneous (Principally insurance proceeds)

#### School Income

Small fees from Agriculture-Home Economics and certain Health Services Farm Products sold to outside Farm Products sold to our kitchen Staff living fees.

As you study this brief analysis there is one important fact to take into consideration, the running administrative budget for maintenance and upkeep is comparable with that of any home for utilities. service, repairs, replacements, etc., and is separate from the teachers' salaries and supplies of the educational program. You will see that we are providing the background-while State and County are largely supplying the educational program.

It is an accepted fact that Schools, Libraries, and

Health Services are never self-supporting. They are either endowed or supported by public or private funds. Our project will always be to large extent a welfare project, in which we supplement the basic program, as offered by a willing community, with the advantages of a sponsored program in health, education and vocational guidance. This same need for public spirited service is evidenced in every large city as well as every small community-and it is expressed by privately or publicly endowed hospitals, baby clinics, schools, libraries, health centers of every description.

Every public spirited Pi Phi could designate a definite need in her community, a vital one. But long ago Pi Phi became the self-elected sponsors of a definite community. From us these really worthy Anglo-Saxon people have received every inspiration for upbuilding of body and soul. To us this community will always look for guidance, inspiration and all cultural development. As they willingly and pridefully accept certain responsibilities, we are able in turn to expand our influence into an ever growing circle.

As fast as Pi Phi donors wish we will grow into a center of great national educational consequence.

Our facilities, our background, our past integrity, makes possible our ability to meet whatever great need the future brings to our firmly established center in the Smokies.

To speak of a possible present emergency opportunity—we of committee are seriously mindful that added burdens may rightfully come to us. Just what, how, or when, we cannot predict now. But from patriotic and loyal Pi Phis everywhere we welcome suggestions if you see a practical opportunity to increase our service. Several ideas have already been discussed whereby we might serve the cause of youth in war time.

In anticipating some additional war effort we have established contact with the several agencies in Washington under whom we may be called upon to serve. Through the War Production Board's several textile departments and its Small Business Bureau we are endeavoring to find what needed articles or fabrics can be made under our supervision. Through this means we hope to stabilize the economic status of our community and use to the fullest every bit of man and woman power.

We have contacted the Children's Bureau of the Department of Labor through Dr. Martha Elliott and her associate, Miss Ruth Taylor, to get first hand information regarding the government's plans for service to evacuated children or families.

Through Dr. Howard McCluskey, whose responsibility in the Office of Civilian Defense is the coordinating of war efforts of organization we are promised assistance that we may find our proper field.

We are studying the possibilities of additional use for our facilities in the field of occupational therapy if by chance any or all of the Gatlinburg hotels should be needed for hospitalization.

At the suggestion of the National Office of Civilian Defense we are contacting the regional and State offices of Civilian Defense as a means of keeping aware of needs.

It is our hope and expectation that we will be ready for any war emergency service that may come to Gatlinburg to command the unified patriotic effort of thirty-three thousand Pi Phis.

Respectively submitted,
Settlement School Committee.
ETHEL COPP, Chairman,

# REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF THE PI BETA PHI SETTLEMENT SCHOOL, 1941-42

To Grand Council of Pi Beta Phi Fraternity, Settlement School Committee, and the Fraternity:

For every Pi Phi who holds a cherished place in her heart for the Settlement School, there is every reason to be proud of the year just past. Highlights that stand out are the establishing and development of the Arts and Crafts program in the school; the reorganization of the Health Center to meet changing community needs; the fall visit of Dean Taylor of the University of Kentucky with his valuable survey; the completion of the new Stuart Dormitory for boys; and just this last May the annual meeting of the Settlement School Committee here at the School, which is like having five fine friends and counselors arrive at one time to help solve problems and guide policies for the best interests of Pi Phi and our School.

There's a Rip Van Winkle quiet over the school grounds now that makes it hard to picture the tremendous activity of the School year. According to Mr. Fleming's report, we had the largest high school enrollment in the history of the school. Besides the regular classes in English, History, Sociology, Science, Vocational Agriculture and Vocational Home Economics, a new unit of World History was added for the tenth grade, and Spanish for the eleventh grade, Arts and Crafts for Junior and Senior students, as well as classes in first aid and home nursing. Everyone in High School has been active in the physical education program. The Boy's Basketball team was in the District Semifinals. This year the girls had an intramural basketball program as well as a few inter-school games.

The Agriculture and Home Economics clubs, the Press Club, and the various other school organizations had a very successful year. The Press Club sponsored the "Pi Phi Paperette" which was a page of school news incorporated in the local Gatlinburg paper. Several Community and school socials have been held in the gymnasium, and the Juniors and Seniors each gave a School play. The Seniors raised funds for their trip just before Class Week, They visited Lookout Mountain. Nashville.

Mammoth Cave, and Lincoln Memorial University. In the Home Economics department nutrition was stressed and low cost healthful meals were given special attention. Weaving was especially popular with the girls this year and each girl in the junior class wove a knitting bag with an all-over design, and several have woven dresser scarves with small figure inlays such as flowers or initials. The Sophomore class was larger. Two girls worked at each loom, learning each step from the making of the warp, to the threading of the loom and finally the actual weaving. In the sewing project each girl made two garments of her own choice. Two of the girls participated in the Style Show at the University of Tennessee's Open House. Each year of Home Economics is a combination course which includes foods, clothing, personal grooming, home management, child care and other topics. The boys and girls in the third year classes met together for six weeks to study "Problems in Family Living and Home Management" and lively round

A total of forty-eight boys were enrolled in Vocational Agriculture. The course of study for each of these boys is based on farming on the Home Farm, with emphasis being placed on food production for home first and for national defense. National Defense classes were also held and conducted for out-of-school youth in the various rural communities. The boys learned blacksmithing and farm machinery repair, wood-working, simple electricity, and auto mechanics. Two evening classes of farmers met and studied problems pertaining to farming and food production, under our agriculture teacher.

table discussions were held.

The new courses now being taught in the Arts and Crafts department include Jewelry, Metal Craft, Ceramics, Block Printing, and the Native crafts. The courses are elective for Juniors and Seniors and have been very popular. In Jewelry, the students studied the fundamental techniques of constructing and decorating rings set with semi-precious stones, sterling silver pins and clips, a

combination of copper and brass bracelets and other chains. In Metal work, they constructed plates, ash trays, bowls, lamps and candle-sticks. Laboratory problems in ceramics include the techniques of hand building of animals and figures, wheel throwing, pressing from moulds, slip-casting, glazing and firing of the kiln. The methods of textile decoration were also studied, including block-printing, stenciling and tie-dyeing. Several very talented students were discovered in the classes. There were also well-attended adult classes in the evenings. For its first year, genuine progress and great enthusiasm were felt in this part of the school program.

The Elementary School completed an equally successful year under Pern Price, principal. One of the outstanding affairs of the year was the children's operetta, which was the very best the school has ever had. The children were beautifully trained, the costumes were clever, and the entire performance a credit to the teachers and Mr. Price who worked with the children so patiently. The story was "Peter Rabbit" so that it is not hard to visualize the cunning songs and costumes.

The Movie Projector, purchased from gift funds, has been a most valuable addition to the entire school program. Educational, as well as films for entertainment have been shown regularly and the coming year promises to see it used even more frequently as we work in conjunction with the gov-

ernment showing of films for defense.

The report of the Health Center has special interest as it reflected the changing, yet continued very important program. Health study, First Aid Classes, Nutrition, Home Nursing, all are stressed. Mrs. Chalmers is combining a full teaching schedule with her nursing duties. In the High School all who could arrange their time to take the shortened First Aid course, did so. Adult classes in Home Nursing at the Health Center completed their studies and qualified for their certificates.

With the emphasis on health instruction, preventive service in the community was not allowed to suffer, and the totals for the year were about the same as the preceding one. There was a considerable drop in the number of calls, and community service was confined to demonstrations of nursing procedures, practical instruction and strictly emergency measures. Inspections and inoculations in the School, and corrective work was done as usual. The Health Center received gifts from the local chapter of the Red Cross, and from many of the alumnæ clubs, all of which were very much needed and deeply appreciated. Many of these things are for the "Loan Closet" and are in frequent use, being gratefully borrowed and carefully returned. Being a year of "transition" the

Health Center passed through an eventful year in which those services which we have outgrown have been eliminated, and through greater concentration on health instruction the valuable service of the Health Center will continue to assist the community toward better and safer living.

From the Arrowcraft Shop comes the report that during the past year, one hundred and thirty-two alumnæ clubs, nine active chapters, twenty-three shops and individuals too numerous to mention have sold Arrowcraft merchandise. One of the most successful sales of the year was handled by the Boston Club at the New England Flower Show which this year had as one of its themes "The Wildflowers of the Smokies." The sales at the Arrowcraft Booth were over \$2,000. One of the most important pieces of publicity of the year, was the June number of House and Garden which featured the handicrafts of the whole Southern Appalachian region. Our own "Aunt Lizzie's" photograph, as well as many others were taken here in Gatlinburg under Mrs, Snow's guidance. Arrowcraft has received many, many inquiries as a result of this publicity.

The Fall Guild meeting was held in Berea, Kentucky, with five members of the school staff attending. The spring meeting was held in Knoxville, where the invitation was extended to the Guild to hold their 1942 meeting in Gatlinburg and we hope to make it outstanding. The meeting of the stockholders of Southern Highlanders, Inc., of which Arrowcraft is a member, was held in Knoxville following the Guild meeting. It is interesting to note that Miss Jessie Harris, Director of Home Economics of the University of Tennessee, and our Asheville initiate, was elected a Director for the

coming year.

The weavers for the Shop had more work than ever before last year. There was a total of ninety-eight weavers on the books and there were eighty-seven working at one time just before Christmas. The Weaving meetings have been well attended. With the cost of living increasing for them as well as everyone else, there are many families where the weaving is needed more than ever.

The reports of Arrowcraft, Health Center, and School show a unity of effort in carrying out the ideals of the fraternity in constructive aid and service in this community. If war emergency needs make demands upon us, it will be the desire of the entire staff to meet these demands, and to continue to give their very best efforts to the School, which is just as dear to everyone in Gatlinburg as it is to every Pi Phi!

Respectfully submitted, ELIZABETH COMSTOCK PECK, Director, Pi Beta Phi School.

+ + +

# PI BETA PHI SETTLEMENT SCHOOL - REPORT ON AUDIT OF TREASURER'S ACCOUNTS YEAR **ENDED JUNE 30, 1942**

August 3, 1942

To the Settlement School Committee, Pi Beta Phi Fraternity, Office of Settlement School Treasurer. Milwaukee, Wisconsin.

#### DEAR MESDAMES.

We have examined the records maintained by the Treasurer of your Committee for the Pi Beta Phi Settlement School for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1942. With the data drawn from these records we have combined the report prepared by Homer K. Jones and Company, public accountants, from the subsidiary records kept for the School and the Arrowcraft Shop, at Gatlinburg, Tennessee, and we submit herewith the resulting attached statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheet and related statements of income and surplus present fairly the financial position of the Pi Beta Phi Settlement School at June 30, 1942, and the income and expenses for the fiscal year then ended, subject to the extent of our own verification, which as indicated above did not include the Gatlinburg

We examined and tested the income from Club and Chapter contributions, which are shown in detail in Schedule 3-a, and from magazine agencies and we found adequate support and authorization for the expenditures made directly by the Treasurer. The cash balance at Milwaukee was verified by us. The endowment securities and cash, except cash in transit, which we verified, were certified to by the Harris Trust and Savings Bank of Chicago, Trustees for the endowment funds, and this Trustee's report was accepted without further verification except that we checked the accounting made of changes in investments and the income from securities and found in it good order.

#### COMMENTS

### Cash Balances

G

The cash balances at June 30, 1942, exclusive of cash with the endowment Trustees or in transit, consisted of the following:

### Milwaukee Account:

count .....

First Wisconsin National Bank— Treasurer's checking account\$ 7	,922.97
Fatlinburg School Accounts:	
Sevier County Bank-School check-	
ing account	793.45
building account Sevier County Bank—Arts and Crafts	79.06
acount	223.39
Sevier County Bank—Checking ac-	

Bank of Sevierville—Savings account Hamilton National Bank—Savings ac	
count	4,218.46
Morris Plan Bank-Savings account .	4,780.04
etty cash funds at Gatlinburg	45.00

\$27,863.51

As indicated above, we verified the balances in Milwaukee accounts while those at Sevierville or Knoxville were verified by Homer K. Jones and Company according to their report.

The above balances do not include magazine agency receipts in the custody of Mrs. C. M. Purdunn who reported a balance due the Settlement School on May 15, 1942 of \$3,216.27. In accordance with previous practice the magazine agency receipts taken into account by the Settlement School Treasurer for the fiscal year consisted only of the remittances from Mrs. Purdunn which totaled \$3,000.00.

## Accounts Receivable

The Arrowcraft accounts receivable at June 30, 1942 amounted to \$6,710.25 and were due principally from alumnæ clubs. These accounts, which we did not verify, were listed in the report of Homer K. Jones and Company and were \$162.02 greater than those at the close of the previous year. Fixed Assets

Expenditures for additions to buildings, equipment and landscaping amounted to \$12,480.37 for the year under review. Included in this total is \$9,122.94 for the new Stuart Dormitory and \$1,703.12 for new equipment for this dormitory, a total of \$10,826.06. As indicated above, the expenditures for the new dormitory were evidently not included in the Gatlinburg audit, All additions to the property accounts are shown in Schedule 2. It may be noted that the old Stuart Cottage which was razed was removed from the books and its estimated book value of \$450.00 (\$2,011.02 less depreciation of \$1,561.02) less salvage receipts of \$25.00, was charged off to expense. Depreciation of the buildings and equipment, computed at rates used in the past, totaled \$3,259.04 as shown in the same schedule.

Lists sent to us indicated that most of the equipment at Gatlinburg had been inventoried at June 30, 1942 and it seemed advisable to enter the inventory values on the records in lieu of the de-preciated book values. However, examination of these inventories revealed that at least the machinery and equipment in the vocational school building (industrial building) had not been listed or valued so no change was made on the records. In your particular case we believe that it would be preferable to have the present inventory values of equipment on the books rather than those now shown, if the inventories can be completed.

#### Endowment

6.814.50

The only changes in the endowment principal for the year under review consisted of the appropriation of three-fourths of the chapter contributions, or \$1,307.75, offset to a slight extent by losses on securities of \$62.03, the fund showing a net increase of \$1,245.72.

No amortization of bond premiums is charged

against income by the Trustee although the securities on hand cost \$1,710.05 more than par value. However, the market value of the securities at June 30, 1942 was \$132.51 more than cost as shown in the list in Schedule 1 according to the

Trustee's report.

Current	Income	and	Ex	penses
---------	--------	-----	----	--------

The expenses of the Settlement School exceeded operating income by \$6,977.50 while the Arrowcraft net profit totaled \$12,578.43. The Settlement School expenses included depreciation of \$3,259.04, a large part of which is attributable to operation of the Arrowcraft shops and stores but which is not charged to this department.

The Arrowcraft net income was \$1,524.65 less than that of the previous year although the sales of \$54,651.28 were approximately the same as those for 1940-1941. The sales at the Mountain View Hotel which are ordinarily quite profitable fell off somewhat with a decrease in gross profit of \$656.18. An accounting of the net income is presented as follows:

Net income of Arrowcraft division ....\$12,578.43 Deficit in operation of Settlement School 6,977.50

Net income ...... \$ 5,600.93

 Expenditures for building and equipment . . \$12,480.37 Less depreciation for year ..... 3,259.04 \$ 9,221.33 Less Stuart Cottage charged off..... 450.00 8,771.33 Increase in prepaid insurance ...... 505.51 \$13,594.27 Less decrease in cash balances and cash items on hand ..... 9,301.09 \$ 4,293.18 Transfer of funds to endowment 1,307.75 principal .....

It may be observed that the Arrowcraft inventories have been increasing each year and that a substantial portion of the net income is invested in the finished goods and materials on hand. This is probably a normal situation but in any case the insurance coverage on these inventories should be carefully watched.

Total as above ...... \$ 5,600.93

Respectfully submitted, REILLY, PENNER AND BENTON Certified Public Accountants

BALANCE SHEET—JUNE 30, 1942 Exhibit "A"

DALANCE SHEET-JOINE 50, 1942		
Current Assets:	1111111	
Cash in banks and on hand Income cash and coupons with Endowment Trustee Light and power deposit—Gatlinburg Accounts receivable—Arrowcraft Shop Inventories: Hotel Shop \$902,30	\$ 27,863.51 292.76 10.00 6,710.25	
Arrowcraft Shop 13,330.63 Weaving supplies 14,682.14	28,915.07	
Total current assets		\$ 63,791.59
Endowment Fund Assets: (Schedule 1) Securities—At cost (Market value \$44,842.56) Uninvested cash	\$ 44,710.05 1,363.71	
Total endowment assets		46,073.76
Fixed Assets:		
Land Buildings and equipment (Schedule 2) \$110,496.14 Less depreciation reserve 27,247.67	\$ 5,193.00 83,248.47	
Live stock inventory	1,693.00	
Total fixed assets		90,134.47
Deferred Charges: Prepaid insurance (Schedule 4)		2,068.40
Total assets		\$202,068.22
LIABILITIES AND NET WORTH		
Endowment Fund:		
Settlement School Endowment Fund, required balance (Exhibit "B")		\$ 46,073.76
Surplus: Settlement School—General surplus (Exhibit "B")		155,994.46
Total endowment and surplus		\$202,068.22

Analysis of Genera	AL SURPLUS				Exhibit "B"
June 30, 19	142				
Balance, July 1, 1941					\$151,701.28
Net income for the year ended June 30, 1942: Arrowcraft Shop (Exhibit "D") Less Settlement School operating deficit (Exhibit "C")			\$ 12	,578.43 .977.50	
Net income					
Less: Appropriation to endowment fund (¾ active chapter contribut					
Balance to general surplus			-		4,293.18
General surplus, June 30, 1942					-
					\$155,994.46
Endowment F Total endowment fund required balance, July 1, 1941					\$ 44,828.04
Add:					
Appropriation from active chapter contributions					1,307.75
Deduct:					\$ 46,135.79
Net losses on securities:	Selling or				
	Redemption				
1M Bethlehem Steel Corporation bonds	Price \$ 1.010.00	\$ 1.047.50	\$	37.50	
1M Federal Farm Mortgage Corporation bonds	1,006.56	1,031.09	_	24.33	
	\$ 2,016.56	\$ 2,078.59	\$	62.03	62.03
Required balance, June 30, 1942					\$46,073.76
STATEMENT OF I	NCOME				Exhibit C
Year Ended June	30, 1942	10/1 10/2			
Income	School	1941-1942 Treasurer's			Comparative
General:	Books	Books	T	otal	1940-1942
Active chapter contributions (Schedule 3) Alumnæ Clubs contributions (Schedule 3) Individual contributions Bequests	\$	\$ 1,743.66 8,400.02 26.00	8,4	43.66 00.02 26.00	\$ 1,873.00 9,022.55 132.00 9,942.17
Magazine agency commissions Interest on endowment fund (Schedule 1) Interest from Alumni Fund		3,000.00 1,122.72 5.20		00.00 22.72 5.20	3,034.47 1,133.78 51.80 10.33
Interest on savings account Contribution for Health Unit (District of Columbia A) Miscellaneous	453.56	1,000.00		00.00	453.68
Total	453.56	\$15,299.10	\$15,7	52.66	\$25,653.78
Educational:  Appropriations for teachers' salaries	3,816.00 45.64	\$	\$ 3,8	16.00 45.64	\$ 2,855.64 37.00
Economics Department income Library receipts General	49.40 64.55 617.27			49.40 64.55 17.27	42.60 5.00
Total	4,592.86	\$	\$ 4,5	92.86	\$ 2,940.24
Arts and Crafts Department: State of Tennessee—Appropriation	450.00	s	\$ 4	50.00	\$ 900.00 217.41
Supplies sold	100.00	_	-		-
Total		\$	\$ 1,0	50.00	\$ 1,117,41
Rentals—Rent of buildings (from County)		•	\$ 1,0	00.00	\$ 1,000.00
Living receipts, guests and sales  Hospital income	3,252.62 84.46	\$	\$ 3,2	52.62 84.46	\$ 3,333.95 178.15
Farm—Sales Products for living Live stock increase	856.56 2,394.90	151.00	2,3	56.56 94.90 51.00	469,99 2,336,28 135.00
Total farm income	3,251.46	\$ 151.00	\$ 3,4	02.46	\$ 2,671.27 28,29
Total auxiliary income	6,588.54	\$ 151.00	\$ 6,7	39.54	\$ 6,211.66
Total income	13,084.96	\$15,450.10	\$28,5	35.06	\$36,923.09
Operating expenses (Exhibit "C-1")		\$14,425.85		12.56	29,905.75
Net operating income to surplus account			\$ 6,9	77.50	\$ 7,017.34
			-		

Exhibit "C-1"

# STATEMENT OF EXPENDITURES Year Ended June 30, 1942

		1941-1942		
Expenditures	School Books	Treasurer's Books	Total	Comparative 1940-1941
Administrative:	Dooks	Dooks	20300	1,710 1,717
Traveling and convention\$ Auditing and legal fees		\$ 1,444.57 125.00	\$ 1,444.57 125.00	\$ 556.68 125.00
Honorarium Office salary (portion) Survey Publicity Miscellaneous—Stationery, committee expenses Office supplies and expenses	77.43 70.98	240.00 328.50 212.60 301.22 10.00	240.00 328.50 212.60 378.65 80.98	100.00 255.00 10.34 156.99 83.74
Total administrative\$	148,41	\$ 2,661.89	\$ 2,810.30	\$ 1,287.75
General Instructional:				
Director's salary\$ Principal's salary		\$ 1,200.00	\$ 1,200.00	\$ 1,085.34 396.00
Home economics teacher Agriculture teacher Home economics supplies and expenses Agriculture supplies and expenses General supplies and expenses Library supplies and expenses	178.22 111.77 1,069.15 40.06	540.00 537.84	540.00 537.84 178.22 111.77 1,069.15 40.06	540.00 537.84 180.66 67.86 572.15
Recreational summer work Other teaching salaries	4,599.33		4,599.33	95.90 3,028.96
Total general instructional\$	5,998.53	\$ 2,277.84	\$ 8,276.37	\$ 6,504.71
Arts and Crafts Department:				
Salaries\$ Supplies and expenses Repairs and renewals (exclusive of new equipment)	1,500.00 568.69 291.87	\$	\$ 1,500.00 568.69 291.87	\$ 1,950.00 475.52
Total\$	2,360.56	\$	\$ 2,360.56	\$ 2,425.52
Maintenance and Operation:				
Insurance Fuel Lights Laundry Truck expenses Auto expenses Handiman's salary (school account)	1,019.71 359.17 305.40 154.07 124.01	\$ 1,128.68	\$ 1,128.68 1,019.71 359.17 305.40 154.07 124.01 660.00	\$ 1,262.91 893.57 323.72 264.12 223.28 2.21 720.00
Repairs Stuart Cottage—Book value charged off less salvage	917.42	425.00	917.42 425.00	895.27
Telephone and telegraph Miscellaneous	243.50 454.21		243.50 454.21	153.41 216.43
Total\$	3,577.49	\$ 2,213.68	\$ 5,791.17	\$ 4,954.92
		1941-1942		
Expenditures	School	Treasurer's		Comparative

		1941-1942		
Expenditures	School	Treasurer's Books	Total	Comparative 1940-1941
Auxiliary:			7.7.	-510 1511
Living: Groceries Food from farm House manager's salary Cooks Furnishings Miscellaneous	3,323.71 2,394.90 25.31 44.22	\$ 720.00 683.40	\$ 3,323.71 2,394.90 720.00 683.40 25.31 44.22	\$ 2,701.74 2,336.28 720.00 540.00 354.84 104.70
Total living expenses\$	5,788.14	\$ 1,403.40	\$ 7,191.54	\$ 6,757.56
Health Unit:				
Salaries\$ Car allowanceHospital	90.29	\$ 1,440.00 300.00	\$ 1,440.00 300.00 90.29	\$ 1,440.00 300.00 130.00
Total health unit	90.29 15.51	\$ 1,740.00	\$ 1,830.29 \$ 15.51	\$ 1,870.00 \$ 41.79
Farm:				
Salaries\$ Expenses	3,107.78	\$ 870.00	\$ 870.00 3,107.78	\$ 840.00 2,151.04
Total farm\$	3,107.78	\$ 870.00	\$ 3,977.78	\$ 2,991.04
Total auxiliary expenses	9,001.72	\$ 4,013.40 \$ 3,259.04	\$13,015.12 \$ 3,259.04	\$11,660.39 \$ 3,072.46
Total operating expenses\$2 Expenditures for permanent improvements (Schedule 2)1	1,086.71 2,480.37	\$14,425.85	\$35,512.56 12,480.37	\$29,905.75 1,980.27
Total expenditures\$3	3,567.08	\$14,425.85	\$47,992.93	\$31,886.02

126,61 \$ 1,122.72

\$44,710.05

Year Ended June	EXPENDI	TURES		Exhibit I
a and address from a				
4		1941-1942	C	1040 1041
Arrowcraft Shop	Sales	Goods Sold	Gross Profit	1940-1941 Comparation
Baskets Weaving (cost includes labor, \$12,264.73) Chairs, stools, etc. Hooked and tufted articles Miscellaneous Mountain View Hotel Shop	37,232.80 1,346.02 1,632.26	\$ 1,037.84 21,806.71 841.40 1,065.02 6,276.63 1,844.29	\$ 544.86 15,426.09 504.62 567.24 2,737.65 1,998.93	\$ 574,49 15,394.7 295.5 668,9 2,942.5 2,655.1
	\$54,651.28	\$32,871.89	\$21,779.39	\$22,531.3
Arrowcraft Expenses: Commissions—Hotel sales Rent—Hotel shop Transportation, cost (net) Salaries Boston Flower Show		240.00 216.73 6,692.56		\$ 698.00 240.00 194.20 6,318.9
Other publicity Miscellaneous Lights Insurance Fuel Office supplies Postage Repairs and upkeep Supplies Telephone and telegraph Car expense Truck expense Convention		12.75 324.91 173.44 400.00 300.00 62.04 62.16 49.85 578.56 37.72 29.94 71.18		23.86 56.00 95.11 200.00 279.88 83.3 79.3 114.2 428.2 25.9 74.1 181.6 104.6
Total expenses			10,154.01	\$ 9,197.42
Profit from operation			\$11,625.38	\$13,333.90
Other Income: State of Tennessee—Weaving salaries Interest on savings accounts Recoveries—Closed bank accounts Purchase discounts		261.76		\$ 500.53 111.68 86.24 138.66
Total other income Less sales discount				\$ 837.11
				67.99
Net other income			953.05	\$ 769.12
Net other income			953.05 \$12,578.43	-
			-	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08
	Exhibit "C-1		-	\$ 769.12
Net operating profit for year exclusive of depreciation (See I	Exhibit "C-1	,	\$12,578.43	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08
Net operating profit for year exclusive of depreciation (See I ENDOWMENT FUND June 30, 194	Exhibit "C-1	,	-	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08
Net operating profit for year exclusive of depreciation (See I  ENDOWMENT FUND  June 30, 194	Exhibit "C-1 Assers 2 Par Value	 ")	Market Value (Per Harris Trust and Savings Bank)	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08 Schedule 1 Income 1941-1942
Net operating profit for year exclusive of depreciation (See I  ENDOWMENT FUND  June 30, 194	Exhibit "C-1 Assers 2 Par Value	,	\$12,578.43 Market Value (Per Harris Trust and Savings	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08 Schedule 1
Net operating profit for year exclusive of depreciation (See I  ENDOWMENT FUND  June 30, 194  June 3	Assers 2  Par Value 4,000.00 2,000.00	**)  ***  ***  **  **  **  **  **  **	Market Value (Per Harris Trust and Savings Bank) \$ 4,140.00 2,165.00	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08 Schedule 1 Income 1941-1942 \$ 130.00 65.00 50.00
Net operating profit for year exclusive of depreciation (See I  ENDOWMENT FUND  June 30, 194  onds: Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Cons. SF 3½'s 1959\$ Brooklyn Edison Company, Inc., Cons. 3½'s 1966 Canadian Pacific Railway Equipment Trust 5's 1944 Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad Company Equipment Trust 2½, 1946	Assers 2  Par Value 4,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00	**)  ***  ***  ***  **  **  **  **  **	#12,578.43  Market Value (Per Harris Trust and Savings Bank)  \$ 4,140.00 2,165.00 1,000.00	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08 Schedule 1 Income 1941-1942 \$ 130.00 50.00
Net operating profit for year exclusive of depreciation (See In Endowment Fund June 30, 194  Sonds:  Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Cons. SF 3½'s 1959	Assers 2  Par Value 4,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00 2,000.00	**)  ***  ***  ***  **  **  **  **  **	#12,578.43  Market Value (Per Harris Trust and Savings Bank)  \$ 4,140.00 2,165.00 1,000.00 2,045.00	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08 Schedule 1 Income 1941-1942 \$ 130.00 50.00 45.00 29.83
Net operating profit for year exclusive of depreciation (See In Endowment Fund June 30, 194  Endowment Fund June 30, 194  Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Cons. SF 3½'s 1959	Assers 2  Par Value 4,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00 2,000.00 3,000.00	**)  ***  ***  **  **  **  **  **  **	#12,578.43  Market Value (Per Harris Trust and Savings Bank)  \$4,140.00 2,165.00 1,000.00 2,045.00 3,187.50	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08 Schedule 1 Income 1941-1942 \$ 130.00 65.00 29.83 90.00
ENDOWMENT FUND  June 30, 194  Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Cons. SF 3½'s 1959  Brooklyn Edison Company, Inc., Cons. 3½'s 1966  Canadian Pacific Railway Equipment Trust 5's 1944  Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad Company Equipment Trust 2½ 1946  Federal Farm Mortgage Corporation 3's 1942/42 (Sold)  Twelve Federal Land Banks, Cons. 3's 1955/45  Minnesota Power and Light Company, 1st and Refunding 5's 1955  New York Edison Company, Inc., 1st Lien and Refunding 3½ 1965  Northern States Power Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s	Assers 2  Par Value 4,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00 3,000.00 1,000.00	Cost \$ 4,190.00 2,192.50 1,105.00 1,994.98 3,198.75 1,025.00	**12,578.43  Market Value (Per Harris Trust and Savings Bank)  \$ 4,140.00 2,165.00 1,000.00 2,045.00 3,187.50 1,060.00	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08 Schedule 1 Income 1941-1942 \$ 130.00 65.00 50.00 45.00 29.83 90.00 50.00
ENDOWMENT FUND  June 30, 194  Sond::  Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Cons. SF 3¼'s 1959  Brooklyn Edison Company, Inc., Cons. 3¼'s 1966  Canadian Pacific Railway Equipment Trust 5's 1944  Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad Company Equipment Trust 2¼ 1946  Twelve Federal Land Banks, Cons. 3's 1952/42 (Sold)  Twelve Federal Land Banks, Cons. 3's 1955/45  Minnesota Power and Light Company, 1st and Refunding 5's 1955  New York Edison Company, Inc., 1st Lien and Refunding 3½'s 1965  Northern States Power Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s 1967  Pacific Gas and Electric Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s	Assets 2  Par Value 4,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00	Cost  \$ 4,190.00 2,192.50 1,105.00 1,994.98 3,198.75 1,025.00 1,026.25 1,010.00 1,077.50	**12,578.43  Market Value (Per Harris Trust and Savings Bank)  \$ 4,140.00	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08 Schedule 1 Income 1941-1942 \$ 130.00 65.00 50.00 45.00 29.83 90.00 32.50 35.00 35.00
Net operating profit for year exclusive of depreciation (See Internal Seconds:  Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Cons. SF 3½'s 1959  Brooklyn Edison Company, Inc., Cons. 3½'s 1966  Canadian Pacific Railway Equipment Trust 5's 1944  Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad Company Equipment Trust 2½ 1946  Federal Farm Mortgage Corporation 3's 1942/42 (Sold)  Twelve Federal Land Banks, Cons. 3's 1955/45  Minnesota Power and Light Company, 1st and Refunding 5's 1955  New York Edison Company, Inc., 1st Lien and Refunding 3½ 1965  Northern States Power Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s 1967  Pacific Gas and Electric Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s 1966  Public Service Company of Northern Illinois 1st 3½'s 1968.	Assers 2  Par Value 4,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00 3,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00	Cost  \$ 4,190.00 2,192.50 1,105.00 1,994.98 3,198.75 1,025.00 1,026.25 1,010.00	Market Value (Per Harris Trust and Savings Bank)  \$ 4,140.00 2,165.00 1,000.00 2,045.00 3,187.50 1,060.00 1,071.25 1,072.50	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08 Schedule 1 Income 1941-1942 \$ 130.00 65.00 50.00 45.00 29.83 90.00 32.50 35.00
ENDOWMENT FUND  June 30, 194  Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Cons. SF 3½'s 1959  Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Cons. SF 3½'s 1966  Canadian Pacific Railway Equipment Trust 5's 1944  Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad Company Equipment Trust 2½ 1946  Federal Farm Mortgage Corporation 3's 1942/42 (Sold)  Twelve Federal Land Banks, Cons. 3's 1955/45  Minnesota Power and Light Company, 1st and Refunding 5's 1955  New York Edison Company, Inc., 1st Lien and Refunding 3½ 1965  Northern States Power Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s 1967  Pacific Gas and Electric Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s 1966  Public Service Company of Northern Illinois 1st 3½'s 1968  Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc. Deb. 3's 1964  Texas Corporation, Deb. 3's 1959  Toledo and Ohio Central Railway, Refunding and Improvement A 3¾ 1960	Assers 2  Par Value 4,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00	Cost  \$ 4,190.00 2,192.50 1,105.00 1,994.98 3,198.75 1,025.00 1,026.25 1,010.00 1,077.50 2,095.00 2,107.50 2,095.00 1,042.50	**12,578.43**  Market Value (Per Harris Trust and Savings Bank)  \$ 4,140.00 2,165.00 1,000.00 2,045.00 1,060.00 1,071.25 1,072.50 1,075.00 2,185.00 2,105.00 5,243.75 820.00	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08 Schedule 1 Income 1941-1942 \$ 130.00 65.00 50.00 45.00 29.83 90.00 32.50 35.00 70.00 66.00 60.00 150.00
ENDOWMENT FUND  June 30, 194  Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Cons. SF 3½'s 1959  Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Cons. SF 3½'s 1966  Canadian Pacific Railway Equipment Trust 5's 1944  Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad Company Equipment Trust 2½ 1946  Federal Farm Mortgage Corporation 3's 1942/42 (Sold)  Twelve Federal Land Banks, Cons. 3's 1955/45  Minnesota Power and Light Company, 1st and Refunding 5's 1955  New York Edison Company, Inc., 1st Lien and Refunding 3½ 1965  Northern States Power Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s 1967  Pacific Gas and Electric Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s 1966  Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc. Deb. 3's 19564  Texas Corporation, Deb. 3's 1959  Toledo and Ohio Central Railway, Refunding and Improvement A 3¾ 1960	Assets 2  Par Value 4,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00	Cost  \$ 4,190.00 2,192.50 1,105.00 1,994.98 3,198.75 1,025.00 1,026.25 1,010.00 1,077.50 2,095.00 2,107.50 5,350.00 1,042.50 3,039.16 1,806.25	#12,578.43  Market Value (Per Harris Trust and Savings Bank)  \$ 4,140.00 2,165.00 1,000.00 2,045.00 1,071.25 1,072.50 1,075.00 2,185.00 2,105.00 5,243.75 820.00 3,150.00 1,724.97	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08 Schedule 1 \$10.000 \$130.00 \$130.00 \$50
ENDOWMENT FUND  June 30, 194  Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Cons. SF 3½'s 1959 Brooklyn Edison Company, Inc., Cons. 3½'s 1966 Canadian Pacific Railway Equipment Trust 5's 1944 Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad Company Equipment Trust 2½ 1946 Federal Farm Mortgage Corporation 3's 1942/42 (Sold) Twelve Federal Land Banks, Cons. 3's 1955/45 Minnesota Power and Light Company, 1st and Refunding 5's 1955 New York Edison Company, Inc., 1st Lien and Refunding 3½'s 1965 Northern States Power Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s 1967 Pacific Gas and Electric Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s 1966 Public Service Company of Northern Illinois 1st 3½'s 1968 Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc. Deb. 3's 1954 Texas Corporation, Deb. 3's 1959 Toledo and Ohio Central Railway, Refunding and Improvement A 3¾ 1966	Assers 2  Par Value 4,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00	Cost  \$ 4,190.00 2,192.50 1,103.00 1,994.98 3,198.75 1,025.00 1,026.25 1,010.00 1,077.50 2,095.00 2,107.50 5,350.00 1,042.50 3,039.16 1,806.25 1,977.78	#12,578.43  Market Value (Per Harris Trust and Savings Bank)  \$ 4,140.00	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08 Schedule 1 Income 1941-1942 \$ 130.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 32.50 35.00 60.00 60.00 150.00 37.50 82.50 34.00 38.00
ENDOWMENT FUND  June 30, 194  Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Cons. SF 3¼'s 1959 Brooklyn Edison Company, Inc., Cons. 3¼'s 1966 Canadian Pacific Railway Equipment Trust 5's 1944 Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad Company Equipment Trust 2¼ 1946 Federal Farm Mortgage Corporation 3's 1942/42 (Sold) Twelve Federal Land Banks, Cons. 3's 1955/45 Minnesota Power and Light Company, 1st and Refunding 5's 1955 New York Edison Company, Inc., 1st Lien and Refunding 3¼'s 1965 Northern States Power Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s 1967 Pacific Gas and Electric Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s 1966 Public Service Company of Northern Illinois 1st 3½'s 1968 Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc. Deb. 3's 1954 Texas Corporation, Deb. 3's 1959 Toledo and Ohio Central Railway, Refunding and Improvement A 3¾ 1960	Assers 2  Par Value 4,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00	Cost  \$ 4,190.00 2,192.50 1,103.00 1,994.98 3,198.75 1,025.00 1,026.25 1,010.00 1,077.50 2,095.00 2,107.50 5,350.00 1,042.50 3,039.16 1,866.25 1,977.78 1,020.63	**12,578.43**  Market Value (Per Harris Trust and Savings Bank)  \$ 4,140.00	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08 Schedule 1 Income 1941-1942 \$ 130.00 50.00 45.00 29.83 90.00 50.00 32.50 35.00 70.00 66.00 150.00 37.50 82.50 34.00 27.50 38.00 27.50 62.50
ENDOWMENT FUND  June 30, 194  Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Cons. SF 3½'s 1959  Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Cons. SF 3½'s 1966  Canadian Pacific Railway Equipment Trust 5's 1944  Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad Company Equipment Trust 2½ 1946  Federal Farm Mortgage Corporation 3's 1942/42 (Sold)  Twelve Federal Land Banks, Cons. 3's 1955/45  Minnesota Power and Light Company, 1st and Refunding 5's 1955  New York Edison Company, Inc., 1st Lien and Refunding 3½ 1965  Northern States Power Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s 1967  Pacific Gas and Electric Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s 1966  Public Service Company of Northern Illinois 1st 3½'s 1968  Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc. Deb. 3's 1964  Texas Corporation, Deb. 3's 1959  Toledo and Ohio Central Railway, Refunding and Improvement A 3¾ 1960	Assets 2  Par Value 4,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00	Cost  \$ 4,190.00 2,192.50 1,105.00 1,994.98 3,198.75 1,025.00 1,026.25 1,010.00 1,077.50 2,095.00 2,107.50 5,350.00 1,042.50 3,039.16 1,806.25 1,977.78 1,020.63 1,962.50 2,000.00	#12,578.43  Market Value (Per Harris Trust and Savings Bank)  \$ 4,140.00 2,165.00 1,000.00 2,045.00 3,187.50 1,060.00 1,071.25 1,072.50 1,075.00 2,185.00 2,185.00 2,195.00 3,150.00 1,724.97 1,987.28 1,099.69 2,150.62 2,000.00	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08 Schedule 1 Income 1941-1942 \$ 130.00 50.00 45.00 29.83 90.00 50.00 32.50 35.00 70.00 60.00 150.00 37.50 82.50 38.00 27.50 38.00 27.50
ENDOWMENT FUND  June 30, 194  Bends: Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Cons. SF 3½'s 1959 Brooklyn Edison Company, Inc., Cons. 3½ s 1966 Canadian Pacific Railway Equipment Trust 5's 1944 Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad Company Equipment Trust 2½ 1946 Federal Farm Mortgage Corporation 3's 1942/42 (Sold) Twelve Federal Land Banks, Cons. 3's 1954/45 Minnesota Power and Light Company, 1st and Refunding 5's 1955 New York Edison Company, Inc., 1st Lien and Refunding 3½ s 1965 Northern States Power Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s 1967 Pacific Gas and Electric Company, 1st and Refunding 3½'s 1968 Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc. Deb. 3's 1964 Texas Corporation, Deb. 3's 1959 Toledo and Ohio Central Railway, Refunding and Improvement A 3¾ 1960	Assers 2  Par Value 4,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00	Cost  \$ 4,190.00 2,192.50 1,103.00 1,994.98 3,198.75 1,025.00 1,026.25 1,010.00 1,077.50 2,095.00 2,107.50 5,350.00 1,042.50 3,039.16 1,866.25 1,977.78 1,020.63	**12,578.43**  Market Value (Per Harris Trust and Savings Bank)  \$ 4,140.00	\$ 769.12 \$14,103.08 Schedule 1 Income 1941-1942 \$ 130.00 50.00 45.00 29.83 90.00 50.00 32.50 35.00 70.00 66.00 150.00 37.50 82.50 34.00 27.50 38.00 27.50 62.50

Less fees and expenses .....

Total cost of bonds ....

Principal Cash:				
Balance with Harris Trust and Savings Bank Cash in transit from School Treasurer			\$ 55.96 1,307.75	
Total cash				1,363.71
Total endowment assets, June 30, 1942				\$46,073.76
Income Cash and Coupons:				
Cash with Harris Trust and Savings Bank			\$ 86.51 206.25	
Total			\$ 292.76	
				Schedule 2
Fixed Asset June 30, 194				
	Additions		Balance	Depreciation
Land	1941-1942	June 3	0, 1942 \$ 5,193.00	1941-1942
Buildings and Land Improvements:				
Fences, walks and roads	276.65	\$ 1,304.99 1,091.36		\$ 39.15 32.74
Chicken houses and root house		898.75		26.96
Barn Hospital	27.37	3,384.49 2,349.05		101.54 70.47
Arts and Crafts shop Mary Pollard cottage	27.37	2,661.57 4,634.60		79.85 139.04
Stuart dormitory	9,122.94	9,122.94 25,006.57		138.75 500.13
New Arrowcraft shop Log cabin	60.90	10,792.57		215.85 4.80
School house	201102	6,749.85		202.50
Stuart cottage	2,011.02	6,870.38		206.11
Weaving shop		7,882.87 348.93		157.66 10.47
Small buildings		566.98 5,685.34		17.01 170.56
Total buildings			\$89,511.42	
Equipment and Fixtures:				
Industrial building	159.14 214.40	\$ 4,252.84 4,128.49		212.64 206.42
Arts and Crafts	194.10	1,007.88		48.53
Teachers cottage Mary Pollard cottage	62.88	2,083.03 1,717.88		104.15 85.89
Stuart cottage—Dormitory Hospital	1,703.12	2,703.12 1,496.50		90.75 74.83
Barn	_	650.00 90.75		32.50 4.53
Chicken houses, etc. Heating equipment, stoker		250.00 485.00		12.50 24.25
Auto and truck	310.15	1,424.85 310.15		213.73 15.51
Miscellaneous	321.35	384.23		19.22
Total equipment			20,984.72	
Total buildings and equipment	12,480.37		110,496.14	\$ 3,259.04
Less depreciation reserve			27,247.67	
Buildings and equipment—Net			\$83,248.47	
Total fixed assets (Exclusive of live stock)			\$88,441.47	
Total faced assets (Eachtairte of Ire accept 11111			900,111,17	
SUMMARY OF CONTE	RIBUTIONS			Schedule 3
Year Ended June 3	10, 1942			
		umnæ Clubs		ve Chapters
Province Alpha—East	1940-19		1940-194 \$ 40.60	
Alpha—West Beta	483.0	5 461.51	30.00	_
Gamma	367.8	7 393.62	141.50 72.00	55.00
Delta Epsilon	1,729.0	0 506.03	70.00 265.00	315.00
Zeta Eta	655.0	0 698.50	78.82 229.58	
Kappa Lambda	752.4		320.00 50.00	340.00
Theta Iota	557.1	3 475.00	78.50 257.00	72.00
Mu	1,160.0		240.00	
Totals	\$9,002.5	\$8,400.02	\$1,873.00	\$1,743.66

# LIST OF CONTRIBUTIONS BY ALUMNÆ CLUBS AND ACTIVE CHAPTERS June 30, 1942

		june 30			
Alumna		ALPHA	-EAST Active		
1940-1941	19	41-1942	1940-1941	194	1-1942
Boston, Mass\$ 47.90	8	297.40	Maine A\$ 10.60	\$	5.00
Burlington, Vt		5.00	Nova Scotia A		5.00
Montreal Ouebec Can 5.00		50.00	Vermont B		20.00
New Haven, Conn		5.00	Massachusetts A 5.00		5.00
Portland, Maine 5.00		5.00	Totals\$ 40.60	\$	35.00
Totals\$ 118.55	\$	362.40	1000	-	37.40
	-				
		ALPHA-	-West		
Albany, N.Y \$ -		20.00	New York A\$ 5.00	\$	-
Buffalo, N.Y 25.00		25.00	New York Γ		-
London, Ontario, Can. 3.00		30.00	Ontario A		-
New York, N.Y		241.51	Ontario B 5.00		-
Northern N.J 200.00		75.00	Totals\$ 30.00	\$	-
Rochester, N.Y		50.00	1000	=	
Syracuse, N.Y 40.00		-			
Westchester County		=			
Schenectady		20.00			
Totals\$ 483.05	\$	461.51			
10000	÷				
		Ви	TA		
Akron, Ohio \$ 75.00	\$	75.00	Pennsylvania B\$ 74.00	\$	92.00
Athens, Ohio 10,00		6.00	Pennsylvania T 10.00		45 00
Central Pennsylvania		17.71	Ohio B		45.00
Cleveland, Ohio 612.36		715.55		-	*** **
Columbus, Ohio 75.00		75.00	Totals\$ 141.50	\$	137.00
Dayton, Ohio		73.00			
Mahoning Valley		30.00			
Morgantown, W.Va. 5.00 Ohio Valley 8.00		10.00			
Philadelphia, Pa 280.00		278.20			
Pittsburgh, Pa		40.50			
South Hills, Pittsburgh 35.65		75.00			
Toledo, Ohio 50.00		45.00			
Totals	\$1	,775.96			
		GAI	KMA		
Baltimore, Md\$ 57.50	\$	80.00	Maryland A\$ 25.00	\$	25.00
Chapel Hill, N.C 15.00		15.00	District of Columbia A		5.00
Charlotte, N.C		14.32 5.00	Virginia F 10.00		10.00
Richmond, Va 26.00		25.00	North Carolina A		15.00
Tri-City		22.28 232.02	North Carolina B		_
	-			-	44.00
Totals\$ 367.87	\$	393.62	Totals	-	55.00
* Bequest of \$1,000.00 for Health Center swhere.	hov	vn else-			
		DE	ILTA		
Ann Arbor, Mich \$ 13.01		29.80	Michigan A\$ 5.00	\$	5.00
Bloomfield Hills, Mich. 35.00 Bloomington, Ind 20.00		25.00	Michigan B		10.00
Bloomington, Ind		150.00	Indiana B 10.00		5.00
Flint, Mich 4.00		3.00	Indiana F 10.00		10.00
Fort Wayne, Ind		5.00	Indiana Δ	-	10.00
Gary, Ind 5.00		-	Totals\$ 70.00	\$	45.00
Gary, Ind. 5.00 Grand Rapids, Mich. 5.00		5.00			
Hillsdale, Mich		62.25			
Lafayette, Ind 5.00		15.00			
Northern Indiana		20.00			
Southwestern Michigan		10.00			
Terre Haute, Ind		1.00			
	-				
Totals\$ 351.53	\$	361.05			

		P	
Chattanooga, Tenn.       \$ 25.         Columbia, Mo.       100.         Jefferson City, Mo.       5.         Kansas City, Mo.       500.         Little Pigeon       10.         Louisville, Ky.       25.         Memphis, Tenn.       34.	00 50 00 — 00 350 00 10	EPSILON	\$ 100.00 100.00 50.00 30.00 30.00 5.00
Nashville, Tenn.       10.         St. Joseph, Mo.       5.         St. Louis, Mo.       1,000.         Springfield, Mo.       15.	00 10 00 10 00 8	Totals\$ 265.00	\$ 315.00
Totals\$1,729.	\$ 506	5.03	
		ZETA	
Atlanta, Ga.       \$ 25.         Birmingham, Ala.       10.         De Land, Fla.       35.         Jacksonville, Fla.       10.         Miami, Fla.       50.         Lakeland, Fla.       3.	00 10 00 10 32 17 00 50	5.00 Alabama A \$10.00 0.00 Florida A 5.00 0.00 Florida B 33.30 7.68 Florida Γ 25.00 0.00 Georgia A 5.32	\$ 10.00 6.00 33.30 20.00 4.36
Orlando, Fla. 15. St. Petersburg, Fla Tampa, Fla. 5. Jackson, Miss	00 15	.00 Totals	\$ 73.66
Totals\$ 153.			
		ETA	
Avon, III.	00 7 00 35 00 100	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	\$ 50.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 25.00 25.00 55.00 20.00
Decatur, Ill. 100. DuPage County, Ill. 10.	00 10	0.00 Totals\$ 229.58	\$ 200.00
Chicago South   100.		5.00	
Galesburg, Ill			
Madison, Wis 50.	00 50	0.00	
Milwaukee, Wis, 200. Monmouth, Ill 10.	00 —		
Oak Park, River Forest, Ill	_	5.00	
Rockford, III. 11. Springfield, III. 30.		3.00	
Totals\$ 655.	00 \$ 698	3.50	
		THETA	
Ames, Iowa         \$ 80.           Burlington, Iowa         37.           Cedar Rapids, Iowa         50.           Council Bluffs, Iowa         10.           Des Moines, Iowa         50.           Duluth, Minn.         50.           Grand Forks, N.D.         5.	13 35 00 50 00 10 00 50 00 50	0.00     Manitoba A     \$ 5.00       0.00     North Dakota A     2.50       0.00     Minnesota A     25.00       0.00     Iowa A     1.00       0.00     Iowa B     5.00       0.00     Iowa F     25.00       0.00     Iowa F     25.00       0.00     Iowa Z     15.00	\$ - 5.00 25.00 2.00 - 25.00 15.00
Indianola, Iowa       10.         Iowa City, Iowa       50.         Minneapolis, Minn.       75.	00 40	0.00 Totals\$ 78.50	\$ 72.00
Minneapolis, Minn. 75. Mt. Pleasant, Iowa 20. St. Paul, Minn. 100. Sioux City, Iowa 20. Winnipeg, Man., Can.	00 100	.00 .00 .00	
Totals\$ 557.	3 \$ 475	3.00	
2011	= ===	=	
Boulder, Colo.         \$ 45.           Casper, Wyo.         10.           Cheyenne, Wyo.         25.           Colorado Springs, Colo.         10.           Denver, Colo.         350.           Kansas Citv, Kan         115.           Laramie, Wyo.         25.	00 5 00 25 00 10 00 260 00 15 00 25	0.00         Nebraska B         20.00           0.00         Kansas A         30.00           0.00         Kansas B         50.00           0.00         Colorado A         75.00           0.00         Colorado B         50.00           0.00         Wyoming A         27.00	\$ 5.00 37.00 30.00 70.00 75.00 50.00 25.00
Lawrence, Kan.     10.       Lincoln, Neb.     35.       Manhattan, Kan.     100.       Omaha, Neb.     75.       Poudre Valley, Colo.     3.       Pueblo, Colo.     15.       Topeka, Kan.     10.	50 25 00 100 00 74 00 5 00 15	0.00 Totals\$ 257.00 0.00 i.00 0.00 i.00 0.00 i.00	\$ 292.00
Vermilion, S.D.         1.           Wichita, Kan.         30.           Hutchinson         5.	00 -	5.00	
Totals\$ 764.	-	0.00	

	KAI	PPA					
Ardmore, Okla.     \$ 13.10       Austin, Tex.     100.00       Baton Rouge, La.     —       Corpus Christi, Tex.     50.00       Dallas, Tex.     200.00       Fayetteville, Ark.     10.00       Fort Smith, Ark.     10.00	\$ 100.00 50.00 200.00 10.00 10.00	Oklah Oklah Arkan Texas Texas Louisi	sas A A B		15.00 25.00 100.00 50.00		50.00 25.00 40.00 100.00 50.00 50.00 25.00
Houston, Tex.  Little Rock, Ark. 5.00  Muskogee, Okla. 40.00  New Orleans, La. 25.00  Norman, Okla. 15.00  Oklahoma City, Okla. 120.00  Okrulgee, Okla. 8.00  Nita Stark Club, Tex. 35.00  Shreveport, La. 25.00  Shrilwater, Okla. 10.00  Texarkana, Ark. Tex 25.00  Tulsa, Okla	400.00  25.00  130.00 120.00 120.00 45.00 25.00 10.00 65.00 5.00	Т	otals		\$ 320.00	\$	340.00
Billing Most e 400	LAM		* A			\$	_
Billings, Mont.       \$ 4.00         Boise, Idaho       50.00         Bozeman, Mont.       6.10         Butte, Mont.       5.00         Calgary, Alta., Can.       —         Corvallis, Ore.       5.00         Edmonton, Alta., Can.       —	\$ 4.00 25.00 — 5.00	Monta Idaho Washi Washi Orego	na A A ington A ington B		5.00 15.00 5.00		50.00 5.00 25.00 5.00 5.00
Eugene, Ore.         5.00           Everett, Wash.         25.00           Olympia, Wash.         2.00           Portland, Ore.         35.00	25.00 2.00 25.00				\$ 50.00	\$	90.00
Salem, Ore.         10.00           Seattle, Wash.         60.00           Spokane, Wash.         75.00           Tacoma, Wash.         25.00           Wenatchee, Wash.         8.00           Yakima, Wash.         15.00	5.00 115.00 75.00 50.00 18.76						
Totals 330.10	\$ 349.76						
	М	***					
Berkeley, Calif.     65.00       El Paso, Tex.     4.00       Fresno, Calif.     5.00       Glendale, Calif.     25.00       Honolulu, T.H.     250.00       Long Beach, Calif.     25.00       Los Angeles, Calif.     381.02       Marin County, Calif.     5.00	\$ 13.00 50.00 3.00 5.00 50.00 100.00 20.00 411.38 1.00	Califo Califo Califo Califo Nevad Arizon	rnia B rnia I rnia A na A	Active	100.00 50.00 50.00 10.00	\$	10.00 10.00 24.00 25.00 5.00 10.00 5.00
Palo Alto, Calif 5.00	25.00			******		-	89.00
Ogden, Utah         15.00           Pasadena, Calif.         75.00           Phoenix, Ariz.         10.00           Sacramento, Calif.         10.00           Salt Lake City, Utah         5.00           San Diego, Calif.         50.00           San Francisco, Calif.         50.00           San Jose, Calif.         30.00           Santa Barbara-Ventura         20.00           Santa Monica, Calif.         50.00           Tucson, Ariz.         5.00           Santa Maria         10.00	15.00 100.00 10.00 10.00 26.46 70.17 25.00 7.50 50.00 5.00						
San Mateo County 15.93	15.00						
Totals\$1,160.03	\$1,014.51						
	INSURANCE June 30		RCE				
Fire—Building and Contents (Scheduled):  Company	No.	Term	Expires	Amount of		Une	xpired
Milwaukee Mechanics Insurance Company Merchants Fire Insurance Corporation of New Yor Firemen's Insurance Company of Newark	1268 ork 25757	3 3 3	12/9/42 12/9/43 12/9/44	Institute \$30,000.00 26,500.00 30,700.00	Premsum \$1,148.23 1,037.06 1,218.18	Po	175.43 506.81 991.46
			0.00	\$87,200.00	\$3,403.47		

Fire—Contents Arrowcraft Shop: Firemen's Insurance Company of Newark 7438 Firemen's Insurance Company of Newark 7439 Milwaukee Mechanics Insurance Company 1351 Milwaukee Mechanics Insurance Company 1352	3 3 3 3	6/5/44 5/27/44 6/5/44 6/5/44	\$ 1,000.00 2,000.00 1,000.00 2,000.00	\$ 45.00 90.00 45.00 90.00	\$ 29.00 28.75 29.00 58.00
Windstorm:			\$ 6,000.00	\$ 270.00	
Firemen's Insurance Company of Newark 762	3	12/9/44	\$50,300.00	\$ 268.10	218,20
Automobile: (Chevrolet Sedan) Firemen's Insurance Company P L and P D 37289 Firemen's Insurance Company Comp. and Coll 1628	1	7/27/42 7/27/42	5/10 Value	\$ 34.85 30.00	2.61 2.25
Workmen's Compensation: United States Fidelity and Guaranty CompanyZ1013283	1	11/19/42	Statutory	\$ 70.16	26.89
Total prepaid premiums					\$2,068.40

## SPECIAL TO ALUMNÆ CLUBS AND CHAPTERS!

We break our rule of "reports only" in the September ARROW to print the following pages, which should be of assistance in planning help for the Settlement School for the coming year.

## DEFENSE AT GATLINBURG

This is war! Every American is giving whole-heartedly of his or her time, money, and effort to promote worthwhile projects in vital war production, or in equally important measures to maintain and protect those vital "defense projects" that aim to hold fast for the future the fundamental rights and privileges of American citizenship. Such a defense project is our II B  $\Phi$  Settlement School

at Gatlinburg.

If we are to hold the ground so painstakingly won by loyal Pi Beta Phis in the past; if we are to protect our investment in the Smokies; if we are to preserve a source of revenue for people who have no other means of livelihood; if we are to retain the faith and friendship of the mountain people who have come to respect and admire Π B Φ not because they know our inner joy of membership but because they have seen the benefits of our altruism—we, members of Π B Φ, must make this coming year of 1942-1943 as glorious a record in contributions to the Settlement School as any in our history.

To do this may be harder than in the past, but the satisfaction of our accomplishment will also be

greater!

It is the first task of the Settlement School Committee to plan wisely so that expenses may be held within the expected income; and our second task is to help you carry on your regular projects for the benefit of the Settlement School that this income may be great enough to cover the necessary expenses of such an enterprise.

Settlement School income from Pi Beta Phis comes largely from three sources: sale of Arrow-

craft, contributions from active chapters and alumnæ clubs, and magazine commissions. You, in your individual clubs, can best decide what means to use for the raising of your customary contributions. In this issue you will find suggestions for your magazine sales set-up from the club which has ranked first for the past six successive years in amount of commissions earned. And the new articles added this year to our fine traditional Arrowcraft will insure your Settlement School sale being a success once more.

Do you or your friends have sweethearts or husbands in the Service? Of course, you do. Then did you know you could secure black and olive drab neckties of our lovely Arrowcraft quality to go

with their regulation uniforms?

Or is He in the Air Corps? Then he will appreciate one of the wool scarfs for men, or perhaps the extra long "ski scarf" which is a yard and a third long and can be wrapped around several times to amply protect his throat and chest when he flies in high altitudes.

The Royal Standard Chapter, Daughters of the British Empire ordered six dozen of our Frozen Mist scarfs for sale to departing aviators and aviation cadets. All aviators wear some sort of scarf—why not be sure that every "Pi Phi Aviator" has an

Arrowcraft scarf?

Those showers for  $\Pi$  B  $\Phi$  brides make a perfect occasion for Arrowcraft towels; and think of the joy you would bring if each member of the chapter would give a place mat or napkin of Arrowcraft design to complete a luncheon set.

# ADDITIONS TO ARROWCRAFT

THE new items? Here is the latest information from Ethel Snow, our capable Manager of Arrowcraft.

First there will be three new scarfs, sparkling in color and developing the theme of last year's favorite Buckeye scarf. The "Buckeye," you remember, was that lovely brown, brick red and white with just a touch of green in a broken plaid, designed by Winogene Redding, in charge of the weaving at our Settlement School, and named for its portrayal of the colors in the Tennessee buckeyes. The new ones will be in different combinations: one a new soft blue and chocolate brown, with white and a deeper blue; another a bright

red, green, yellow and black one; and the third

one of lovely oriental colors.

For campus and sport wear the McArthur square should prove popular, twenty-seven inches square of the traditional green, black and yellow plaid of the McArthur clan. If these should not suit your coloring, there will be two other plaids to choose from, all grand for those sweaters every college girl owns.

Did you know strawberries were in season? They strayed to ladies' lingerie this year, but Arrowcraft has brought them back to the breakfast table in a dead-white doilie displaying two luscious strawberries woven in the corner. Very reasonable, these should prove welcome additions to the Arrow sets in natural linen and white, and the "utility" sets with bright borders or in conservative all white.

And you will need new knitting bags for wartime knitters! A new cylinder bag (popularly called the feed-bag) has proved a good seller at the Arrowcraft shop this summer. They look jaunty slung over the shoulder, and can be used as a carryall for First Aid notebooks, as well.

A new (to me, at least) bedjacket was on dis-play at Arrowcraft Shop last summer with a clever

high neckline, and in heavenly blue, pale pink or white. They can also be secured in orchid, yellow or green. Your convalescent friends would appreciate them!

Mrs Snow also tells us there will be at least six new neckties to provide Father, Son or Friend with a new one for Christmas (although these will cost you a little more this year with war prices on wool) and that there will still be quantities of shawls, all linen towels, and a limited supply of

all wool yardage and wall hangings.

Speaking of shawls, don't fail to ask for some of the lovely ones woven of rich deep red, blue, green and yellow, the squares so blended and arranged that folding produces three entirely different color effects. Or you might like the gossamer white, or a pastel, for evening wear-with it over your head and just a corner turned back, the fringe frames your face and neck to add allure to the simplest frock.

By the time your fall order is placed, the newly appointed Craft Advisory Committee, whom we shall introduce to you next issue, will have selected additional new items for production. Aren't you anxious to see them all and show them to your

Π B Φ Settlement School friends?

# HOW TO WIN FIRST PLACE IN MAGAZINE SALES COMMISSIONS!

The Denver Alumnæ Club has consistently held first place for the largest amount of magazine commissions since 1937. This is a record of which they may be justly proud, and the story of their methods should prove an inspiration to all other alumnæ club magazine chairmen. Such a story is here presented by Dorothy Andrews Thebus, Colorado B, Denver's magazine chairman from 1930 to 1937.

"It was in 1930, I believe, that I was asked to be magazine chairman for the Denver Alumnæ Club. I had a small son, and since it was hard to leave home very often for meetings, I was glad to find I could help while remaining at home. It is a real pleasure to sell people something that they already know and like. It soon became apparent to me what wonderful opportunities for service to our Settlement School lay in this field for every alumnæ club. I observed with envy the clubs whose names appeared among the first eight listed in the annual reports and thought how proud I should be if the Denver Alumnæ Club would be men-tioned. I was very happy when in 1932 we placed seventh and three years later were in sixth place. In 1937 I had the pleasure of seeing Denver heading the list.

As much of the work of the magazine chairman comes in November and December which is also the time of preparing for Christmas, I felt in fairness to my young son and daughter I must give up this work. It was with real regret that I asked for someone to take my place in 1937. I had become acquainted by phone with so many of our alumnæ and have missed my periodic chats with

Mrs. Kenneth Snodgrass (with three children) held this position for the next two years, keeping Denver in first place. Mrs. Ralph Johnson followed (she also has small children) retaining first place and in 1940-41 reached a high for Denver of \$228.00 in commissions and also second place in the per capita rating.

Mrs. W. Turrell Barber, (Georgia Marrs, Colorado B '40) is chairman this year and I think has reported a new high for Denver for 1941-42.

When one observes the annual magazine reports and notices that many of the smaller alumnæ clubs are mentioned as highest in the "per capita" rating, it makes one realize how much the larger clubs can do with intensive work. Take, e.g., a city in which there are 300 alumnæ, not necessarily active in the alumnæ club. Nearly everyone spends at least \$5.00 per year on magazines. Many spend much more. If the club could average \$5.00 per member, this would be \$1,500.00 in subscriptions and approximately \$350.00 in commissions earned for the Settlement School. I believe it helps to figure a goal toward which to work.

Our chairman keeps a card file of subscribers, also a file by months of subscriptions coming due, and systematically calls these subscribers, suggesting to them new magazines they would enjoy, special rates on magazines, etc. Many excellent sug-gestions for selling are given each year in the annual report in the September ARROW. Magazines make excellent gifts which are enjoyed throughout the year. Surely every  $\Pi \Phi$  has one non- $\Pi \Phi$  friend who will gladly allow us to place his or her subscriptions. Why not ask? You are not asking for money which would not be spent

anyway in just this manner.

A friend of our family who used to give liquor at Christmas to his business and personal friends changed to magazines and for several years has placed the subscriptions through our club. Last

year he turned in 17 subscriptions to Life and two

Each year our club holds a Settlement School tea at which goods from the Arrowcraft Shop are displayed and sold. This is held early in November. A table is always devoted to magazine subscriptions. This serves both as a convenience and a reminder. Mrs. Barber's husband made a beautiful poster for the table last year, having titles from many popular magazines pasted along one side as they would appear in a magazine rack.

(Don't you think all husbands of magazine chairmen deserve a vote of thanks for their patience and help—the many phone interruptions at meal time and their help in getting subscriptions sent in, etc.)

This is very satisfying work as we have such definite results to show for our efforts. The opportunity is here for every alumnæ club. Each II A must do a little work and every chairman a great

# KEEP THEM READING!

LAST FOUNDERS' DAY the Chicago South Alumna Club decided that rather than feast themselves at a luxurious hotel for perhaps two dollars and a half each, they would do something for someone else and still hold all the friendship and fraternity spirit so much a part of Founders' Day celebra-tions. Their happy solution was a "Settlement School Book Tea" held at the home of one of their members, to which contributions were brought. (They had hinted that a dollar each would be most satisfactory, but members gave as their budgets warranted.) From this wartime Founders' Day, Chicago South was able to order fifty books from a list compiled by Miss May K. Duncan, head of the department of elementary education of the University of Kentucky, as selections which would be beneficial to our Settlement School elementary grade library. Can't you just see the shining faces of our Gatlinburg youngsters when Miss Margaret Burchfield, Settlement School librarian, shows them the new books on the children's shelves at the Grace Coolidge library?

Other donors this past year included the Boston Alumnæ Club, whose check for twenty-five dollars provided the addition of much needed reference books; and individual members who sent down forty-three books, of which nineteen were welcome

new volumes on science.

The library is not entirely dependent on contributions, as library fees of twenty-five cents a semester from each high-school student plus fines of two cents a day for books held over two weeks, brought a revenue of over seventy dollars last year. Much of this was needed to replace standard high school requirements that had finally reached the discard stage after continuous usage over a period

The Grace Coolidge library is housed in a large room in the High School building, and is open for students three hours a day, which is all of the time it is not being used by Miss Burchfield as a classroom for English and Spanish, a regrettable condition brought on by crowded quarters. Not only are the students hungry for new books, but adequate reference work in the classes of our Settlement School High School demands a substantial increase in volumes for all courses.

The first need for the Settlement School library is to build it up for the use of our own students. It is one department of the school which, while meeting the minimum state requirements, will not hold that standard unless continued replacements are made and new books added.

The second need-or perhaps a dream, but a very realistic and worthwhile dream-is to build the number of books to the point where package libraries may be formed and loaned for definite periods of time to the nearby communities. Through this service  $\Pi$  B  $\Phi$  can extend its area of influence and bring joy and education to people eager for more and better reading.

While you alumnæ members are checking your book-shelves for donations to the U.S.O. and army and navy camps, don't forget our own "defense project" in Gatlinburg, and remember to send all the volumes that might be of value to grade or high school students there. Address them to the librarian, Miss Margaret Burchfield, П В Ф Settlement School, Gatlinburg, Tenn. She will paste a Π B Φ bookplate in the front of each volume, bearing your name and the date received.

Or send a copy of your favorite book so that others may share your pleasure in reading it! Or, should you have too many favorites to choose from, pick a volume from one of the lists available through the Little Pigeon news editor, and order it sent to Grace Coolidge library. Perhaps your alumnæ club might like to have a Book Tea or a Book Day this year, as a supplement to the reg-ular Settlement School projects (sale of Arrowcraft goods and regular financial contributions to the general Settlement School funds) so vital to the continuance of our endeavors to build for the staunch mountain people of Tennessee a world that is truly American.

MILDRED ODELL SALE Editor, News From Little Pigeon

# Committee Reports

## COMMITTEE ON EXTENSION

THE most interesting news of the year, concerning extension, has been the granting of a charter to II & E at DePauw University by the unanimous vote of Grand Council and the chapters in the Province. Due to the postponement of the 1942 Convention, II & E was unable to submit its petition for the charter to Convention, the permission for which had been previously announced. The committee on extension wishes to congratulate our newest chapter and tell them how proud we are of the splendid showing they have made during this year of colonization. So in Indiana Epsilon is added a chapter fully worthy of Π B Φ.

All inquiries have been met with cordial re-

sponse but to date nothing of interest has developed.

Inquiries have come from Σ Φ Δ Sorority at American University, Washington, D.C.; from A A M Sorority at Massachusetts State, Amherst; from a group at Miami University, Oxford, Ohio; and from the Dean at Arkansas State College, Jonesboro, Arkansas.

My sincere appreciation to Miss Onken and Mrs. Finger for their assistance since my very recent appointment to chairmanship of the committee.

Respectfully submitted. MILDRED BOWERS BALIMAN

## COMMITTEE ON TRANSFERS

THE committee on transfers has used the same procedure as in the past few years. Chapter correspondence secretaries have reported transfers at the beginning of the school year by filling out two introductory transfer blanks: one for the chapter on the campus to which the girls concerned is transferring and one for the transfer chairman. After October 15, the date when the above report is listed as being due on the official calendar, this committee sent letters to all corresponding secretaries reminding them all that they should be cordial to the new Pi Phis on their campuses and urging those who had not sent in their reports to do so at once.

In the fall, letters were also sent to Province Presidents asking their cooperation with this committee by seeing during their visits with the chapters that the transfers were being shown all possible consideration. Advisory board members in charge of transfers were asked to help where there were several transfers on the same campus by holding regular monthly meetings with those girls. All transfers received letters explaining what they might expect of the new chapters, what the general practice is regarding affiliation and what is expected of them in regard to the national organization and the local group.

This year there were still more transfers than in the past few years. Eighty-six girls went from forty chapters to forty-one. Texas A headed the list with ten transfers on its campus. Illinois E had eight and both North Carolina A and Iowa Z had six. Thirteen chapters failed to report.

SANCHA KILBOURN GARVEY

# HOLT HOUSE COMMITTEE

THE Holt House Committee has carried on the work of restoration and partial furnishing as planned. Last fall some furnishings were installed downstairs and in the hostess living room and bed room. Planting was done at the front of the house.

Mrs. C. C. Cary of Newton, Iowa, is hostess at Holt House greeting visitors and helping the active girls or alumnæ with entertaining. Last October 17 and 18 the Pi Phis of Monmouth held open house for townspeople and Monmouth College alumnæ back for "homecoming." There were several hundred guests. Products of the Settlement School were displayed and many articles were sold.

The chapter at Monmouth gave a rushing party and held initiation at the house.

In order to make the house more complete and therefore more useful the committee hopes to complete soon furnishing of the Founders' Room, the Powder Room, and a guest bed room. This bed room would be used by visiting members of the fraternity or by parents visiting students of Monmouth College. It is hoped we can buy some china and plated flat silver.

Holt House is now open to members of the fraternity and their friends who wish to visit it. It is available to clubs and chapters for meetings or entertaining.

The Holt House Committee appreciates the interest and generosity of chapters clubs and individuals. The committee wishes to thank the members of Grand Council and the Province Presidents and Province Vice-Presidents for their help and cooperation.

> Respectfully submitted, LORETTE TERRELL

FINANCIAL REPORT OF HOLT HOUSE TREASURER FOR THE YEAR 1942 UP TO AND INCLUDING JULY 31, 1942

#### Receipts ALPHA PROVINCE EAST Vermont B .....\$ 3.00 Maine A Massachusetts A Manitoba A \$5.00 on deposit in Canada 2.00 5.00 Nova Scotia A \$5.00 on deposit in Canada Alumna 5.00 10.00 in Canada Winnipeg \$1.00 on deposit in Canada

Alpha Province West Ontario B \$5.00 on deposit in Canada		-	Carthage, Ill. Milwaukee, Wis. Mrs. Stoolman, Grand Treas	5.00 10.00 20.00	60.00
Alumne			GAMMA PROVINCE		
N. New Jersey	2.50	2.50	Active		
P P			Virginia A	5.00	
BETA PROVINCE			Maryland A	4.00	9.00
Active Pennsylvania P	15.00		Alumnæ		
Pennsylvania B	15.00 2.50		Washington, D.C.	5.00	
Ohio A	10.00	27.50	Charlotte, N.C.	5.00	
Alumnæ			Tri-City-Greensboro, N.C.	1.00	
Delaware, Ohio (Alum. of Ohio			Baltimore, Md	10.00	
Cleveland, Ohio Cincinnati, Ohio	5.00		Columbia, S.C.	1.00	23.00
Cincinnati Ohio	50.00 10.00		IOTA PROVINCE		
Toledo, Omo	5.00		Active		
Harrisburg-Carlisle, Pa	2.50		Wyoming A	10.00	
Athens, Ohio	10.00		Colorado A	5.00	
Ohio Valley	4.00		Kansas A Nebraska B	10.00	
Columbus, Ohio	3.00		Kansas B	5.00	
Central Pa	5.00		South Dakota A	5.00	45.00
South Hills, Pittsburgh	10.00	118.50	Alumnæ		
Deira Province			Mrs. Prouty (Denver)	10.00	
DELTA PROVINCE			Mrs. Bunten	1.00	
Active Michigan A	5.00		Wyoming A (Laramie) Manhattan, Kan	5.00	
Indiana F	5.00 10.00		Poudre Valley	1.00	
Michigan B	5.00		Wichita, Kan. Omaha, Neb. Lincoln, Neb. Kansas City, Kan.	5.00	
Indiana A	5.00		Lincoln Neb	5.00	
Π Φ Ε (DePauw) (Petitioning Chapter)	5.00		Kansas City, Kan	2.00	
Indiana A	5.00		Caspar, Wyo. Hutchinson, Kan.	1.00	
Indiana B	5.00	40.00	Denver, Colo.	5.00	
Alumnæ			Cheyenne, Wyo	5.00	
Lafayette, Ind	2.00		Topeka, Kan	2.00	** **
Indianapolis, Ind	5.00		Colorado Springs, Colo	3.00	71.35
Northern Indiana	1.00		KAPPA PROVINCE		
Richmond, Ind.	5.00		Active		
Southwestern Indiana	1.00		Oklahoma A	25.00	
Detroit, Mich	5.00		Louisiana B	5.00	
Ann Arbor, Mich	5.00		Arkansas A	12.75 25.00	
Bloomington, Ind	5.00	35.00	Louisiana B	5.00	
Epsilon Province			Texas A	20.00	
Active			Texas B	10.00 5.00	107.75
Kentucky A	5.00				
Tennessee A	5.00		Mrs. R. B. Thrasher (Austin) .	5.00	
Missouri A	15.50		Austin. Tex.	5.00	
Missouri P	2.00		Austin, Tex. New Orleans, La.	5.00	
Missouri B	10.00	42.50	Fayetteville, Ark	5.00	
Alumnæ			Houston, Tex. (1941)	10.00	
Jefferson City Mo	2.50		Houston, Tex. (1941) Houston, Tex. (1942) Corpus Christi, Tex.	10.00	
St. Louis, Mo Lorrette Terrell (Kansas City,	17.47		Muskogee Okla	5.00	
Mo.)	33.75		Muskogee, Okla Oklahoma City, Okla	10.00	
	30.00		Stillwater, Okla	5.00	
Kansas City, Mo.	2.00		Austin, Tex.	5.00	85.00
Louisville Ky	5.00			2.00	07.00
Chattanooga, Tenn. Louisville, Ky. Nashville, Tenn.	2.00		LAMBDA PROVINCE		
Mrs. Lawrence Winn	3.00	100.72	Active		
ETA PROVINCE			Washington A	6.30	
Active			Oregon B	5.00	
Wisconsin Γ	10.00		Montana A	7.90 5.00	
Wisconsin B	5.00		Oregon A	2.50	
Illinois Z	10.00		Idaho A	5.00	32.70
Illinois E	10.00			2.00	32.70
Illinois B-A	10.00		Alumnæ		
Illinois A	10.00	70.00	Fanny Whitenack Libby (Ya-kima)	5.00	
Illinois H	5.00	70.00	Wenatchee, Wash.	5.00	
Alumnæ			Hoise Idaho	2.50	
Monmouth Alum. \$10.00 direct			Spokane, Wash. Tacoma, Wash. Portland, Ore.	5.00	
gift Mrs. Clarke, La Grange, Ill	1.00		Portland, Ore.	5.00	
Fox River Valley	5.00		Salem, Ore	1.00	
Decatur, III	15.00 4.00		Olympia, Wash.	1.00	30.50
Libby Drook Gaddis	4.00		Littlett, want	1.00	30.30

Mu Province			Mt. Pleasant, Iowa	58.00
Active  California A California A California B California P Arizona A Nevada A Utah A	15.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 12.00 10.00 5.00 2.00	74.00	ZETA PROVINCE  Active  Alabama A	52.30
Alimnæ Alice Burns, Nevada Passadena, Calif. Ada and Helen Waugh San Mateo, Calif. Santa Monica, Calif.	5.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 2.00 5.00		Birmingham, Ala.     5.00       Atlanta, Ga.     2.50       Jackson, Miss.     2.50       Orlando, Fla.     2.00       De Land, Fla.     2.00       Jacksonville, Fla.     5.00	21.00
Tucson, Ariz. Albuquerque, N.M. Marin City, Calif. Long Beach, Calif. San Jose, Calif. El Paso, Tex. Los Angeles, Calif. Palo Alto, Calif. Ogden, Utah	20.00 2.00 1.00 5.00 5.00 1.00 15.00 1.00 3.00	85.00	Party Comment Transmission of Comment Comment	58.07 6.00 64.07
THETA PROVINCE  Active North Dakota A  Iowa T  Minnesota A (direct gift) Iowa A  Iowa Z	5.00 5.00 2.00 10.00	22,00	Disbursements   111	50.86
Alumnæ Minneapolis, Minn. June Corey Des Moines, Iowa Burlington, Iowa Ames, Iowa Grand Forks, N.D. Duluth, Minn. Council Bluffs, Iowa	10.00 1.00 5.00 24.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 1.00		Mrs. Carey 228.00 Insurance 25.00 Furniture 1,376.73 Water 14.02 Bank analysis 7.58 2,1  Balance July 31, 1942 \$6  Respectfully submitted, FLORENCE BUTLER, Treasu	

# COMMITTEE ON SCHOLARSHIP, 1941-42

THE report this year is a mixed report. More of our chapters are first than have been first in the history of the Fraternity. Twenty (nearly one fourth of our chapters) are first on their campuses for the year. Yet there is a slight lowering of the general average of the Fraternity, from 26.21 to 25.28, because eight chapters are lowest on their campuses. In almost every case of a low standing in scholarship poor cooperation with the scholarship committee is tied up. Help in time might have saved these chapters.

#### CHAPTERS FIRST FOR THE YEAR

Pennsylvania B Ohio A	Illinois B-A Illinois H
North Carolina A	North Dakota
Michigan A	Iowa B
Missouri P	Iowa Z
Kentucky A	South Dakota A
Tennessee A	Colorado A
Alabama A	Texas A
Florida A	Nevada A
Florida R	Alberta A

Six chapters were first on their campuses for one term of the year, missing first place for the year by a very small margin.

### CHAPTERS FIRST FOR ONE TERM

Maine A	Indiana A
Vermont A	Nebraska B
Kansas B	Oregon A

The goal of the scholarship committee was "Every chapter in the upper third." Nearly one

half of the chapters reached this goal and six provinces reached the goal in their average. The provinces are Beta, Gamma, Delta, Zeta, Theta, and Iota.

### CHAPTERS IN THE UPPER THIRD

Maine A	Wisconsin A
Vermont A	Illinois B-∆
Ontario A	Illinois H
Pennsylvania B	Manitoba A
Ohio A	North Dakota A
Mar land A	Iowa B
District of Columbia A	Iowa Γ
North Carolina A	Iowa Z
North Carolina B	South Dakota A
Michigan A	Nebraska B
Indiana A	Kansas B
Indiana B	Colorado A
Indiana F	Wyoming A
Missouri I'	Oklahoma A
Kentucky A	Texas A
Tennessee A	Nevada A
Alabama A	Washington A
Florida A	Oregon A
Florida B	Oregon B
Florida B	Olegon B

The committee wishes to call attention to the fact that the grades upon which the above was calculated were for the college year 1940-1941. Statistics of this kind are released so late by college authorities that it is often spring of the next year before a chapter knows its rating. The Scholarship Committee, however, has some reports on this year's work. In September, Michigan A won the scholarship cup for the highest cumulative average for all the years of comparative ratings.

They also won the new cup for this year's highest rating. Vermont Alpha and Missouri Gamma each won the scholarship cup on their own campus. Sixteen chapters have reported first for one term of this year.

#### CHAPTERS REPORTED FIRST FOR ONE TERM OF 1941-42

Maine A	Illinois H	
Vermont A	North Dakota	A
Maryland A	Iowa B	
Michigan A	Iowa I	
Missouri I	Iowa Z	
Kentucky A	Nebraska B	
Tennessee A	Oregon A	
Illinois B-A	Nevada A	

"Honors" were reported this year. The committee feels that it is still not getting a complete report on all honors in its annual request for them and urges that all chapters try to turn in during September the names of any members receiving scholastic honors since the previous September.

During the year the Scholarship Manual was

During the year the Scholarship Manual was revised. The new form seems to have been very helpful to all members of the committee.

The committee has been most fortunate this year in its Scholarship Supervisors. The success of the committee is due to their untiring efforts. They have been continually on the job, writing regularly each month to the chapters and often to the

Scholarship Advisors. They have aided the chapters in every way possible. It is to be regretted that three of these able members find it impossible to continue the work next year.

Grand Council's action in awarding the scholarship ring to each chapter has been a real incentive to improved scholarship. It was awarded to all chapters except Nova Scotia A, Ontario A, Indiana Γ, Indiana Δ, Iowa B, Iowa Z, and Louisiana A. It is given to the active in each chapter with the highest average for a year's work beginning with the spring term or quarter and must be applied for before April 15.

If a chapter's scholarship is low the cause can usually be traced to a poor selection of chapter scholarship chairman. The necessity for electing a strong member to this office is often overlooked. She should be a successful student, but also should be able to lead others and to inspire in them a desire for good scholarship. A junior or sophomore of this type is better than a weak senior.

The committee wishes to express to Grand Council their gratitude for the inspiration of working with them and to thank all members of the Fraternity who have by their assistance contributed to the improvement of scholarship.

Respectfully submitted,
MARIE BORRIES

# COMMITTEE ON FRATERNITY STUDY AND EXAMINATION

#### CONSOLIDATED REPORT FOR 1941-1942

#### ACTIVE CHAPTER EXAMINATION

		POSTATE CREWS	TER LIGHTERIN	11014			
Province	Chapters	Actives	Number Examined	Excused	Failed	Honor Roll	Average
Alpha East	5	106	106	0	0	75	96.42
Alpha West	5	149	126	1	0	103	98.19
Beta	6	173	171	2	0	144	98.19
Gamma	7	228	154	4	0	120	97.20
Delta	6	191	186	5	0	184	99.20
Epsilon	6	181	126	2	0	117	99.46
Zeta	5	115	84	31	0	72	98.68
Eta	8	230	228	2	1	192	97.59
Theta	7	224	170	54	0	165	99.64
Iota	7	214	213	1	0 .	190	98.96
Карра	7	273	219	55	1	208	97.88
Lambda	7	249	198	1	1	149	97.71
Mu	7	202	198	3	3	109	96.41
		2,535	2,179	161	6	1,828	

### PRE-INITIATION EXAMINATION

Province	Number Examined	Number Re-examined	Honor Roll	Average
Alpha East	66	0	30	95.28
	81	1	71	98.50
Alpha West		1	110	
Beta	121	2	118	98.58
Gamma	150	3	122	97.38
Delta	121	0	107	97.50
Epsilon	106	0	101	99.10
Zeta	72	0	66	98.69
Eta	172	0	170	99.77
Theta	142	0	134	99.01
Iota	151 *	0	146	99.11
Kappa	203	2	174	97.65
Lambda	149	1	141	99.12
Mu	134	0	125	98.96
Anna San Carrier Commission Commi			-	
	1,668	9	1,514	

E this year. The reports came in on time with many constructive comments. I wish to thank all

those who have worked so faithfully this year.

Respectfully submitted,

GLADYS FINCH

# COMMITTEE ON UNDERGRADUATE LOAN FUND

To the Grand Council Pi Beta Phi Fraternity:	Chapters BETA PROVINCE Clubs
I WISH to submit the following report of opera- tions of the Loan Fund for the year 1941-1942:	Pennsylvania B Akron, Ohio \$ 5.00 Pennsylvania Γ Akron, Ohio \$ 3.00 Ohio A \$ 10.00 Central Penn-
Loans made 1941-42	Ohio A
Interest paid on loans	\$ 10.00 Auxiliary Columbus, Ohio 10.00 Dayton, Ohio Harrisburgh-
Active Chapters	Carlisle 2.50
Outstanding Loans-Undergraduate	Morgantown, W.Va. Ohio Valley 4.00
Past due loans	Pittsburgh, Pa 5.00 Southern New
Loans due in 1943	Jersey 3.00 South Hills
Loans due in 1945 1,145.00	Toledo, Ohio 15.00
Loans due in 1946-47 400.00	GAMMA PROVINCE \$ 70.50
Total Undergraduate\$18.166.52	Chapters Clubs
Graduate Loans 1,650.00	Maryland A         \$ 5.00         Baltimore, Md.         \$ 10.00           D.C. A         Chapel Hill, N.C.         5.00           Virginia A         5.00         Charlotte, N.C.         1.36           Virginia I         5.00         Columbia, S.C.         5.00           North Carolina A         5.00         Richmond Va         5.00
Five Graduate loans have been extended this	Virginia A 5.00 Charlotte, N.C 1.36 Virginia Γ 5.00 Columbia, S.C 5.00
year. Probably as more members become aware of	North Carolina A. 5.00 Richmond Va. 5.00 North Carolina R
this privilege, we will have additional applications.	North Carolina B. Tri-City 10.14 South Carolina A. Washington, D.C. 10.00 Washington Junior
Detailed list of contributions from chapters and clubs is appended.	\$ 20.00 Group 10.00
Sincerely,	\$ 56.50
JOSEPHINE McCLEVERTY	Chapters DELTA PROVINCE Clubs
CONTRIBUTIONS FOR 1941-42	Michigan A\$ 5.00 Ann Arbor, Mich \$ 5.00
Chapters Clubs \$ 24.00 Alpha Province East \$ 16.00	Indiana A 10.00 Bloomington, Ind. 5.00
5.00 Alpha Province West 53.50 10.00 Beta Province 70.50	Indiana B 5.00 Detroit, Mich 5.00
20.00 Gamma Province 56.50 35.00 Delta Province 47.50	Indiana Γ
45.00 Epsilon Province 30.00	100% \$ 35.00 Gary, Ind Grand Rapids,
45.00         Ebsilon Province         30.00           63.30         Zeta Province         55.00           115.00         Eta Province         106.50	Mich 3.00
37.00	Indianapolis, Ind 5.00
40.00 Kappa Province 93.00 27.50 Lambda Province 61.50	Lafayette, Ind 5.00 Northern Indiana . 1.00
72.00 Mu Province	Richmond, Ind 1.00 Southwestern
\$558.80 \$850.00	Indiana 1.00 Terre Haute, Ind.
CONTRIBUTIONS TO PI BETA PHI LOAN FUND-	\$ 47.50
FOR YEAR 1941-42	EPSILON PROVINCE
Chapters Alpha Province East Clubs	
Maine A\$ 5.00 Boston, Mass Nova Scotia A 2.00 Burlington, Vt	Missouri B Columbia, Mo. 10.00 Missouri T Efferson City, Mo. Kentucky A 5.00 Kansas City, Mo. 5.00
Maine A         \$ 5.00         Boston, Mass           Nova Scotia A         2.00         Burlington, Vt           Vermont A         10.00         Halifax, N.S.           Vermont B         2.00         Hartford, Conn.         \$ 5.00           Massachusetts A         5.00         Montreal, Quebec.         1.00	Missouri A \$23.00 Missouri B Columbia, Mo. 10.00 Missouri T Jefferson City, Mo. Tennessee A 10.00 Tennessee B 5.00 Tennessee B 5.00 Memphis, Tenn. \$45.00 St. Joseph, Mo. 1.00 St. Louis, Mo. 5.00 Springfield, Mo. 5.00
Vermont A	Tennessee B 5.00 Louisville, Ky 1.00
New Haven, Conn. 5.00 \$ 24.00 Portland, Me 5.00	\$ 45.00 Memphis, Tenn 1.00
\$ 16,00	St. Joseph, Mo 1.00 St. Louis, Mo
Chapters ALPHA PROVINCE WEST Clubs	Springfield, Mo 5.00
New York A Albany, N.Y\$ 5.00	ZETA PROVINCE \$ 30.00
New York T         Buffalo, N.Y.           New York A         London, Ont.         5.00           Ontario A         Mohawk Valley         10.00	Chapters
Ontario B\$ 5.00 Mohawk Valley 10.00 New York City	Alabama A\$ 5.00 Atlanta, Ga\$ 5.00 Florida A 5.00 Birmingham, Ala . 5.00
\$ 5.00 Northern New Jersey 2.50	Florida R 33 30 De tona Beach
Northern New	Georgia A De Land, Fla 5.00
York	\$ 63.30 Lakeland, Fla 5.00
Rochester, N.Y 5.00 Syracuse, N.Y 10.00 Toronto, Ont	Onando, F12 5.00
Westchester, N.Y. 10.00 Mid-Hudson 3.00	Palm Beach, Fla St. Petersburg, Fla.
Poughkeepsie, N.Y. 3.00	Tampa, Fla
\$ 53.50	\$ 55.00

				10 1 1	
Chapters	PROVINCE	Clubs	KAPPA PROVINC		Clubs
Wisconsin B \$ 25. Wisconsin B 10.	Avon, Ill	3.00		Houston, Tex.	10.00
Wisconsin I 10.	00 Carthage, Ill	2.00		Houston, Tex. ('41-'42) Little Rock, Ark.	
Illinois A 10. Illinois B-Δ 10.	UU Champaign-Urbana			Little Rock, Ark.	10.00
Illinois E 15.	00 Women	10.00		Muskogee, Okla New Orleans, La	5.00
Illinois Z 25. Illinois H 10.	OO Chicago South	10.00		Norman, Okla,	
\$115.	Chicago South Chicago West Decatur, III	10.00		Oknulgee, Okla.	3.00
<b>411</b> ).				Sahine District	
	Ellyn Elgin, Ill. Fox River Valley Galesburg, Ill. Jacksonville, Ill.	1.00		San Antonio, Tex. Shreveport, La. Stillwater, Okla. Texarkana, Tex.	5.00
	Fox River Valley .	1.00		Stillwater, Okla Texarkana Tex	5.00
	Jacksonville, Ill			Tulsa, Okla	5.00
	Joliet, Ill Madison, Wis	20.00		Tulsa, Okla	5.00
	Milwaukee, Wis Monmouth, Ill	20.00		_	93.00
	North Shore	10.00		,	95.00
	Oak Park-River				
	Peoria, III.	7.50	LAMBDA P	ROVINCE	
	Peoria, Ill Rockford, Ill Springfield, Ill	5.00	Chapters		Clubs
			Alberta A\$ 10.00 Montana A	Billings, Mont \$ Boise, Idaho	4.00
THE	A PROVINCE	106.50	Idaho A	Bozeman, Mont	2.70
Chapters		Clubs	Washington A 5.00 Washington B 5.00	Butte, Mont	
Manitoba A \$ 5.0 North Dakota A 5.0	00 Ames, Iowa\$	1.00 5.00	Oregon B 2.50	Calgary, Alta Corvallis, Ore	5.00
Minnesota A 10.0	00 Cedar Rapids, Iowa			Edmonton, Alta Eugene, Ore	7.00
Iowa B 2.0	Iowa	1.00	\$ 27.50	Eugene, Ore. Everett, Wash. Olympia, Wash. Portland, Ore.	2.00
Iowa Β 5.0 Iowa Γ 5.0 Iowa Z 10.0	Des Moines, Iowa	10.00 5.00		Portland, Ore	10.00
	<ul> <li>Grand Forks, N.D.</li> </ul>	5.00		Seattle, Wash	5.00
\$ 37.0	Indianola, Iowa Iowa City, Iowa Minneapolis, Minn.	5.00		Salem, Ore Seattle, Wash Spokane, Wash Tacoma, Wash Wenatchee, Wash.	5.00
	Minneapolis, Minn.	15.00		Wenatchee, Wash.	5.00
	Mt. Pleasant, Iowa St. Paul, Minn			Yakima, Wash	
	Sioux City, Iowa Winnipeg, Man	2.00		\$	61.50
	_	51.00			
Chapters	PROVINCE	Club.	2.00		
South Dakota A \$ 5.0	0 Boulder, Colo \$ 0 Casper, Wyo 0 Cheyenne, Wyo 0 Colorado Springs 0 Denver, Colo Hutchinson, Kan 1 Laramie, Wyo Lawence, Kan Lincoln, Neb Manhattan, Kan	5.00	Chapters Mu Pro	OVINCE	Clubs
Nebraska B 10.0	O Casper, Wyo	1.00	California A\$ 15.00	Albuquerque, N.M.\$	2.00
Kansas B 10.0	O Colorado Springs .	5.00 3.00	California B 10.00 California F 12.00	Albuquerque, N.M.\$ Berkeley, Calif. El Paso, Tex. Fresno, Calif. Glendale, Calif. Hawaii, T.H. Long Beach, Calif. Los Angeles, Calif. Marin County.	1.00
Colorado B 10.0	0 Denver, Colo	1.00	California 4 15.00	Fresno, Calif	5.00
Wyoming A 10.0	0 Kansas City, Kan	3.00	Nevada A 5.00 Arizona A 10.00	Hawaii, T.H	10.00
\$ 65.0	0 Lawrence, Kan	5.00	Utah A 5.00	Los Angeles, Calif.	10.00 25.00
	Lincoln, Neb	5.00	100% \$ 72.00	Calif	
	Manhattan, Kan Omaha, Neb Poudre Valley	10.00		Calif	5.00
	Puedio, Colo,	3.00		Ogden, Utah	3.00
	Topeka, Nan	3.00		Nevada Alumnæ Ogden, Utah Palo Alto, Calif Pasadena, Calif	5.00
	Vermillion, S.D Wichita, Kan	5.00			5.00
		60.00		Sacramento, Calif Salt Lake City San Diego, Calif	5.00
	A PROVINCE			San Francisco	10.00
Chapters Oklahoma A\$ 5.0	O Besument Mits	Clubs		San Jose, Calif San Mateo County.	1.00
Oklahoma B 5.0	0 Hill Stark\$	10.00		Santa Barbara-	
Arkansas A 10.0 Texas A 5.0	O Ardmore, Okla, O Austin, Tex,			Santa Monica	10.00
1 exas b	O Corpus Christi	10.00		Tucson, Ariz Santa Maria-San	5.00
Louisiana B 5.0	O Hill Stark\$ O Ardmore, Okla O Austin, Tex O Corpus Christi O Dallas, Tex O Fayetteville, Ark Fort Smith, Ark O Fort Worth Tex	5.00		Louis Obispo	
\$ 40.0	Fort Smith, Ark Fort Worth, Tex	5.00		\$1	149.00
¥ 40.0	a see moren, aca				27.00

+ + +

# COMMITTEE ON SOCIAL EXCHANGE

THE Committee on Social Exchange is happy to announce that the three objectives at which we aimed have been accomplished this year; namely, to increase the number of chapters contributing to our Bulletins, to improve our Founders' Day Bulletin, and to make the Bulletins a real help to the active chapters.

In regard to the first, our Homecoming Bulletin with forty four contributions was the largest in two years and our Rushing Bulletin just going to press has seventy five contributions as against

twenty nine for the same Bulletin last year.
Second, our Founders' Day Bulletin will have contributions from thirty eight chapters this year, a gain of twenty two over last year and twenty

five over the year before.

Last, but most important, the chapters are using our Bulletins, Colorado A won first place with Missouri Alpha's Water Fall idea which appeared in our Homecoming Bulletin this fall. Illinois E, Oklahoma Beta, and Washington A also used the same idea, Colorado B took first prize with Arkan-sas A's Magic and two different chapters used Washington A's idea of Heaven and Indiana A's It's in the Cards. Also many chapters used the Victory Idea from the Bulletin. In Rushing the Progressive Dinners, Gay Nineties, Hawaiian, Circus, and School Day Parties were combined with their own ideas to make a successful party this year by many of the chapters. Indeed Michigan A wrote that all of her Rushing Parties came from the Bulletin.

The Trophy for Cooperation goes to Washington A this year. The competition was keen as many of the chapters outlined their whole Rushing season and did wonderfully neat work, Washington A did all these but her style of writing was unusually interesting, every article written having something which distinguished it from the rest. She also put in a number of delightful extra parties such as a Dad and Daughter Dinner, Contest Waffle Breakfast, and a Big Sister Dinner.

The Trophy for Outstanding work will go this year to Manitoba A. The chairman wishes to say that two other chapters shared equal honors with Manitoba A-Minnesota A's Robinhood Table and Party for Rushing was the cleverest of its kind. California B's write-up of their Homecoming Float was the best Homecoming write-up we have ever had. She had caught the real spirit of Homecoming; the Chairman really felt that each of these was a gem in its own field and if she had had

three prizes could have awarded them to each of these chapters. But we are giving the award to Manitoba A because her theme of "Hands Across the Border" with its idea of the "brotherhood in arms of Canada and America" and ending with the lovely original song of "We're Pi Phis Together" seemed to the Chairman, since we are at War, to give us all such an inspiration of Patriot-ism. Further it showed in what esteem our Canadian sisters hold us that they, who have been at War so much longer than we, and have already sacrificed so much, should still have the devotion to Pi Phi to send in their material, all of which was original, so it seemed that they should have the prize. Other chapters to whom we give Honorable Mention are Illinois B, Oklahoma A, and Arizona A for Founders' Day material and Iowa Beta for a Rushing Stunt and we do want to thank all those chapters who sent in pictures. These will appear in our Scrap Book.

We nominate for the Social Hall of Fame of Perfect Chapters—Ontario B, Pennsylvania Γ, Ohio B, Ohio Δ, Ohio Δ, Pennsylvania B, Michi-Ohio B, Ohio A, Ohio A, Pennsylvania B, Michigan A, Michigan B, Indiana A, Indiana B, Indiana F, Kentucky A, Missouri F, Missouri B, Wisconsin A, Wisconsin F, Illinois A, Illinois E, Illinois H, Illinois Z, Maryland A, District of Columbia A, Virginia A, Virginia F, Nebraska B, Kansas A, Kansas B, Colorado A, Colorado B, Oklahoma A, Texas B, Texas A, Oklahoma B, Louisiana B, Montana A, Washington A, Arizona A, Utah A Montana A, Washington A, Arizona A, Utah A, Manitoba A, Minnesota A, Iowa Γ, Iowa Β, Alabama A, Florida A, Florida Β, Florida Γ.

High Provinces are-Zeta first, with an average of 9 4/5; Eta second with 9+; Iota, third 8; Epsilon 7 6/7; Lambda 7 3/7.

There is to be a change in the time of sending in Founders' Day material due to a conflict with the date on which the grades go in Chapters must send in Founders' Day material on April 20. Supervisors are to see that material is in the Chairman's hands by May 1 that the Chairman may have time, as she did not have this year, to average the grades and make the awards for the Trophys.

The Chairman feels that the general cooperation of the Supervisors and Chapters in the midst of a war emergency has been wonderful and hopes that we may carry on as well next year. She also feels the whole committee owes a great deal to the help and cooperation given us by Central Office.

Respectfully submitted, FRANCES K. JEFFRIES

# COMMITTEE ON FRATERNITY MUSIC

THE Committee on Fraternity Music wishes to report that the song contest was held this year with the result that twenty-eight manuscripts were sent in for judging of the three best songs. These three winners will be held over until next year.

The Committee is still eager to print a pamphlet of some kind with the newest songs in it. Many chapters ask for copies of songs not in the songbook.

We send greetings to Grand Council and to Pi Phis everywhere.

Respectfully submitted. MARGARET L. KELLENBACH

# COMMITTEE ON HOUSE BUILDING AND PLANS

THE serious condition of world affairs and the curtailment of all building activity have greatly affected the plans of any chapters concerning house building or remodelling. Aside from the difficulty in obtaining necessary materials, the chapters are reluctant to undertake any increase in financial responsibilities.

Washington A has sent out a most attractive booklet with pictures of interior of its lovely home, a glimpse of which would arouse envy in the hearts

of all.

Kansas A, encouraged by its province officers,

has plans for some repairs on its house during the summer.

It is the suggestion of this committee that all chapters do what they can to keep their houses in first class condition, making all possible necessary repairs, thus avoiding the chance of deterioration.

The chairman of this Committee is grateful for all suggestions and assistance offered her by the members of Grand Council, the members of her Committee, and the officers of the Fraternity.

Respectfully submitted,
DOROTHY HILL THRASHER

## COMMITTEE ON PUBLICITY

THIS year the publicity committee has spent its time in comparing ideas and preparing a plan of work for the coming year. Although war work seems to have hindered correspondence to some degree, we do hope to have an effective program ready for September.

Our work will start off with a letter from the national chairman to all alumnæ clubs and chapters advising them as to the importance of local publicity chairmen. Following this, a form letter will be presented to all publicity chairmen by

their province supervisors.

This form letter will be accompanied or followed by a publicity manual. Included will be not only pointers on the type of publicity that should be submitted, but also finer points on approaches to newspapermen and women and simple rules on concise writing.

The N.P.C. report on publicity this year stated

that "the only publicity which actually counts in the last analysis is that which each fraternity woman gives by the way in which she lives the ideals and standards which her fraternity professes." This is an excellent observation and emphasized by the fact that the war has affected space available for publicity by creating a shortage of white paper.

The public and newspapers are interested in worthwhile projects and accomplishments. News about Pi Phi's Settlement School and awards received by members always are used. This is the type of news that the publicity committee encourages and is endeavoring to supervise so that Pi Phi prestige may be maintained and continue on the high plane with which it has been accredited in the past.

Respectfully submitted,

VIRGINIA DAVIS

## VOLUNTEER SERVICE BLANK

### Alumnæ

Have you leisure to contribute to Pi Beta Phi?	
If you have, and if you have the desire to share in the joy of serving the Fraternity, please fill out this blank and send to the Grand President.	
Name in full	
Address	
CHAPTER AND YEAR	
Are you a member of an alumnæ club?	
Type of work preferred	

# Reports of Province Presidents

## ALPHA PROVINCE EAST PRESIDENT

A LPHA PROVINCE EAST has faced the problems of defense activity and the attendant changes in college schedules that most provinces have this year. All the U. S. colleges had a speeded-up examination period and closed earlier than usual so that the second semester's work was pretty intensive. Only one of the colleges in the "States" had the usual spring vacation and this was due to a scheduled Farm & Home Week which occupies the dormitories. Dalhousie University alone has had no unusual changes in its academic schedule. Chapter work seemed to be affected but little however, and with few exceptions things went along as usual.

All the chapters in the province were fortunate in having Mrs. Smith visit them in November and this early visit was a splendid inspiration to each chapter. My visits to Nova Scotia A and Maine A were made in the middle and latter part of January and to the other three chapters in February. Although every minute is made to count during these visits and they are necessarily quite intensive they are also a joy for the opportunity to get acquainted with the members of the chapters and the Advisory Committees, and to see the eager and willing way the girls make the most of every suggestion and the real interest of the alumnæ. I always come home imbued with the joy of being alive today and feeling proud and grateful for the opportunity to know the fine girls we have in our chapters and to see what capable officers they prove themselves to be.

Four of the chapters have the same arrangements for housing as usual. Nova Scotia A has had no room for two years now since it is so hard to find suitable and reasonable rooms but the chapter was grateful to Mrs. Morrison, mother of Joy Morrison, chapter treasurer, who generously opened her house to the chapter for meetings.

Scholarship has been on the whole much more satisfactory this year, with Vermont A leading the campus for the second time and Maine A winning first place after just missing it the previous time by 0.3. Vermont B has moved up to third place and all chapters have good plans to continue

The list of extra-curricular activities is a splendid one, every chapter having won some outstanding honors. Perhaps the most outstanding is the Malcolm Honour Award won by Louise Bishop, a new initiate at Nova Scotia A. Nova Scotia A also had President Shirreff Hall, and two Gold D's. Massachusetts A has three members of Scarlet Key, President Gamma Delta, President Senior Class, President Delta, President Dramatic Club, Editor HUB, President Freshman Class, Boston University Hall of Fame, permanent Senior Class Officer. Vermont A has three members of Mortar Board, President W.A.A., President Student Union, President Spanish Club, Winter Carnival Queen, Cum, Laude, Phi Beta Kappa and President Freshman Class. Vermont B has two members of Mortar Board, Editor CAMPUS, two members in Who's Who, President University Players, President and Chief Justice of Student Union, President Junior

Class, President Dramatics, President Y.W.C.A., President Sophomore Aides and five other members, Kake Walk Queen, six ARIEL Beauty Queens, Character Cup and President International Relations Club. Maine A has three members of All Maine Women, President of Omicron N, Concert Mistress for orchestra of University, pianist for Glee Clubs, Chairman Commencement Week Committee, Phi Kappa Phi, two Members Mu Alpha Epsilon (honorary music), three members Sigma Mu Sigma, five members Masque. These are only a few of the honors of each chapter.

a few of the honors of each chapter.

Rushing brought with it Panhellenic difficulties for one chapter but with three chapters the Panhellenic spirit has been unusually fine. The quota system is being put in at Boston University next year with a quota of eight to a group.

All chapters have ended the year with a considerable improvement in financial condition and there are fewer delinquents than usual, three chapters having none. Three of the five chapters support the Magazine Agency and contributions were 100% with all chapters to our three national projects except in one instance.

So many of these fine results are a reflection of the keen interest and unlimited helpfulness and generosity of the Alumnæ Advisory Committees that it is difficult to imagine what the chapters would be without the constant assistance of these fine Pi Beta Phis. How many times during the year I give a silent prayer of gratitude for them and their unselfishness! Several of the Chairmen of the Committees write a monthly report on problems and progress and this helps tremendously to know best how to proceed. I wish so many times they could really appreciate, as it is possible for me to do, how invaluable every bit of their work is to the chapters. It is with confidence that I think of the coming year and its added responsibilities for everyone, for I believe that in spite of the extra work we all will be assuming, they will realize the importance of their work with the chapters and continue to give of their time and energy as generously as ever.

The Amy Burnham Onken Award for the province went to Gloria Miniutti, Maine A, and the Portland Club Sophomore Award to Marjorie Abell. Vermont B.

Massachusetts A actives were proud to help with the Arrow Craft booth at the Flower Show in Boston, singing mountain ballads in costume and in other ways.

Friends of Mrs. Bell, house mother at Vermont B, will regret as we all do that she resigned this June. We hope to see her in Burlington often.

The usual joint Founders' Day observance of Vermont B and Vermont A was cancelled this year because of travel problems. Maine A combined its initiation banquet and Founders' Day observance and the occasion was doubly inspiring due to an original candle lighting service preceded by a talk on the Founders by a member of Illinois A. As Dalhousie closes in April, Nova Scotia A combined its Senior Farewell and Founders' Day banquet.

The privilege of writing this report is culminated in the opportunity to express my gratitude to the members of each chapter who have been so cooperative, particularly the chapter presidents; to the alumnæ—not always just those on the Advisory Committees, but especially to those members; to

the National Committee members to whom I have turned now and then for assistance, and to Grand Council members and their assistants who unfailingly give a sympathetic ear and constructive help to even the smallest chapter problems.

HAZEL SAWYER EVERETT

### ALPHA PROVINCE WEST PRESIDENT

THIS past year has been a most happy and gratifying one in this province, in spite of the many readjustments that have been necessary due to the war. The members of all five chapters have entered loyally into the war activities of their various campuses and communities. The reports of their work have been most interesting and encouraging. On the Canadian campuses, social activities have been greatly curtailed and the effects of the war are beginning to be felt more sharply than they were a year ago. All sorts of war and defense courses are being offered. At the University of Western Ontario a compulsory three hour course was instituted for all girls enrolled in the university. The New York chapters report many changes in campus life that are to take place beginning next fall.

All of my chapter visits were completed before the Christmas holidays. The Deans of Women were outspoken in their praise of the cooperation

which they receive from the Pi Phis.

All chapters have maintained houses throughout the year. The three New York chapters own lovely houses; the Ontario chapters rent their houses.

Though the province can boast of no firsts on campus in scholarship, the scholarship is good. Two chapters have come up noticeably in scholarship. Ontario Alpha holds second place on its campus this year. The scholarship committees have functioned well and every chapter has made a real effort to give more stress to study and study methods.

New York Δ led in magazine sales this year. All three New York chapters contributed to maga-

zine sales.

The Amy Burnham Onken Award for the province was given to Margaret Brookins of New York P. Margaret has made an unusual contribution to her chapter through her excellent leadership. She is an outstanding scholar and has shown rare ability at organization and leadership within her chapter.

The province is very proud to have had the Pi Beta Phi Fellowship awarded this year to Marian Webster of Ontario B. Marian is a medical student of exceptional ability and it seems fitting that at a time when medicine is playing such an important role in our war effort the award should go to a

medical student.

An unusual number of fine scholarship honors have been reported this year in the province, and though the war has put a damper on activities, the Pi Phis have remained active in campus life and have carried their full share of honors. New York A has reported at least sixteen members in different honorary fraternities on campus, including one Phi Kappa Phi. Members are represented in every phase of campus life. Ten members are on the Dean's list, a recognition for good scholarship. This coming year they have the election for

Vice-President of Women's Student Senate, and a number of elections to the staffs of the campus publications. This year Pi Beta Phi won the cam-pus Step-singing Contest. They were honored by having the Navy Ball Queen. Interest in activities is very fine at New York A. New York I has one girl in Who's Who, six on the Dean's List, Vice-President of the student body, four major offices in W.A.A., vice-presidencies of both the junior and senior classes, manager of University Debate and a member of the Winter Carnival Court, In publications they have the assistant editor of the "Hill News." This year a Pi Phi was chosen Queen of the A.T.O. Ball. New York Δ has two members of Phi Kappa Phi and one Mortar Board. A senior recently won the highest senior scholarship in the College of Home Economics, and another won the second highest scholarship in Hotel Management. In publications there are Pi Phis on both the Cornellian and Widow Boards. In all, there are members reported active or holding offices in at least fifteen different campus activities. Ontario A has some interesting scholarship honors. One girl has won the University of Toronto Honor Award Scholarship, another won an award in Sociology, and one of the seniors was first in First Class Honors of the graduating year in Household Economics. The Annie L. Laird Prize in Household Science was also won by a Pi Phi. They are represented in nearly every major activity on campus and are especially active in sports. A number of the girls are again enrolled in the Women's Student Training Detachment of the university and many are active in Red Cross and various other war activities. Ontario B has few activities to report other than those connected with war work. Two members were elected to University Honour Society, which is a real honor. Only three girls were elected to membership in the Society this year and the third was a non-fraternity girl. The chapter has sponsored two benefit events, a fashion show and a university dance, and the proceeds were all turned over to the Red Cross.

I wish to express my appreciation for the fine work done by the Advisory Committees in the province, and for the excellent service which our chaperones are rendering to the chapters. Without the services of these two groups of women and their fine and loyal cooperation, the province could not have had such a fine and successful year this past year. Praise and thanks go to the many fine officers in the chapters. I can truthfully say that this year has brought forth some of the finest leaders that the province has ever had. The leadership has been reflected in the fine development which some of the chapters have shown this year, and in the fine chapter and fraternity spirit and loyalty which has been so evident.

To Miss Onken and the members of Grand Council, as always, I feel deep gratitude for the

May the summer bring to all Pi Phis much

support and encouragement which they give at all happiness and a new hope for better years ahead. Respectfully submitted,

CLARA HALL SIPHERD

# BETA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

N THE midst of all of the disturbing conditions of this momentous year it has been good to find Pi Beta Phi chapters carrying out the traditional quality of their service to chapter, campus, and fraternity. It has been good to be able to be as proud of them as we have been. For there has been evidence of definite gains in the regular channels of fraternity measurement and, in addition, an extra load of defense interests-projects, classes, and contributions. Chapters in the province were visited in the early spring by Mrs. Warren T. Smith, Grand Vice-President, whose friendly presence and helpful advice has been enjoyed and appreciated by every chapter. The Province President's visits had to be made in the late spring and contact with the chapters was maintained throughout the year by the very loyal and helpful correspondence from each group. That which we have been able to achieve has been due to a genuine appreciation on the part of the actives of the privilege of the fraternity and to an accompanying sense of individual and chapter responsibility for excellence.

Scholarship is an ever present and necessary topic of conversation between the chapter and the Province President and we all sigh or rejoice in the fluctuating fortunes of campus standing. Here we have a chapter whose present average is thirtyseven hundredths of a point higher than last year and yet has dropped from first to fourth place. And another whose record last spring cast them down into eighth place and in one semester climbed to second place again. Two chapters on campuses with many women's groups were very, very low for Pi Phis and have climbed steadily, one passing up nine chapters and another, six, within two years. The fifth chapter has held her second place and the sixth has lost her first place and dropped to fourth, inexplicably. Competition for first place is very keen and differences in averages are often very slight so that a winning chapter must be ever vigilant and determined. Every gain is evidence of determination and of concerted chapter effort, and the chapters whose gains are mentioned above deserve much credit. The pledge groups of the last three years have shown excellent records and we have counted on these as promise for the immediate future.

The activity record of the province seems to excel in student government this year where we have had Betty Grim as president of W.S.G.A. at Bucknell; Carol Mesenberg at Ohio State, and general chairman of the national convention held in Columbus in April; Kay Shimmon, recently elected judicial president of W.S.G.A. at Ohio Weslyan and June Plues, the new president of A.W.S. at West Virginia University. Three girls have held highest military honors-Eleanor Shultz has been the third Pi Phi in succession as Honorary Colonel of R.O.T.C. at Ohio University; Nancy Horton, Sponsor of Pershing Rifles; and Carol Johnson, Sponsor of Scabbard and Blade. Mary Newell was named junior "Representative Woman"

of Ohio Wesleyan and Myra De Palma, the outstanding junior woman, by Wheel and Chain, Dickinson College senior women's honorary. Mary Elizabeth Lasher has just finished her term as Ohio University Post's first woman editor. Province members of Phi Beta Kappa are Carol Johnson and Katherine Orton of West Virginia Alpha; Naomi Strang of Ohio Wesleyan and Betty Grim of Pennsylvania Beta, And members of Mortar Board are Betty Grim and Mary Ellen Osterle of Pennsylvania Beta, Carol Mesenberg of Ohio Beta, Kay Shimmon of Ohio Delta and Mary Elizabeth Lasher of Ohio Alpha. These names represent only outstanding honors and there is not space to list the many others which have been earned by Beta Province Pi Phis and chapters.

There have been no changes in the housing arrangements in the province this year and, except for partial re-decoration projects, in several instances, the chapter rooms are the same. Ohio B and West Virginia A live in their own houses and Ohio A lives in a house which they rent. Pennsylvania Γ and Ohio Δ rent apartments and Pennsylvania B, a suite in the dormitory. All are attractively furnished and the chapters make improvements as they are able, maintaining inviting settings for their entertainment of guests and for their own fellowship. Province chaperons are Mrs. M. E. Smith, Ohio A; Miss Hazel Hart, Ohio B; Mrs. Nell Smith, Ohio A, and Mrs. W. J. Dozier of West Virginia A. All are experienced in their work, devoted to their chapters and able to give much to the girls in thoughtful attention and guidance.

Beta Province chapters have always been fortunate in associations with two other adult sources of help-the Deans of Women and the Alumnæ Advisory Committees. Each of the deans has seen her II & chapter over a period of years and has been aware of the problems and aspirations of the group, and appreciative of their efforts. For their patience and guidance every II & concerned is grateful. The alumnæ who work with the chapter are in many instances those who have done so for many years and who have given hours of loyal service that their chapter might develop in strength and joy in the fraternity privileges which are available to every member who seeks them. To these committees the chapters of this province

owe more than they will ever realize.

Beta Province again stands high in its support of the Magazine Agency with Pennsylvania B in second place in total commissions and first in per capita support; Ohio A seventh in total and eighth in per capita commissions; Pennsylvania I eighth in total and sixth in per capita commissions; and every chapter giving something. Two chapters in the province plan benefit tea dances for the Settlement School; another encourages its pledges in a money raising project which netted, this year, \$45.00. Holt House has received \$22.50 from this province this year. These gifts, both large and small, are evidence that the chapters are vitally

interested in the projects of the fraternity and concerned that they might have a place in their

development.

The closing of the year brings to mind many happy associations and months of work with active Pi Phis whose loyalty and ability have made the record we now write. The record is not only good but encouraging in the gains that have been made where we hoped there might be gain. Friendly letters, prompt and good reports and the thrill of honors won have been happy incentives for the work of the province president. To these girls and to their fine alumnæ committees I would express my thanks for the many ways in which you have made my work a real joy. Without Mrs. Smith, this year would have been empty of the inspira-

tion of contact with our national officers, which made her visit doubly precious. And without Convention, the constant communications which faithfully come to me from other national officers and chairmen are even more valuable than ever before, and one learns with confidence to rely upon their aid in the many problems of six chap-ters and their accumulated members. To Pi Phi's company of loyal and capable workers we would pay tribute. There are not words by which I could express my appreciation for the ever present help and wise guidance which Miss Onken has given to me in the year just past. It has been a privilege to serve the fraternity and to know it through active participation in its progress, and for that privilege I am deeply grateful.

LUCILE DOUGLAS CARSON

# GAMMA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

AGAIN Gamma Province has completed a splendid year's work with no real problems in any chapter. Cooperation with me was splendid and I am grateful to chapter officers and Advisory Chairmen who were so faithful in their corre-

spondence.

Chapter visits showed each group to be well organized and smoothly functioning and were a most pleasant part of my year's work. I had the pleasure of being with Virginia I for its lovely initiation and banquet which was made even more notable by a fire in the midst of initiation. The girls' quick wits and prompt action confined the blaze to one room and the only loss not covered by insurance was the University palms, rented for the occasion.

Deans of women were unanimous in praise of

the high place II P held on each campus.

In scholarship we had two first places with one chapter raising itself from the bottom of the campus to the top in two years and the other remaining in first place for the entire year. Three were in fourth place one in sixth, and one while maintaining about the same average, slipped from second to tenth. All chapters had from one to three members of  $\Phi$  B K.

Rushing success was spectacular with scarcely any bids lost except in the one chapter which has no preferential and thus no means of knowing who wants them. This chapter however swept the campus and emerged with by far the largest num-

ber of pledges.

South Carolina A moved into a larger room, which delighted the chapter, North Carolina B did quite a little redecorating. Otherwise the housing situation is the same with only two chapters having houses.

North Carolina A was thrilled to have Miss Onken visit them and North Carolina B came over

for lunch with her.

Activities were excellent. In every chapter each girl had at least one, in most at least three. Honors and offices are far too numerous to mention. On

every campus we had elections to Mortar Board or its equivalent, Virginia I had 8 of the important offices in student government including the president. Maryland A had the Blazer Girl, highest award for excellence in athletics and North Carolina A, the award for the most outstanding woman in college. District of Columbia A had Editor in Chief of the Cherry Tree; Virginia A has president of the student body for next year. Four chapters were represented in Who's Who in American Colleges and Universities.

Each chapter has participated in some form of war work. North Carolina B has bought two one hundred dollar bonds, and South Carolina A girls have acted as hostesses one night a week at the U.S.O. center. This proved so successful the college asked other groups to go on other nights.

One of the Founders of District of Columbia A left a thousand dollars to the chapter to give to the Settlement School. They gave this as the start of a fund for a new health center. Unfor-tunately we are not one hundred per cent in support of Π Φ projects since two chapters failed to give to any of them. Several have had most successful Arrowcraft sales.

I find it interesting that girls from 11 of our 13 provinces were graduated from Gamma chap-

ters this year.

The husband of Mabel Scott Brown, former ARROW Editor and first Director of Central Office, gave her lovely diamond arrow to District of Columbia A to be worn by the president. This gracious gift was especially appreciated since Mabel was so well known and loved by Washington Pi Phis.

Again after great difficulty in selecting the winner the A.B.O. award was given to Mary Elizabeth Nash of North Carolina A. In addition to a remarkably fine record in the other points considered, she had a scholarship average of 95.

As I come to the end of my work may I say to all of you who have helped to make this year's work so successful-thank you for everything.

NELL ANDERSON SPRUCE

### DELTA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

HIS has been another interesting year for the six active chapters in Delta Province. I visited Indiana A and Indiana I chapters in

November, Michigan A, Michigan B, Indiana B, and Indiana A chapters in December. Conferences with the respective Deans of Women proved to be interesting. The Deans had only favorable comments for our chapters and each named certain actives who were particularly outstanding on the

campus,

Michigan B, Indiana B, Indiana Γ and Indiana Δ have their own houses. Michigan A rents a house from the college, and Indiana A occupies a suite of rooms in the Women's Residence Hall. All of these are kept in excellent condition, beautifully furnished, and are more than adequate for their needs.

We are quite fortunate in Delta Province in having such fine women as chaperons. They are efficient in their work and seem genuinely interested in the girls. Each has been asked to continue

her services for the coming year.

Because of its excellent scholastic record, Michigan A deserves to be mentioned first in the matter of grades. At the beginning of this school year, the chapter was given the permanent possession of the Scholarship Cup. This was given for having the highest cumulative average over a period of fourteen years since the award was first made. This cup has been placed alongside the Stoolman Vase—they make a pretty pair. Also, the chapter won the new cup for having the highest average for the first semester this school year. Indiana B. Indiana I, and Indiana A ranked second on the campus for the first semester. All the chapters have an excellent attitude toward scholarship.

Michigan A, Indiana A, and Indiana P have done well in extracurricular activities. The other chapters have had their campus activities somewhat curtailed because of the war. Every member of the Michigan B chapter was enrolled in one of the three Red Cross courses offered by the university. Many girls are knitting for the Red Cross. Michigan A and Indiana A have purchased War

Bonds.

The chapters reported a most successful rushing season. Michigan A is the only chapter that does not have some form of the quota system. Next year, Michigan B and Indiana Δ will have second semester deferred rush for the freshmen.

All six of the active chapters contributed to the Settlement School, Loan Fund, and the Holt House. Each chapter earned some commission for the Settlement School through the sale of magazine subscriptions. This is the second consecutive

year that my chapters have been 100% in contributions.

The Alumnæ Advisory Committees have been most helpful in advising the chapters. Several of the chairmen have been unusually efficient.

Delta Province had the pleasure of entertaining Lillian Beck Holton, assistant to the Grand Treasurer. She visited the Indiana chapters in March and the Michigan chapters in April. Each chapter gained much in inspiration and national viewpoint

from Mrs. Holton's visit.

The Annual Indiana Founders' Day Luncheon was held at the Indianapolis Athletic Club on Saturday, April 25. More than 400 actives and alumnæ met to celebrate the diamond jubilee of the fraternity's founding and to honor ten 50-year members. I had the pleasure of presenting the Delta Province Amy Burnham Onken Award. This year the award was given to Magnolia De Hart. Indiana  $\Gamma$ . The Michigan chapters celebrated

Founders' Day separately.

The climax of this most interesting year came with the unanimous consent of Grand Council and the six active chapters in Delta Province to grant a charter to II \$\Phi\$ E, our petitioning group, at De Pauw University, Greencastle, Indiana. With a representative from Indiana B and Indiana I, our two active chapters geographically nearest, I had the privilege of visiting this group in February. This colony has met with remarkable success. It is almost unbelievable the extent to which the administration and the other fraternities, both women's and men's, have welcomed the endeavors of II B \$\Phi\$. We each came away with a greater appreciation of our national fraternity.

Although we can not look forward to convention this summer, we are looking forward to the installation of Indiana E. This fact in itself, gives us new hope for the future; it has been a great inspiration not only to the actives in Delta Province

but to a great many alumnæ as well.

I am deeply grateful for the privilege of serving as president of Delta Province. Due to the war, we have faced many new problems and many adjustments have been necessary but it has been a good year for the province. I want to thank all the actives and the many alumnæ for their splendid cooperation.

Respectfully submitted,
GERTRUDE DEER OWENS

### EPSILON PROVINCE PRESIDENT

The record of this year will go down in the annals of history as one of the blackest on the report card of national and international affairs! With world civilizations crumbling into dust and those who call themselves men smashing away in fiendish glee at our venerable institutions, it is comforting to realize that  $\Pi$  B  $\Phi$  stands as a symbol of those peace-loving organizations which will bring us all back to a safe and sane way of living.

I am particularly proud of Epsilon Province. Oh, of course all the chapters have not excelled in scholarship as I had hoped, and there was one discipline problem which might have been avoided. But looking at the progress of the six chapters from all angles, I must confess that I am deeply gratified. Of special importance, I feel, is the fact that

all chapters have been completely free from cliques, and that internally the organization is very nearly perfect. How natural it might have been for each group to disintegrate to a certain extent when war was declared! How fine it was that instead each one gained new impetus and added enthusiasm for striving toward perfection. Much of the credit for the success must necessarily go to the six extremely efficient chapter presidents. Of equal importance in building up the fine spirit is the work of the chapter officers and committee chairmen and the Alumnæ Advisory Committees. The Mothers' Clubs have also been invaluable, and too much cannot be said of the staunch backing given the chapters by the alumnæ clubs.

The Province Conference sponsored by Kentucky A in June of 1941, brought together representatives of all the chapters and some of the clubs, and succeeded in a most commendable way in fostering a province spirit which in turn will work toward building up a national consciousness in all groups. The baby chapter, Tennessee B, seemed especially to appreciate the opportunity afforded it in its first year to meet the girls from the other chapters.

The Province was also very fortunate in having as its hostess the chapter which proudly displays the Stoolman Vase. The president of this group, Sally Sandidge, has the honor of being selected the winner of the Amy B. Onken Province Award this year. The committee which selected her had several very outstanding girls from which to make its decision and it is regretted that each one could

not have been a winner.

My chapter visits were necessarily postponed because of a second major operation in August, and while I felt that making my inspection late in the spring worked a handicap in some respects, in others there were decided advantages, In February I visited Kentucky A, following this with a trip to Tennessee A and B in March, and winding up with a tour of Missouri chapters the latter part of April. My contacts with the active chapters and the alumnæ will always remain a shining spot in a hectic year. I was fortunate enough to be a guest at the Seventy-fifth Anniversary Celebration of the St. Louis Alumnæ Club and the inspiration I received from the program and the personnel will ever remain with me.

The "veteran scholarship class" which Helen

Nold referred to in her 1940-41 report, has been augmented this year by the addition of Tennessee A which now has a second leg on its scholarship cup. Missouri P is in permanent possession of its scholarship trophy, having won it for the third consecutive year. Kentucky A's second semester rating has not yet been computed, but from all indications this group will again lead its campus. If it does, the chapter will have the glorious distinction of holding first place for four years, a record never before attained by any woman's fraternity in the University of Louisville, It is perhaps

also a record for the province.

Missouri B has advanced from seventh place to second place—an accomplishment worthy of praise and an indication of what this group can do next

year,

Missouri Alpha's scholarship is not all that either the chapter or I would like it to be, but the girls are acutely conscious of their failure in this respect and are taking steps to remedy the situation.

Tennessee Beta has slipped scholastically and it is with deep regret that I report them last on their campus. Drastic correction steps are being taken here too, and I have faith and confidence in the chapter's ability to pull up next year.

Each chapter has had high scholastic honors, although some have had more heaped upon them than others. Missouri Alpha had 2 elections to the honorary education society, 3 to the honorary sophomore society, one member of Φ B K, 4 members of Freshman Commission, and also the president of this group. Missouri B had 2 Mortar Board, 4 Ternion, and 1 Classical honorary, and 2 Freshman Commission. Missouri Γ claims four members of Shiff, and 3 in Who's Who. Tennessee A had 2 elections to Alpha Society, local equivalent of Φ B K. One of these girls had the second high-

est average in the senior class and was chosen class prophet. She was the only girl on the class night speakers' program, Tennessee B had no girls selected to Φ B K but there were 4 on the list for Mortar Board. Kentucky A has six members of Pallas Club, comparable to Mortar Board, three elected to Woodcock Society, similar to Φ B K, and the winner of the Woodcock Medal. This is given each year to the student in the College of Liberal Arts having the highest average for all four years. In addition, 4 members graduated with "Honors" in their respective departments, and 2 received competitive graduate fellowships: one to the University of Louisville Graduate Division of Social Administration, and the other in the School of Commerce of Northwestern University.

Rushing was unusually successful this year in spite of the handicaps undergone by the Tennessee chapters which opened late because of an epidemic of infantile paralysis. The Tennessee Beta group was rushing alone for the first time and its record of pledges is indeed gratifying. The province pledged a total of 117 girls. Two chapters did not lose a single bid and one chapter lost only one. The other chapters lost a few but in each case won more from their rivals than they lost to them.

Rushing conditions are not all that they should be, but it is gratifying to know that  $\Pi \Phi$  cooperates to the full with the local Panhellenic associations even when they do not approve of the

system.

While I had regrets about the failure of a few of the chapters to attain high scholastic standing on their campuses, I certainly have nothing for which to apologize concerning their part in extracurricular activities and the college honors which

they have received.

Missouri A has the president of three major groups: Woman's Student Governing Board,  $\Sigma$  A I, and Mortar Board, This chapter also has the outstanding Freshman Girl, the lead in two Workshop Plays, the Homecoming Queen, Drake Relay Queen, the Fraternity Sweetheart, and the candidate from Missouri University for the Missouri Men's Queen.

Missouri B had the May Queen, First Maid to Engineer's Queen, Honorary R.O.T.C. officer, 1 maid to the Hatchet Queen, and two candidates

for the best dressed co-ed.

Missouri I had the editor-in-chief of the Mirror President of the Pep Club, President of the Woman's Athletic Association, attendant to the Homecoming Queen, and the May Day Queen. This chapter also had the Chairman of the University Social Committee.

Tennessee B had the President of the Athenians (junior honorary society,) Vice-President of the Student Christian Association, the Junior Prom favorite, the Band Sponsor, and Band Majorette. The chapter also won two cups: one for the inter sorority sing, and the other in the bridge tournament.

Tennessee A had the best dressed girl, the most popular girl, and the leader of the Junior Prom. Kentucky A held the presidencies of the four

Kentucky A held the presidencies of the four major organizations on the campus: Woman's League, Y.W.C.A., Art Club, and Home Economics Club. A Kentucky A  $\Pi$   $\Phi$  was editor of the annual, the *Thoroughbred*, and another member was Art Editor. One of this group had the leading part in two Little Theatre plays, and there

is also one member of the Student Council. There are no "queenships" on the University of Louisville campus since the abolishment of them a few years ago because of "politics."

A Kentucky A II ⊕ was voted the outstanding senior, receiving the Sigma Kappa award; another was voted the outstanding Freshman with still another runner-up; The Chi Omega Sociology

award went to a Kentucky A.

I am also very happy over the showing made by the chapters in athletic events. Kentucky A won the President's Trophy awarded to the group which makes the most points during the year in all branches of athletics. By so doing the chapter is starting on what we all hope is a repetition of the record of the past three years when the girls gained permanent possession of the first cup. Missouri B won its swimming meet, and its relay team set a new national intercollegiate record. Tennessee A won second place in kickball and basketball, and Tennessee Beta made an enviable showing in the swimming meet although fell short of total points to win. Missouri A, at this writing, has "nosed out" all other sororities for first place in the Intramural meets, Missouri F went out wholeheartedly for all forms of athletics and while the chapter did not win first place, it made an excellent showing. The spirit has been splendid in all these

Each of the six chapters has contributed liberally to the Settlement School, contributions ranging from \$100 to \$5. Four chapters contributed to the Loan Fund and three to Holt House. The commissions gained from magazine subscriptions, while not large, exceed those of last year. The Settlement School benefited from the sales by \$28.88.

The report on the fraternity examination is very gratifying. One hundred and twenty-six actives took the examination and of this number 117 were on the Honor Roll. Two chapters, Missouri I and Kentucky A, were 100% on the Honor Roll. The active chapter average was 99.46. One hundred and six pledges were examined and 101 made the honor roll. The Province average was 99.10, with four chapters 100% on the honor roll: Kentucky A, Tennessee B, Missouri I, and Tennessee A.

Fifty-two seniors paid alumnæ dues in the prov-

There are two main changes in housing in the province. Tennessee B now occupies a lovely home valued at \$12,500 owned by the House Corporation and rented to the chapter, which is graciously presided over by the new chaperone, Mrs. John C. McLean. Missouri B, which rents a large club room in the Woman's Building, has just redecorated on a very pretentious scale with a startling color scheme which, as the Dean of Women puts it, "gives them all a lift."

Missouri A occupies its beautiful colonial house and is fortunate still to have its beloved house mother, Mrs. Curtis Hill, in charge. Tennessee A's attractive lodge was redecorated by its alumnæ and its cool green walls and flowered draperies are very effective. Missouri Gamma's three room apartment, which it rents across campus in a private home, has been renovated and with the additions of gifts from the pledges and alumnæ club, provides a delightful setting for the unusual parties which this chapter gives. Kentucky A uses every inch of its four room house, owned by the House Corporation. With the rising cost of living, adjustments will certainly have to be made in the budgets of these six groups, particularly with regard to meals.

The Deans of Women with whom I conferred were all enthusiastic in their praise of the Pi Phis on their campuses. I was particularly interested in their reactions to the possibility of decreased enrollment next year. In most cases they feel there will be no shortage of fraternity material; whether or not these potential Pi Phis will feel they can afford to join a fraternity is another matter. It is a

matter which only time can settle.

As this year draws to a close I look back on the events with mingled pride and regret: pride in the accomplishments of the chapters and regret that I was not able to give them more of myself. As I look forward to next year, it is with renewed enthusiasm for an even better record in Epsilon Province. The privilege of being an officer in a province such as this comes only once in a lifetime and I am grateful for having been chosen. I am grateful too for the wise guidance and constant counsel of our Grand Officers, particularly Miss Onken, to whom I'm sure I've often seemed a trial and a tribulation! Pi Phi has another synonym. It is cooperation!

Here's to happier years in the service of the

Fraternity we all love.

Respectfully submitted, RUTH WILSON COGSHALL

# ZETA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

It is difficult to believe another year has drawn to a close. It has been filled with dreams-cometrue, scholastic honors, many victories (and some defeats) and fine achievements, which all bound up together make for a memorable year. That the Pi Phis have worked and worked hard is proven by their fine record and that they have played is inevitable for they are a grand, gay group of girls. We all had the privilege of having Mrs. Finger visit Zeta Province in the fall of the year and we profited by her challenging, helpful suggestions. We were deprived of a visit from a national officer the year before because of illness in the national family and so her visit was one that had been looked forward to for two years.

All the chapters in the province had a successful year with regard to the girls they pledged and initiated. At the close of the major rushing season in the fall, the Alabama Alphas pledged twelve lovely girls and then pledged one more in the spring. This chapter is fortunate in that there is no quota or limitation system at Birmingham-Southern, it being the only chapter in the province where such is the case. Florida A, like the other three sororities at Stetson, is limited to forty. They feel most gratified over the results of their rushing season, having pledged thirteen girls in the fall and three in the spring. At Tallahassee, there is a limitation system in effect which limits a sorority to fifty if there are thirty-five or less return-

ing in the fall. If there are more than thirty-five returning, the chapter is limited to taking not more than fifteen. This fall, Florida B pledged nineteen girls and three more later in the year. On the Rollins campus, the chapters are limited to twenty-five girls. The Florida Gammas were elated when twice as many of their girls returned this fall as did the year before but they took only six girls in the fall and have not added to the original group during the year. At the University of Georgia, the sororities are limited to pledging twenty girls before Christmas and ten after. Georgia A pledged sixteen fine girls. Later, at different times, they pledged four more. In the whole province, there were sixty-nine girls who won the right to wear their shiny, golden Arrow and we are tremendously proud of them. They were guided and helped by their Pledge Supervisors who conscientiously en-tered into their work with true devotion for Pi Phi and with the desire to help each Pi Phi-to-be have a real understanding of what her Fraternity ex-pected of her and of what she in turn had a right

to expect of it.

It is with no little pride that I report on their scholastic record for four out of five chapters in Zeta Province, if not first, at least stand in the upper third on their respective campuses. It seems nothing short of remarkable that Alabama A has been able to keep its enviable record for so long. They had first place the first semester, were first at mid-semesters this spring and although the report for the whole semester has not come in yet, I feel confident that they will hold it and if so, it will be for the sixth consecutive year. One freshman made A Γ Δ and a senior made Φ B K. Besides having eight Pi Phis on the Dean's List, the chapter was well represented in numerous honoraries—among them:  $\Pi \Delta \Psi$ , X N T,  $\Delta \Phi A$  and  $K \Delta E$ . The Florida Alphas won first place in scholarship on Stetson's campus for both semesters of last year, having fourteen Pi Phis on the Honor Roll. They lost it the first semester of this year by .07 of a point but are working very hard to win it back this semester. They had three girls to make Phi Society this year and we are very proud of the Pi Phi from this chapter who received her Law Degree and graduated 'Magna Cum Laude'. The Florida Betas won the Scholarship Cup again last year and were privileged to keep it because they won first place for three successive years. This is the first time this has ever been done on Tallahassee's campus. They lost their first place by .02 of a point this semester but are equally determined to regain it again. One of their freshmen was selected for A  $\Gamma$   $\Delta$  and they had one of their girls chosen for Z Φ H. The Florida Gammas stood fifth on their campus last year but although comparative charts have not been given out for this year yet, they feel confident they have come up considerably. They had one member of Phi Society which on their campus is comparable to \$\Phi\$ B K and two on the Honor Roll. Unstinted praise is deserved by the Georgia Alphas who have worked very hard this year and have risen to third place on their campus. They planned on making first place before the year was over. They had an unusually fine group of pledges and at the end of the Winter Quarter not only initiated more than any other group on campus but their pledges made the highest scholastic average. Four of them made the Dean's List, four made Freshman Commission and

one was selected for A T A. One Pi Phi made Σ A I, another K Δ II and one was on the Varsity

Debating Team.

It has been tremendously interesting to watch the chapters this year-knowing how much depended on good team work and seeing what progress could be made under the able leadership of their chosen officers and with good cooperation. The Pi Phis seemed to excel in every field and their list of honors is an imposing one. Among them are: two Presidents of College Government Association, two on Executive Council of Student Body, President of Panhellenic, Secretary of Student Council, Vice-President of Law School Senior Class, Vice-President and Treasurer of Senior Class, President and Secretary of Sophomore Class, two Presidents and one Secretary of Women's Athletic Association, Editor and two Junior Women's Editors of college yearbook, Editor, Assistant Editor and Managing Editor of college paper besides four staff members, two Editors of literary magazines, Vice-President, Treasurer and Cabinet Member of Y.W.C.A, one President, one Secretary and two members of Mortar Board, two in the Honor and three in Libra-both of these are comparable to Mortar Board, one in Zodiac, eight in Who's Who, Intramural Manager, President of Art Club, President of French Club, four in May Court and Football Queen. The chapters have won cups, trophies and medals in swimming, volley ball, horse shows and riflery as well as Intramural Play Contests, Interfraternity-Intersorority Sings, Dra-matics, Glee Clubs and Choir work. Two chapters were presented the Intramural Sports Trophy for the year. All in all, they have done well this year and are prepared to carry their responsibilities and obligations capably and with credit to all concerned next year.

The Amy B. Onken Award for Zeta Province was won by Virginia Evins of Alabama A. She won about every honor on campus and what with all the heavy demands made on her time, she always found time to give her chapter, of which she was President, the time and thought it needed. To list a few of her honors, she was President of Mortar Board and delegate to their Convention, President of Women's Athletic Association for the second time and on the Intramural Board, a member of both Θ Σ A and K Δ E, Vice-President of the Senior Class, a member of the Student Life Committee and Vice-President for two years of the Amazons, a social organization on campus. She was selected by the whole student body to be the Birmingham-Southern Princess for the annual Birmingham Christmas Carnival, which included three-day festivities climaxed by a ball honoring the princesses. She was one of the sixteen chosen from Bir-mingham-Southern for inclusion in Who's Who and finally, she was one of the two senior girls to receive a Loving Cup this year for having rendered the most valuable service to their college and campus. Her sorority sisters paid her this tribute: "Virginia is one of those girls who can mix leadership and popularity, scholarship and personality, service and friendliness to make the true

ideal of II B 4."

The Pi Phis in Zeta Province, with all their many and varied activities and responsibilities, seldom slight their social programs. Their parties invariably get full consideration and vary from 'crackers and coke' affairs, given on the slightest

provocation, to the formal 'Star-Dust Ball' started by the Georgia Alphas and which they intend making an annual affair. Florida B has continued its Sunday night buffet suppers and some chapters have substituted Hay Rides for Spring Formals due to the disappearance of the Stag-line. Invitations cover an equally wide range, running from the verbal agreement to the novel idea of having miniature records on which is recorded the invitation. Resourcefulness is certainly not lacking among the Pi Phis.

The Alumnæ Advisory Committees have contributed most generously of their time and knowledge. That their kindly advice and constructive suggestions are needed and welcomed is made evident by the girls. The chapters which have made the greatest progress are those which have worked closely with their Alumnæ Advisory Committees. The alumnæ on these committees have felt so much interest in the active chapters that in some instances they have been willing to make trips varying from ten to sixty miles to attend their meetings once a month. The relationship between

actives and alumnæ is exceedingly fine and the inspiring contacts made on both sides is considered invaluable.

At the close of this, my second year, I do not hesitate to speak of the happiness and satisfactions that have been mine in working with these five chapters. The girls have made my work easy by their splendid, enthusiastic letters and prompt reports. For their inspiration, I am grateful besides being exceedingly proud of the fine visions which they have had the ability and mentality to change into realities. They have made advancements which are worthy of the seventy-fifth year which we are all celebrating in our hearts. That great help has come to me from Miss Onken, from Grand Council and Central Office, from the Alumnæ Advisory Committees and from the Deans of Women and all three of our fine house mothers in this province at the time of my chapter visits, making it possible for me to do the work, is not to be questioned. To all of them now, I should like to express my gratitude.

Respectfully submitted,

MARY HANLEY BROOKS

# ETA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

This third year as Eta Province President has brought continued joy but increased responsibility, with a greater realization of what a force of strength and happiness  $\Pi$  B  $\Phi$  is. The experience gained has been valuable. This is true not only in the necessary routine of such detailed work but in the contacts with groups and individuals.

I visited chapters in the second semester, after the new officers were installed. Mrs. Alford contributed a great deal by her visits to the chapters in the first semester. Each president wrote enthusiastically about what her visit had meant to her and to her chapter.

In the main, the officers and chairmen have been efficient and their strength has been reflected by improvement in many ways. Internal development and organization have been stressed. Most of the officers and chairmen had notebooks to pass on to their successors, with ideas and suggestions suited to their local chapter. Some chapters had very excellent notebooks. The social chairman's notebook at Illinois Z is used as a model by Dean Leonard at Illinois. Most of the pledge supervisors were excellent. They had worked for the development of the pledges giving them the re-quired pledge training and in several chapters additional information, through fine programs. Most of the chapters had splendid programs at their meetings, some were planned with the pledges in attendance. These further fraternity interest and in attendance. These further fraternity interest and information. The cooperation and promptness of letters and reports from officers and chairmen have been one hundred per cent from some chapters, while in other chapters, it was the fault of one or two girls usually. The friendly and informative letters from chapters have been a constant source of help and delight.

Illinois A and Wisconsin A are the only chapters not on quota system. The raising of the quota at Illinois B-Δ and Illinois H was a great help in their rushing. Rushing, without exception, was most successful and desirable girls were pledged. 145 girls were initiated during the year.

Wisconsin A, Illinois E, and Illinois Z have large beautifully furnished houses. Illinois E and Illinois Z redecorated and refurnished parts of their houses last summer. The pledges live in the house at Illinois. Illinois H has an attractive but small house, since many of the chapter are Decatur girls. Usually there are about nine living in the house, but this year there were fourteen. Wisconsin B is justly proud of its very lovely new Georgian house, which is used for social activities, meetings, ceremonies, and parties. Wisconsin F has two attractive rooms in the Panhellenic house and Illinois A has two rooms in the registrar's house.

The financial condition of every chapter is sound but a few chapters allowed too large delinquencies, while another chapter had a small delinquency only one month.

My contacts with the Deans were more helpful than formerly, partly due to the fact that we were not strangers. Two of the Deans are Pi Beta Phis. They all praised the chapters for their interest in scholarship, cooperation, ambition, campus honors and offices, social prominence and high standards. The girls were spoken of individually in many cases.

There are five chaperons in the province. There was a charming new chaperon at Wisconsin B, all others are the same as last year. The Wisconsin A chaperon is retiring after several years of splendid service. All have been women of high ideals, with an appreciation of the standards of II B  $\Phi$ . One of the chaperons is a Pi Phi, at Illinois H.

Every chapter has a fine system of awards for scholarship and activities.

Contact with the alumnæ advisory has been supplemented with letters and notes on the formal post cards, in many instances. Most of the alumnæ advisory boards have been efficient and in close touch with the actives, and have given untiring effort and helpful advice to help the chapter maintain its true rank on its campus. It is more than a coincidence that where one finds a well function-

ing advisory, one finds a strong chapter, too.

It has been gratifying, after stressing support to the Magazine Agency, to learn that Eta Province was second in total commissions earned but first in commissions from active chapters. Four chapters are among the eight highest, with Wisconsin A. Illinois E, Illinois Z, and Wisconsin B ranking first, third, fifth and sixth, respectively. Wisconsin A had the second highest commission per capita, Illinois E third and Illinois Z fifth; in the greatest percentage increases, Illinois E and Wisconsin A were first and fifth respectively. Only one chapter had no commissions.

Wisconsin B, Wisconsin F, and Illinois E have Mothers' Clubs, assisting the chapters in a practical

way with time and money.

Scholarship in the province improved as a whole, with the chapters putting forth real effort to improve their scholastic average. Study hours and rules were good in most cases and some were more strict than last year. Also, more care was taken in checking the scholarship of the rushees. Wisconsin A raised from seventh to third place in the first semester of this year, Wisconsin I raised one place in ranking, Illinois B-Δ holds first place again, having been first all but one semester in the last fifteen semesters. Illinois Z was fifth and was referred to at the Panhellenic banquet as one of the top ranking chapters in scholarship and activities. Some unavoidable incompletes pulled down the ranking in two chapters. Pledge grades are averaged in with the actives in three schools, these often have lowered the average. Shortened examination schedules, stepped up school, girls leaving school in the middle of the semester and the general unrest have affected

the scholarship.

There are good activity requirements in all chapters. This year there has been greater prominence in offices, chairmanships, musical organizations, social activities, honorary fraternities, publications, dramatics, athletic events, selection as Queens, and honors. In this largest province of eight chapters, it is impossible to list the activities as the girls are represented in all activities offered in their schools. Prizes were won for floats and house decorations at homecoming. Illinois Z had a separate defense activity chart. One hour weekly was required and one of the girls was in charge of bandage rolling. At Wisconsin A, one of the seniors was an executive of Women's Elective Service, an organization to assist in national defense, and she headed a division called Projects for Men in Army and Work Camps. Wisconsin B assisted in a house to house canvas for the Red Cross, when around \$3000 was collected. Illinois E had eleven of the girls in charge of the Student Defense Council office, the first of its kind to be organized on any campus, the chaperon in charge of the knitting and two of the girls assisting her. Illinois H had a "March of Dimes" booth in down town Decatur, for a week and took in over \$1.050. Most of the girls have been knitting, or have taken first aid or home nursing courses. Several of the chapters have entertained some of the service men at parties. Thirty-one were on the Honor Roll, six in Who's Who, five in Mortar Board, four in similar to Mortar Board, one in  $\Phi$  B K, two similar to  $\Phi$  B K, one  $\Phi$  K  $\Phi$ , one Z  $\Phi$  H, three  $\Sigma$  E  $\Sigma$ , two  $\Delta$   $\Phi$   $\Delta$ , two H  $\Sigma$   $\Phi$ ,

two A A A, three similar to A A A, two P T O, one  $\Psi$  X, one O N, three  $\Phi$   $\Sigma$  I, three  $\Delta$   $\Sigma$  P.

Wisconsin A publishes Tips from the Arrow, and Illinois E, the Whir of the Arrow at frequent intervals of the school year. Wisconsin B and Illinois H send letters to the alumnæ several times a year. These publications and letters keep the alumnæ informed of chapter news and events.

I am happy to report one hundred per cent contributions to the Settlement School, Loan Fund, and to Holt House. This was true last year, although two contributions to Holt House were too

late to mention in my report.

Dorothy Coleman Thorman, Province Scholarship chairman, made the presentation for me of the Eta Province Amy Burnham Onken Award to Beverly Coffman, Illinois E, at Founders' Day.

I had the opportunity of seeing all of Illinois A, a few from Illinois B-A and Illinois H in Monmouth on October 12, when the tablet was dedicated on the grave of Mrs. Soule. Then I saw Holt House afterwards. The Fraternity can be proud of this fine restoration.

I enjoyed a trip through the George Banta Publishing Company while visiting the chapter at

Lawrence.

It was a privilege to be in New York during the N.I.C.-N.P.C. meetings in November and to attend the first N.I.C.-N.P.C. joint business session and the N.P.C. dinner and the joint N.I.C.-N.P.C. banquet, I. also, was present at the New York Alumnæ Club tea in honor of Grand Council and was a guest of Miss Sophie Woodman at the December Panhellenic dinner and meeting It afforded me an opportunity to meet officers in other fraternities, as well as have personal contact with the Grand Council of II B A.

It has been most interesting to work with the new chapter at Wisconsin  $\Gamma$  in its second year and have a part in making this chapter a success on

its campus and in the Fraternity.

It is unfortunate that world conditions prevented Convention and our celebration of our seventy-

fifth anniversary of our founding.

I hope that the conditions and unrest will not affect the chapters too drastically next year. Most of the problems that have arisen this year have been faced squarely and the chapters have had the courage to place the best interests of Π Φ before personal desires.

I found gracious hospitality and cordiality exhibited on my visits, with the girls entertaining with apparent ease and poise, and plans for the comfort and desires of a guest anticipated and

beautifully performed.

I enjoyed having Adele Taylor Alford as my house guest, on her way to visit the chapters in

I have enjoyed working with the advisory boards and with the actives and hope they will continue to aspire to greater achievement than in the past.

I want to thank the members of Grand Council for their inspiration and help and express deep gratitude to Miss Onken for her constructive answers and assistance,

I am grateful for this opportunity to serve ПВФ.

Respectfully submitted,

MIRIAM E. WILLIAMS

# THETA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

A NOTHER year of presiding over Theta Province brought the additional familiarity with official duties which was to be expected. All regular visits to chapters were made in the fall of 1941 with their attendant joys and pleasures. The long expected fall of war upon our shoulders in December did not change the enthusiasm of chapters for maintaining their high positions of accomplishment, but brought the additional opportunities to help out in the many available war projects.

Iowa I has worthily and proudly lived up to her distinction of winning the Balfour Cup with

Colorado A.

Alice Danuser, North Dakota A, by her outstanding leadership of her chapter for two years, her distinguished achievements on her campus, her beauty of personality as well as person, won the Theta Province Amy Burnham Onken Award. Five other girls nominated by their chapters for this honor, exemplified the finest in all requirements of the standards by which this honor is bestowed. They were: Jeanne Stith, Iowa A; Maudette Halden, Iowa B; Eleanor White, Iowa T; Julia Weaver, Iowa Z; Anne Jackson, Minnesota A; (Manitoba A nominated no one.)

Postponing Convention this year left a deep sense of disappointment in all of us, but the chapters agreed that it was the patriotic thing to do to postpone it until a more favorable time.

Our province visitor from the national organization this year was Isabel Clark. She was a most welcome and helpful guest at the homes of Minnesota A, North Dakota A, and also Manitoba A, her home chapter. The girls of Manitoba A consider themselves extremely fortunate in having Isabel in Winnipeg. Her advice and guidance are ever available, a real inspiration to our Canadian chapter.

Chapter houses in the province continue to be well-kept and well-managed homes, beautifully decorated, and thoroughly enjoyed by the girls. Equipment has been added so that all the houses are fortified against present or future priorities regulations. Iowa A and Manitoba A have rooms in private houses, both occupied for the first time 137 girls of which number approximately twothis year. Iowa A again had room for its piano after having stored it for two years. The rooms are now close enough to the campus to be convenient for use much more than formerly, and the chapter has enjoyed serving tea every Thursday afternoon throughout the vear. Manitoba A shares its chapter room with K K I, the combined furnishings of the two groups making a most attractive and comfortable meeting place, more spacious than the rooms in the former Panhellenic house which had to be given up this year. Iowa P sponsored two contests this year, giving prizes to the room-mates whose room was most attractive, and holding open house for guests after the prizes were awarded. Our chaperones add the bit of motherliness without which no home is complete. Mrs. Hall. Mrs. Owens. Mrs. Brown and Mrs. Cruikshank have again been with Minnesota A, North Dakota A, Iowa B and Iowa Z respectively. Mrs. Hoxie left a void in the Iowa I house when she resigned last summer, and was succeeded by Mrs. Sedgwick.

Rushing this year resulted in the pledging of 137 girls of which number approximately two-thirds were initiated. This is about the same as last year, but still not high enough. Iowa Alpha initiated 100% of its pledges.

Minnesota A and Iowa T had the Panhellenic presidents on their campuses this year, and Manitoba A will have the president of its group next year. The quota system is still maintained at Iowa, and a combination quota and limitation system has just been voted in at Manitoba, in

spite of Pi Beta Phi's objection.

Financially, the province has held its own in spite of rising costs, with a gain for the year in all chapters but one according to the April report of the Supervisor. At the same time only \$15.00 in delinquencies were outstanding. Comparative living costs in the houses for the past two years are as follows:

1941	1942
Iowa Z\$46.00	\$53.00
Minnesota A 44.00	42.50
Iowa Γ 43.00	38.00
North Dakota A 38.00	38.00
Iowa B 23.50	25.50

In other words, two chapters reduced the cost, two raised the cost and one remained the same. Enough praise cannot be given to the chapter treasurers and their alumnæ advisers. In April (the latest report received by this office) every chapter was graded 100%, a fine record. The Busey system and the complications of book-keeping for a large chapter afford real work, and the unselfish spirit in which this work is done can never be rewarded,

except by our sincere thanks.

War projects have been generously and patriotically supported by all chapters. Iowa I won statewide publicity as the first group at Iowa State, and believe through the entire state to forego a formal dance, using the money instead for the purchase of a \$100.00 war bond. Manitoba Alpha has given up many functions, investing approxi-mately \$600.00 in bonds. Iowa Z reported giving up two informals, donating \$30.00 at one time to the Red Cross and buying two bonds at another. Iowa Z has contributed also ten cents a week per capita to the Phoenix Fund, established for postwar education of returned service men. This movement originated at the University of Iowa and has had nation-wide publicity. Iowa A contributed \$20.00 to the local U.S.O. drive, headed in the county by their Province President. This very generous gift was deeply appreciated. Another project of the year which was most praiseworthy in Iowa A was a campaign carried on among Iowa A alumnæ to raise a fund of money to present to Iowa Wesleyan College for its Centennial Fund. This is Iowa Wesleyan's hundreth year, and the Commencement exercises on June 8 gained na-tion-wide publicity because of the fact that General H. H. Arnold, head of the United States Army Air Forces, was present and delivered the address of the occasion. He was engaged through the efforts of Albert Lodwick, Φ Δ Θ, alumnus of Iowa Wesleyan. Mr. Lodwick gave \$500.00, to be added to the Pi Phi gift, which amounted to approximately \$440.00, and with this money the college chapel was redecorated. Incidentally, II B  $\Phi$  was highly honored to have Gen-

eral Arnold as their annual breakfast guest, at which time he spoke "off the record," gave many autographs, and completely endeared himself to the hundred Pi Phis present. "Honors in Course" at the commencement included three women, two of whom were Pi Beta Phis, Mary Jean Nesbitt, Summa Cum Laude, and Jean Stith, Magna Cum Laude. A thrill to every Pi Phi attending the exercises was the presenting to Lillian Kendig Rogers, Iowa A alumna and long a member of the Board of Trustees of Iowa Wesleyan, the honor-ary degree of Doctor of Humanities. President Niles called upon her granddaughter Mary Louise Rogers, Iowa A, and member of the graduating class to present the certificate to her grandmother.

All the chapters have worked faithfully in defense projects offered by the campuses. Iowa I' and Iowa Z have had members of College Defense Councils. The former chapter participated in the wholesale candy making on their campus, in which 20 kitchens of organized houses were given over one evening to making 2000 pounds of candy to

be sent to Iowa State men in service.

Final scholastic standings for the year are not yet available, but at the beginning of this school year, the ratings were as follows:

> 1st place on campus: North Dakota A Iowa B Iowa F Iowa Z
> 2nd place on campus: Manitoba A
> 3rd place on campus: Minnesota A
> Iowa A

For winter quarter, Iowa T led the entire campus, including dormitories with an average of 2.720, all-

college average being 2.351.

Individual honors include the two mentioned above at Iowa A, 3 Phi Beta Kappas, 5 Sigma Epsilon Sigmas, 3 Phi Kappa Phis, 2 Iota Phis, 3 Sigma Phi Iotas and 1 Beta Gamma Sigma and many other departmental honoraries.

Campus activities continue to be many and varied, too numerous to name completely. Some of the most outstanding are as follows: Manitoba A: Junior Lady Stick of Arts, Freshie Queen, Outstanding woman athlete, president of senior home economics, president of Women's Athletic Directorate, piano soloist with the University Symphony Orchestra.

North Dakota A: Presidents of Φ X Θ, Φ Δ Φ, Matrix, Women's League; 1 Who's Who; 1 Φ B K; 1 Mortar Board; 2 Σ A I; Γ Φ B Award for outstanding freshman woman; 1 Π Λ Θ; 4 Σ Ε Σ; Delegate to National Convention of Φ X Θ; Homecoming Queen; Toast of the Regiment and two out of four attendants; 3 N A II.

Minnesota A: 1 Mortar Board; 5 More Than Boreds (Sophomore equivalent of Mortar Board); 1 E E E; Presidents of Sr., Jr., and freshman Class Councils; Twin Queens of Snow Week (with the slogan "Double or Nothing"); President of Cap and Gown who led the Cap and

Gown procession of graduates on class day.

Iowa A: Assistant Editor of Tiger; secretaries of Student Council, Panhellenic, A Ψ Ω, and Iowa Wesleyan Players; president and treasurer of

Hershey Hall Council; 2 outstanding freshmen and 11 of 20 members of Pep Club, all elected by Blue Key, honorary senior men's organization; 2 Iota Phis.

Iowa B: May Queen, 1941, and two attendants; representative college woman; 1 Who's Who; 4 of 10 campus beauties; President of Y.W.C.A. and delegate to Geneva; 2 II K A; 1 attendant to all

college sweetheart.

Iowa Γ: 3 Mortar Board and president; 3 Φ T O and vice-president; 3  $\Phi$  K  $\Phi$ ; 1 0 N; president and vice-president of Y.W.C.A.; Editor of Homemaker; outstanding freshman athlete; 1 Φ Δ Φ; Junior Prom Girl; Prep-Sophomore Ball Queen; 1 Θ Σ Φ; vice-president WAA; 1 Σ A I.

Iowa Z: Editor Hawkeye (the 3rd woman in

history to hold this position and the second II B Φ; 1 Mortar Board; 2 Phi Beta Kappas; 2 Seals Club, Attendant to Honorary Cadet Colonel. The deans characterize our girls as valuable, dependable and constructive members of all organizations.

After four years as president as Theta Province, I feel it is for the good of the chapters for me to resign, in favor of someone who will carry on more constructively than I have done this year. I sincerely say that since my own college days, no other activity has given me greater joy. To see girls enter as freshmen, go through four years of college, developing into fine, contributing citizens, is an unusually satisfying part of the opportunities afforded by such an office as this. When names of hundreds of girls I have come to know, call up little personal traits and incidents, then I know they have all made an effort to know their Province President when she was a guest in their houses. Cooperation of all my chapters has been unfailing. I have never had occasion to be even the least bit ashamed of my chapters. Problems there have been, of course, but I have long felt that problems are not the thing to worry over, but the way in which they are met. My chapters have met their infrequent problems with courage and determination which has been an inspiration to their Province President. This fact proves again the value of experience gained from membership in a fraternity.

Through all the organizational facets of life in a II B & chapter one feels the constructive influence of Amy Burnham Onken. We have this year lost the last of our Founders, but we have not suffered in that loss, because we have a leader who carries on the torch they lighted seventy-five years ago, with a courageous devotion to  $\Pi$  B  $\Phi$  which has long been first in her heart. The scope of Miss Onken's real understanding and broad knowledge of all Pi Phi details of organization cannot be estimated in mere words. The help she has given freely and willingly and lovingly at any and all times to those seeking it, from important Convention problems down to the least request of a chapter officer, has many times included your Theta Province President as one helped. My gratitude to her cannot be adequately expressed or ever repaid, save in my devotion to her.

Respectfully submitted, GERALDINE MARS RISTINE

# IOTA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

THE second year as a Province President brings with it the joy of personal contact with the actives, and a deeper appreciation of the opportunities Π B Φ affords its members. I know my satisfaction and pride in my chapters is well founded when I review the year's successes.

Mrs. Wild visited the eastern half of the province this year and her visits were a source of great

inspiration to all who met her.

Colorado A has been proud to share the Balfour Cup with Iowa Γ, and Betty McClellan of that chapter was the Province Amy Burnham Onken Award winner. Betty received Φ B K at the end of her junior year, and among other things was listed in Who's Who in American Colleges and Universities, is a member of Mortar Board, and was Editor-in-Chief of the Coloradoan this year.

Of the seven chapters in Iota Province, South Dakota A, Colorado A, and Wyoming A hold first place scholastically while Nebraska B and Kansas B are in second place. The Deans of Women of the other schools continue to speak well of the work done by the Pi Phi chapter on each respective campus. So many memberships in departmental honorary organizations have been reported this year, I shall not try to list them, but be content with Φ B K and Φ K Φ memberships. Φ B K rolls include one from Nebraska B, five from Colorado A, and two from Wyoming A, while one from Kansas B and three from Wyoming A are members of Φ K Φ. One member of South Dakota A graduated summa cum laude, and another received the Chi Omega Award. One member of Colorado A also received this award.

Iota Province is exceedingly strong in extracurricular activities, with the following Mortar Boards: South Dakota A one; Nebraska B the president; Kansas B one; Colorado A four; Colorado B the president and one; and Wyoming A the president and secretary. This gave us our full share of Mortar Boards this year, but those eleven members have increased in number to fifteen for next year. Colorado B heads the list with five, including the secretary and the treasurer; Kansas B has the president and three others, Nebraska B the vice-

president and two others, Colorado A two, and Wyoming A the president. Listed in Who's Who in American Colleges and Universities are one from South Dakota A, two from Kansas B, three from Colorado A. Most chapters are strong in publication work, including such offices as Editor of the Daily Nebraskan, News Editor of the Daily Nebraskan, Editor of the Kansas State Daily, and for next year Editor-in-chief of the Royal Purple (Kansas B), Editor-in-chief of the Coloradoan (Colorado A), Editor-in-chief of the Wyo, and Editor of Spurs (Wyoming). All groups have at least two major positions in student government. Two A.W.S. presidencies are held by Colorado B. Miscellaneous honors include Y.W.C.A. presidencies at Nebraska, Kansas State, and Colorado, Co-ed Counsellor's president at Nebraska, Heads of Defense Work at Nebraska and Kansas, Other officers and cabinet members are too numerous to name in this limited space. Nebraska B won first place for their Co-ed Follies Skit; Colorado A won the Participation Cup and both chorus and quartette competition at C.U. Day. One of her members wrote the entire script for Rhythm Circus. Wyoming A won the Debate Cup and first place in the "Sing." The "Queens" in the province total thirty-one.

The Deans of Women visited during official visits were loud in their praise of our girls, and in only one instance was any suggestion made for

improvement in a chapter.

There is close cooperation between the actives and advisory committees in every case. These boards have been a source of continual help to me.

With a feeling of regret I realize this school

With a feeling of regret I realize this school year is finished. It has been so fine in every respect. I look forward to the fulfillment of every promise on the horizon for next year. Again may I thank all who have helped to make this year a successful one, our national officers, the advisory committees, the chapters, and especially Miss Onken on whom we lean for guidance.

Respectfully submitted, COLEITA AITKEN

# KAPPA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

It is hard to realize that my fourth year as Kappa Province President is ended, and it is with real regret that I feel compelled to relinquish the office at this time. Each year of the four has brought its share of pleasures and thrills—and what can thrill one more than to see college Pi Phis accomplishing great things on their respective campuses—as well as carrying responsibilities. In the following paragraphs I will attempt to summarize the many things which have meant so much to me during the year 1941-42.

The Province boasts of one first place in scholarship—Texas A; two seconds—Oklahoma A and Arkansas A. The other four chapters are not proud of their ranking, but are trying hard to make the

coming year one to be proud of.

In the field of extracurricular activities each chapter has made a good showing. The major honors gained are as follows: 8 Phi Beta Kappas;

18 Alpha Lambda Deltas; 1 President, 2 Secretaries, and 9 elections to Mortar Board; 2 A.W.S. Presidents; 1 W.S.G.A. President; 1 Who's Who in American Colleges and Universities; 11 elections to literary societies with election based on scholarship; 1 President of Σ A I; 6 class officers; 6 winners of intramural contests; 1 outstanding intramuralist; innumerable offices in campus organizations of various kinds; Queen of the Drake Relays (a member of Texas A has had this honor for two successive years); Sweetheart of the University of Texas; Razorback Queen at Arkansas University; 9 Beauties in various Yearbooks; 2 Sweethearts of Σ X; and many other social honors.

Of the four chapter houses in Kappa Province, two are completely paid for. One chapter still has a large and lovely room in the Panhellenic House on its campus, and two have meetings places in houses or apartments where the girls are not

allowed to live. This brings me to a subject which has grown to be a source of embarrassment to me that of lodges on the campus of Southern Methodist University. It has been my sincere opinion that we would have them almost immediately, each time that I have mentioned them in a report. It is still my opinion that we would have lodges today, despite the war and other extraneous circum-stances, if Mrs. A. A. Rowland had not moved from Dallas to Burlington, Iowa, She was practically driving the nails in them when she left, and then the whole thing lagged for so long that the building restrictions caught us before they were actually begun. It is a real shame, too, because nothing could do for this chapter in Dallas what some sort of a chapter house could do. At any rate, I am making no more predictions about lodges on the campus of S.M.U. All the chapters, but one, will have the same chaperons next year whom they have had for several years past. The exception is Oklahoma B. They have accepted the resignation of Miss Rene Fowle, whom I hope to

see located with another Pi Phi group next year. Practically every chapter in the Province has benefited by the advice of excellent Advisory Committees, and these chapters tell me that they feel as if they could not function without the help of these fine and conscientious committees.

We are 100% in our contributions to the Settlement School, Loan Fund, and Holt House, and the chapters report that it is a real pleasure and privilege to have a part in the support of these three

worthy projects.

May I close this report with just a few sentences about the five members of our Grand Council? I count it a real privilege to have had these four years of association with them, and genuinely hate to see it come to an end. My thanks and appreciation are extended to each one for the help she has been to me, and please believe me when I say that I feel it would be extremely difficult to replace a single one to the Fraternity's advantage. Respectfully submitted,

JUNE H. GRANGER

## LAMBDA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

EACH year of college life is highlighted by some particular event, and this year Lambda Province actives had the benefit of a visit from the Grand President, Amy B. Onken. It was a time when we needed all the help that was available. Since we are geographically situated in a "danger zone" of the war, December 7 brought a new way of life to colleges and universities of the Northwest. Blackouts were the order of the day. Christmas examination preparations were made, in many cases, by candlelight. School terms were shortened, vacations cancelled and full term summer courses were offered to hurry the students on their way. Men students left classes by the score to "join up," and what had promised to be a year ending like any other, became instead the beginning of a new era. We are proud indeed that our girls came through as well as they did, keeping their vision clear to a day when the world again reaches normalcy.

In scholarship, special mention, I think, should go to Idaho A, which, after having made the rather poor record in the past, came out in third place-after a fall term in which every member made it her duty to bring up her average. Alberta A led her campus in scholarship, and good grades at the University of Alberta are very difficult to obtain. Alberta A led Lambda Province in scholarship for the fall term. Oregon A again stood first and then second among the university groups, with twenty-three pledges making initiation average the first term. The other four chapters in the province did not do as well as they felt they should have, but Spring term grades promise definite improvement. All of the chapters were, in actual points, only a fraction below their rivals, but they were not content with that excuse, and effective study rules and discipline were put in force. Furthermore, the motive is now present in all cases, for the girls realize that they have a rare privilege in being able to obtain the education which our schools provide.

Individual honors for high scholastic ratings prove that the students of our Province have been keeping up their averages along with all of their

other honors. Washington B has two members of Φ K Φ. Two of its seniors are graduating with honors, and two with highest honors. Alberta A has three honor graduates. Oregon B has one Φ K Φ who has the honor of being the senior woman with the highest average for her whole college career. Oregon A has two Phi Beta Kappas, one of whom is being graduated "cum laude."

While on the matter of graduating seniors, I report with pride that eighty-one seniors paid dues for alumnæ membership applications in our seven

chapters.

Numerous elections have been reported by the chapter to under-class scholastic honoraries, which lead one to believe that grades are going to be even better in our chapters in the next few years.

The life of the chapter of the future centers in the success of its rushing season, and this year Lambda Province as a whole had a most profitable rushing season. Washington B was still hampered Fall term by a rigid quota system, which allowed them to pledge just ten girls. The ten pledged were excellent material, but before the year was over the Dean's office acknowledged the fact that in these uncertain times it was necessary for a chapter to have a margin of safety if it were to keep going. We are hopeful that this is the end of the extremely difficult quota system at that institution. All of our chapters put an emphasis on scholarship in the Fall term pledging, and the results were gratifying, for when the initiations were held winter term, fewer hold-over pledges were listed than in previous years.

My visits to the chapters were early in the fall term so rushing problems were fresh in the minds of the actives and pledges, and we were able to discern where and when faults in the present sys-tem had occurred. From the reports of rushing chairmen received within the last month, one can see that there is even greater preparation under way for next fall to take care of the possible drop

in enrollment.

The chapter houses of Lambda Province are all in condition for the "duration." Washington A ranks as the most fortunate with its beautiful new

Colonial home. The house, its decorations, and the grounds have been planned with the utmost taste and care. The Southern Musicale which opened the house to the public was a unique artistic achievement. Alberta A took a longer lease than the previous year-to-year contract, and many improvements were made by the housemother, the alumna, the Mother's Club, and the actives, who joined in contributing funds and doing much of the labor themselves. The house was much more cheerful and attractive than it has previously been. Montana A leased a quadrangle building from the University, The quadrangle holds about one-third of their chapter, and this year it was necessary to have the actives in two complete quadrangle units, a part of another, and the freshmen were in Hamilton Hall, Oregon Alpha's chapter house is in need of some minor repairs, which will be done during this summer, if materials and Iabor are obtainable. Idaho A, Washington B, and Oregon B have comparatively new houses, all in an excellent state of repair, Washington B added new showers last year to make the chapter capable of holding all the members and pledges.

In the matter of housemothers, Lambda Province is very fortunate. Only one change has taken place during this year. Mrs. Howard Fransisco, Idaho A chaperon, became ill in the Fall and resigned at Christmas. Mrs. Morton Tuft of Portland, Ore-gon, was chosen by the chapter to take Mrs. Fransisco's place, and she has been very successful thus far. All of our other housemothers have been with the chapters during my term of office, and each of them is a woman one would be proud to have for a friend and an advisor. Each has her special contribution that can be plainly traced

throughout the chapter.

Activities have progressed more rapidly within the time that I have been working with the Lambda Province chapters than any other part of fraternity life. A new interest has sprung up this year in war work, and aside from being one hundred per cent in contribution to fraternity cases, our chapters have been active in Red Cross sewing, knitting, defense materials and bonds. Among our six groups that have Mortar Board on their campus, five are represented by two from their chap-ter. The other honoraries in which Pi Phi is well represented on each campus include: Who's Who in American Colleges and Univer-

Π θ T-service honorary

Φ B—music honorary

M Φ E-music

T A X—advertising honorary Pot and Quill-literary honorary

Θ Σ Φ—journalism honorary

Spurs-service honorary Φ X θ-commerce honorary

ΠΔΦ

K Δ II-education

A Δ Δ-Sophomore scholastic

K K A-art honorary Orchesis-master dance

Mask and Dagger-dramatic TO T

O N-home economics

ΔΦΔ

Δ Σ P-forensics

Parthenia-physical education

Officers and innumerable major committee chairmen in:

Y.W.C.A.

Women's Athletic Associations Associated Students

Matrix Table

Aside from scholastic and social honors, many of our girls have been chosen beauty queens, "Little Colonel," "Little Major," "Little Admiral," and Prom Queens and attendants.

The Alumnæ Advisory boards are without exception a source of pleasure to me in my work. They are extremely cooperative and give an invaluable service to their chapters. The benefits of their mature judgment cannot be overestimated.

In every case the Deans of women have had splendid reports to make of our chapters. They all find Pi Beta Phis to be responsible and trustworthy.

I wish to thank all of the officers of Π B Φ, and the members of Grand Council for their splendid cooperation. It is my sincere desire to serve my Fraternity to the best of my ability, and I feel the Province as a whole has moved forward during the last year.

Respectfully submitted, LOU ANN CHASE TUFT

### MU PROVINCE PRESIDENT

I'N TODAY'S war torn world, with institutions and traditions of our "American Way of Life" so threatened, Fraternity members are showing their training in leadership and are proving their capabilities. Immediately following the attack on Pearl Harbor and ever since there have been increasing demands upon our time for more and more war service, and fraternity members are taking a worth while place in such activities. To those girls still in college we look for the leadership of tomorrow, and because of their fraternity's training in clear thinking, unimpeachable standards and ideals, a keel is being laid to steady our world in the reconstruction period which will inevitably follow the war. Pi Beta Phis will not be found wanting in their capabilities for responsible leadership. As I review the accomplishments in Mu Province

for the year 1941-1942, I feel a glow of satisfaction for I feel that without exception the chapters have grown in responsibility and judgement. Six of my chapter visits were made in October and early November, and again I am aware of the value of that early in the year contact with offi-cers, advisers, Deans of Women, and general campus conditions. My home chapter's official visit was delayed until April as contacts there are more or less constant. Only Utah A had the pleasure and inspiration of a Grand Officer's visit, this chapter being visited in February by Ruth Barrett Smith.

Of the seven chapters three were in the upper third scholastically, Nevada A being first for the sixth consecutive semester, California A second for the second year, and California Γ fifth. Arizona A showed the greatest improvement, and they are

hoping that this year will see them in the first group also. Nevada A received a plaque for showing the greatest grade average improvement on their campus, a rather remarkable feat, since they were already first in comparative rating. All of the chapters have study rules for pledges. The system for actives which has seemed most successful is that of putting all below chapter average either on a proctored study table or on an honor system of study hours. Emphasis is being placed on each individual's responsibility to work to her own capacity, not being content with average work when capable of superior achievement. There were 3 Phi Beta Kappas, 5 Phi Kappa Phis, and a great number of department honorary elections this year.

Each group is working hard toward worthwhile accomplishments in activities. We have emphasized the importance of each girl working in one or two activity fields of her own choice rather than scattering her interests over too large a number of activities. The importance of entering varied fields, too, rather than all from the chapter going into one or two, has seemed significant. Campus recognitions for ability and dependability have been numerous. Outstanding honors received are as follows: 15 Mortar Board (or equivalent); 1 Mortar Board President, 1 Y.W.C.A. President, and 1 Y.W.C.A. Secretary; Associated Women Students 1 President, 1 Secretary, 2 Council members; Women's Athletic Association, 1 President, 1 Vice-President, 1 Treasurer; Student Body, 1 Secretary, and 2 Executive Committee members. In addition to the foregoing there have been 4 active in publications including 1 Editor and 3 managers. Social honors have been too numerous to list as are activity and athletic awards.

To Virginia Dean of California Alpha went the Amy Burnham Onken Award for this province, in recognition of her outstanding scholarship (Lower Division Honors, Φ B K, and Graduation With Distinction), for her devoted Fraternity Service (historian, rush captain, and president), and her splendid contribution to university life by her activity participation (member of Cap and Gown, Stanford's equivalent of Mortar Board, Coordinator of U.S.O., President of Sorority President's Roundtable, Vice-President of Ski Club, etc.).

Rushing has been most successful during the year, 171 girls having been pledged. California A

and Utah A both have deferred rushing while the other five chapters have rushing when school opens in the fall. California A is the only one which has to function under a quota system which is university controlled.

The meetings with the Deans of Women were all most satisfying. In every instance they reported fine cooperation, and excellence of spirit. It is not my intention to imply that in every case the Deans felt that the chapter needed no criticism, but rather that when criticism was offered it was accepted graciously, and that marked improvement was sure to show.

The Alumnæ Advisory Committees have all functioned well, giving great assistance to their respective chapters. They have been untiring in their interest and should have a special word of appreciation for their cooperation with me.

There are three Pi Phis acting as chaperons, as well as a Pi Phi mother, in this province. The chapters have all been fortunate in the splendid women who are serving them as their chaperons and social directors. All but one act as house managers as well.

Each of the seven chapters owns its own chapter house in which from twelve to thirty-five girls make their college home. Each house is adequately financed and in sound financial condition. There have been no major structural changes made since Arizona finished her addition just a year ago. The houses are all adequate to the needs of the chapters now which is fortunate in these days of priority restrictions on materials. There have been many equipment additions and improvements during the year, and of course the four California chapters have been equipped with necessary black-out facilities.

National projects of the fraternity have had 100% support from the chapters in Mu. The Settlement School has received \$89, Loan Fund \$72, and the Holt House Fund \$59, making a total of \$220. Fifty-seven seniors paid National Alumnædues for the year 1942-1943.

This report would not be complete without an expression of gratitude to all who have been so cooperative with me during the year, and particularly to Miss Onken whose letters have been most helpful.

Respectfully submitted, EDYTH ALLEN MANNING

# Reports of Province Vice-Presidents

# ALPHA PROVINCE EAST VICE-PRESIDENT

In spite of the uncertainties of this year and the many more demands upon people who are at war, the clubs in Alpha East Province have maintained their interest and shown a slight increase in membership and much in enthusiasm. Montreal reports 100% membership as well as 100% participation in Fraternity projects and two other clubs are 100%. Most of the clubs had special observance of the 75th anniversary of our founding.

Burlington is helping the actives with the financial upkeep of the chapter house and Boston and Halifax concentrate on helping the active chapter in their community. Portland has again awarded a recognition pin to the most constructive sophomore

in the province.

Boston deserves great praise for their successful sale at the Flower Show. The careful organization of Beth LeRoy and Mildred Wildes was responsible for the sale of over \$2,000 worth of Arrowcraft. Clubs in other sections might find a Flower Show a good place to sell, or perhaps a sale of baskets is possible at a Garden Club Meeting. The Canadian Clubs find a sale impossible but Burlington, Hartford, and Portland held successful sales and teas.

A new group had a Founder's Day meeting in Concord, New Hampshire. Under the leadership of Clara Haggeman members in the state were invited to the luncheon. Plans were made for a picnic this summer if gas rationing will allow it. Another new group met in southern Vermont for a picnic last summer and their plans for a picnic this sum-

mer are dependent upon gas allowances. There are two cities in this province where there are enough members for a club and I hope that next year they will be organized.

We were all disappointed not to have Convention in our province but we appreciate the necessity for a change. Even though we regret not meeting old and new friends, we realize the vote of the

actives is wise.

Although the amount of the magazine fund has increased, there are fewer clubs helping. Hartford is seventh in total sales and sixth in highest per capita commissions. I hope that all clubs will be

represented next year.

No club reports any defense activities as a unit but all are helping as individuals in civilian defense or volunteer bureaus. Panhellenic in Hartford sponsored a public defense meeting and has sewing each Monday. Some have made contributions to defense; Montreal is also helping the Children's Hospital.

Clubs near an active chapter were most fortunate to have a visit with the Grand Vice-President, who, as always, brought inspiration and national view-

points.

The cooperation of officers and members of the clubs has made this a very pleasant year and one in which there has been an increase in interest. For their patience and for the ever willing and inspirational assistance of Grand Council and national officers, I am most grateful.

Respectfully submitted,

ERMINIE L. POLLARD

# ALPHA PROVINCE WEST VICE-PRESIDENT

THE Fraternity officers who have chapters or clubs on both sides of the U.S.-Canadian Border have had unusual problems to face since September, 1939. Now that the U.S. is one of the belligerents, there is a clearer understanding of the difficulty in the past two years of maintaining fraternity interest in Canada, and I can give whole-hearted praise to every club in my province, as their monthly letters to me demonstrate their ability to meet courageously, the situations which have arisen. In all of my visits with the clubs since last convention, and at the Province Conference in Rochester in May, 1941, I have quoted a former Toronto Club president, now an officer in the Women's Auxiliary of the Royal Canadian Air Force, who, in her acceptance of the presidency, in the first year of the war, expressed her personal need of the warm friendships found among her fraternity sisters. That this feeling is prevalent, is indicated increasingly as the months pass by. Our knitting at the meetings has changed from soft, pastel colors, or the ever-present whites, blues or pinks for the coming Pi Phis-or their brothers to olive drab, Air Force or Navy blue, gray or black. Elaborate refreshments have disappeared

from our supper or luncheon menus but the Pi Phi spirit of friendly cooperation is everywhere evident, and the quiet sympathy for those of us from whom the war has exacted its hostages, forms a strong undercurrent. In the face of all the above, taking place all over this continent today, how can anyone say that the "organized groups" necessary? The final proof lies in the hard months or years!-ahead of us. I hope there will be an ever deepening sense of our privilege, due to our membership in Pi Beta Phi and its training in service, which can now be proved as we continue to meet the emergencies that will arise. In closing, I wish to thank all the fraternity officers and club executives and members, who have cooperated to help me during this trying time. A leader is only as strong as the loyalty of those who follow, and I, in the capacity of Province Vice-President, must rely on my dubs, far more than they rely on me. My eight years in the office have brought many warm and lasting friendships, which I treasure

Respectfully submitted,
MARY HERDMAN SCOTT

## BETA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

THIS province has just completed a most successful year—one in which increased interest in Pi Beta Phi has been shown and which we all believe will continue. These uncertain days bring home to us the value of old and tried friends—those who have stood with us during our time in College, and later, newer ones but with similar

memories and interests.

If I could have a wish granted for every member of Pi Beta Phi, it would be that she should have the opportunity of doing this work for one term. The contacts are so pleasant; the people one meets so charming that it is something to always remember. I have enjoyed every minute of my time spent with clubs during these two years. Each one is so different, both in interests and problems—yet the members are all so very nice; they are friends and another Pi Phi could move into any community and be happy in joining that Club.

However, I do feel that there are some sections of the Province where Clubs should be formed which would be a great source of interest to the many Pi Phis there. Due to the present rationings,

there also may be the problem that Clubs already organized cannot draw from as large an area as heretofore. Something can always be worked out so that no one will be deprived of Pi Beta Phi contacts. So, in spite of these depressing times, we hope for more clubs in Beta Province, for they are the type of thing which carries us through uncertainty more easily.

There were 639 members who paid National dues this past year in the Province which is 60 more than the previous year and seems to be an all time high. Twelve (12) of the sixteen (16) Clubs were 100% in their contributions to our three projects and all worked hard for the Fraternity. I appreciate the effort of each individual member in

helping the Province as a whole.

I wish to thank all of the National officers for their help and encouragement throughout the year; and also the various chairmen and club officers for their splendid cooperation.

Respectfully submitted,

LOIS VASEK

# GAMMA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

It is with great glee that I submit the annual report for 1941-42 for Gamma Province. The Province has gained in membership over last year and all of the donations to our three projects were larger. A total of \$391.30 was given to the Settlement School; \$56.50 to the Loan Fund and \$25.00 to Holt House. Six of the seven clubs in the Province were 100% in support of our three projects and the seventh gave to two.

While there are not enough Pi Phis in Williamsburg, Virginia, to form a club the five members of the advisory committee to Virginia P paid their dues to me. There were three Pi Phis in the province that sent me their dues as they do not live near any alumnæ club but still wanted to support

their Fraternity.

All clubs near active chapters helped them in

rushing and when possible met with them for the Founder's Day celebration.

The magazine commissions amounted to \$226.83

for the alumnæ clubs.

Because of the gasoline rationing here in the east the Tri-City Club of North Carolina has felt it necessary to disband "for the Duration." The membership in this club is composed of Pi Phis that live in three towns that are about forty miles apart. They plan to have a Founders' Day celebration next year if possible and to resume their club activities as soon as times are normal again.

My work has been a pleasure and I wish to thank all of my clubs for making it so. I also wish to thank the officers of the Fraternity for their assistance and help to me during the past year.

Respectfully submitted,
MARY SCHAAFF GREEAR

### DELTA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

A LTHOUGH Delta province did not succeed in its efforts to be a 100% province this year, still there are many individual achievements which are outstanding and are worthy of mention in this report. Eight clubs were 100% in their support of the Fraternity's three projects. Thirteen clubs contributed to the Settlement School, thirteen to the Loan Fund, and nine to the Holt House. Eight clubs sold Arrowcraft with a substantial increase in the amount of sales, while sixteen clubs earned commissions for the magazine agency, also showing an increase in amount earned.

The province continues to support the magazine agency in a very fine way. The province was third in commissions earned, Detroit and Indianapolis were on the list of the eight highest commissions per club, while Northern Indiana was on the list of the eight highest per capita. In going back over old reports of the magazine agency it is interesting to find that for the past fourteen years

Detroit has been on the list of the eight highest commissions, while Indianapolis has been included in that group for the past seven years. These two clubs are to be commended for fine support of this project.

There was a slight decrease in membership this year, due to the few 1941 graduates affiliated with clubs. The number paying national dues is exactly the same as last year. Total membership, including affiliated graduates is 490, compared with 504 of last year. Ann Arbor and Gary both have

reported 100% membership.

Bloomfield Hills deserves credit for its fine work during the year as a Red Cross Unit. In addition to the many hours put in on sewing and knitting, this spring they hit upon the idea of providing a more cheerful departure for the boys leaving Birmingham to enter the Service. With the assistance of the Red Cross Canteen Unit, they have been serving an early morning cup of coffee to

the boys and their families at the induction center, and have been the means of inspiring other residents of the city to help do their bit in making these good-byes easier for all concerned.

The annual Indiana State Luncheon was held as usual on the last Saturday in April, with 417 Pi Phis present. This was the second largest attendance

in the history of these celebrations.

Some of the clubs were fortunate in having a visit from Lillian Beck Holton, Assistant to the Grand Treasurer, at the time of her official visits to the chapters in the province.

The province vice-president had the privilege of visiting all but one club in the province during the past year, and she hopes that they derived some of the pleasure and profit from these visits that she herself gained from the personal contacts.

It was a pleasure, also, to make an unofficial visit to  $\Pi$   $\Phi$  E at DePauw University, and to find this group exceptionally well-qualified to become a part of our organization. They should add real strength to the Fraternity. To this group and to the clubs goes thanks for helping to make these visits so enjoyable.

Delta Province Vice-President takes this opportunity to express her appreciation to all club officers for their cooperation, and to the national officers for their patient help, and their faithful, un-

tiring service to Pi Beta Phi.

Respectfully submitted, Helen Anderson Lewis

# **EPSILON PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT**

R EGARDLESS of the fact that the war has brought the problem of a changing membership to all of the clubs in Epsilon Province, the year 1941-42 has been a very satisfactory one for most of these clubs. Although the war has also brought into clearer focus other difficulties confronting club organizations, the officers have courageously recognized and made real efforts to solve these difficulties.

The Jefferson City and Little Pigeon clubs had 100 per cent membership again this year. The total for the province was 439, including one

isolated member.

All of the eleven clubs contributed to the Settlement School, and only one did not send a gift to the Loan Fund. Seven clubs gave to Holt House. As usual, all but one club had an active local magazine agency, and only one in addition to the Little Pigeon club had no Arrowcraft sale.

Even clubs remote from active chapters made gifts to one or more chapters, or else gave rush parties. In cases where no gift is shown on the chart, other assistance was given.

As a group, only one club did not participate in local civic and war projects. The St. Louis club organized the Arrow Volunteer Unit. This officer regrets her inability to be of more

This officer regrets her inability to be of more assistance this year to the Epsilon Province clubs, and wishes to thank the officers and members for their work for Pi Beta Phi.

Respectfully submitted, KATHARINE KIBLER LYONS

# ZETA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

THE eleven clubs in Zeta Province continue to manifest their loyalty to Pi Beta Phi. The province has a total membership of 245, which is a slight increase over last year—of this number twelve are affiliated seniors.

We are very proud of the new club that has been added to the province in Jackson, Mississippi, with a membership of eighteen. This is the first club in the state. They are setting a fine example

in Fraternity fellowship and service.

Lakeland again is the only club in the province with 100% paid membership. Atlanta, Birmingham, De Land, Jacksonville, Lakeland, and Orlando are 100% in contributing to the three fraternity projects—Settlement School, Loan Fund, and Holt House.

Miami continues to have a junior Auxiliary

group.

It is very gratifying to be able to report an increase in the sale of magazines this year over last. The total in commissions earned for the Settlement School is \$209.30—an increase of \$95.10 over last year. This speaks well for the local chairman. Jackson, Mississippi, earned the largest commission of \$29.30 and Atlanta next with \$26.55. The total amount includes \$20.55, which the five active chapters earned in this way.

Five clubs had a sale of Arrowcraft this year. The newest club in the province, Jackson, Mississippi, sold the largest amount—\$113.23; Birmingham was second with \$84.35.

Several clubs contribute to local causes. Miami pledged \$120.00 to the Crippled Children's Hospital, which is to be paid over a period of two years. A plaque will be placed in the hospital inscribed with their name. The Atlanta Club, in addition to supporting Panhellenic, made scrap books for the Atlanta Child's Home, founded by Mrs. F. M. Robinson, an I. C. member of the Fraternity. The Orlando Club gave \$10.00 to the Goodfellows at Christmas time for Orlando's needy. Miami also sent discarded Christmas cards to the Settlement School.

The province takes pride in the accomplishments of several of its outstanding members. The Atlanta Club claims Mrs. F. M. Robinson; the Jackson, Mississippi, Club Norena Easterling, author of several books—the latest to be published is Peter and Ann; the Miami Club has Ellen Knight Whiteside, who is the only woman ever appointed by the Governor of Florida as a member of the State Welfare Board, which is a part of the State government and includes only seven members. This board handles all money allocated by the Federal and State governments under Social Security. Before this appointment Mrs. Whiteside served as one of the twelve District officers who work with the State Board.

All the clubs in the province are actively engaged in Red Cross and Defense work. The club at Jackson meets once a week as a group to sew for the Red Cross. Miami raised \$272.00 for "Bundles

for Blueiackets.'

All clubs continue in their interest and help to the five active chapters in the province. The Atlanta Club gives a recognition pin each year to the pledge at Georgia A having the highest scholastic average. They also made the chapter a gift this year of an electric clock for the chapter room, and two table lamps to be used in the study hall. Miami gave \$25.00 to Florida B to help purchase a stove—several of the Florida clubs contributed to the purchase of this stove for Florida B. Orlando gave Florida P \$12.00 to help with rushing, and helped in other ways in rushing. Most of the clubs help the chapters with summer rushing.

This was the year for official visits of the

province vice-president. To have had this privilege of visiting her clubs once in every two years for the past several years has meant much to this officer in friendships made, as well as in deepening her feeling for Pi Beta Phi. She will always be grateful for the cordial way in which she was received by each club, and for the many thoughtful courtesies extended to her.

It has been a privilege to have served as Zeta Province Vice-President, and words cannot express my appreciation to the Fraternity for this honor and opportunity of service. It has been a real pleasure to know and work with the fine officers in each club, and to have had such splendid cooperation from them. Sincerest thanks is extended to them and to the national officers of the Fraternity, who always stand ready to give helpful advice, as well as inspiration at all times.

Respectfully submitted, WINIFRED SMITH PAIGE

# ETA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

THE alumnæ clubs of Eta Province have had a very pleasant and successful year. We are proud to announce a new club, Bloomington-Normal, which was chartered last fall with sixteen

paid members.

Our province stood highest in paid membership from January 1, 1941, to January 1, 1942. Donations to Settlement School have increased, as have Arrowcraft sales. Magazine sales have nearly tripled last year's sales and including active chapters, we stood second. Loan Fund and Holt House contributions are about the same and donations of both money and gifts to active chapters have increased. More clubs are adding to their budget a fund for a Convention and Conference delegate. Defense work has been done by individuals of most of the clubs. Many clubs are doing local charity work and many are representative in Panhellenic.

Founders' Day this year, our seventy-fifth, was

celebrated with a deeper feeling and with more pride, even though all elaboration was omitted. One club, Chicago South, had a very informal tea and took the money which they would have used for a luncheon with a speaker, decorations, etc., and bought books for the boys' dormitory at Settlement School—a very fine tribute to our Founders.

On my official visits this year, thirteen in number, I have found extreme courtesy and the cooperation I have had from the majority of the club offi-

cers, has been most satisfactory.

It has been another year of pleasant work and associations and I wish to thank all those who have helped me so generously. Let us hope we shall be able to give of our time to Pi Phi during all the present demands, bearing in mind always the thought and purpose with which it, Pi Phi, was founded.

Respectfully submitted, HARRIETTE A. MACCLYMENT

### THETA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

THETA PROVINCE is happy to start the annual report with the announcement that we have a new club formed during the year. Twenty members of the Minneapolis Club who could not meet with the afternoon group have their charter and have formed the Minneapolis Evening Club. This group has been meeting for a couple of years and will, we know, continue its work for the good of the Fraternity in the same fine spirit which Minneapolis Pi Phis have always shown.

Theta Province paid membership is the same this year as last, 439, 8 of this number being seniors of last year. Many of those paying senior dues are not located in towns where there are organized alumnæ clubs making it impossible for them to affiliate, but those who do become active are almost without exception good working members and they bring a most desirable interest into our older

groups,

The province contributions to Holt House are \$11.00 more than in 1941, the amount sent the loan fund is the same as last year, \$108.53 less was sent to the Settlement School but to balance this \$95.00 additional was given to local chapters. This means that Theta Province is continuing its active interest in the Fraternity projects and the reports show that in addition the Fraternity members have taken on many war efforts both as groups and as individuals. This is as it should be for if we do not support our own projects no one else will do it for us and we will lose ground in these worthwhile enterprises which have been years in the building, and we have taken on our war work in addition, cheerfully, efficiently and uncomplainingly.

There has been a \$31.48 increase in magazine subscription commissions which is gratifying and we hope next year to show a greater increase here as we expect to push this particular possibility for

school support.

Two clubs were visited in the fall, Iowa City and Cedar Rapids. Four clubs in the province have not been called on during the biennium, Mt. Pleasant, Burlington, Sioux City, and Council Bluffs, but we expect to make these visits early in the fall. The correspondence with the various clubs has been

most satisfactory this past year and we appreciate this cooperation and the contacts which these letters have given us.

For the privilege of serving our Fraternity in the office of Province Vice-President and the delightful contacts which this has made possible with the members of the Fraternity, for the help given by the various officers and committee members and the pleasure of working with them, we have been most grateful.

Respectfully submitted,

LAURA STORMS KNAPP

# IOTA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

THE clubs of Iota Province have worked well this past year. Not all has been accomplished that had been hoped for in this, our seventy-fifth year, but circumstances have altered many things. There has been a decided increase in membership, with the total at 565. Cheyenne, Hutchinson, Manhattan, and Poudre Valley are 100% paid membership clubs.

The province again led all others in magazine sales, with Denver and Casper winning, as they did last year, the two \$10 prizes offered to the alumnæ. Each magazine chairman deserves a word of praise, as the results were splendid. Every club participated in the magazine agency this year.

Regretfully, the province is not 100% in contributions to the Fraternity projects. Thirteen clubs contributed to all three, but four did not. A total of \$639 was sent to the Settlement School, \$60

to the Loan Fund, \$64.35 to Holt House, and Arrowcraft sales amounted to \$1,464.51. Generous offerings of cash, other gifts, and rushing aid were given to the chapters. There is a fine spirit of cooperation between the chapters and clubs of this province.

Nearly every club has participated in some branch of war work. This activity has taken the time of many Pi Phis, but they have found time to give to the work of the Fraternity as well.

To the club officers and members, to Miss Onken, Mrs. Smith, Mrs. Wild, Mrs. Holton, and Mrs. Purdunn, sincere appreciation is expressed by this officer for the help and inspiration given her. To work for Pi Beta Phi is a valuable experience.

Respectfully submitted, MARJORIE H. COLVIN

# KAPPA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

K APPA PROVINCE is indeed proud of one new club this year, Ponca City, Oklahoma. In such uncertain and difficult times it is heartening to know that new groups of Pi Phis can band themselves together to add to the splendid work already being carried on by the older clubs. Nearly every club in the province deserves recognition in one way or another, for each has worked hard for the Fraternity. Due to world conditions, some have placed greater emphasis on war work than usual, but all have striven to uphold the ideals of Pi Beta Phi both as individuals and as clubs. I can think of no better way to place our Fraternity in the front ranks of all organizations.

Such donations as \$200.00, Dallas; \$200.00, Houston; \$130.00, Oklahoma City; \$120.00, Nita Hill Stark Club in Beaumont; and \$100.00, Austin, show that there has been no lessening in interest toward the Settlement School. The Province Vice-President's dream of a one hundred per cent record

of club donations to this greatest of all Fraternity projects still falls short of realization, but it is nevertheless inspirational to have hopes and dreams.

Tulsa, Oklahoma, led all clubs in the province with a paid membership of 90, followed by Houston with 86, New Orleans with 76, Dallas with 69 and Oklahoma City with 59.

The chapters in Kappa Province had a most satisfactory record of 100 per cent donations to the Settlement School, Loan Fund, and Holt House. Their continued interest in these Fraternity projects is surely responsible for the success of the alumnæ clubs of which they later became members.

I wish to thank the members of Grand Council for their constant helpfulness and tolerance, and the club officers for their cooperation.

Respectfully submitted,

OLIVIA S. MOORE

# LAMBDA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

Our country is at war. It has been aptly said that trouble never leaves us where it finds us. We either sink to further depths or rise to greater heights than ever before. After visiting the nineteen alumnæ clubs of Lambda Province last fall, I am confident that yet higher goals are in store for Pi Beta Phi.

My first visits were to the Canadian clubs at Edmonton and Calgary. They have found that fraternity love and friendships have become stronger since England has been at war. Though my visits to the other Lambda Province clubs were before Pearl Harbor, yet the proximity of war was such that they too were looking to those things which endure. Our Fraternity ties will continue

to mean more and more to us through the years which lie ahead, and the heritage passed on to future Pi Phis will be ever more precious.

In spite of the demand for more and more community service from our alumnæ clubs I feel Lambda Province may be proud of the year's record. We have five 100% paid membership clubs, Calgary, Corvallis; Olympia, Pullman, and Wenatchee. Eight clubs are 100 per cent in their support of our three Fraternity projects; those clubs being Boise, Everett, Olympia, Portland, Salem, Spokane, Tacoma, and Wenatchee. Seventeen clubs contributed to the Magazine Fund and ten clubs had Arrowcraft sales.

We have an increase of 51 paid memberships

for Lambda Province, the total being 557. An increase of \$32.66 was made this year in contributions to the Settlement School, the largest gift was \$115 from the Seattle Alumnæ Club. An increase of \$63.29 was made in commissions earned for the Magazine Fund. Our Arrowcraft sales show an increase of \$130.78, Seattle again having the record in a sale of \$1,008.20.

It is with regret that we must report a decrease of \$20.50 in our contributions to the Loan Fund and a decrease of \$7.50 to Holt House. But our recompense lies in the fact that our clubs have given more than previously to Red Cross and to local relief agencies.

The amount of \$1,902.10 was given to active chapters this past year. The Seattle Alumnæ Club

made gifts to Washington A in the amount of

Because of ill health it was impossible for me to carry on my regular correspondence with my clubs the latter part of this year. I wish to express my gratitude for the kindness and patience which has been accorded me by the clubs and their officers as well as Ruth Barrett Smith, Lillian Beck Holton, and Adele Taylor Alford. It is my earnest hope to be able to fill my position to the best of my ability this coming year.

Surely our need for close cooperation has never been so vital. With shortages and rationing comes the necessity for devising other ways and means to carry on. And carry on, we shall!

Respectfully submitted, EMMA LOUISE DAUBERT THOMPSON

# MU PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

Because so much of Mu Province is now very definitely a military zone and even a potential combat area, her clubs have found themselves facing many a new and difficult situation. To groups who have suddenly found themselves plunged into a blackout, evening meetings immediately become inadvisable.

All clubs are helping in the national emergency, members of the smaller ones working mostly as individuals while larger clubs, where numbers make this possible, work as groups. This entails both money gifts and personal service and if the hours given by Pi Phis could be tabulated, it would be an imposing figure. Included in the outstanding work toward the war effort are Pasadena's work and donation for the Visiting Nurses' Association, San Francisco's gift of \$100.00 for auxiliary mobile lights for twenty Red Cross Centers, Nevada's formation of a Red Cross unit listed as the "Pi Beta Phi Alumnæ Club Canteen Unit" and Los Angeles Club's Gray Lady Corps of the Red Cross which, with the club's financial backing has equipped and staffed four Recreation Rooms for one of the regiments in active service on the coast and has equipped two Officers' Rooms and a room for the Medical Unit, in addition. Included in this corps are several Gray Ladies from the Santa Monica Club.

That all this should have had so little effect upon the support given by the Province to Fraternity-sponsored projects testifies to the depth of interest felt by Pi Phis everywhere for our own. The achievement of Honolulu Club in sending \$100 to Settlement School cannot be passed over silently. This is not a large club and many of her members have been evacuated. Her example is one to make the rest of us fell very humble. In general, throughout the province donations to Settlement School increased, though the total was somewhat smaller than last year, offset by increased support through Magazine Commissions.

Contributions to Loan Fund were lessened by \$11.50 and Arrowcraft sales were considerably smaller. This is natural with conditions on the coast as they are at present.

Altogether, it is with pride in the province that this report is made. The response to the emergency and the spirit of the membership is an inspiration to one who knows these clubs from the outside.

To the clubs, their officers and to the lay members of the clubs, each of whom plays so important a part in the success of her group, is the Fraternity indebted.

To each of them go heartfelt thanks from the province vice-president. To all Council members and to the Assistants who are always ready with help and backing, she feels most grateful indeed.

Respectfully submitted, HELEN M. WAUGH



				N C	/	Cont	AL	PHA PRO	VINCE	EAST				Settle-			
Club 1941-42		Paid Mem.		No. of Meet- ings	At- tend.	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft	Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
Boston,	200	48	\$2.00	4	30	\$322.40	\$2000.00	\$ 31.27	-	-	\$ 25.00	Maine Alpha	\$11.00	\$ 5.00	\$ 5.00	\$ 7.01	\$ 2.00
Burlington	46	17	2.00	5	16	5.00	93.00	_	_	-	House payments	Nova Scotia Alpha	7.00	5.00	2.00	_	5.00
Halifax	. 34	12	2.00	12	10		-	-	-	_		Vermont Alpha	8.00	5.00	10.00	4.73	-
Hartford†	45	40	2.00	10	28	50.00	196.57	109.20	\$ 5.00	\$ 5.00	_	Vermont Beta	11.00	20.00	2.00	-	3.00
Montreal*†	. 32	32	3.00	9	22	5.00	_	_	1.00	2.00	-	Massachusetts Alpha	6.00	5.00	5.00	3.30	5.00
New Haven	. 28	14	1.50	4	12	5.00	-	1.80	5.00	_	-		-	_	_	-	_
Portland	. 19	19	1.50	10	6	5.00	175.80	4.40	5.00	5.00	Sophomore		-	_	_	_	-
Club 1941-42	Res.	Paid Mem.		Meet-	Aver. At- tend.	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft	PHA PRO Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	WEST Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
Albany	. 26	19	\$2.00	10	15	\$ 10.00	\$ 469.65	\$ 11.55	\$ 5.00	_	\$ 20.00	New York Alpha	\$11.00	_	_	\$ 3.00	_
Buffalo	. 52	39	2.00	IO	27	25.00	225.60	27.90	10.00	_	25.00	New York Gamma	10.00	-	-	2.75	_
London, Ontario	. 40	32	3.00	8	25	5.00	_	-	5.00	-	25.00	New York Delta	11.00	_	-	4-45	_
Mid-Hudson Valley	. 18	14	1.50	9	7	10.00	-	6.70	3.00	_	5.00	Ontario Alpha	7.00	2.00	\$ 2.00	-	-
Mohawk Valley	. 18	14	2.00	8	10	15.00	137.85	18.95	5.00	-	4.00	Ontario Beta	19.00	5.00	5.00	_	5.00
New York City	. 250	83	3.50 Deb 2.50		40	107.50	722.16	27.30	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-
Northern New Jersey	130	41	L.I. 1.50 2.00		32	75.00	340.00	45.30	2.50	\$ 2.50	10.00		_	_	_	-	_

<sup>\*</sup> Gave to local causes.

<sup>†</sup> Gave to National Defense.

							ALPHA I	PROVINC	E WES	Γ (Contin	nued)			-			
Club 1941–42				Meet-		Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft	Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
Rochester	49	29	2.00	6	26	50.00	_	60.68	5.00	-	gift	11813	_	_	-	-	
Schenectady	43	43	1.25	9	20	20.00	_	2.50	-	-	-		1	-	-	-	-
Syracuse	100	56	2.00	11	20	50.00	73.75	37.95	10.00	-	55.00	Linux	-	-	_	-	_
Toronto, Ontario	195	54	2.00	4	40	-	-	_	-	-	15.00		-	-	_	-	-

746.17 99.48 10.00

				N - C		C.ul-		BETA I	PROVING	CE				Carol			
Club 1941-42	Res. Alum.	Paid Mem.		No. of Meet- ings		Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft	Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
Akron*†	58	34	\$2.00	9	23	\$ 75.00	\$ 68.94	\$ 12.40	\$ 5.00	\$ 5.00	-	Pennsylvania Beta	\$13.00	\$ 92.00	-	\$48.78	\$15.00
Athens	45	20	1.25	5	18	6.00	76.40	8.30	3.00	6.00	-	Pennsylvania Gamma	5.00	-	-	16.60	-
Central Pennsylvania	30	27	1.50	7	20	17.71	87.44	16.30	3.00	3.00	-	Ohio Alpha	8,00	45.00	\$10.00	12.95	-
Cincinnatti*†	60	38	2.50	9	25	185.00	182.95	33.85	10.00	10.00	\$ 8.00	Ohio Beta	11.00	-	-	14.40	-
Cleveland*†	250	104	3.00	9	60	715.55	469.76	21.95	10.00	50.00	-	Ohio Delta	5.00	-	2.50	16.75	-
Columbus*	240	131	3.00	9	65	75.00		. 16.80	10.00	10.00	-	West Virginia Alpha	_	_	-	1.18	_
Dayton*	55	22	2.00	9	18	73.00	190.00	_	_	-			-	-	-	-	-
Harrisburg-Carlisle	40	28	2.50	8	18	100.00	-	6.80	2.50	2.50	20.00		-	-	-		
Mahoning Valley	45	17	1.50	6	16	30.00	1	15.15	_	-	-		-	-	-	-	
Morgantown†	25	18	2.00	7	10	-	-	6.80	_	-	145.68		-	_	_	_	-
Ohio Valley	60	16	2.00	8	15	10.00	18.18	1.00	4.00	4.00	-		-	-	-	-	-
Philadelphia	358	56	2.00	6	45	278.20	500.00	29.05	-	-	_		-	-	-	-	_

<sup>\*</sup> Gave to local causes.

Westchester County . . . . . 200 64 2.00 4

							BET	A PROVI	NCE (C	intinued)							
Club 1941-42		Paid . Mem.		Meet-	Aver. At- tend.	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft	Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
Pittsburgh	125	40	2.00	8	30	50.00	-	109.75	5.00	10.00	-		-	_	-	-	_
South Hills-Pittsburgh†	40	26	2.00	10	17	75.00	128.00	9.25	_	-	-		_	-	_	-	-
Southern New Jersey	36	23	2.00	6	16	40.50	-	24.40	3.00	-	-		-	-	-	-	_
Toledo*†	52	38	1.50	9	30	45.00	-	1.75	15.00	5.00	-		-	-	_	-	-
Miscellaneous	-	5	-	-	-	-	-	12.95	-	3.00	_		_	_	-	-	-
Club		Paid . Mem.		Meet-	Aver. At- tend.	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft	GAMMA Mag. Fund	PROVIN Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
Chapel Hill	-		\$1.00	-	11							D. C. Alpha	/	\$1000.00	_	_	_
W 11	N.B		391	7 night	45			910.0			- 11						

Club 1941-42			Am't Dues			ment School	Arrow Craft	Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
Chapel Hill	22	15	\$1.00	6	11	\$ 15.00	\$ 124.20	\$ 29.35	\$ 2.00	\$ 2.00	\$ 11.00	D. C. Alpha	\$ 8.00	\$1000.00	-	-	_
Washington, D. C. sr	400	81	3.00	7 night 4 aft.	45 30	222.02	402.24	149.03	10.00	5.00	75.00	Maryland Alpha	7.00	25.00	5.00	.70	4.00
Washington, D. C. jr	180	33	3.00	10	25	10.00	-	-	10.00	5.00	5.00	North Carolina Alpha	23.00	-	5.00	1.85	-
Baltimore	125	37	3.00	8	27	80.00	36.03	22.95	10.00	10.00	7.00	North Carolina Beta	12.00	-	_	4.75	_
Tri-City	30	13	1.50	5	6	22.28	_	.50	10.14	1.00	-	South Carolina Alpha	10.00	-	-	-	-
Charlotte	22	14	1.00	4	10	2.00	61.10	15.20	1.36	1.00	-	Virginia Alpha	7.00	5.00	5.00	2,40	5.00
Richmond	45	24	2.00	8	14	25.00	-	6.00	5.00	-	-	Virginia Gamma	11.00	10.00	5.00	7.96	-
Columbia	25	12	2.50	4	10	20.00	-	3:80	5.00	1.00	-		-	-	-	-	-
Williamsburg, Advisory	-	5	-	_	-	-	_	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	_
In div. Dues paid by alumnae not near any alumnae club		4		_	_	_	_	_	_	_	111		_	-		1	_

<sup>\*</sup> Gave to local causes.

<sup>†</sup> Gave to National Defense.

DE	LTA	PROV	INCE

	n.11				Settle-	A				Anthon	Chanten	Senion	Settle-	Lonn	Man	Holt
			ings	tend.	School	Craft	Fund	Fund	House	Chapter	Chapter	Dues	School	Fund	Fund	House
56	38	\$2.50	5	25	\$ 29.80	\$ 149.28	\$ 9.95	\$ 5.00	\$ 5.00	\$ 20.00	Michigan Alpha	\$11.00	\$ 5.00	\$ 5.00	\$ 6.45	\$ 5.00
42	21	3.00	17	13	25.00	324.65	24.60	2.50	-	-	Michigan Beta	9.00	5.00	5.00	6.17	5.00
32	24	2.00	9	15	20.00	-,	1.50	5.00	5.00	-	Indiana Alpha	3.00	10,00	10.00	2.00	5.00
300	99	3.00	4 general	55	150.00	400.00	103.75	5.00	5.00	_	Indiana Beta	15.00	5.00	5.00	2.00	5.00
25	13	2.00	7	10	3.00	54.65	3.50	3.00	-	-	Indiana Gamma	9.00	10.00	5.00	14.35	10.00
38	30	2.00	9	30	10.00	5.00	15.25	5.00	5.00	-	Indiana Delta	8.00	10.00	5.00	3-45	5.00
82	39	2.00	8	25	5.00	36.20	16.15	5.00	5.00	15.00	Pi Phi Epsilon	-	-	-	10.40	-
16	16	2.50	10	9	-	-	26.50	-	-	-		_	_	_	-	-
33	17	1.50	9	18	5.00		20.70	3.00	-	_	_	-	-	_	-	-
26	11	1.50	10	15	-	-	-	1.00	-	_		_	-	-	-	-
475	74	3.00	10	54	62.25	149.60	161.55	5.00	5.00	gifts		-	-	_	-	-
47	36	2.00	9	24	15.00	209.10	4.35	5.00	2.00	5.00		_	_	_	-	-
-	11	1.00	5	8	-		33.50	1.00	1.00	gift		_	_	_	_	-
13	11	2.00	9	6	1.00	-	23.85	1.00	1.00	-		_	_	-	_	-
27	24	1.50	10	15	20.00	53.86	9.70	1.00	1.00	-	-	+1-	-	-	-	-
. 20	14	1.00	5	12	10.00	-	9.35	-	-	gift		-	-	-	-	-
. 20	11	2.00	10	6	5.00	-	5.95	-	-	gift		-	-	-	-	_
. –	1	_	-	_	-	-	_	_	_	_			-	_	-	-
	Alum.	Alum. Mem.  56 38  42 21  32 24  300 99  25 13  38 30  82 39  16 16  33 17  26 11  475 74  47 36  — 11  13 11  27 24  20 14	Alum. Mem. Dues  56 38 \$2.50  42 21 3.00  32 24 2.00  300 99 3.00  25 13 2.00  82 39 2.00  82 39 2.00  16 16 2.50  33 17 1.50  47 36 2.00  47 36 2.00  47 36 2.00  - 11 1.00  27 24 1.50  20 14 1.00  20 11 2.00	Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Dues ings         Meetings           56         38         \$2.50         \$           42         21         3.00         17           32         24         2.00         9           300         99         3.00         general           25         13         2.00         7           38         30         2.00         9           82         39         2.00         8           16         16         2.50         10           33         17         1.50         9           26         11         1.50         10           475         74         3.00         10           47         36         2.00         9           -         11         1.00         5           13         11         2.00         9           27         24         1.50         10           20         14         1.00         5           20         14         1.00         5	Alum. Mem. Dues ings tend.  56 38 \$2.50 5 25  42 21 3.00 17 13  32 24 2.00 9 15  300 99 3.00 general 55  25 13 2.00 7 10  38 30 2.00 9 30  82 39 2.00 8 25  16 16 2.50 10 9  33 17 1.50 9 18  26 11 1.50 10 15  475 74 3.00 10 54  47 36 2.00 9 24  — 11 1.00 5 8  13 11 2.00 9 6  27 24 1.50 10 15  20 14 1.00 5 12  20 11 2.00 10 6	Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Dues ings         Meet tend.         Attend.         School           56         38         \$2.50         5         25         \$29.80           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00           32         24         2.00         9         15         20.00           300         99         3.00 general         55         150.00           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00           38         30         2.00         9         30         10.00           82         39         2.00         9         30         10.00           82         39         2.00         9         18         5.00           16         16         2.50         10         9         —           33         17         1.50         9         18         5.00           26         11         1.50         10         54         62.25           47         36         2.00         9         24         15.00           —         11         1.00         5         8         —           -13	Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Dues         Meethings         Attend. School         Arrow Craft           56         38         \$2.50         \$5         25         \$29.80         \$149.28           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65           32         24         2.00         9         15         20.00         —           300         99         3.00         general         55         150.00         400.00           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65           38         30         2.00         9         30         10.00         5.00           82         39         2.00         8         25         5.00         36.20           16         16         2.50         10         9         —         —           33         17         1.50         9         18         5.00         —           475         74         3.00         10         54         62.25         149.60           47         36         2.00         9         24         15.00         209.10           —         11 <td>Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Dues ings ings tend.         Aver. School School Craft         Arrow Fund         Mag. Fund           56         38         \$2.50         5         25         \$29.80         \$149.28         \$9.95           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60           30         99         3.00         general         55         150.00         400.00         103.75           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         \$4.65         3.50           38         30         2.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         15.25           82         39         2.00         8         25         5.00         36.20         16.15           16         16         2.50         10         9         —         —         26.50           33         17         1.50         9         18         5.00         —         20.70           26         11         1.50         10         15         —         —         20.70           47         36         2.00         9         24         15.00         209.10<td>Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Dues         Meet Alum. At tend.         Settlement School         Arrow Craft         Mag. Fund         Loan Fund           56         38         \$2.50         5         25         \$29.80         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50           30         99         3.00         9         15         20.00         —         1.50         5.00           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65         3.50         3.00           38         30         2.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         15.25         5.00           38         30         2.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         15.25         5.00           82         39         2.00         8         25         5.00         36.20         16.15         5.00           16         16         2.50         10         9         —         —         26.50         —           33         17         1.50         9         18         5.00</td><td>Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Dues         Meet lings         Att. school         ment Craft         Arrow Fund         Mag. Fund         Loan Holt House           56         38         \$2.50         5         25         \$29.80         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00         \$5.00           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50         —           300         99         3.00 general         55         150.00         400.00         103.75         5.00         5.00           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65         3.50         3.00         —           38         30         2.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         15.25         5.00         5.00           82         39         2.00         8         25         5.00         36.20         16.15         5.00         5.00           16         16         2.50         10         9         —         —         26.50         —         —           33         17         1.50         9         18         5.00         —         20.70</td><td>Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Dues         Meet ings ings ings and points.         Are ment School         Arrow Craft         Mag. Fund         Loan Fund         Holt House         Active Chapter           56         38         \$2.50         5         25         \$29.80         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00         \$5.00         \$20.00           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50         —         —           300         99         3.00 general         55         150.00         400.00         103.75         5.00         5.00         —           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65         3.50         3.00         —         —           38         30         2.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         15.25         5.00         5.00         —           82         39         2.00         8         25         5.00         36.20         16.15         5.00         5.00         15.00           16         16         2.50         10         9         —         —         26.50         —         —         —&lt;</td><td>Res. Paid Alum. Men. Dues         Awr. logs ings         Settlement School         Arrow Craft         Mag. Fund         Loan Holt House         Active Chapter         Chapter           56         38         \$2.50         \$5         25         \$29.80         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00         \$20.00         Michigan Alpha           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50         —         —         Michigan Alpha           300         99         3.00         general         55         150.00         400.00         103.75         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Alpha           300         99         3.00         general         55         150.00         400.00         103.75         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Alpha           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65         3.50         3.00         —         —         Indiana Alpha           82         39         2.00         8         25         5.00         36.20         16.15         5.00         5.00         15.00         Pi Phi Epsilon           16         16         2</td><td>Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Meer Alum Mem.         Meet Are Meet Are tend.         Settle Meet Are Meet Are Meet Are Meet Are Meet Meet Are Meet Meet Are Meet Meet Are Meet</td><td>Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Mem. Dues         Meet Artings         Arrow tend.         Arrow Craft         Mag. Fund         Loan Fund         Holt House Chapter         Active Chapter         Chapter         Senior Dues         Settlement ment ment ment ment ment ment ment</td><td>Res. Paid Aun. Mem.         Aun't bines         Are ings         Earl Are bines         Are bines         Loan Fund         Holt Fund         Active Chapter         Chapter         Senior School Fund         Loan Fund           56         38         \$2.50         \$         25         \$2.9.80         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00         \$2.00         Michigan Alpha         \$11.00         \$5.00         \$5.00           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50         —         —         Michigan Beta         9.00         5.00         \$5.00           30         29         3.00         9         15         20.00         —         1.50         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Alpha         3.00         10.00         10.00           30         99         3.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         103.75         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Alpha         3.00         10.00         5.00           45         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         5.00         15.25         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Gamma         9.00         10.00<td>Res. Paid Alum. Mem. Alum. Mem. Dues         No. of Average ings         Archadum. School         Arrow Craft         Fund         Hole House         Active Chapter         Chapter         Senior Dues         Sectloge School         Fund         Fund         Hole House         Chapter         Chapter         Senior Dues         School Fund         Fund         Fund           36         38         \$2.50         5         25         \$2.980         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00         \$5.00         Michigan Alpha         \$11.00         \$5.00         \$5.00         \$6.45           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50         —         —         Michigan Beta         9.00         5.00         5.00         5.00         6.17           32         24         2.00         9         15         20.00         400.00         103.75         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Beta         15.00         5.00         5.00         2.00           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65         3.50         3.00         —         Indiana Beta         15.00         10.00         5.00         14.35</td></td></td>	Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Dues ings ings tend.         Aver. School School Craft         Arrow Fund         Mag. Fund           56         38         \$2.50         5         25         \$29.80         \$149.28         \$9.95           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60           30         99         3.00         general         55         150.00         400.00         103.75           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         \$4.65         3.50           38         30         2.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         15.25           82         39         2.00         8         25         5.00         36.20         16.15           16         16         2.50         10         9         —         —         26.50           33         17         1.50         9         18         5.00         —         20.70           26         11         1.50         10         15         —         —         20.70           47         36         2.00         9         24         15.00         209.10 <td>Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Dues         Meet Alum. At tend.         Settlement School         Arrow Craft         Mag. Fund         Loan Fund           56         38         \$2.50         5         25         \$29.80         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50           30         99         3.00         9         15         20.00         —         1.50         5.00           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65         3.50         3.00           38         30         2.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         15.25         5.00           38         30         2.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         15.25         5.00           82         39         2.00         8         25         5.00         36.20         16.15         5.00           16         16         2.50         10         9         —         —         26.50         —           33         17         1.50         9         18         5.00</td> <td>Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Dues         Meet lings         Att. school         ment Craft         Arrow Fund         Mag. Fund         Loan Holt House           56         38         \$2.50         5         25         \$29.80         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00         \$5.00           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50         —           300         99         3.00 general         55         150.00         400.00         103.75         5.00         5.00           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65         3.50         3.00         —           38         30         2.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         15.25         5.00         5.00           82         39         2.00         8         25         5.00         36.20         16.15         5.00         5.00           16         16         2.50         10         9         —         —         26.50         —         —           33         17         1.50         9         18         5.00         —         20.70</td> <td>Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Dues         Meet ings ings ings and points.         Are ment School         Arrow Craft         Mag. Fund         Loan Fund         Holt House         Active Chapter           56         38         \$2.50         5         25         \$29.80         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00         \$5.00         \$20.00           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50         —         —           300         99         3.00 general         55         150.00         400.00         103.75         5.00         5.00         —           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65         3.50         3.00         —         —           38         30         2.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         15.25         5.00         5.00         —           82         39         2.00         8         25         5.00         36.20         16.15         5.00         5.00         15.00           16         16         2.50         10         9         —         —         26.50         —         —         —&lt;</td> <td>Res. Paid Alum. Men. Dues         Awr. logs ings         Settlement School         Arrow Craft         Mag. Fund         Loan Holt House         Active Chapter         Chapter           56         38         \$2.50         \$5         25         \$29.80         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00         \$20.00         Michigan Alpha           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50         —         —         Michigan Alpha           300         99         3.00         general         55         150.00         400.00         103.75         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Alpha           300         99         3.00         general         55         150.00         400.00         103.75         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Alpha           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65         3.50         3.00         —         —         Indiana Alpha           82         39         2.00         8         25         5.00         36.20         16.15         5.00         5.00         15.00         Pi Phi Epsilon           16         16         2</td> <td>Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Meer Alum Mem.         Meet Are Meet Are tend.         Settle Meet Are Meet Are Meet Are Meet Are Meet Meet Are Meet Meet Are Meet Meet Are Meet</td> <td>Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Mem. Dues         Meet Artings         Arrow tend.         Arrow Craft         Mag. Fund         Loan Fund         Holt House Chapter         Active Chapter         Chapter         Senior Dues         Settlement ment ment ment ment ment ment ment</td> <td>Res. Paid Aun. Mem.         Aun't bines         Are ings         Earl Are bines         Are bines         Loan Fund         Holt Fund         Active Chapter         Chapter         Senior School Fund         Loan Fund           56         38         \$2.50         \$         25         \$2.9.80         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00         \$2.00         Michigan Alpha         \$11.00         \$5.00         \$5.00           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50         —         —         Michigan Beta         9.00         5.00         \$5.00           30         29         3.00         9         15         20.00         —         1.50         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Alpha         3.00         10.00         10.00           30         99         3.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         103.75         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Alpha         3.00         10.00         5.00           45         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         5.00         15.25         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Gamma         9.00         10.00<td>Res. Paid Alum. Mem. Alum. Mem. Dues         No. of Average ings         Archadum. School         Arrow Craft         Fund         Hole House         Active Chapter         Chapter         Senior Dues         Sectloge School         Fund         Fund         Hole House         Chapter         Chapter         Senior Dues         School Fund         Fund         Fund           36         38         \$2.50         5         25         \$2.980         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00         \$5.00         Michigan Alpha         \$11.00         \$5.00         \$5.00         \$6.45           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50         —         —         Michigan Beta         9.00         5.00         5.00         5.00         6.17           32         24         2.00         9         15         20.00         400.00         103.75         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Beta         15.00         5.00         5.00         2.00           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65         3.50         3.00         —         Indiana Beta         15.00         10.00         5.00         14.35</td></td>	Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Dues         Meet Alum. At tend.         Settlement School         Arrow Craft         Mag. Fund         Loan Fund           56         38         \$2.50         5         25         \$29.80         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50           30         99         3.00         9         15         20.00         —         1.50         5.00           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65         3.50         3.00           38         30         2.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         15.25         5.00           38         30         2.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         15.25         5.00           82         39         2.00         8         25         5.00         36.20         16.15         5.00           16         16         2.50         10         9         —         —         26.50         —           33         17         1.50         9         18         5.00	Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Dues         Meet lings         Att. school         ment Craft         Arrow Fund         Mag. Fund         Loan Holt House           56         38         \$2.50         5         25         \$29.80         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00         \$5.00           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50         —           300         99         3.00 general         55         150.00         400.00         103.75         5.00         5.00           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65         3.50         3.00         —           38         30         2.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         15.25         5.00         5.00           82         39         2.00         8         25         5.00         36.20         16.15         5.00         5.00           16         16         2.50         10         9         —         —         26.50         —         —           33         17         1.50         9         18         5.00         —         20.70	Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Dues         Meet ings ings ings and points.         Are ment School         Arrow Craft         Mag. Fund         Loan Fund         Holt House         Active Chapter           56         38         \$2.50         5         25         \$29.80         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00         \$5.00         \$20.00           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50         —         —           300         99         3.00 general         55         150.00         400.00         103.75         5.00         5.00         —           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65         3.50         3.00         —         —           38         30         2.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         15.25         5.00         5.00         —           82         39         2.00         8         25         5.00         36.20         16.15         5.00         5.00         15.00           16         16         2.50         10         9         —         —         26.50         —         —         —<	Res. Paid Alum. Men. Dues         Awr. logs ings         Settlement School         Arrow Craft         Mag. Fund         Loan Holt House         Active Chapter         Chapter           56         38         \$2.50         \$5         25         \$29.80         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00         \$20.00         Michigan Alpha           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50         —         —         Michigan Alpha           300         99         3.00         general         55         150.00         400.00         103.75         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Alpha           300         99         3.00         general         55         150.00         400.00         103.75         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Alpha           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65         3.50         3.00         —         —         Indiana Alpha           82         39         2.00         8         25         5.00         36.20         16.15         5.00         5.00         15.00         Pi Phi Epsilon           16         16         2	Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Meer Alum Mem.         Meet Are Meet Are tend.         Settle Meet Are Meet Are Meet Are Meet Are Meet Meet Are Meet Meet Are Meet Meet Are Meet	Res. Paid Alum. Mem.         Am't Mem. Dues         Meet Artings         Arrow tend.         Arrow Craft         Mag. Fund         Loan Fund         Holt House Chapter         Active Chapter         Chapter         Senior Dues         Settlement ment ment ment ment ment ment ment	Res. Paid Aun. Mem.         Aun't bines         Are ings         Earl Are bines         Are bines         Loan Fund         Holt Fund         Active Chapter         Chapter         Senior School Fund         Loan Fund           56         38         \$2.50         \$         25         \$2.9.80         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00         \$2.00         Michigan Alpha         \$11.00         \$5.00         \$5.00           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50         —         —         Michigan Beta         9.00         5.00         \$5.00           30         29         3.00         9         15         20.00         —         1.50         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Alpha         3.00         10.00         10.00           30         99         3.00         9         30         10.00         5.00         103.75         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Alpha         3.00         10.00         5.00           45         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         5.00         15.25         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Gamma         9.00         10.00 <td>Res. Paid Alum. Mem. Alum. Mem. Dues         No. of Average ings         Archadum. School         Arrow Craft         Fund         Hole House         Active Chapter         Chapter         Senior Dues         Sectloge School         Fund         Fund         Hole House         Chapter         Chapter         Senior Dues         School Fund         Fund         Fund           36         38         \$2.50         5         25         \$2.980         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00         \$5.00         Michigan Alpha         \$11.00         \$5.00         \$5.00         \$6.45           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50         —         —         Michigan Beta         9.00         5.00         5.00         5.00         6.17           32         24         2.00         9         15         20.00         400.00         103.75         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Beta         15.00         5.00         5.00         2.00           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65         3.50         3.00         —         Indiana Beta         15.00         10.00         5.00         14.35</td>	Res. Paid Alum. Mem. Alum. Mem. Dues         No. of Average ings         Archadum. School         Arrow Craft         Fund         Hole House         Active Chapter         Chapter         Senior Dues         Sectloge School         Fund         Fund         Hole House         Chapter         Chapter         Senior Dues         School Fund         Fund         Fund           36         38         \$2.50         5         25         \$2.980         \$149.28         \$9.95         \$5.00         \$5.00         Michigan Alpha         \$11.00         \$5.00         \$5.00         \$6.45           42         21         3.00         17         13         25.00         324.65         24.60         2.50         —         —         Michigan Beta         9.00         5.00         5.00         5.00         6.17           32         24         2.00         9         15         20.00         400.00         103.75         5.00         5.00         —         Indiana Beta         15.00         5.00         5.00         2.00           25         13         2.00         7         10         3.00         54.65         3.50         3.00         —         Indiana Beta         15.00         10.00         5.00         14.35

<sup>\*</sup> Gave to local causes.

<sup>†</sup> Gave to National Defense.

- 1	P5.4	DOM:	77	CAT	PR	112	Z T 'A.1	100	rs .
- 1	м:	-		3 P	PR	111		160.1	H .

	-							EPSILON	PROVID	VCE				01			
Club 1941–42		Paid Mem.	Am't Dues	1000	At- tend.	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft	Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
Chattanooga*†	122	69	\$2.00	12	30	\$ 15.00	\$ 52.70	\$ 49.50	\$ 2.00	\$ 5.00	Rush party	Kentucky Alpha	\$10.00	\$ 30.00	\$ 5.00	\$ 3.25	-
Columbia	41	32	3.00	8	14	50.00	?	45.40	10.00	-	_	Missouri Alpha	15.00	100.00	25.00	3.00	-
Jefferson City*†	15	15	2.00	12	10	5.00		17.00	1.00	2.50	Gift to Mo. A	Missouri Beta	14.00	100.00	_	10.75	10.00
Kansas City*†	300	93	3.00	8	65	350.00	162.00	101.50	5.00	30.00	\$ 90.00	Missouri Gamma	5.00	50.00	-	4.50	5.00
Little Pigeon†	14	14	1.00	9	10	10.00	_	27.27	1.00	-	_	Tennessee Alpha	6.00	30.00	10.00	6.68	-
Louisville*†	125	28	5.00	, 9	30	25.00	215.00	20.10	1.00	5.00	no.co month rent	Tennessee Beta	3.00	5.00	5.00	.70	2.00
Memphis*	42	24	2.00	9	13	37-33	107.29	4.15	5.00	_	3.50		-	-	-	_	-
Nashville†	30	16	2.00	10	11	10.00	136.50	34-45	1.00	2.00	_		_	-	_	-	-
St. Joseph†	32	21	1.50	7	15	10.00	?	_	1.00	2.00	Rush party		_	-	U_	-	_
St. Louis†	411	91	3.50	10	40	700.00	118.43	142,00	_	17.00	100.00		_	-	-	_	_
Springfield*†	104	35	1.00	9	19	15.00	60.60	20.15	5.00	_	87.84		-	_	-	-	-
Club 1941–42			Am't Dues		Aver. At- tend.	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft	ZETA I Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
Atlanta, Ga.*†	53	27	\$3.00	8	14	\$ 25.00	\$ 10.00	\$ 26.55	\$ 5.00	\$ 2.50	\$25 in gifts Recog. pin	Alabama Alpha	\$ 7.00	\$ 10.00	\$ 5.00	\$ 3.05	\$ 5.00
Birmingham, Ala.*.*	75	24	1.50	9	20	10.00	84.35	8.80	5.00	5.00	Rushing	Florida Alpha	10.00	6.00	5.00	4.80	4.00

<sup>\*</sup> Gave to local causes,

<sup>†</sup> Gave to National Defense.

ZETA	PROVINCE	(Continued)

							ZET	A PROVI	NCE (C	ontinued)							
Club 1941-42		Paid Mem.		No. of Meet- ings	Aver. At- tend.	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft	Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
De Land	25	18	1.00	9	8	10.00	-	11.85	5.00	2.00	Rushing	Florida Beta	10.00	33.30	33.30	3.70	33-30
Jackson‡	19	18	2.00	23	15	5.00	113.23	29.30	-	2.50	-	Florida Gamma	1.00	20.00	20.00	2.70	10.00
Jacksonville	65	20	6.00	18	18	5.00	12.68	20.60	5.00	5.00	Rushing	Georgia Alpha	5.00	4.36	_	6.30	-
Lakeland	12	12	2.00	9	9	5.00	-	4.15	5.00	2.00	-		-	_	-	_	-
Miami*†	66	43	2.00	12	25	50.00	-	48.65	25.00	_	\$25—Fla. B Rushing		_	_	_	_	-
Orlando*	45	36	1.50	8	26	15.00	_	6.50	5.00	2.00	\$12—Fla. I Rushing			_	_	_	_
St. Petersburg	39	12	1.50	4	10	3.00	_	6.80	_	_	-		-	-	1 ==	_	-
Tallahassee	12	10	1.00	4	4	-	-	.90	_	_	Rushing		-	_	_	-	-
Tampa	35	22	5.00	12	18	-	8.90	13.15	_	-	Rushing		_	-	-	_	-
Club 1941-42			Am't Dues		Aver. At- tend.	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft	ETA P Mag. Fund	ROVING Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
Avon	-	10	\$2.00	5	8	_	_	\$ 7.40	_	\$ 4.00	_	Wisconsin Alpha	\$15.00	\$ 50.00	\$25.00	\$69.25	\$10.00
Beloit	23	19	2.00	10	15	\$ 17.00	\$ 30.00	\$ 4.50	\$ 3.00	_	Lace Tablecloth	Wisconsin Beta	14.00	40.00	10.00	17.10	5.00
Bloomington-Normal‡	17	16	2.00	6	12	_	Tea	22.50	_	-	-	Wisconsin Gamma	4.00	10.00	10.00	2.05	10.00
Carthage	10	8	-	6	6	17.00	-	6.35	2.00	5.00	-	Illinois Alpha	7.00	10.00	10.00	7	10.00
Champaign-Urbana	63	45	4.00	8	40	61.40	400.00	32.75	-	_	\$43 to Ill. Zeta	Illinois Beta-Delta	9.00	25.00	10.00	9.80	10.00
Chicago Bus. Womens	_	15	1.50	9	12	35.00	_	13.25	10.00	-	\$5.00	Illinois Epsilon	22.00	25.00	10.00	46.15	10.00
Chicago North	232	40	1.00		3 groups 10 each	_	44.15	27.63	10.00		\$25.00 to Ill. Alpha Silver to Ill. Ep.	Illinois Zeta	15.00	55.00	25.00	24.22	10.00
‡ Chartered this year.	1/6/1	Mili	* G	ive to le	ocal caus	ses.		† Gave to	National	Defense							

DITA	PROVINCE	Cambinana
E I A	PROVINCE	( C.OFILIFINE (I )

Club 1941-42		Paid Mem.	Am't Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver. At- tend.	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft	Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
4				10 group 4	10					Personal							
Chicago South*	140	65	2.00	general	45	100.00	203.05	13.65	-	1.00	_	Illinois Eta	13.00	20.00	10.00	14.15	5.00
Chicago West Suburban	56	22	2.00	8	25	-	102.03	15.40	_	_	_		_	-	-	-	-
Decatur	99	88	2.00	7	43	100.00	200.00	28.90	10.00	_			-	-	-	-	-
Du Page	25	21	-	7	10	10.00	-	12.95	3.00	_	-		-	_	-	-	-
Elgin	17	15	2.00	7	8	15.00	-	12.07	1.00	_	_		_	-	-	-	-
Fox River Valley	. 11	24	2.00	5	12	5.00	_		1,00	_	-		_	-	-	-	_
Galesburg†	80	11	2.00	9	45	-	-	-	-	_	_		_		-	-	-
Jacksonville	8-6	8	1.50	8	8	10.00	-	1.70	1.00	_	_		_	a-on	_	-	-
Joliet	10	12	2.00	9	9	10.00	-	14.40	-	_	_		-		-	-	-
Madison*	47	32	3.00	8	25	50.00	42.28	25.35	20.00	-	-		_	_	_	_	-
Milwaukee	99	72	2.50	9	30	200.00	473.00	56.55	_	-	-		_	-	-	_	-
Monmouth	. 20	24	2.00	9	15	10.00	86.87	29.55	2.50	_	_		_	-	-	_	-
North Shore†‡	400	106	3.00	10	70	_	92.39	28.55	10.00	_	_		_	_	_	_	-
Oak Park-River Forest*	63	21	2.00	9	20	55.00	219.20	13.30	20.00	_	_	,	_	-	_	_	_
Peoria*	32	30	1.75	8	20-25	_	249.10	10.30	7.50	_	_		-	_	_	_	_
Rockford	-	10	_	-	-	3.00	-	-	3.00	-	-		-	_	_	_	-
Springfield	. 31	31	1.50	8	18	30.00	-	12.65	5.00	-	_		-	_	-	-	-
Mrs. Perdunn	_	1	_	_	_	(Miss Onken)	_	28.60	-	_	_		_	_	_	_	-
* Gave to local causes.			+ G	ave to	Nationa	l Defense.		± C	hartered	this year.							

Gave to local causes.

<sup>†</sup> Gave to National Defense.

<sup>‡</sup> Chartered this year.

7	TH	FT	4	P	DO	WI	IN	C	ľ
- 1	ш		123	- 10	N.	1 Y J	LEN		С

Club 1941-42		Paid Mem.		No. of Meet- ings	Aver. At- tend.	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft	Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
Ames	64	38	\$2.00	8	35	\$ 61.00	\$ 279.00	\$ 7.85	\$ 1.00	\$ 5.00	\$ 25.00	Iowa Alpha	\$ 5.00	\$ 2.00	\$ 2.00	\$11.74	\$ 2.00
Burlington	37	20	1.50	4	20	35.00	_	24.05	5.00	24.00	-	Iowa Beta	4.00	-	-	14.05	-
Cedar Rapids	29	15	2.00	10	15	50.00		25.05	-	-	-	Iowa Gamma	11.00	25.00	5.00	13.51	5.00
Council Bluffs	22	12	1.00	4	11	10.00	24.00	11.50	1.00	1.00	-	Iowa Zeta	14.00	15.00	10.00	3.25	10.00
Des Moines	90	45	2.00	10	25	50.00	15.28	13.10	10.00	5.00	10.00	Minnesota Alpha	8.00	25.00	10.00	-	-
Duluth	26	24	1.50	10	19	50.00	70.32	83.00	5.00	5.00	18.45	Manitoba Alpha	10.00	5.00	5.00	_	5.00
Grand Forks	17	16	3.00	9	15	5.00	5.00	10.65	5.00	5.00	_	North Dakota Alpha	5.00	5.00	5.00	1.50	5.00
Indianola	36	30	1.25	8	12	5.00	-	-	5.00	-	10.00		-	-	-	-	-
Iowa City	140	33	2.50	9	20	40.00	-	9.90	-		30.00		_	-	-		-
Minneapolis Afternoon	201	79	2.50	10	50	50.00	110.50	21.05	10.00	10.00	100.00		_	-		-	-
Minneapolis Evening‡	201	20	1.00	9	15	5.00		8.55	5.00	1.00	-		-		-	-	-
Mt. Pleasant	35	27	1.75	8	12	10.00	-	10.90	1.00	1.00	20.00		_	-	-	-	-
St. Paul	60	34	2.00	9	25	100.00	236.31	39.15			100.00		_	-	_	-	-
Sioux City	22	17	2.00	9	10	15.00	-	-	1.00	_	-		_	_	-	-	-
Winnipeg	74	33	2.50	12	20	4.00	_	_	2.00	1.00	25.00		_	-	-	-	-

								IOTA P	ROVING	E							
Club 1941-42				Meet-	At-	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft	Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	House
Boulder*†	44	29	\$2.00	10	23	\$ 45.00	-	\$ 6.60	\$ 5.00	-	Rushing	Colorado Alpha	\$20.00	\$ 75.00	\$10.00	\$16.30	\$ 5.00
Casper	27	23	1.50	8	15	5.00	_	93.95	1.00	\$ 1.00	Gift	Coloardo Beta	14.00	50.00	10.00	-	-
Cheyenne*†	44	47 -	2.00	8	25	25.00	-	15.80	5.00	5.00	20.00	Kansas Alpha	11.00	30.00	10.00	-	10.00

<sup>‡</sup> Chartered this year.

<sup>\*</sup> Gave to local causes.

<sup>†</sup> Gave to National Defense.

IOTA PROVINCE (Continued	IOTA	PROVINCE	(Continued
--------------------------	------	----------	------------

						0	1017	1 PROVI	NCE (Co	insinuea)				0.11			
Club 1941-42		Paid Mem.		No. of Meet- ings		Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft	Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
Colorado Springs	. 18	16	2.00	5	11	10.00	\$ 14.87	12.00	3.00	3.00	-	Kansas Beta	11.00	70.00	10.00	7.67	5.00
Denver*†	450	72	4.00	9	.80	260.00	301.85	251.29	5.00	5.00	85.00	Nebraska Beta	13.00	37.00	10.00	-	10.00
Hutchinson†	16	18	3.00	9	10	5.00	4.00	3.00	1.00	1.00	Rushing 50.00	South Dakota Alpha	9.00	5.00	5.00	4.15	5.00
Kansas City, Kan.†	-	20	2.00	9	12	15.00	-	5.40	3.00	2.00	_	Wyoming Alpha	9.00	25.00	10.00	2.00	10.00
Laramie*	48	32	1.50	8	25	25.00	53.30	29.15	-	5.00	75.00		-		-	-	-
Lawrence †	50	41	1.00	7	25	10.00	-	19.95	5.00	-	30.00		_	-		-	-
Lincoln†	-	35	2.00	8	32	25.00	38.20	76.70	5.00	5.00	109.24		_	-	-	-	_
Manhattan*†	. 28	32	2.00	8	18	100.00	530.00	45.02	5.00	20.35	10.00		_	_	-	_	-
Omaha*†	105	63	2.00	8	50	74.09	483.00	42.15	10.00	5.00	25.00		_	-	-	-	-
Poudre Valley*†	14	14	1.50	9	10	5.00		8.40	1.00	1.00	Gift		~	_	-	-	-
Pueblo†	27	20	2,00	7	14	15.00	-	4:15	3.00	-	-		-	-	_	_	
Topeka*†	32	21	2.25	9	15	15.00	39.29	20.00	3.00	2.00	Rushing	-	-		-	-	-
Vermillion†	. 8	5	2.00	7	6		-	8.75	-	_	Gift		_	_	-	_	-
Wichita*†	115	75	2.00	8	50	5.00	-	112.84	5.00	5.00	75.00		-	-	-	-	-
Isolated Alumnae	-	ī	-	-	_	-		-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-
			77.7														

<sup>\*</sup> Gave to local causes.

<sup>†</sup> Gave to National Defense.

	PROV	

Club	Res.	Paid		No. of Meet-	Aver. At-	Settle- ment	Arrow	Mag.	Loan	Holt	Active	Chapter	Senior	Settle- ment	Loan	Mag.	Holt
1941-42		Mem.		ings	tend.	School	Craft	Fund	Fund	House	Chapter	- Campton	Dues	School	Fund	Fund	House
Ardmore*†	23	23	\$3.00	9	18	-	-	\$ .80	-	-	_		_	-	-	-	-
Austin	-	38	_	-	-	\$100.00	-	-	-	\$ 5.00	-	Texas Alpha	\$31.00	\$100.00	\$ 5.00	\$ 4.70	\$20.00
Baton Rouge	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2.10	-	-	-	Louisiana Beta	11.00	25.00	5.00	4.40	5.00
Çorpus Christi*	32	27	3.00	12	18	50.00	_	7.60	-	5.00	_		_	_	-	_	-
Corsicana	_	_		_	-	-	-	_	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-
Dallas	-	69	_	-	-	200.00	-	49.05	10.00	_	-	Texas Beta	7.00	50.00	5.00	.80	10.00
Fayetteville*	26	25	2.00	7	19	10.00	-	20.55	5.00	10.00	_	Arkansas Alpha	19.00	40.00	10.00	-	Check direct
Fort Smith	_	19	_	-	_	10.00	-	16.10	5.00	10.00	_		_	-	_	-	+ —
Fort Worth	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		_	-	-	_	-
Houston*	139	86	2.50	9	45	200.00	465.66		10.00	10.00	25.00		-	_	-		-
Little Rock*	62	23	2.00	24	18	-	_	11.80	_	_	_		_	-	_	_	_
Muskcgee*	35	26	1.00	12	18	15.00	55.92	7.10	3.00	5.00			-	_	_	-	_
New Orleans	-	76	-	-	_	25.00	_	-	5.00	5.00	-	Louisiana Alpha	9.00	50.00	5.00	.60	25.00
Nita Hill Stark, Beaumont	-	23	-	_	_	120.00	-	_	10.00	_	_		-	_	-	_	_
Norman	-	17	-	-	-	12.60	-	15.35	5.00	-	-	Oklahoma Alpha	8.00	50.00	5.00	1.20	10.00
Oklahoma City*†	. 150	59	.25 per meeting		50	130.00	156.57	18.15	10.00	10.00	-		_	_	_	_	_
Okmulgee*	. 16	15	2.00	9	12	12.00	-	-	2.00	_	_		_	-	_	_	_
Ponca City		11	_	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-		-	_	_	_	_
			1														

<sup>\*</sup> Gave to local causes.

<sup>+</sup> Gave to National Defense.

				No of	Aver.	Settle-	KAPP	A PROV	INCE (C	continued)				Settle-			
Club 1941-42		Paid Mem.	Am't Dues	Meet-		ment School	Arrow Craft	Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
San Antonio*	. 40	31	2.00	7	19	45.00	-	44.70	5.00	10.00	75.00		_	-	_	_	-
Shreveport*	25	25	3.00	8	20	25.00	_	12.75	_	-	-		_	_	-	-	-
Stillwater	- 33	21	2.00	7	18	10.00	113.02	1.80	5.00	5.00	_	Oklahoma Beta	7.00	25.00	5.00	1.25	5.00
Texarkana	28	21	3.00	-	_	15.00	_	-	5.00	5.00			-	_	-	-	-
Tulsa*	200	90	2.50	9	45	65.00	299.75	8.60	5.00	5.00	50.00		_	_	_	-	-
Tyler	_	13	-	_	_	5.00	-	-	5.00	_	_		_	-	_	_	_
Waco,	-	_	_	-	-	_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	-	_	_

lum. 18		Am't Dues	Meet- ings	Aver. At- tend.	ment	Arrow Craft	Mag. Fund	Loan	Holt	Active	Chapter	Senior	Settle- ment	Loan	Mag.	Holt
	14	\$1.00					Lund	Fund	House	Chapter		Dues	School	Fund	Fund	House
		4	8	12	\$ 4.00	-	-	\$ 4.00	-	_		-	-	-	_	_
22	14	2.25	9	IO	_	\$ 103.93	\$ 14.20	_	-	_		_	_	_	_	_
37	27	3.00	8	17	25.00	5.63	5.15	2.50	\$ 2.50	\$ 15.00		-	-	_	_	_
18	12	1.00	9	8	3.00	18.75	3.80	1.00	_	3.00		_		_	_	-
25	25	2.00	8	15	_	_	21.50	_	_	10.00		_	_	_	-	-
20	20	1.00	9	18	5.00	-	10.05	5.00	-	_		_	_	_	_	_
34	27	3.50	9	18	-		31.66	7.00	-	55.00		-	-	_	_	-
3 1 2 2	7 8 5	7 27 8 12 5 25 0 20	7 27 3.00 8 12 1.00 5 25 2.00 0 20 1.00	7 27 3.00 8 8 12 1.00 9 5 25 2.00 8 0 20 1.00 9	7 27 3.00 8 17 8 12 1.00 9 8 5 25 2.00 8 15 0 20 1.00 9 18	7 27 3.00 8 17 25.00 8 12 1.00 9 8 3.00 5 25 2.00 8 15 — 0 20 1.00 9 18 5.00	7 27 3.00 8 17 25.00 5.63 8 12 1.00 9 8 3.00 18.75 5 25 2.00 8 15 — — 0 20 1.00 9 18 5.00 —	7 27 3.00 8 17 25.00 5.63 5.15 8 12 1.00 9 8 3.00 18.75 3.80 5 25 2.00 8 15 — — 21.90 0 20 1.00 9 18 5.00 — 10.05	7 27 3.00 8 17 25.00 5.63 5.15 2.50 8 12 1.00 9 8 3.00 18.75 3.80 1.00 5 25 2.00 8 15 — — 21.50 — 0 20 1.00 9 18 5.00 — 10.05 5.00	7 27 3.00 8 17 25.00 5.63 5.15 2.50 \$ 2.50 8 12 1.00 9 8 3.00 18.75 3.80 1.00 — 5 25 2.00 8 15 — — 21.90 — — 0 20 1.00 9 18 5.00 — 10.05 5.00 —	7 27 3.00 8 17 25.00 5.63 5.15 2.50 \$ 2.50 \$ 15.00 8 12 1.00 9 8 3.00 18.75 3.80 1.00 — 3.00 5 25 2.00 8 15 — — 21.50 — — 10.00 0 20 1.00 9 18 5.00 — 10.05 5.00 — —	7 27 3.00 8 17 25.00 5.63 5.15 2.50 \$ 2.50 \$ 15.00 8 12 1.00 9 8 3.00 18.75 3.80 1.00 — 3.00 5 25 2.00 8 15 — — 21.50 — — 10.00 0 20 1.00 9 18 5.00 — 10.05 5.00 — —	7 27 3.00 8 17 25.00 5.63 5.15 2.50 \$ 2.50 \$ 15.00 —  8 12 1.00 9 8 3.00 18.75 3.80 1.00 — 3.00 —  5 25 2.00 8 15 — — 21.50 — — 10.00 —  0 20 1.00 9 18 5.00 — 10.05 5.00 — —	7 27 3.00 8 17 25.00 5.63 5.15 2.50 \$ 2.50 \$ 15.00 — —  8 12 1.00 9 8 3.00 18.75 3.80 1.00 — 3.00 — —  5 25 2.00 8 15 — — 21.50 — — 10.00 — —  0 20 1.00 9 18 5.00 — 10.05 5.00 — —	7 27 3.00 8 17 25.00 5.63 5.15 2.50 \$ 2.50 \$ 15.00 — — — — — 8 12 1.00 9 8 3.00 18.75 3.80 1.00 — 3.00 — — — — — — 5 25 2.00 8 15 — — 21.50 — — 10.00 — — — — — — — 0 20 1.00 9 18 5.00 — 10.05 5.00 — — — — — —	7 27 3.00 8 17 25.00 5.63 5.15 2.50 \$ 2.50 \$ 15.00 — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —

<sup>\*</sup> Gave to local causes.

<sup>†</sup> Gave to National Defense.

						B. T.	LAMBI	DA PROV	VINCE (	Continue	n)						
Club 1941-42		Paid Mem.		No. of Meet- ings		Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft	Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
Eugene	26	16	2.50	9	15	-	-	15.35	-	_	_		_	-	ш	-	
Everett	18	13	1,00	10	7	25.00	250.95	9.10	1.00	1.00	_	45	_		-	-	-
Moscow	25	20	2.50	8	12	-	_	16.30	_	-	26.75		-	-	_	-	-
Olympia	18	18	1.00	10	10	2.00	-	11.95	2,00	1.00	-		-	-	-	+	-
Portland	257	94	2.50	- 10	50	25.00	600.00	25.80	10.00	5.00	10.00	1.7.7	_	-	_	-	-
Pullman	12	12	1.00	9	9	-	-	-		_	_		-	_	-	_	-
Salem	37	25	1.00	10	20	5.00	26.29	11.20	5.00	1.00	_		:	_	_	-	-
Seattle	346	98	2.00	9	80	115.00	1008.20	36.40	5.00	-	1770-35		-	-	_	-	-
Spokane	120	44	2.00	8 Eve. 6 Aft.	30 12	75.00	234.22	18.10	5.00	5.00	12.00			_	_	_	_
Tacoma	45	32	2.00	7	25	50.00	35.19	1.50	10.00	5.00	-		_	-	-	-	-
Wenatchee	17	17	2.00	9	14	18.76	172.85	7.20	5.00	5.00	_		-	_	-	_	-
Yakima	31	29	1.00	9	20	10.00	-	-	_	_	-		÷	-	-	-	-

Note: All Lambda chapters contributed to Settlement School.

Club 1941-42		Paid Mem.		Meet-	Aver. At- tend.	ment		MU PROVINCE						C1			
							Arrow Craft	Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
Albuquerque*	19	14	\$2.00	6	8	\$ 13.00	-	\$ 10.20	\$ 2.00	\$ 2.00	-	Arizona Alpha	\$ 8.00	\$ 10.00	\$10.00	\$10.05	\$10.00
Berkeley*†	278	79	2.00	8.	60	50.00	\$1870.12	.70	10.00	-	\$ 70.00	California Alpha	9.00	10.00	15.00	-	10.00
El Pasot	17	17	1.00	6	13	3.00	-	1.25	10.00	1.00	_	California Beta	7.00	10.00	10.00	2.00	10.00
Fresnot	25	17	2.00	4	10	5.00	-	8.00	-	-	-	California Gamma	8.00	24.00	12.00	-	12.00
Glendale*†	103	36	1.00	10	40	50.00	_		5.00	_	Recogni- tion pins	California Delta	8,00	25.00	15.00	8.95	10.00

<sup>\*</sup> Gave to local causes.

<sup>†</sup> Gave to National Defense.

MII	PROVINCE	Continued)

Club 1941-42		Paid Mem.		No. of Meet- ings		Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft	Mag. Fund	Loan Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Fund	Holt House
Honolulu†	-	30	-	-	-	100.00	_	-	10.00	-	-	Nevada Alpha	9.00	5.00	5.00	2.00	5.00
Long Beach*†	75	38	1.00	12	35	20.00	45.00	42.30	10.00	5.00	5.50	Utah Alpha	8.00	5.00	5.00	6.40	2.00
Los Angeles*†	882	123	3.00	8	62	411.38	285.96	53.65	25.00	15.00	50.00		-	_	-	-	-
Marin County*	20	12	2.00	10	10	. 1.00	175.00	-	1.00	1.00	-		-	-	-	-	-
Nevada*†	88	31	3.00	9	33	25.00	-	6.25	5.00	5.00	18.00		-	-	-	-	-
Ogden	18	17	2.00	8	12	15.00	95.00	7.70	3.00	3.00	_		_	_	_	-	-
Palo Alto*†	45	19	2.00	9	15	1.00	52.50	13.10	1.00	1.00	10.00		-	-	-	-	-
Pasadena*†	154	36	2,25	8	40	100.00	155.00	14.65	5.00	5.00	-		-	_	-	-	-
Phoenix*†	60	33	1.50	7	28	10.00	31.70	14.75	5.00	-	15.00		_	-	_	-	_
Sacramento*†	54	21	2.00	6	19	10.00	360.00	10.00	5.00	-	_		_	_	-	-	_
Salt Lake City*	210	53	2.00	10	42	26.46	132.33	24.15	5.00	-	20.00		-	-		-	_
San Diego*†	-	25	1.50	9	28	70.17	150.00	14.10	10.00	-	_		_	_	_	_	_
San Francisco*†	140	72	1.50	7	59	5.00	-	31.68	10.00	4	-		_	_	_	_	_
San Jose†	18	11	2.00	9	9	25.00	285.00	13.50	1.00	5.00	Gift		_	-	_	-	_
San Mateo County†	26	26	1.25	8	18	15.00	_	_	15.00	2.00	10.00		-	_	-	_	-
Santa-Barbara-Ventura	17	12	1.50	8	15	7.50	-	3.45	5.00	_	_		-	_	-	_	_
Santa Maria-San Luis	-	11	-	-	-	_	_	_	-	7	-		-	-	_	-	-
Santa Monica†	88	37	2.00	9	28	55.00	192.90	34 - 97	10.00	5.00	Io.00 Gift		_	_	_	_	_
Tucson†	82	50	2,10	9	35	5.00	-	34-32	5.00	20.00	_		-	_	_	_	_
***		30		-	33	-		34.32	5.00	20.00	-					_	_

<sup>\*</sup> Gave to local causes.

<sup>†</sup> Gave to National Defense.

# Alumnae Club Reports

## ALPHA PROVINCE EAST

#### BOSTON

October 27 opened the 1941-42 season with a supper meeting at Eliot. Miss Beatrice Savage spoke on Career Counciling and Guidance, Settlement School goods were displayed and sold. About thirty members were present.

January 12 was Settlement School evening and Mr. and Mrs. Makepeace of Winchester showed color pictures of the Smoky Mountain district and told of their studies there. Refreshments were served by the North Suburban group.

group.
On March 7 a most interesting fashion talk was given by Mrs. VonLadau of the Jackson-VonLadau school of

fashion. Guests were invited from all of the sororities represented in Panhellenic. Tea was served by the West

represented in Panhellenic. Tea was served by Suburban group.

The Pi Phi booth at the Boston Flower Show was most successful and the Fraternity was invited to return next year. Much credit is due Mrs. LeRoy and Mrs. Wildes for their splendid organization.

Founders' Day luncheon was held April 25 at the Women's Republican Club. Seniors were inducted into the alumnæ club. Annual reports were read and officers were elected for the coming year, It was voted to send contributions to the active chapter and Settlement School.

ETLEEN BROWN

### ALPHA PROVINCE WEST

#### BUFFALO

The Buffalo Alumnæ Club held five luncheon meetings and three evening meetings during the year. Forty-six members were enrolled in the club with an average attendance of thirty-five. Founders' Day was celebrated with

tendance of thirty-five. Founders' Day was celebrated with the Rochester Club at a joint meeting in Batavia. On November 5 a tea with a sale of Settlement School products was held. The sum of \$187.86 was sent to the school from the sale. A gift of \$25.00 was made later in the year and \$10.00 was contributed to the loan fund. A gift of \$25.00 was made to the Ontario B chapter. The commissions from the sale of magazines amounted to

At every meeting important fraternity matters were reviewed by one of the members. An aighan was completed for the Red Cross. Panhellenic was very active during the year. Volunteers from each fraternity helped in the sale of War bonds and stamps.

A Christmas party and a June picnic, which included the husbands, were the outstanding social events of the

ANN NOURSE

#### LONDON

The London Alumnæ Club has enjoyed a pleasant and successful year. Despite the fact that most of the members are busy in spare time with some form of war activity, the paid membership has increased and the attendance at

the paid membership has increased and the attendance at meetings has been good.

In addition to the regular meetings some of which have been held at the members' homes and some at the fraternity house, there have been several gatherings with the actives. The initiation banquet held in November was very inspiring to actives and alumnæ alike. The alumnæ gave a rushing tea at the house in February. The entertainment took the form of short skits, marionettes and moving pictures of Pi Phis. Founders' Day was celebrated with all the actives at a very simple tea at the house. In June the alumnæ entertained the twenty graduates of whom we are very proud at a dinner held in the Cafeteria of the University. This happy event concluded the activities for the season. We are looking forward to the year ahead under the capable leadership of our new executive. executive.

MYRA L. (MRS. E. G.) MOORHOUSE

#### NORTHERN NEW JERSEY

The Northern New Jersey Alumnæ Club of II B & opened its club year in September, 1941, with a tea at the home of one of its members. There followed regular luncheon meetings at the various homes on the third Monday of each month, except in December, when a dinner dance was held at the Canoe Brook Country Club. This year the Northern New Jersey Club joined with the New York, Westchester, and Long Island clubs in celebrating Founders' Day, with a luncheon in New York City. The programs this year have included book and drama reviews, first aid talks, readings of letters written from England, and sewing for the Red Cross. The

annual tea and sale of Arrowcraft articles was held in the fall, with great success. The club raised money for the Settlement School this year by asking for personal contributions.

contributions.

Due to the gasoline rationing and the fact that the club is spread out over a large area, we will have to curtail the number of general meetings to be held next year; however, during the summer small groups meet bi-weekly for bridge, and it is hoped that general meetings can be, to a certain extent, supplemented in this way.

JESSIE C. HAUSER

#### SCHENECTADY

The Governor Yates mansion (now the University Club) was the scene of our Founders' Day luncheon; at this time officers for the coming year were elected. Our May meeting was the always enjo able evening bridge party with the husbands included. Rowena Benjamin Jenkins gave us her spacious home for the occasion. Because of the shortage of gasoline this year we were unable to accept Flower Sheldon Buhmaster's annual invitation to a family picnic at her summer home at Galway. So we substituted a back vard in town and excluded the children. This was the last of ten meetings for the year.

Being a new national alumnæ group this year, we haven't been a hundred per cent in our contributions, and as vet have taken no active chapter under our wing. We did, however, manage to send about \$20 to the Settlement school, and we made \$2.50 in commissions from magazine sales.

Settlement school and from magazine sales.
Ellen Stradling Beattie has been elected vice-president of Panhellenic for the coming year.
AMELIA HARLAN BROOKS

#### SYRACUSE

Another busy vear to report, with twelve regular meet-ings and three special occasions. Members of the club graciously opened their homes for both luncheon and dinner meetings; special meetings were held at the chapter

The Husbands' Party, which has become an annual event, took place during the Easter vacation. On Founders' Day, we were the guests of the active chapter for a delightful dinner and program of music and skits. The Reunion Banquet on June 5 wound up our year with many out-ot-town members returning in spite of tire and gasoline shortages.

Our year's total for the sale of Settlement School products is \$77.25.

Although war work for Red Cross and CDVO has claimed much time, all meetings have been well attended and a close bond of friendship developed.

Highlight of our year was a visit from Mrs. Sipherd, beloved by both actives and alumnae.

Our grateful praise goes to Marge Kirk who as presi-

Our grateful praise goes to Marge Kirk who as president of the club for the past two years, has led us ably and faithfully. At the same time, we welcome as next year's president, Jean Olmsted Majure, and pledge her our loyal support.

CHARLOTTE N. CHAPPER

### BETA PROVINCE

#### CINCINNATI

The Cincinnati Alumnæ Club has held nine meetings during the past vear, and will close the year with an outdoor men's party.

The membership has increased to 37 paid members with an average attendance of 24, under the able leadership of Gertrude Addicott, Ohio A.

We contributed \$185 to Settlement School, \$10 to Loan Fund, \$10 to Holt House, \$10 to Children's Hospital, \$10 to War Chest Fund, playground equipment to Settlement School, and a silver cream and sugar to Ohio B. We sold the following: Arrowcraft articles, \$182.00; calendars, \$35.75; and Christmas wrappings, \$20.00.

Receipts from bridge parties totalled \$37.79, and from a rummage sale, \$51.00.

Our monthly meetings have included talks by our members on "What Ma'es Your Food Bills So High," "Brushing Up On Bridge," "Review of the Constitution," and "Modern Hygiene."

HARRIET M. McNaughton

#### HARRISBURG-CARLISLE

We began our year's activities with a bridge-luncheon, the officers acting as hostesses. In November we had a luncheon meeting at the home of Mrs. J. E. Belt with the province vice-president as our guest of honor. Mrs. Vasek gave us an inspiring talk about the Settlement School and Holt House and we all enjoyed seeing her book of the Settlement School work with its photographic

We were pleased that several active Pi Phis from

Dickinson College joined us for the most important meet-ing of the year—the dinner we had to honor Miss Onken. Our Grand President gave a delightful account of the Panhellenic Congress she had just attended and later led an inspiring and informal discussion about

of the Panhessenic Congression and informal discussion about later led an inspiring and informal discussion about II B Φ.

Our other meetings included a study of II Ψ when we played our Constitution and History game; our book review meeting held in the active chapter apartment at Dickinson College when the active girls were our guests; the luncheon at which we joined the nearest active chapter in celebrating Founders' Day; and the last meeting of the year, our annual family picnic.

#### SOUTH HILLS

The club opened the season with a picnic supper at the home of Mrs. Oscar Luft. Three new members attended and during the course of the vear seven new members have been added. Mrs. H. R. Horne was hostess for the October social meeting and in November our province vice-president visited us when she was honored with a luncheon. In November we also displayed and solid many articles from the Settlement School. December brought our annual Christmas party, January a study of the Constitution, February a social meeting, and March the election of officers. In April the South Hills Club and the Pittsburgh Club celebrated Founders' Day together. The year closed in May with a business meeting. In June we had a picnic for our husbands. The club has contributed \$75 to the Settlement School, \$10 to Holt House and has bought a \$50 Defense Bond.

MARY WALTON IDLER

### GAMMA PROVINCE

#### BALTIMORE

The September meeting of the Baltimore Alumnæ Club presented a represent-tive of the Red Cross, who illustrated his lecture with motion pictures.

In November Mrs. James N. Greear met with the Baltimore group. Later in the month the Settlement School Committee sponsored a highly successful tea and sale of Arrowcraft. The Chairman was Mrs. William Plummer (Margaret Torsch).

Insephine Jacobsen, the talented poeters, was speaker at

Josephine Jacobsen, the talented poetess, was speaker at the January meeting. During this month a class in First Aid began to study under the direction of Mr. Ashley of the Red Cross.

the Red Cross.

The February meeting was addressed by Dr. Clinton I. Winslow, professor of political science at Grucher College and President of the Citizens' League of Baltimore. A dance was held on Valentine's Daw for Maryland A with Mrs. Parker Frames (Helen Tottle) as hostess. Maryland Honses was the title Mrs. Stieff gave to her lecture for the club's March meeting.

In April Founders' Day was celebrated by a largely attended banquet at the Longfellow Hotel.

The May meeting was a cooky-shine with the Senior Induction ceremony for the II B Φ seniors of Goucher College.

College,
Mrs. John Tottle (Helen Doll) was hostess to the
final meeting, which was the annual luncheon and

Mrs. John Tottle (Helen Doll) was mostes to the final meeting, which was the annual luncheon and swimming party.

The club has been able to send \$80.00 to Settlement School, \$10.00 to the Loan Fund, \$10.00 to Holt House and \$7.00 to Maryland A.

REVERLY MEYER FERTIG.

BEVERLY MEYER FERTIG

#### CHAPEL HILL

This year has been marked by great enthusiasm in contact with the actives. During December we were entertained most cordially for Sunday night supper at the chapter house. In midwinter Millicent Lawrence and her daughter, Elsie gave two after dinner coffee hours to the chapter and their 30 pledges. The pledges remaining in the spring quarter and the unaffiliated transfers had dessert one evening with Edith Baker Giduz.

According to our custom the annual Arrowcraft sale was held at the chapter house for a week following Thanksgiving. Our club members and actives worked together and secured approximately \$125.00 worth of orders.

orders.

Our midwinter meeting was held at the new home of

Mary Margaret Russell with a program on the Settlement School. Each member told what new feature of the school had interested her during recent readings in the ARROW. Mounted pictures from the school were passed for comment. Then Closs Peace Harriss and Susan Rose Saunders read articles from the pamphlet. "Philanthropies of the National Panhellenic Council." Jane Durning and Eleanor Hamm represented the active chapter at this meeting. Early in April an evening meeting was held at the home of Susan Rose Saunders at which officers for the coming year were elected and committees appointed for Founders' Dav celebration.

Grand President Amy Burnham Onken came from Gatlinburg for a one day visit to the active chapter to be guest of honor for our Founders' Day celebration on May 9. Luncheon was served at the Carolina Inn to 109 from N.C.A. and N.C.B. active chapters, pledges, and alumnæ of Chapel Hill and Durham. Julia Booker of the active chapter introduced the various speakers. The message from our beloved Grand President will long be brought our fraternity Diamond Jubilee close to us by showing how the ideals from our Founders in the creation of II B \( \phi \) at the At Monmouth College in 1867 may be carried through our daily lives as each of us does her part in these critical years of international struggle. The occasion was climaxed with our beautiful Candle Lighting Ceremony performed by Mollie Holmes, junior and Eleanor Soule, senior affiliate from Washington A, who is the grand daughter of founder Inez Smith Soule.

Our club year closed at the last meeting of the active chapter which was held in the home of Edith Baker Giduz. Actives were welcomed by Frances Wagstaff Coxe who had come home at Easter from Honolulu after sharing in the Pearl Harbor disaster. The 21 seniors who had come home at Easter from Honolulu after sharing in the Pearl Harbor disaster. The 21 seniors were served a picinc supper on the terrace by Catharine Boyd Browne, Susan Rose Saunders, and Mary Shore Cameron, At the close of the activ

EDITH BAKER GIDUZ

### WASHINGTON, D.C.

The Washington Club maintained its membership and program throughout the year despite unusual wartime conditions. Of the five hundred eighty-one resident alumnar, one hundred fourteen are active members. Ten successful meetings were held, including a Settlement School meeting and quiz program at which Arroweraft articles were sold. Mrs. Alford attended our December meeting

and told us about Panhellenic Conference and Holt House. We celebrated seventy-fifth anniversary with a successful banquet at Columbia Country Club.
We feel that one of our outstanding accomplishments was the series of Arrowcraft teas given in the fall, our sales amounting to over four hundred dollars. We are proud also of our magazine sales of five hundred forty-six dollars. In addition to Settlement School contributions,

we also contributed to the active chapter, the Loan Fund and Holt House.

The club has undertaken no specific war work as a group. We have cooperated with City Panhellenic in providing chaperons for the weekly U.S.O. dances at the Y.W.C.A. Our challenge now is to assist the many Pi Phis coming to Washington to feel at home here.

HELEN NUTTER HERZOG

#### DELTA PROVINCE

#### ANN ARBOR

June, 1942, finds Ann Arbor much more populated than in former years—not only because of its proximity to the Ford Bomber Plant but also because of our new University calendar with a full semester running on through the summer. It makes it hard to believe that our alumnæ club activities for another year have come to a close and that we must start making a new program for another year which we hope will be as pleasant and as successful as the one just passed.

year which we hope will be as present.

Our outstanding event of the year was the Founders' Day celebration on April twenty-fifth at the Michigan B chapter house. Although the war situation altered our plans, making it a local affair rather than a state-wide one, a number of Pi Phis from away joined with us—among them, one of the founders of Michigan B, Fannie Read Cook, of Albion, and also our guest of honor for the day, Mrs. Edwin L. Holton.

Our gift of ten dollars to the girl in the active chapter showing the greatest improvement in scholarship brought about the results we had hoped it might—higher scholarship rating on the campus—and we ofter it as a suggestion to other clubs who want to help their active chapters.

EDITH S. MARSHALL

#### BLOOMFIELD HILLS

This has been a year of work and service that has progressively increased with our country's entrance into the War. From the very beginning of the fiscal club year the club has shared the view so beautifully expressed by our Grand Vice-President, Ruth Barrett Smith that: "For the immediate present, the task is service to our country. Perhaps the fraternity is best served by calm, able contributions to our communities."

Perhaps the fraternity is best served by calm, able contributions to our communities."

With this in mind we applied to the American National Red Cross last September for sewing work to do, and were appointed a regulation Unit of the Oakland County Chapter of the Red Cross. Every meeting is devoted to sewing from 11 A.M. to 5 P.M. and we have accomplished more than our fondest hopes could foresee. Each member brings her own sandwiches and the hostess serves coffee—eliminating the luncheon meetings of the past and all the work and expense occasioned by more elaborate entertainment. We bring our portable sewing machines and the room hums with the buzz of machines and conversation and achievement; and we have loads of fun along with our endeavors.

After Pearl Harbor, however, we wanted to express our service still further to the national effort. We con-

with our endeavors.

After Pearl Harbor, however, we wanted to express our service still further to the national effort. We contributed to the Red Cross Drive and cast about to find how we could help in local war efforts. Through the press as well as personal observation and reports of service men and their families it came to our attention that recruits departing for training camps were receiving no outward demonstration expressing the love and pride and encouragement the community feels toward them when they are entering their country's service. Secretary of War, Stimson, has said that the War Department is very sorry that the departure of selective service groups has been marked with less public display in this war than was the case in 1917-18. (New York Times of May 1)

To meet this need, our club has been serving an early morning cup of coffee to the selected service men and their families who have come to the train to see the boys off. The approval of the draft board and the mayor has been gladly given to the venture and the Red Cross has cooperated by sending the Red Cross mobile kitchen staffed by trained canteen workers to the scene of the induction.

This war-time service has received such favorable com-

induction.

This war-time service has received such favorable comment that we suggest it as a project for other II B Φ Alumnæ Clubs in areas throughout the United States to adopt as their expression of service in the war toward the boys who are called to the colors. Ask your local Red Cross Canteens to cooperate. They buy the food with

Red Cross discounts and the cost of the project is negligible in comparison to the service it contributes. This could be a II  $\Phi$  War contribution all over the country—a grand way to express love and loyalty and service.

We are continuing our sewing all through the summer and next Fall intend to devote every meeting to war work exclusively.

MARION WILCOX

#### BLOOMINGTON, INDIANA

The opening event of the year 1941-42 was a beautifully appointed dinner at the home of Mrs. William Hoadley (Lucile Hughes), in honor of Mrs. Benjamin Lewis. We were pleased to have our province president, Mrs. Benjamin Lewis, at the Christmas party, held at the home of Mrs. Robert Walden, and Mrs. Francis Harris, the oldest member of this club, now residing in California. On Constitution Day, the constitution was discussed in the light of the new speed-up semester program instituted at Indiana University. At the Founders' Day banquet held in the chapter house the actives gave an impressive ceremony in memory of the Founders. The alumni gave an impromptu play which effectively portraved the philosophy of the Settlement School at one meeting.

The chapter house has been closed for the summer semester. At the last meeting of the year, the alumnæ voted their annual contributions to the Settlement School and the Ioan Fund, made possible by increased dues and a Barn Dance.

LORRAINE E. LINDSEY

#### FORT WAYNE

The Fort Wayne Club opened the 1941-1942 season with a rush tea in August. The regular season began in September and dinner-meetings were held monthly through May. The membership roster at the start of the season held forty-three names and the average attendance was thirty-two members. Highlights of the season were the annual Christmas breakfast and programs with guest speakers, namely Mr. R. Nelson Snider, principal of South Side High School and Mr. Ora R. Kuhlman, Director of the Allen County Department of Public Welfare. Financial projects were the annual rummage sale in the fall and the sale of personal postals. Contributions were Settlement School, \$10.00; Loan Fund, \$5.00; and Holt House, \$5.00. The club took an active part in the local Panhellenic organization and its philanthropy, the Fort Wayne College Club Day Nursery.

FLORENCE DEPPE HOLMGREN

#### INDIANAPOLIS

The Indianapolis Alumnæ Club closed a successful and an enjoyable year with a luncheon at the home of Hazel Wann Grindle, Illinois Δ. Virginia Brackett Green, Indiana Γ will be president for 1942-1943.

Programs during the year included book reviews, lectures, music, a card party, and a tea. Many members of the club have knitted for the Red Cross under the able leadership of Helen Whitehead Goldthwaite, Arizona A, our Red Cross Chairman.

At Christmas subscriptions to Life Magazine were sent

our Red Cross Chairman.

At Christmas, subscriptions to Life Magazine were sent to the four active chapters in Indiana.

The State Luncheon in Honor of our Founders was held at the Indianapolis Athletic Club. More than three hundred Pi Phis were present.

The high light of the year has been the privilege of sponsoring Π Φ Ε at DePauw University, Greencastle, Indiana, which will receive a charter from Π Β Φ in the fell. MARTHA W. SCOTT

#### SOUTHWESTERN INDIANA

The Southwestern Indiana Alumnæ Club continued the plan of holding dinner meetings, occasionally pot-luck, on the second Monday of each month. The average attendance was about fitten members.

Delta Province Vice-President, Mrs. Lewis, visited the club in October, and was entertained at dinner.

A tea was held at the home of Mrs. Paul Maier in November, to which friends were invited. The Settlement School products were displayed and sold. It was a very enjoyable affair, and a nice profit was realized from the articles sold. During the Christmas holidays a luncheon

was held at the Lamplight Inn for the actives who were in Evansville for their vacations.

Donations were sent to the Settlement School, Holt House, and to the Loan Fund.

Several members were able to attend the Diamond Jubilee to celebrate Founders' Day, and considered it one of the finest. The annual husband-wife picnic in June terminated the year's activities; however, plans for summer rushing have been made, and every member looks forward to a busy and interesting year beginning next fall. next fall.

BETTY BUTLER HOLDCROFT

## **EPSILON PROVINCE**

#### JEFFERSON CITY

May-Mrs. George Rozier; Plan rush tea. June-Mrs. Joe Cockrill; Plan rush picnic. July-Rush Picnic.

August-Mrs. Paul Harris; Plan rush parties and

luncheon September—Mrs. Guy Barnes; Finance Committee.

October—Mrs. Ralph Eubanks; Plan Christmas Charity.

November—Mrs. Henry Andrae; Plan for Settlement

November—Mrs. Henry Andrae; Plan for Settlement School Tea.

December—Mrs. J. D. James; Settlement School Tea.

January—Helen Stigall; Appoint nominating commit-

tee.
February—Jewell Brandenberger; Election of officers.
March—Mrs. Lyman Winters; Banquet committee.
April—Mrs. R. F. Gaylord; Founders' Day Celebra-MARJORIE RIEPMA

#### KANSAS CITY

Three luncheon meetings and three dinner meetings were held during the year in addition to a Settlement School tea and a Founders' Day banquet at which Miss Onken was the honored guest. Our club has 93 paid up members, Funds have been raised through rummage sales, the sale of Arrowcraft articles and of personalized stickers and post cards. We contributed \$550 to the Settlement School, \$100 to a scholarship given annually to a girl at the University of Kansas City, \$30 each to Kansas A, Kansas B and Missouri A chapters, \$30 to Holt House, \$5 to Gold Star Scholarship, \$5 to the Loan Fund, and \$5 to the Kansas City branch of Washington University School for Social Workers.

VIRGINIA PUNTON KELLEY

#### LITTLE PIGEON

The Little Pigeon Alumnæ Club started off the year with its first meeting at the teacher's cottage. Mrs. Peck and Miss Morris acted as hostesses and plans were made for the year. Subsequent meetings were held at the teacher's cottage and in the homes of Pauline Huff, Dorothy Manley, Mattie Lawson, Miss Evelyn Bishop and Henrietta Huff.

Two Community Square Dances and a Bowling Benefit were held, all of which proved to be very successful.

Mrs. Raymond Hill and Mrs. Joseph Copp visited us last winter.

Mrs. Raymond Hill and Mrs. Joseph Copp last winter.

Our annual Founders' Day dinner was held at the Rocky Waters Tea Room with a good representation.

There were three new II B \( \Phi \) teachers this year: Mary Hayward from the University of Arizona, Miriam Wells from Kansas State College, and Marilyn Abel from the University of South Dakota.

The club bought a refrigerator for the Home Economics department and also contributed to the fund set aside for making over the outside toilets at the school.

This was a very successful year for the Little Pigeon Club.

MARILYN ABEL

#### LOUISVILLE

Reports show that the Louisville Alumnæ Club has enjoyed a very successful and worthwhile year under the capable direction of Mrs. B. Meidinger.

Nine monthly supper meetings were held during the year in addition to a Founders' Day Luncheon and Settlement School Tea. There are 31 paid members with an average attendance of 30 at the meetings.

Funds have been raised through two Bridge parties and

the Settlement School Tea. The Club has made contribu-tions of \$25 to the Settlement School, \$68.50 to the Magazine Fund, \$1.00 to the Loan Fund and \$5.00 to Holt House. The total Arrowcraft sales amounted to \$215. The active chapter is given \$10 each month for use of chapter house for the club's meetings. The Benefit Bridge party, given May 23, was the last club activity until fall.

SUZANNE NEVIN

#### MEMPHIS

Outstanding among the year's activities of the Memphis Alumnæ Club was the benefit bridge held in October. The entertainment included a style show in which club members modeled, and the occasion also provided a market for Arrowcraft products. The proceeds, which were sent to Settlement School, amounted to \$37.33. The club sent a contribution of \$5.00 to the Loan Fund. Monthly luncheon meetings have been held, and in addition a Christmas dinner party for husbands and escorts was enjoyed. A post-season picnic, also for husbands and escorts, was the closing event of the year. Active chapter members home for the holidays were entertained at a tea during December.

As our contribution to the nearest chapter, Tennessee B at Vanderbilt, club members embroidered a set of place mats and napkins.

JOAN McKowen Grinnell.

JOAN MCKOWEN GRINNELL

#### NASHVILLE

The Nashville Alumnæ Club held eight regular meetings from October through May. In November the club entertained Tennessee B with a buffet supper at the chapter house and later the pledges were honored at a dessert party at the home of one of the alumna. Particularly enjoyable was the meeting held with the Mothers Club in May.

Work on magazine subscriptions was profitable with fifty-six subscriptions being sold for a total of \$108.25. This year the Settlement School Sale was the most successful yet with sales totaling \$136.50. Funds were also raised through the sale of Christmas cards, \$8.80 being realized from this source.

Contributions were made to the Settlement School, Loan Fund and Holt House; also a pair of framed prints were sent to Gatlinburg for use in Stuart Cottage. Tennessee B and the alumnæ group observed Founders' Day with a dinner held at the Belle Meade Country Club. The alumnæ have given a diamond recognition pin to be awarded to the girl showing the greatest improvement in her grades for the year. This year a pearl recognition pin also, was presented to Ann Cawthon for outstanding work as Tennessee B President.

The members participated in the drive to secure pledges to buy War Bonds and Stamps. The Red Cross sewing unit will continue to meet throughout the summer. A buffet supper for the seniors concluded the activities for the year.

FRANKIE M. PARKER

Our April meeting honored four of our outstanding members, Shirley Seitert, author of historical novels, her sister Adele Seifert, writer of mystery stories, Myra Deibel, portrait painter and Delphine Meyer Smith, former president of the Missouri League of Women Voters and present national chairman of the committee on government and its operation.

In May the Junior Clubs, the active chapter and the St. Louis Club met for supper in the garden of Mrs.

St. Louis

Vincent M. Carroll. During the evening the Senior Cere-mony took place. Our annual fashion show was given this year at the Glen Echo Country Club and was a

tremendous success.

The Arrow Volunteer Unit for War Work is doing The Arrow splendidly.

CLARA BROWN WILLIAMS

#### SPRINGFIELD, MISSOURI

The alumnæ of Missouri I met once every month alternating with afternoon and night meetings. In October a Bake Sale was held, and later tickets sold for two Benefit Motion Pictures, one of which was in conjunction with the City Panhellenic group. There was a Luncheon in December at which time many from out of town were home for the holidays. The Settlement School Tea was held in the beautiful new home of Mrs. John Quinn.

The Pledge Banquet for actives was well attended and in January a Buffet Supper was given by both alumnæ and actives in honor of Miss Onken, who told much of interest about her recent visit to the Settlement School. Initiation Banquet took place in the home of Mrs. Fred Ricketts and Founders' Day Banquet at the Kentwood Arms. The Alumnæ picnic honoring graduating seniors was held at Phelps Park.

A large mirror and tea towels were presented to the actives by Alumnæ members. Also, recognition pins were given to pledges making highest grades and to best all around pledge.

The If \$\Phi\$ alumnæ have donated to the local community chest and Red Cross besides what was sent to the Magazine Fund. Fifteen dollars was given to Settlement School and five dollars to the Loan Fund.

Louise Pate Turner was elected to the presidency.

Mrs. M. E. Taylor

#### ZETA PROVINCE

#### JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI

Our organization is now one year old. During this time we have had both good and profitable times together. Since this is the first Alumnæ Club in Mississippi, we are trying to make ourselves felt in taking part in all community projects cooperating with all Red Cross and War Work.

The sad news has just reached us that our capable president, Mrs. W. B. Sylvester (Catherine Cole), Missouri A, will soon have to move from Jackson. We are grateful for her splendid leadership for this one year. Another blow struck when Frances McPike told us her husband was being transferred to Pensacola, Florida.

We sold \$98.03 in magazine subscriptions, the highest amount and highest per capita of any club in Zeta Province. We donated to the Settlement School \$5.00, to Holt House \$2.50.

ANNE POWERS WOOD

#### JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA

Although the regular meetings of the Jacksonville Club are luncheon meetings held the second Tuesday of each month, several night meetings were held during the past year to enable those who work to attend. There were about 25 paid members in the club this year and we had new members or visitors at every meeting.

The club activities got under way last summer with a picnic for the actives in July and a rush banquet in August at the Florida Yacht Club. In the fall we had a tea and Arrowcraft sale, which coincided with the visit of Mrs. Paige, Province Vice-President. Mrs. Paige was guest of honor at a luncheon for the officers of the club given by Mrs. A. D. Davis (Letha Wilson, Idaho A) and at a meeting of the club that night following the tea.

There was a Christmas luncheon for the actives De-cember 27 and in February the club members were hostesses at a meeting of the Jacksonville Panhellenic

Association.

The Founders' Day Banquet was held at the Windsor Hotel and Mrs. John Brooks (Mary Hanley, Illinois A), who is our Province President and a member of the club, was toastmistress. The program theme was the celebration of the diamond jubilee of the Fraternity this year.

At the May meeting the retiring president, Mrs. Walter Schultz (Letta Stanley, Florida Γ) turned the gavel over to Mrs. Fred Foill (Virginia Jones, Ohio Δ) our new president, who is also scholarship chairman for Zeta Province.

The profits from the

The profits from the magazine subscriptions and from the Settlement School sale increased noticeably over the previous years under the management of Mrs. C. T. Mc-Murry (Elizabeth Lemon, Indiana A), magazine chairman, and Eloise Frink (Florida B) Settlement School chairman, Contributions were also made to the Loan Fund

man. Contributions were also made to the Loan Fund and to Holt House.

Our main purpose for the past year, especially since December 7, has been war work. At our January meeting Mrs. McGarvey Cline (Wisconsin A), one of the chairman of the defense council in Jacksonville, talked to us about our part in the local defense work. The wartime activities of our group are varied; many members have completed or are taking primary and advanced courses in First Aid and in Nutrition; many are volunteer workers at the filter center for the Aircraft Warning Service; some members are active in U.S.O. work; our club periodically furnishes refreshments for the U.S.O. center. There are also many other phases of war work in which the Jacksonville Pi Phis are actively engaged. During the ensuing year we plan to extend our efforts even further.

WINIFRED SHAW YANDELL (Mrs. W. F.)

#### ETA PROVINCE

#### NINA HARRIS ALLEN

The Nina Harris Allen Alumnæ Club had seven meetings this past year, all of which were well attended by our twenty-one paid members. The October meeting was devoted to the traditional "Cooky-shine"; the November, to Settlement School; the December, to a white elephant sale and Christmas party; the January, to the study of the Constitution; the February, to a social evening; the March, to the election of officers; on April, the twenty-eighth, Founders' Day was celebrated with a pot-luck dinner.

dinner.

During the year, the club raised money by the sale of cook books, the white elephant sale, the birthday box, and a refreshment box.

The club sent ten dollars to the Settlement School fund, three dollars to Wisconsin B chapter at Beloit College.

We are all looking forward to another successful year with our new president, Mrs. F. W. Homan of Glen Fillyn. Ellyn.

BARBARA TRIMBLE

#### CHAMPAIGN-URBANA

For the year 1941-42 we can report 63 resident members, 15 members having moved out of town during the year. The total paid membership is 46. The average at-

tendance has been 35. There were six dinner meetings outside of the Settlement School tea, Founders' Day banquet and cooky-shine for freshmen. The sales at the tea amounted to more than \$350. The Founders' Day banquet this year especially honored the founders of Illinois Z. Both freshmen and seniors from the active chapter were entertained at our dinner meetings. The club contributed \$61.50 to the Settlement School and \$43 to the active chapter to be added to their fund for redecorating the chapter house. A real effort was made during the whole year towards promoting better understanding, tolerance, and good fellowship. ance, and good fellowship.

#### FLORENCE WALLACE

#### CHICAGO NORTH

Our club closed a most successful and enjoyable program year with the June meeting held at the home of Mrs. Frances Hinkle. Our various projects were carried out to good profit and benefited each II & as well as the club itself. Foremost of the year's activities was our work for the Red Cross and the collecting of books for the Settlement School. Several new members have been added to the club this year but we miss those who have moved out of town. A summer picnic has been planned and that will complete our 1942 year.

SUE MUELLER

#### CHICAGO NORTH SUBURBAN (NORTH SHORE)

Paid Membership Paid Auxiliary Membership	11:				**				. 21
Total					.,		. ,		.109
Amount of Dues			4.5					. \$	3.00
Number of Meetings						-	à.	4	14
Average Attendance									7
Auxiliary's Average Attendance									1
Arrowcraft Sale							×.	٠.0	94.3
Magazine Subscriptions								. \$	80.5
Magazine Commission for Settl	emer	nt :	Sch	ool				. \$	28.5
Loan Fund Active Chapter (Gift & Award)								. \$	10.0
Active Chapter (Gift & Award)	1.							. \$	25.0
Red Cross								.ŝ	50.0
Red Cross								.\$	57.7

Also 16 dozen cookies sent to Ft. Sheridan Recruiting Center every week. Yarn donated and Afghan squares knitted for Red

The North Shore Alumnæ Club of II B \( \Phi\) has met the requirements of a chartered Alumnæ Club as set forth in the Constitution, Statutes VIII, Section 3.

RUTH A. ERICKSON

#### DECATUR

Decatur Alumnæ Club and members of the active chapter at James Millikin University concluded the active school year with the annual spring breakfast, this year on May 23 because of the shortened college year. The event was in Hotel Orlando and two active seniors were awarded gifts for their high scholarship and all-round activity, Bette Snyder and Druanne Davis. Special honorable mention went to Betty Fischer for her record of leadership in so many college organizations and service to the chapter. Each of the 13 seniors received tiny golden arrow necklaces.

Actives and alumnæ observed Founders' Day on April 25 with luncheon in the Decatur Club. Alumnæ members took part in the program which cited important events in the Fraternity's national history and in the Millikin chapter, presenting women's styles of those periods. Actives sang II B \$\Phi\$ songs.

The alumnæ group will resume activities in the fall with the opening of Millikin's fall semester and the first event usually is a tea for new girls on the campus.

JANET KUNZ

#### ELGIN

The Elgin Alumnæ Club, although a small organization, has held six monthly supper meetings in the homes of the members on the first Monday evening of each month. The paid membership is fifteen which is a slight increase over last year.

Our money making projects were a lottery on a Luncheon Cloth, a drive for magazine subscriptions, and a sale of Settlement School articles. Arrowcraft articles ordered by our Settlement School Chairman were displayed at our December meeting and members agreed to purchase as many gifts as possible from the display.

At the March meeting, held in the home of Mrs. E. H. Dunn, it was our privilege to have Mrs. MacClyment as our guest.

We celebrated Founders' Day with a lovely and impressive candle lighting ceremony in the home of Mrs. E. H. Hagger.

E. H. Haeger.

A number of Pi Phis are active in Red Cross work, some interested in Home Nursing and First Aid, while others are knitting, sewing or making surgical dressings.

MARION VAN HOESEN MARTIN

#### FOX RIVER VALLEY

The Fox River Valley Alumnæ Club has spent an active year in cooperation with the chapter at Lawrence College. Both the Wisconsin weather and curtailment of driving due to the war have limited the size of our meetings with members outside of Appleton. With the exception of one meeting in Oshkosh in December, all of our meetings have been held in Appleton. Our summer meeting will probably be held in June and will be informal picnic.

Several alumnæ helped with rushing in the fall, and

a number were present at Fall Initiation and at the banquet following. Our Settlement School tea held in October was most successful financially, but even more important, we were able to introduce the townspeople to this most worthwhile project of our fraternity. We in Neenah and Appleton enjoyed both the Π Φ winter formal in January at Castle Hall and the spring formal at the North Shore Country Club. The Initiation Banquet in March was a lovely affair with Mrs. Ross giving the alumnæ response to the new initiates. The Π Φ cooky-shine has already become a spring tradition here on Lawrence campus, with the alumnæ serving dinner to the chapter beforehand. The celebration was two fold this year, for the party was held Founders' Day at the home of Mrs. Porter. The new initiates gave a beautiful and impressive performance of the founding of Π B Φ. The girls were dressed in attractive costumes in a full length play.

We were also very lucky to entertain Mrs. MacClyment, Mrs. Alford, and Miss Williams during their visits in the fall.

NANCY WRIGHT MURPHY

#### MADISON

The Madison Alumnæ Club has completed its 8 monthly meetings and will not resume meetings until next September, 1942. The meetings are held at homes of members, except the Founders' Day meeting which is held at the Π Φ House.

Our average attendance this year has been 25 members, with a paid membership of 31, which is a loss of several members compared to last year at this time. This is due, however, to members leaving the city, and not through lack of interest, we are glad to report.

This year we gave our Madison Community Union \$10, Settlement School \$50, \$20 to the Loan Fund, \$30 as National dues and \$15 to the active chapter at rushing time.

The last meeting of the season was a large one as we entertained the seniors at a buffet supper at the home of Mrs. Harry Kessenich. The next year's rushing list was read and discussed at this time.

In spite of everyone's activities in war work we are looking forward to the Fall resuming of our alumnæ

meetings,

LOUISE DUNLOP FELSHER

#### MILWAUKEE

The Milwaukee Alumnæ Club enjoyed nine meetings this year all held in the homes of members except the Founders' Day banquet at the College Women's Club. The average attendance was thirty.

Milwaukee Club dues were \$2.50. Eight individual groups each raised \$25.00 in various money making projects. The club sold \$473.00 worth of Settlement School articles. Magazine subscription profits amounted to \$60.00. We sent \$200.00 to the Settlement School.

As a final activity of the club this year each member contributed a cake to the local U.S.O. which entertains an average of 800 service men over the week end.

Marjorie Crabb

MARJORIE CRABB

#### OAK PARK-RIVER FOREST

This year has been an enjoyable one for our club under the leadership of Mrs. T. T. Job (Jessie Howser, Iowa B) as president. The club is divided into two groups, one that meets in the afternoon and one in the evening, with three joint meetings; all held in the homes of members.

The first meeting was a joint buffet supper, the other two joint meetings were the Christmas party, and the March meeting for the election of officers. Each group held six separate meetings, and as a special close to the year a picnic will be held on June 17.

Our Settlement School Tea and sale of Arrowcraft was quite the most successful we have had. Almost \$270 worth of goods was sold, under the able direction of Mrs. T. M. Robie (Maude Hinckley, Wisconsin B).

The club has a printed year book and directory of members. We are represented by two delegates to the local Panhellenic, and by two at the meetings of the Chicago Area Council.

We contributed \$55 to the Settlement School, \$20 to the Loan Fund, \$10 to the Chicago Area Council, and a gift of \$20 to the new chapter at DePauw University. We have a paid membership of 29, and an average attendance of 16.

NORMA FARNSWORTH WILLIAMS

NORMA FARNSWORTH WILLIAMS

#### THETA PROVINCE

#### BURLINGTON

The Burlington Alumnæ Club held six regular meetings during the past year with an average attendance of 18, as well as conducting the annual Settlement School sale in December. Two covered dish suppers were held at the II B \$\phi\$ house at which different classes of the active chapter were entertained and other meetings were held at the homes of various club members.

"June Spread" was held May 16 as the University of Vermont commencement came early this year. About sixty alumnæ and seniors gathered at the chapter house for a buffet supper and informal reunion.

Through various means of raising money, the Alumnæ Club was able to contribute approximately \$185 to the corporation which finances the chapter house.

Resident Alumnæ				٠,		÷				i						÷		÷			,		÷	÷					7
Paid Membership				٠.						i.											×		÷	ě	×			2	0
Amount of Dues																													
Number of Meeting	S			٠.													٠					٠						Ŋ	
Average attendance			r				*								٠				,			٠			*			2	0
Settlement School		á	×	. ,				×				٠		٠	٠	٠					٠	٠		٠	4	\$3	5	.0	0
Arrowcraft			٠							*	٠	٠	٠	٠	٠			٠		٠	×	٠		٠					L
Magazine Fund		*							÷	٠		×			٠	٠	٠			٠		٠	٠	٠	×	\$2	4	.0	5
Loan Fund																													
Holt House		٠								,					,		*	è	٠				×		. ;	\$2	4.	.0	0
Active Chapter										4	d	ċ	:				:		÷	ź.	٠	÷	ż.		1				
										· d	(A)	Ų.	١Ř	u	U	E.	4	D.	u	٠		X,	X)	58	58	785	n.i	2	

#### INDIANOLA

The Indianola Alumnæ Club had thirty paid members this year with an average attendance of fifteen to twenty at the monthly dessert meetings.

The following contributions were made: \$5 to the Settlement School; \$5 to the Loan Fund; \$10 to the

Settlement School; \$5 to the Loan Fund; \$10 to the active chapter.

The chapter received \$25 from the fall rummage sale. The Alumnæ and Mother's Clubs cooperate in this and each club receives an equal share of the proceeds.

The annual homecoming dinner for actives and alummæ was on October 25 at the chapter house.

One of the big events of the year is the Christmas party at the chapter house for actives, alumnæ, and mothers. A delicious buffet dinner is followed by the exchange of many gifts and the singing of II B \$\Phi\$ songs and Christmas carols.

The chapter pledges were guests at the February meet-

The chapter pledges were guests at the February meet-A tea for the chapter and alumnæ was given by the club following initiation in March.

EILEEN BREWER

#### MINNEAPOLIS

At the September meeting business was devoted to rushing. In October a news commentator gave us interesting high lights on radio broadcasting and in November we gave a tea for the new pledges of the active chapter. The annual Christmas luncheon was held at the College Women's Club with many out-of-town Pi Phis present. In February we had dinner at the chapter house with the actives. Settlement School products have been sold at two

of our meetings. The Founders' Day banquet was held jointly with the St. Paul Club and the active chapter with the largest attendance in our history.

PHYLLIS ELLS LARSON

#### ST. PAUL

The June meeting was held at the home of Betty Coulter at White Bear Lake, culminating the year's ac-

Reports of the various committees were heard and approved as having met all obligations.

The membership chairman reported 34 paid memberships, Magazine subscriptions totaled \$39.15, the 2nd in province. The club has contributed \$100.00 to the Settlement School; \$75 to active chapter house fund, \$25 to the Red Cross, \$15 to the actives for rushing and \$10 to House Christmas gift.

Founders' Day Banquet held in conjunction with the Minneapolis Club proved as always to be an inspiration. It was held in the Junior Ballroom of the Coffman Memorial Union at the University of Minnesota. There were 160 present, some 40 of whom were actives. Our appreciation goes to Ruth McIntosh who made all arrangements for the banquet, and to Elizabeth Beard who acted as toastmistress. who acted as toastmistress.

BETTY H. COULTER

#### WINNIPEG

WINNIPEG

The Winnipeg Club opened this year with its annual rushing party, and an organization meeting in September.

The October meeting was an afghan one held at the house; and in November the club members held a scavenger hunt for the new pledges.

On December 6th the Alumnæ Club held a Bazaar, the proceeds of which were given to the Winnipeg Bundles Unlimited for Civilian relief in England. The success of this sale was due greatly to the untiring efforts of Mrs. I. Deacon. Continuing to work with this organization the girls formed groups and have turned in many lovely quilts, afghans and children's knitted clothes.

The Christmas party was held at the home of Mrs. G. F. Klein.

On January 24 the Initiation Banquet was held at the Ft. Garry Hotel.

The February and March meetings were on the Constitution and Settlement School as well as having the Nominations and Elections of new officers.

Early in March the alumnæ were guests of actives in hearing Mrs. R. Jones tell of Judith Evelyn (Evelyn Morris) who is playing in "Angel Street," New York. Evelyn was a charter member of Manitoba A and we are proud to say she has recently been given the New York Drama League Award.

In April the meeting was a Ditty Bridge, the members bringing articles to make up Ditty Bags for overseas. The Founders' Day Luncheon was held May 16, and also in May was the annual meeting.

To Settlement School was sent \$8.00, the Loan Fund \$2.00, and Holt House \$1.00.

The Annual II B \$\Phi\$ week-end is to be the first one in June.

DOROTHY PRECIOUS

## IOTA PROVINCE

#### LINCOLN

The Lincoln Alumnæ Club held eight meetings during The Lincoln Alumnae Club held eight meetings during the year 1941-42. Among the activities of the year were: assisting the active chapter during rush week in September; buffet supper honoring the new pledges; Settlement School sales; Christmas party at the chapter house for children of club members; the Founders' Day celebration; a luncheon honoring seniors.

Contributions for the year were: Settlement School,

\$25.00; Loan Fund, \$5.00; Holt House, \$5.00; Nebraska

\$23.00; Loan Fund, \$5.00; Holt House, \$5.00; Nebraska B chapter, \$50.00.

The final meeting of the year was a luncheon at the home of Mrs. Richard Kimball. Guests at the luncheon were eleven seniors, one member of \$\Phi\$ B K, and three new members of Mortar Board. A gift was presented to each. A report from the Advisory Board was read listing activities and honors of members of the active chapter, and changes made in rushing rules for next fall were discussed. BETTY ORME

## KAPPA PROVINCE

#### ARDMORE

Our club has adopted an English child for a year. At Christmas a box was prepared and sent to her containing things for her enjoyment and comfort. Her letter to us showed genuine appreciation and her description of conditions in England was very interesting. It is a custom of our club to present brides-to-be with gifts from the Settlement School. Among our interesting programs was one at which Incz Gibson told about the origin of Oklahoma A and early life in the chapter.

ELIZABETH TRUMBO BRANAN

#### DALLAS

Three groups of the Dallas Alumnæ Club held regular sononthly meetings during the club year of 1941-42. The senior club met alternately at teas and luncheons and the junior club at luncheons except in September, January and May, when they met with the senior group for tea. The Business and Professional club met once a month in the evening for dinner. All three groups participated in the Settlement School Exhibition Tea, the annual bridge tournament and the Founders' Day cooky-shine for actives and alumnæ. The club entertained with a morning coffee on February 23 honoring Mrs. Ray H. Finger, Grand Secretary, Active and alumnæ members of the Dallas Panhellenic and mothers of the pledges were also honored. Money for the Fraternity projects was raised by sale of advertisements in the yearbook, display of Towle silver, the bridge tournament, and sale of vanilla. The club sent \$200.00 to the Settlement School, gave \$10.00 to the Loan Fund, \$75.00 to the House, and gifts to Texas A and Texas B. A check for \$458.65 was sent to the Settlement School for sale of Arrowcraft and magazines.

Plans for lodges for the women's fraternities on the campus of Southern Methodist University have been discampus of Southern Methodist University have been

Arrowcraft and magazines.

Plans for lodges for the women's fraternities on the campus of Southern Methodist University have been discontinued for the duration. The Panhellenic Housing Committee decided to have a standing committee, composed of one from each sorority and one from each alumnæ club, which will meet three times a year to keep the housing plan alive. Money for the II B \( \Phi \) lodge has been put into defense bonds.

Plans have been completed for a very busy year. It has been decided by the three groups of the Alumnæ Club to have three joint meetings during the coming year at

OLIVE BOARD HURT

#### HOUSTON

Little did the fifteen Texas Alphas, who started the

Houston Alumnæ Club many years ago, dream that their club would become a melting pot for Pi Phis from nearly every state. The club has been fortunate in this fusion of Pi Phis which has helped to broaden its viewpoint.

During the past year, the junior group has made six blankets for Bundles for Britain, and has bought one War Bond. The senior group bought one bond, and has about 300 knitting hours for the Red Cross.

Of the regular nine meetings, three will long be remembered. First, the Settlement Tea at the home of Mrs. Palmer Bradley was very successful, and Arrowcraft sales amounted to about \$650.00. The Juniors sold two \$25.00 War Bonds. Second, at another meeting, a representative of the gas company lectured on "Vitamins for Victory," teaching what to buy and how. Third, the Founders' Day luncheon taught interesting Pi Phi history. Dr. I. C. Sorosis (a take-off on Dr. I.Q.) asked questions on the history of II B \$\theta\$. One question was, "Where did our Founders first wear their pins?" Those members answering correctly were awarded defense stamps.

MARY TANCRED THOMPSON

#### TULSA

The Tulsa Club has enjoyed a successful year under the capable leadership of our retiring president, Layce Hopp. We have a paid membership of 94. This year we dispensed with a formal Founders Day banquet and in accordance with the trend toward simplified entertainment had a delightful program in the home of Mrs. P. G. Weidner. The May meeting was given over to the reading of final reports and consideration of rushing lists and new rules. Our total amount of Arrowcraft sales was \$304.75, our magazine subscriptions were \$8.30 and a white elephant sale brought us \$10 which we gave to the Red Cross. Our bridge clubs brought us \$79, the sale of postcards and labels \$8.80. We gave \$50 to the nearest chapter, and \$5 each to Holt House and the Loan Fund. A greater number of invited guests have been entertained by the Tulsa Club this year at our coffee and teas.

MARGARET LEWIS ESTES

#### TYLER

The new officers of the Tyler, Texas, Alumnæ Club are as follows: president, Vivian R. Baker (Mrs. H. A.); vice-president, Virginia Foreman (Mrs. K. B.); recording secretary, Louise Hildebrand (Mrs. Ira P.); corresponding secretary, Iredell B. Smith (Mrs. Norman P.); treasurer, Leola Spellar (Mrs. Frank N.).

IREDELL B. SMITH

#### LAMBDA PROVINCE

#### BOISE

BOISE

The Boise Alumnæ Club, with 27 members, donated \$25.00 this year to the Settlement School, \$2.50 to the Loan Fund, \$2.50 to Holt House, and sent a \$15.00 gift to the active chapter at Moscow.

The club has been active this year in Red Cross work, all of the members giving time to this worthy cause.

Our representative in Panhellenic, Helen Moore, was instrumental in that body in raising \$35.00 for Red Cross and \$100.00 for Scholarships.

Margaret Teed and Mary Raber volunteered to sell Christmas Seals, which they did with great success.

The loveliest party of our year was the Christmas Tea given at the home of Mrs. A. J. Coats, where we entertained all II B \$\phi\$ mothers, active chapter girls and all Pi Beta Phis from nearby towns. The hostesses for this party were Rachel Driscoll, Joy Stevenson and Gwen Williams, Mrs. Coats entertained with selections on the organ in her home.

MARVEL TURNURE ALLEN

MARVEL TURNURE ALLEN

#### BOZEMAN

Fifteen active members.

Eight meetings.

Chief business transacted—Overseeing the renovation and repair of the chapter house furniture during the summer; purchase of silver candlesticks for the house at Christmas; sale of four dozen II B \$\Phi\$ contibutions to the Settlement School and Loan fund; purchase of defense bonds.

Visits from national officers—Mrs. Thompson, Province vice-president in October; participation with the chapter in dinners honoring Mrs. Tuft, Province President, in October and Miss Onken, Grand President, in February. Social meetings—cooky-shine for the pledges in October; joint celebration with the chapter of Founders' Day. A showing of the Settlement School film at this time was a vivid experience for us all in understanding the scope of this work of the Fraternity.

Lois Payson LOIS PAYSON

#### BUTTE-ANACONDA

BUTTE-ANACONDA

The club year opened with a rushing tea in August. At the September meeting we made plans for the year and in October our province vice-president paid us a visit and gave us many worthwhile suggestions. At the November meeting orders were taken for Arrowcraft articles, in December members brought gifts for the County Hospital, and at the January meeting we studied our Constitution and discussed the question of limited tenure of office and increased alumnae representation. A committee was appointed to formulate our opinion and prepare a report. The February program dealt with the history of silverware and its care. March brought election of officers. April the Founders' Day luncheon, and May the final meeting of the year. Although our group is small we have contributed to the Settlement School, the Loan Fund, and the magazine agency and have helped our nearest active chapter at Bozeman. We sew for the Red Cross and have been actively engaged in National Defense work.

Edith Zaiser Roberts

#### TACOMA

The Inez Smith Soule Club brought the year's activities to a close at the May meeting held at the home of Mrs. Allen Petrick. Our new officers were installed and new committees named. We have contributed \$50 to the Settlement School, \$10 to the Loan Fund, \$5 to Holt House, \$10 to the Red Cross and \$5 to the Community Chest. With 31 paid members we have had an average attendance of 30. Our first fall meeting is scheduled for September 8.

JERRY R. EKBERG

#### FANNY WHITENACK LIBBEY

The Fanny Whitenack Libbey Club closed a very suc-ssful year with a supper in May at the country home

of a member. Tentative plans for the coming season were discussed then subject to war conditions of course.

A quiz about the Constitution of the Fraternity was very informative and for the Settlement School Program, the members read aloud from articles in the ARROW. Founders' Day banquet was celebrated in a local hotel with the program reviewing the organizing and first year of the Fanny Whitenack Libbey Club. Ten dollars was sent to Settlement School.

Two new girls were present for several meetings, they

sent to Settlement School.

Two new girls were present for several meetings, they were Frances Dilley Broyles (Mrs. Gordon) of Texas A and Sarah Elizabeth Bender George (Mrs. Henry) of Washington A. Those who seldom come to the meetings and those who are difficult to contact have offered to notify the telephone committee if they can attend.

A picnic is planned for each of the summer months.

ELOISE WRIGHT WEYDEMEYER

#### MU PROVINCE

#### BERKELEY

Our outgoing president, Pauline Turner Savre, terminated her year of office with a well organized group to follow her and a good financial statement.

Contributions were made as follows: Settlement School \$50; Loan Fund \$10; Red Cross \$20 (proceeds from a tea); the active chapter \$70. Settlement School Sales under the able leadership of Mrs. Burlingame Davies were \$1810.

Several of our members formed sewing groups and one of them made ninety afghans for the Red Cross.

MARIAN MADIGAN

#### LONG BEACH

Time once again to hear from the Long Beach Club. This has been an unusual year for everyone, the war making it so, however, it has been filled with happiness and the secret of that has been bush hands and minds. Red Cross work, sewing at the meeting and selling membership and Red Cross Seals, then having dinner meetings, more work but it has brought in more money. At each meeting we have taken up a voluntary collection to buy Defense Stamps. The Magazine Chairman has done remarkable work this season and all have tried to help her, with all this we have had fun too.

There have been fourteen meetings; attendance has varied from twenty-eight to forty-two. The Christmas, cooky-shine and Founders' parties were the three largest. This being the seventy-fifty year for II B \( \Phi\) may a little space be allowed to tell Founders' Day celebration?

Mrs. L. H. Hanker was the day's chairman, with Mrs. William Hatfield, as home hostess and five other members assisting hostesses as the club was entertained with a formal dinner with lovely decorations in flowers and table ribbons in II B \( \Phi\) colors. Mrs. Hanker introduced Mrs. Mary Barnes, Kansas A, the first Arrow Editor, and Mrs. Barnes gave a review of the first issue of the Arrow, its size and contents. Then too she gave the story of the change of I.C. to II B \( \Phi\). Mrs. Frances Rogers, Iowa Z, drew a word picture of the meetings and college life of her days. Miss Julia Ellen Rogers, Iowa Z, gave in part the history of her life in II B \( \Phi\). Mrs. Leah Shirey, Nebraska B, wrote and delivered to the guests a Tribute to the Founders. It was so impressive it was voted to fortunate to have those who have made history and are giving it to us.

The Candle Lighting ceremony was performed by Mrs.

fortunate to have those who have made history and are giving it to us.

The Candle Lighting ceremony was performed by Mrs. Rachel Abraham and her daughter Joan Godrum. Mrs. Harold Morris sang the Memorial Hymn, written by Mrs. Douglas Malin. There was singing of many songs during dinner and we closed with the Anthem.

The last meeting of the year was held with the retiring president and also the incoming president, Mrs. J. H. White. The success of the past year caused the wish to continue with the same officers.

The treasurer has sent the contributions to the Settle-

The treasurer has sent the contributions to the Settlement School, the Loan Fund and to Holt House with good wishes for the coming year.

MARJORIE WHITNEY PRATT

#### LOS ANGELES

The annual picnic on June 13 at the home of Jessie Horton, will bring to a close a most eventful and successful year under the able direction of Virginia Tatom.

The Settlement School Benefit was a dessert bridge on February 21 and a big success.

Founders' Day was celebrated by the alumnæ and the active chapters at a luncheon at the Miramar Hotel in Santa Monica.

Our Red Cross Gray Lady Unit, comprised of 75 Pi Phis, is working hard and loving it. We now have four recreation rooms to supervise.

Blackouts continue but we are not afraid here in this vulnerable spot. We will be victorious! We've done it before and we can do it again!

HELEN TRIMBLE SORENSEN

#### MARIN COUNTY

Despite the busy wartime preparations of the San Francisco Bay Area, the Marin Alumnæ Club finished an exceedingly successful year. Monthly luncheon meetings were enthusiastically attended. Outstanding events of the year were the benefit tea, children's Christmas party, sweetheart party for the husbands, and the charcoal broiled steak dinner at the lovely residence of Mrs. C. Thatcher Shellabarger at Tiburon overlooking San Pablo Bay.

The benefit tea, attended by many Marin County women, which featured the sale of arts and crafts from the Settlement School, was held in the month of November. The Alumnæ Club also sponsored a charity event for the Sunnyhills Orphanage. From these \$177.45 was given to the Settlement School.

The Marin group was active in the Bay Area's war effort. Members served as hostesses at the Army and Navy Recreational Club for Marin County and took part in first aid classes. One of the members serves as air-raid warden for her community.

Although the group has recently lost several of its live wires through wartime transfers, the Marin Club anticipates another busy and interesting year.

NANCY SCHRAMM

#### PASADENA

The Pasadena Alumnæ Club has had a splendid year with Mrs. Erick Egge in her second year of leadership.

We have contributed one hundred dollars to Settlement School, five dollars to the Loan Fund, twenty-five dollars to the Visiting Nurses' Association of Pasadena, and in addition to this our members have given two hours of their time for three mornings each week to this worthy local philanthropy. We have also given five dollars to the Community Chest and five dollars to the Red Cross.

All the meetings were well planned and executed, combining just the right amount of business and fun. There were ten of these consisting of five luncheons, including the Founders' Day celebration when we joined with the Glendale club, two suppers, one dessert, the Settlement School tea, and a picnic which very happily ended the year's activity.

Mabel McKay Petterson MABEL MCKAY PETTERSON

## SACRAMENTO

Sacramento Alumnæ Club finished a most successful vear with our Founders' Day dinner held at the Copper Lantern tea room on April the twenty-eighth. The dinner arrangements were carried out under the chairmanship of Mrs. T. A. Klabau.

Our club has been growing steadily with twenty-seven paid members this year over eighteen last year.

At our Settlement School benefit we sold \$211.42 in Arrowcraft products. We sent \$10.00 to Settlement School, and \$5.00 to Loan Fund. We purchased a defense bond and contributed \$15.00 to local charities. The magazine subscriptions amounted to \$10.00.

Officers elected for next year were: president, Mrs. Don Van Buren; vice-president, Mrs. T. A. Klabau; corresponding secretary, Mrs. Harry Newman; recording secretary, Miss. Alderine Jennings; treasurer, Mrs. L. E. McMillan, Chairmen appointed are: Settlement School, Mrs. Glenn Coffee; membership, Mrs. A. A. Watson; magazines, Miss Eleanor Jacobs; recommendation of rushees, Mrs. Thomas Scollan.

Jean Davis Newman

JEAN DAVIS NEWMAN

#### SAN MATEO COUNTY

This year has seen many changes in the routine of our lives here in the Peninsula area. After December, all our meetings were changed from supper meetings to luncheons. There were four regular business meetings, and two additional luncheons and a tea, at which the Palo Alto Club members were the guests, held this year. After the November luncheon, the afternoon was devoted to knitting for Red Cross, and the February meeting was spent in discussion of what we, as a group, could contribute to the League for Service Men.

This year the club decided to sell engagement books, known as "Social Capers," to raise money for its contri-

butions, which were made as follows: \$15.00 to the Settlement School, \$15.00 to the Loan Fund, \$2.00 to Holt House and \$10.00 to the active chapter at Stanford Uni-

House and \$10,00 to the section versity.

The membership increased to twenty-six paid members this year, but many have moved away these past months and others are contemplating changes in the near future, because of the entrance of their husbands into military service, or other phases of war work.

Frances J. Grant

#### SANTA BARBARA-VENTURA

The Santa Barbara-Ventura Alumnæ Club has

The Santa Barbara-Ventura Alumnæ Club has had an interesting and useful year, although exceedingly hampered by war restrictions. The Ventura members have carefully planned their mileage in order that they might attend meetings and have been present at eight out of the ten. The other two could not be attended because of blackouts.

Money for gifts to the Fraternity has always been raised by ticket contests on the Rose Bowl game. This was called off. Money was raised instead by local dues and white elephants and the club was proud to send \$10.00 to the Settlement School, \$5.00 to the Loan Fund, and its members purchased \$23,00 of Settlement School goods. The membership averages about thirteen, so the club feels the year successfully concluded.

ANNE MCFARLAND



## ALUMNAE PERSONALS

## ALBERTA ALPHA

#### Marriages

Jessie Skene and Squadron Leader Bruce Robert Rae, R.N.Z.A.F., in May. Katherine Gordon and Sub. Lieut. Donovan F. Miller, R.C.N.V.R., on June 19, 1942.

#### Births

To Dr. and Mrs. F. G. Elliot (Dorothy Pepper), a daughter, Carol Elizabeth, on March 7, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Harry Pervey (Beatrice Gillespie), a daughter, Eleanor Eugenie, on March 10, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Cruickshank (Marion Maybank), a son, David George, on March 15, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Stewart Bothwell (Ruth Cushing), a son, John Stewart, at Picklecrow, Ontario, Canada.
To Mr. and Mrs. A. D. McTavish (Margaret MacDougall), a son, Douglas Craig, on May 25, 1942.

#### ARIZONA ALPHA

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Frederick A. Fielder (Virginia Robinson), a daughter, on September 27, 1939, and a son, December 6, 1941.

To Mr. and Mrs. Donald C. Duck (Jane Keel), a daughter, Susan, on May 25, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Harold C. Bell (Jeanne Metcalf), a daughter, Barbara May, on March 20, 1942, in Los Angeles, Calif.

#### ARKANSAS ALPHA

#### Marriages

Dorothe Sue Bassett and Charles Duke McCloy, on May 10, 1941.
Trixie Bee Bassett and Tracy W. Finn, Jr., on April 18, 1942.
Elvira Mast Kinsworthy and George William Howell, on June 11, 1942. At home, 306 Chester St., Little Rock,

Ark.
Frances Lanahan and Lieut. W. J. Livingston, on
February 26, 1942. At home, Little Rock, Ark.
Cecelia King and Lieut. Tom Butt, on April 25, 1942.
At home, Eureka Springs, Ark.
Alice Henry and Robert Newell, in March, 1942. At
home, Corpus Christi, Tex.
Virginia Reed Hodges and Edward F. Goode on April
22, 1942. At home, 911 Republic Bank Building, Dallas,
Tex.

Mary K. Molloy and Walter P. Schlecht, Σ N, on April 11, 1942, At home, 539 N. Pearl, Joplin, Mo. Elizabeth Ann Poslon and Lt. William H. Clark, Σ N, August 24, 1941. At home, Fort Leonard Wood, Mo.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. J. H. Bauer (Mary Alice Rowell), a daughter, Barbara Ann, on February 10, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. L. H. Kerr, Jr. (Marian Timmins), a daughter, Nancy Jane, on January 29, 1941.

#### Personals

Personals

Pauline Hoeltzel has been re-elected to the presidency of the Little Rock Branch of the American Association of University Women.

Florence Kruger is chairman of the younger graduates group of the American Association of University Women. Under her leadership, these young women have made an unusual contribution to the war effort in Little Rock.

Alpha Caldwell Rowland (Mrs. John H.) visited relatives and friends in Malverne and Little Rock this summer. The Rowlands make their home in Charleston, South Carolina, where "Bo" Rowland is football coach at The Citadel.

Marjorie Jones, who teaches Social Science in the Hen-

Marjorie Jones, who teaches Social Science in the Hennessey, Oklahoma High School, visited her cousin, Marie Hopson Scott (Mrs. L. E.), a member of Virginia Alpha, in Little Rock during the summer.

#### CALIFORNIA ALPHA

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. J. P. Kneubuhl (Margaret Woodard), a daughter Janet Pritchard, on April 9, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Bryan S. Moore (Sally Holt), a son, Michael Shannon, on March 30, 1942.

#### CALIFORNIA BETA

#### Marriages

Jean Porter and Ensign James Thompson, U.S.N.R., on May 9, 1942. At home, Newport, R.I. Nancy Ziegenfuss and Lieut. Edward Lohmann, U.S.A. At home, San Luis Obispo, Calif.

#### Births

Bittos

To Mr. and Mrs. Clark Eddy (Tressye Napier), a son, John Napier Eddy, on March 16, 1942,
To Mr. and Mrs. Kirke Monroe (Elizabeth Newman), a son, James Monroe, in May.
To Mr. and Mrs. Samuel Pike Hall (Madeline Larkin), a son, Samuel Pike III, in April.
To Mr. and Mrs. Samuel Phillips Stevens (Mary E. Allen), a daughter, Elizabeth Sharon, in March.
To Mr. and Mrs. Clarke Hall (Eleanor Holmes), a son. Richard. on Iuly 8, 1939.

son, Richard, on July 8, 1939.

#### Personals

Mrs. F. C. Foy (Elizabeth Hamilton), and children, will move to Washington, D.C. to join Lieut. Col. Foy this fall.

#### CALIFORNIA GAMMA

#### Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. John M. Woods (Eloise Parke), a daughter, Mary Linda, on November 15, 1940.

#### CALIFORNIA DELTA

#### Marriage

Patricia Morrissey and William K. Murphy, Jr., on May 30, 1942.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Samuel Hale (Jane Bozung), a son, Samuel Hale, Jr., on March 24, 1942.

To Ensign and Mrs. Clinton Scott (Helen Corbaley), a daughter, Kate Hinckley, on March 9, 1942.

#### COLORADO ALPHA

#### Marriages

Jane Sampson and Dudley Hutchinson, Jr. on June 5, 1942 in Fresno, Calif. At home, 152 North Fulton Ave., Fresno, Calif. Beverly Barton and Dr. Herman Maul, on June 26,

Birth:

To Mr. and Mrs. T. W. Wheeler (Helen C. Gregory), a daughter, Mary Jane, on May 31, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. James N. Counter (Margaret Ann Plettner), a daughter, Carol Jean, on February 16, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Arthur W. Brown (Margaret Kunsmiller), a daughter, Marlene Louise, on March 8, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. P. C. Humphreys (Janice Kennedy), a daughter, Barbara, in June 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Leon Lavington, Jr. (Louise Brourink), a son, Leon III, in June 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. W. G. Worcester (Isabel Greenway), a son, Robert Lyons, on March 14, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Henry Heitzler (Louise Wigton), a daughter, Karen Louise, on June 28, 1942.

#### COLORADO BETA

#### Marriages

Dorothy J. Armour and Edward L. Dailey, on June

30, 1942.
Betty E. Arnold and I. David Ross, on April 5, 1942.
Mary Elizabeth Bailey and Capt. George Arnold Filmer, on June 30, 1942. At home, 6644 Broadmoor Rd., Kansas City, Mo.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Charles Herzog (Doris Romig), a daughter, Diane Doris, on February 16, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Stuart Lewis (Helen Stanage), a daughter, in March 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. John Ryland (Lucille McCrillis), a son, Dwight, on April 25, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Frank L. Halla (Georgiann Burdick), a son, Frank L., Jr., on April 29, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert G. Naylor (Shirley Carter), a son, Carter Graham, on May 22, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Leland Kintzele (Laura Braden), a daughter, on June 1, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Louis Middlemist (Georgia Watkins), a daughter, Joan Marjorie, on June 11, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Fletcher Birney (Betty Pollard), a son, James Morehouse, on June 15, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Ludlow King H (Betty Stovall), a son, Ludlow III, on June 24, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Gene Modesitt (Betty Rae Thibodeau), a son, Carl Lawrence, on June 26, 1942.

#### D.C. ALPHA

Marriage

Jane Barbara Fleig and John P. Haskell, U.S.N.R., Σ A E, on December 24, 1941.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. James A. Johnson (Betty Angus), a daughter, Elizabeth Angus, on January 11, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. C. E. Pledger (Beryle Edminston), a daughter, Beryle Lee, on May 14, 1942.

#### FLORIDA ALPHA

To Mr. and Mrs. Charles E. Seyfarth (Dorothy Skill-man), a son, William Richard, on September 22, 1941.

Personal

Sincere sympathy is extended to Cherie Coley in the death of her father.

#### FLORIDA BETA

Marriages

Frances Morrow and Frank Bradford Stone, Ensign U.S.N.R., on December 20, 1941. Marian Heper and William R. Wing, on February 28,

Personals

Mary Caldwell and Betty Leffler were among the twenty-five active seniors of North Carolina A to receive their A.B. degrees at commencement. Mary Caldwell was awarded the Valkyrie Cup for being the most outstanding and influential woman student on the campus.

#### FLORIDA GAMMA

Marriage

Eleanor Reese and A. Reynolds Morse, on March 21, 1942.

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. N. J. MacGaffin, Jr. (Jane Thayer), a son, Norman J. MacGaffin III, on November 4, 1940.

#### IDAHO ALPHA

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. C. E. Gripton (June Numbers), a son, Donald Charles, on June 15, 1941.

#### ILLINOIS ALPHA

Marriage

Sara Frances Bryson and Gerald Morgan, on January 17, 1942.

Personal

Sincere sympathy is extended to Mildred Graham in the death of her mother.

#### ILLINOIS BETA

Personal

Dorothy Tilden Spoerl received her Ph.D. degree from Clark University (Worcester, Mass.) on May 24, 1942. Dr. Spoerl is an instructor in psychology in the Evening Division of American International College in Springfield, Mass.

#### ILLINOIS BETA-DELTA

Marriage

Meredith E. Boller and Robert Brooks, on April 13,

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Kordsiemon (Virginia Nichols), a son, Robert Charles, on September 28, 1941.

#### ILLINOIS EPSILON

Marriages

Kate LaVaute Marlyn and Dr. Justus Mueller, on April 17, 1942. At home, 712 Ackerman Ave., Syracuse, N.Y. Phoebe Jane Love and Ross Alan Slingman, in August 1941. At home, Ridley Park, Pa.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Donald J. Ramaker (Janice Raymond), a daughter, Donna Sue, on May 15, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. C. B. Smithson, Jr. (June Ponader), a son, Charles Busby, III, on April 13, 1942.

#### ILLINOIS ZETA

Marriage

Betty Flaningam and Omar W. Jones, Jr., in April, 1942.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. B. M. Bullington (Elizabeth Friend), a son, Bert Montell, Jr. To Mr. and Mrs. Burnett H. Shryock (Mary Ann Hewitt), a daughter, Mary Ann, on September 22, 1941.

#### ILLINOIS ETA

Marriages

Doris Louise Worsham and Leverett Bradbury Long, on January 14, 1942. Marjorie Moore and John Metzler Leib, on January 31,

Annabelle Kunz and Pvt. Robt. Wilson Kidd, Δ Σ Φ,

Annabelle Kunz and Pvt. Robt. Wilson March 20, 1942.

Jacqueline Lee Blake and Lieut. Natt Kemper Hammer, 2 A E, on April 18, 1942.

Cynthia Conklin and Joseph Keith Grisby, Δ Σ Φ, Φ Φ Φ, on April 24, 1942.

Julia Veronica Thornton and Staff Sgt. Robt. Joseph Elston, on May 28, 1942.

Rachel Courtney Wilber and Leland Stanford England, Rachel Courtney Wilber and Leland Stanford England, Parkey 1942.

Rachel Courtney Wilber and Leland Stanford England, Jr., on June 1, 1942. Jane Crawford and Dr. Jacob Kleinberg, on June 11, 1942.

Nadine Bradley and Joseph Hopson, Δ Σ Φ, on June 1942 Rosemary Elizabeth Reid and David Felmley Meek, on June 20, 1942.

June Audrey Bilgere and Earl Lawrence Kuhle, Σ A E, on June 27, 1942.

To Dr. and Mrs. R. A. Snyder (Jean Beall), a son, John Edward, on May 4, 1942. To Lieut. and Mrs. Wm. Kelso (Edistina McKeown), a daughter, Linda Alise.

#### INDIANA ALPHA

Marriages

Marie Elizabeth Wolf and James Edward Kelley, on June 6, 1942. At home, 135 W. Fleming Ave., Ft. Wayne, Ind. Jean Gravenstine and S. O. Dungan II, on June 12, 1942.

Personals

Mrs. R. J. McQuiston (Barbara Douglas) has moved to St. Louis, Mo. to join her husband who is a major in the Medical Corps of the Army.
Mrs. C. T. Coy (Kathryn Evans) has gone to Washington, D.C. to join her husband who is in the army.

#### INDIANA BETA

Marriages

Virginia Davis and Jack Hatfield. Lois Frank and Lieut. Albert Feeger, on June 6, 1942. At home, Mobile, Ala. Jayne Jones and Paul E. Porter, on April 27, 1941.

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. C. N. Burton (Emalucy Cadwell), daughter, Katherine Welbourne, on June 6, 1941. a daughter, Katherine

Personals

Ann Abbett is now associated with the Lincoln National Bank in Ft. Wayne.

Mrs. J. J. Workman (Floy E. Frank) has returned to her former home in Ft. Wayne for the duration.

#### INDIANA GAMMA

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Marshall Kealing (Margaret Branaman), a daughter, Nancy Lee, on March 2, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Carter Boyd (Dorothy Gimbel), a son, Carter C. Boyd, Jr., on April 3, 1942.

Judy Stahr, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. John Stahr has been recording voice parts, of two Terrytune animated cartoons.

Mr. and Mrs. E. B. Hall (Cleo Millikan) went to Orlando in June to be with Mr. Hall's mother on her ninetieth birthday.

#### INDIANA DELTA

Marriages

Augusta L. Hite and Eric A. Johnson, Jr., on March 21, 1942. At home, 3949 M St., Apt. C, Sacramento, Calif.

Jane Robinson and Lieut. John Craig. They will be stationed at Ft. Sill, Okla.

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. B. G. Luring (Elizabeth Ross), a son, Burton Ross, on January 1, 1941.

#### IOWA ALPHA

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. D. W. Brail (Vivian Holland), a daughter, Dianne Brail, on November 20, 1941.

#### IOWA BETA

Marriages

Harriet Henderson and Dr. Fred Kojis, on June 6, Margaret Arnold and Don A. Rogers, on February 6, 1942.

1942. Persis George and Robt. Flint, on April 1, 1942. At home, Apt. 204-C, Halden Breen Apt's, Cambridge, Mass. Kathryn Bellman and Eugene Braught, on May 25, 1942. At home, Pender, Neb. Jane Hatch and Charles McEwen, on May 25, 1942. At home, 1233 23rd St., Des Moines, Iowa. Gertrude Litzenberg and Ellis Siders, on May 28, 1942. At home, 611 Pearl St., Ypsilanti, Mich.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. W. R. Prouty, Jr. (Harriet Harlan),
a son, William Harlan, on April 6, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Marvin Houghton (Jane Brooks),
a son, Marvin Brooks, in May, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Walter A. Telfer (Margaret Dotts),
a daughter, Ellen, on May 19, 1942.
To Capt. and Mrs. C. E. Robinson (Marjorie Piffer),
a son, Charles Richard, on May 11, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Warren Yackey (Josephine Replogle),
a daughter, Alice, on June 4, 1942.

#### IOWA GAMMA

Marriages

Helen Hart Earwood and Ralph Warren Whitaker, Δ T, on December 20, 1941.

Martha Stangl and John W. Bacheler, on September 20. 1941. Dorothy M. Root and Paul D. Metzler, on May 30, 1942. At home, Milford, Mich.

To Mr. and Mrs. H. F. Elias (Ruth E. Bronson), a daughter, Sharon Louise, on October 6, 1941.

Personals

Mr. and Mrs. Martin Weiss (Jean Straight) are sta-tioned at Ft. Sill, Okla.

Mary Hayward is now an instructor at the Settlement School.

Beatrice Hughes is now in charge of Harding's Cafe-teria in Chicago.

Mrs. Boyd Hubbard (Ada Miller) and children are now making their home in Ames, Iowa, Mr. Hubbard is stationed in Hawaii, where he has a position as Chief of Intelligence for the Air Force.

#### KANSAS ALPHA

Marriage

Winona Thompson and Henry Drake Burrows on De-cember 26, 1940.

Births

To Dr. and Mrs. O. L. Martin (Helen Block), a son, Harvey Connett, on September 23, 1941.
To Mr. and Mrs. Robt. D. Hartley (Reine Rucker), a son, Richard Rucker, on October 16, 1941.
To Mr. and Mrs. Robert W. Stewart (Ruth V. Welty), a daughter, Ruth Virginia, on August 5, 1941.
To Mr. and Mrs. Sam Cook (Mary Lou Borders), a daughter, Caren Abbey, on April 25, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Fothergill (Mary Kay Frith), a daughter, Ann Katharine, on June 24.

#### KANSAS BETA

Marriage

Martha J. Mullen and D. C. Wesche, on March 2, 1941.

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Vorras Elliott (Marlene Dappen), a daughter, Jean, on April 22, 1942.

#### KENTUCKY ALPHA

Marriages

Catherine C. Duffy and Dr. Rudolph Vogt, on June 27, 1942. Virginia Merchant and Lieut. Bernard Arterburn, on May 29, 1942. Martha Love Johnson and William Ryan, on May 30,

1942. Joyce Archer and Lieut. Richard Oldham, on June 8, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Prentice (Myrtha Coyte), a daughter, Rebecca Ann, on May 15, 1942.

#### LOUISIANA ALPHA

Personal

Dr. Frederick Bunting, husband of Jane Westfeldt, is a member of the Latin American Commission on Eco-nomics. Dr. and Mrs. Bunting spent the summer of 1941 on an official tour by plane among South American countries.

#### LOUISIANA BETA

Marriage

Marian Moody and Josh Wheeler, on December 24,

#### MANITOBA ALPHA

Marriage

Grace Russell and Joseph G. Bascom. At home, Apt. 7, 474 Elgin St., Ottawa, Ont., Can.

#### MARYLAND ALPHA

Marriage

Martha Christine Flynn and Richard Worthington Shar-retts, U.S.A., on March 28, 1942.

#### MASSACHUSETTS ALPHA

Marriage

Patricia Hixson and Robert K. Griffin, in Schenectady, N.Y., on June 6,1942.

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. W. S. Fielding (Vera Victoreen), a daughter, Vicary, on October 30, 1941.

#### MICHIGAN ALPHA

Gretchen Schatz and T. M. Andrews, on May 19,

Gretchen J. Thiele and Corp. John P. Campbell, on May 24, 1941. Janet McKinley Langstrom and G. O. Nichols on June 27, 1942. Charlotte Biske and John Amdt. on July 18, 1942. At home, 3485 Iroquois, Detroit, Mich. Personal

Mr. and Mrs. R. W. Eastman (Retta McKnight) have moved from Detroit to Meriden, Conn.

#### MICHIGAN BETA

Marriages

Helen L. Chidester and Humphrey G. Rohns, on February 7, 1942. Marjorie Mary Merker and Rudolph Henry Sell, on June 19, 1942. Marjorie Ruth Strand and Charles Edward O'Brien, on

June 19, 1942.

Births Births

To Dr. and Mrs. Richard W. Terrill (Frances Eleanor Bielby), a son, David Richard, on December 15, 1941.

To Dr. and Mrs. Darrel A. Campbell (Jenny Peterson), a daughter, Nancy Louise, on April 9, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. W. F. Bahlmann (Mary J. Cummings), a son, Charles Lawrence, on July 2, 1940.

To Mr. and Mrs. Wm. H. Mason (Marion T. Holden), a son, Richard Holden, on January 13, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Arthur A. Whiting, Jr. (Frances Robinson), a son, on May 1, 1942.

Personals

Mary M. Holbrook is now associated with the Con-tinental Casualty Company of Chicago, in the Actuarial

Department.

Mrs. W. H. Wakeman (Ruth Kitchel) is a member of the Civil Air Patrol. This patrol is made up of qualified fliers who have volunteered their services in order to release Army fliers to duty. These fliers will use privately-owned planes which have been lent for the purpose of forest patrol or any required service.

#### MINNESOTA ALPHA

Marriage

Nancy Palmer and Gordon D. Rood, on December 9, 1941.

To Mr. and Mrs. Ben Williams, Jr. (Juanita Hanson), a daughter, Linda Lovise, on August 1, 1941.
To Mr. and Mrs. R. T. Kenney (Betty Jean Hedges), a son, Robert T. Kenney, Jr., on March 14, 1941.
To Mr. and Mrs. Austin Sparling (Lorraine E. Lovatt), a son, George Lovatt, on December 15, 1941.
To Mr. and Mrs. Paul Mans (Florence Meeds), a daughter, Bonnie Lee, on November 30, 1941.

Personal

Sincere sympathy is extended to Josephine Kenkel Healy (Mrs. H. R.) in the death of her husband, who died on the "Lexington" in the Coral Sea Battle.

#### MISSOURI ALPHA

Marriages

Madeline Murray and Chester C. Robinson, on July 19. 1941.
Frances Hockensmith and John Pershing Cregor, on June 2, 1942. Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Hackett (Barbara Ann Albright), a daughter, Judith Susan, on February 2, 1942.

Personals

Sincere sympathy is extended to Wilma Elliott Lee (Mrs. Gentry) in the death of her father W. C. Elliott, on March 9, 1942.

Mrs. Edward Alstrin (Gertrude Giffert) has moved from Minneapolis, Minn., to Bartlesville, Okla.

MISSOURI BETA

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. B. Pollard Scholz (Marguerite Newton), a daughter, Julia Baker, on April 25, 1942.

Personal

Helen Kammerer McKendrew is director of the Beekman Hill Unit of the American Women's Voluntary Service in New York City.

#### MISSOURI GAMMA

Marriages

Susan Elizabeth Torbitt and Charles Harry Apple, on April 5, 1942. Elsie Thornburgh and Ralph Plimmer, on May 9, 1942.

Nancy Luster and Dr. Gene Farthing, on March 21, 1942

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Curtis (Helen Stamate), a daughter, Nancy Ann, on May 28, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Charles Blom (Josephine Whisennand), a son, John Durward, on May 18, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Arthur Randall (Dorothy Taylor Davis), a son, Arthur Davis, on June 2, 1942.

#### MONTANA ALPHA

Marriage

Lucille Mahan and Loren Foot, Z A E, on May 17, 1942. At home, 1924 W. Pacific Ave., Spokane, Wash.

To Mr. and Mrs. W. Paul Callow (Daphine Dell), a son, William Paul, Jr. on December 16, 1941.

To Mr. and Mrs. Dean N. Turner (Marian Huntby), a son, Terrence Newell, on October 6, 1941.

Personals

Sincere sympathy is extended to Marybelle Jondrow Bradford (Mrs. Dana) whose husband was killed in March in a plane crash in Texas. Lt. and Mrs. Bradford were married in December.

Wilda Parker Axelson (Mrs. Arlo) was Woman's Day speaker May 23. Her thoughtful talk "Pattern for Freedom," was an inspiration to all who heard it. Jean Tait has accepted an internship for special training in diet and nutrition at the Michael Reese Hospital in Chicago.

Patricia Sandbo has been awarded a scholarship for 1942-43 in the Department of Retailing in New York University.

Margaret Roberts is secretary to Mr. Bob Duane, manager of N.B.C. Blue Network in San Francisco, Calif.

#### NEBRASKA BETA

Marriages

Claire L. Hustead and Dr. Donald Carlson, Lt., U.S.N., on March 21, 1942. Ruth Harvey and Floyd Hansmire, on June 7, 1942.

Births

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. H. Gordon Phillips (Margaret Zemer), a daughter, May Virginia, on May 31, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Donald O. Hornung (Margaret Walker), a daughter, Virginia Louise, on June 14, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Charles McGlone (Harriet Mossholder), a daughter, Katharine Ann, on April 14, 1942.

To Dr. and Mrs. Guy H. Crook (Lorraine Lynn), a son, Guy Harmon Crook II, on January 16, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. H. J. Marshall (Marjorie L. Barrett), a son, Howard Joseph, on January 3, 1942.

#### NEW YORK ALPHA

Marriages

Martha C. Keefe and Robert J. Griffith, on February 21, 1942. At home, 1609 Bolton St., Baltimore, Md. Evelyn Knispel and Cadet C. Willard Westover, on April 24, 1942. Births

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. K. V. Sutter (Elizabeth Vincent), a son, Karl Vernon, Jr., on November 15, 1941.

To Mr. and Mrs. Edward G. Hixson (Doris Cumings), a son, Edward George, Jr., on November 11, 1941.

To Mr. and Mrs. Philip Schlenger (Alice Evans), a son, Robert, on February 26, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert McAllister (Mary Edwards), a daughter, Nancy Woodward, on February 26, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Theodore O. Kuhl (Nancy Ferguson), a son, Theodore Richard, on May 18, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Lennius O. Burrell, Jr. (Vivian House), a son, on June 20, 1942.

Jean Emrey will teach in Truxton, N.Y. this fall. Sincere sympathy is extended to Lorraine Sherwood and Emily Sherwood Buckley in the death of their father. Virginia Boyd is a student at Beth Israel Hospital.

#### NEW YORK BETA

Personal

Sincere sympathy is extended to Harriet Wilmot Cald-well in the death of her brother, Alden, in April.

#### NEW YORK GAMMA

#### Marriages

Alice Shafto and Wm. H. Schmidt, Jr., on August 9, 1941. Ruth Elizabeth Joyce and Alan T. France, on June 6, Portia Van DeLinder and Charles Stewart Collman, on March 28, 1942.

Margaret C. Robinson and Arthur S. Nyquist, on March 14, 1942.

Ruth Slater and Frank L. Chambers, on April 5,

1942. Wilda Irene Remsear and John Raymond Miles, in June 1941. Births

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Arthur R. Ruark (Grace Hazen),
a daughter, Patricia Hazen, on March 5, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Ernest Getman (Lola Woodcock), a
son, James Jeffrey, on May 3, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Edward L. Osborn (Sarah E. Wilson), a daughter, Elaine Tallmadge, on October 5, 1941.
To Mr. and Mrs. William Hartranft (Marjorie Guyer),
a son, on February 17, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Elwood Newcomb (Dorothy Cass),
a son, Malcolm Robert on April 12, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Clyde Thompson (Margaret Currie),
a son, Clyde Stephen, on April 3, 1942.

Personals

Personals

Sincere sympathy is extended to Bernice Shutts in the death of her mother.

Frances Pearson has a leave of absence from her hospital work and is with the Red Cross for the duration.

Marian Whitehead Cole is doing Psychiatric work for the Red Cross in White Plains, N.Y.

#### NEW YORK DELTA

#### Marriage

Betty Joanne Evans and Stephen A. Vosper, on June 18, 1941. Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Guy Baldwin (Fa daughter, Nancy Lee, on May 8, 1942. (Frank Zingerle).

#### NORTH CAROLINA ALPHA

#### Marriages

Alice Cheshire and Henry Dockery Haywood, in April Jeannie Wells Newsome and Lieut. J. J. Pitts, Φ K Σ, on June 27, 1942.

Mary Leigh Scales and John H. E. Woltz, on June 27,

To Mr. and Mrs. Odell Sapp (Garnelle Raney), a son. Odell, Jr., on October 17, 1941.

To Mr. and Mrs. Guy Carwell (Margaret Bulitt), a daughter, Margaret Randolph, in October 1941.

#### Personals

Personals

Phylis Campbell has been appointed to the legal staff of the office of Price Administration in Washington, D.C. Mary Elizabeth Nash received the Amy Burnham Onken award for Gamma Province.

Elsie Lawrence completed the National Red Cross requirements in the spring to become an instructor in First Aid. She is taking a course to become a member of the Woman's Motor Corps this summer.

The chapter entertained Miss Amy Burnham Onken on Founders' Day. The members of North Carolina B were also guests.

#### NORTH CAROLINA BETA

#### Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. John Rankin (Roberta Casey), a son, John Robert, on April 13, 1942.

#### NORTH DAKOTA ALPHA

#### Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. F. A. Bergquist (Winifred Mulloy), a daughter, Brenda Lee, on September 9, 1941.

#### OHIO BETA

#### Marriages

Enid Sykes and John D. Walker, on July 10, 1942. At home, 1305 Sheridan Ct., Ft. Wayne, Ind.

Ruth Hoffman and David McDaniel, & A O, on June

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. H. R. Verevohlt (Frances Horn), a daughter, Janice Marie Verevohlt, on March 2, 1942. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert A. Campbell (Rachel C. Davis), a daughter, Catherine Emily, on May 13, 1942. To Mr. and Mrs. M. R. Clark (Mary Hershberger), a daughter, Barbara Anita, on May 29, 1942.

#### OHIO DELTA

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. J. R. Staples (Leah Virginia Gemble), a daughter, Jill, on February 14, 1941.

To Mr. and Mrs. James Rosmer (Helen James), a son, Quentin, on February 28, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Frederic L. Foill (Virginia Jones), a daughter, Kitty Wells, on April 1, 1942.

To Capt. and Mrs. George W. Wilson (Josephine Spencer), a daughter, Susan Van Pelt, on May 5, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Charles R. Borzilleri, Jr. (Martha Benson), a daughter, Martha Jane, on March 8, 1942.

#### OKLAHOMA ALPHA

#### Marriages

Katie Donelson Tack and Robert C. Smith, on April 4, 1942. At home, 2312 Dublin St., New Orleans, La. Barbara June Campbell and Norman James Putnam, on April 4, 1942. At home, 1331 S. Rockford, Tulsa, Okla. Dathel Haskins and Lt. Joseph L. Hull, on April 16,

Geraldine Monroe Thurman and Irving Freeman, on May 2, 1942. At home, 3500 Granada Ave., Dallas, Tex. Billie Jeanne Schneiter and William A. Black, on May 2, 1942. At home, Denver, Colo.

#### Births

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. James D. Martin (Margery Clevenger), a daughter, Suzanne F., on August 17, 1941.

To Mr. and Mrs. John A. Dillon (Charlotte Fogg), a daughter, Anne Fortune, on February 13, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. E. Howell Williams (Martha Lou Johnson), a son, Hugh Herbert, on April 13, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Hart (Mary Wirt Head). a daughter, Noel Blake, on April 30, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. L. B. Jackson, Jr. (Louise Houston), a son, Lewis Burk, III. on October 26, 1941.

To Mr. and Mrs. Don Nix (Mary Lois Holmes), a son, Paul Jeffrey, on April 26, 1942.

#### Personal

Sincere sympathy is extended to Waunette Hamilton arr (Mrs. E. W.), in the death of her husband on Barr (Mrs. E. W January 17, 1942.

#### OKLAHOMA BETA

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Walter F. Campbell (Georgian Fox), a daughter. Nancy Jane, on November 19, 1941. To Mr. and Mrs. Ralph F. Kalbus (K. J. Pratt), a son, Ralph Frederick Kalbus, II, in March 1942.

#### ONTARIO BETA

#### Marriages

Kathleen Craig and David MacLean, on May 6, 1942. Margaret Escott-Beal and Phillip Allison, on April 18,

Mary Butler and Squadron Leader Graham McCormick, Jean Lawson and Dr. Jack Kennedy, on June 30, 1942. At home. Vancouver, B.C., Canada. Jean McNally and E. M. Willis, R.C.A.F.

To Mr. and Mrs. Claude McCallum (Louise Turville), a daughter, Elizabeth Joan, on July 6, 1942.

#### Personals

Mary Hayman Archer (Mrs. W. L.), is doing war work in England. Margaret Kime has moved to New Westminster, B.C., Canada, to be with her husband who is stationed there.

#### OREGON ALPHA

#### Marriages

Kathleen Dillard and Kneeland E. Stone. Ruth Hingley and Lieut. Leonard Grady Hicks, X T, on February 26, 1942. At home, San Diego, Calif.

Marjory Valentine and Benson Billins, on June 5, 1942. At home, Elizabeth Apts. Portland, Ore.

To Mr. and Mrs. J. H. Hopkins (Marjorie E. Hass), a daughter, Barbata Jane, on September 19, 1941.

To Mr. and Mrs. Don Kennedy (Evelyn Rosander), a son, Todd Michael, on March 12, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Stuart E. Marsee (Audrey Belfield), a son, Frederic Earl, on March 6, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Benjamin F. King, Jr. (Virginia Duncan), a daughter, Sandra, on May 4, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Harris Dusenbery (Evelyn Shields), a son, David Brock, on April 30, 1942.

#### OREGON BETA

#### Marriages

Marge Hunt and Ed Manning, in March 1942. Caroline Means and Russell Martini, Δ X, on May 31, 1942. At home, Corvallis, Ore. Marylou McEachron and Wm. Lord, A T Ω, on June

June Martinson and Morgan H. Cox, on May 15, 1942.

June Martinson and Morgan H. Cox, on May 15, 1942.

Helen Ames and Jens LaVerne Lerback, Δ T Ω, on June 6, 1942.

Sybil Kennedy and Jack Mulder, K Σ, on June 30, 1942. At home, Nixon Apts., Brg. & Hall, Portland, Ore.

To Mr. and Mrs. John Hughes (Velma May), a daughter, Jerilynn, on March 6, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Thomas D. Potwin, Jr. (Marjorie Jean Ingle), a daughter, Helen Jeannette, on January 2, 1942. 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Geo. Gordon (Frances Babcock), a daughter, Pamela Jean, on April 4, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Charles F. Robinson (Barbara Weaver), a son, Gary Edward, on April 28, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth Ackles (Janet Johnson), a son, Kenneth M., Jr., on April 29, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. John P. Twomey (Wilma Ireland), a son, Patrick Lawrence, on May 31, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Robert McAllister (Mary Edwardes), a daughter, Nancy Woodward, on February 26, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. R. S. Rose (Virginia Cooper), a son, Robert Rowland, on May 20, 1942.

#### PENNSYLVANIA ALPHA

To Mr. and Mrs. F. Lee Cochran (Elizabeth M. Blair), a daughter, Anne Elizabeth, on March 11, 1942.

#### PENNSYLVANIA BETA

To Mr. and Mrs. Rodney Garrett Brown (Fannie Wood), a son, Garrett Wood, on April 6, 1942.

#### PENNSYLVANIA GAMMA

#### Marriage

H. Romayne Mumper and Lt. John E. Richards, on April 23, 1942.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Fred K. Harvey, Jr. (Mildred Chase), a daughter, Anne, on April 17, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Wm. Jacobs (Emma Shawfield), a daughter, Hilda Wood, on March 6, 1942.

### SOUTH CAROLINA ALPHA

#### Marriage

Elizabeth Anderson and James A. Taylor, on December 28, 1941. At home, Apt. 5, 223 Park Dr., Boston, Mass.

#### SOUTH DAKOTA ALPHA

#### Marriage

Dorothy Rose Crill and Wilfrid Riddet, in May 1942.

#### TEXAS ALPHA

#### Marriages

Julia Faye Cook and R. J. McMurrey, on January 3, 1942. At home, 524 S. Fannin, Tyler, Tex.
Lorena Rowan and Eugene Philbin, on January 8, 1942.
Adele Houssels Davis and Hulon Black, on June 10,

Anne Townes Finch and Charles S. Taylor, Jr., on August 8, 1942. Helen Harris and Lt. Hugh Woodrow Benson. At home, Camp Davis, South Carolina.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Denman Moody (Ted Lewis), a son, Denman, Jr., on April 27, 1942. To Mr. and Mrs. James Rogers (Elizabeth Schneider), a son, on April 9, 1941.

#### Personals

Katherine Wells Sinclair (Mrs. Harry) has moved from Austin, to Columbus, Ohio, where her husband is stationed at Fort Hayes.

Louise Crow Searight (Mrs. H. F.), has moved to San Antonio while her husband, Colonel Searight is with the Army. Colonel Searight was heard from last during the Battle of Bataan. With Mrs. Searight is her daughter Louise Boswell, who graduated from Duke University in June.

#### TEXAS BETA

#### Marriages

Barbara Cahoon and Ensign Gordon A. Gabbert, A T Ω, Barbara Cahoon and Ensign Gordon A. Gaocett, A. S. on February 21, 1942.

Doris Padgitt and Ensign David Stanley Crockett, II K A, on April 11, 1942.

Patsie Keilty and Charles S. Carver, Jr., Φ Δ Θ, on April 3, 1942.

Mary Ann Potts and Francis K. Allan, on April 18, 1942. At home, 414 W. 121st St., New York, N.Y.

Lois Penniman and Lt. Francis J. Kelley, Φ Δ Θ, on May 16, 1942.

Lois Penniman and Lt. Francis J. Kelley, Φ Δ Θ, on May 16, 1942.

Barbara Stebbins and Robert P. Dill, Φ Δ Θ, on May 25, 1942. At home in Santa Monica, Calif.

Frances Whiteley and Ensign Robert K. Buchanan, Jr., Σ Φ E, on Iune 13, 1942.

Ruth Angus and Robert E. Harris, Jr., on June 20, 1942. At home, Austin, Tex.

Mary E. Smith and Guy Ferguson Witt, Jr., on June 20, 1942.

Virginia Lou Garrott and Joe Ford Maberry, on July 23, 1942.

#### Births

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. O. T. Light (Mary Anne Collins), a girl, Katherine Elaine, on September 3, 1941.

To Mr. and Mrs. E. Hoyle Graham (Elsie Mae Paul), a daughter, Elizabeth Hoyle, on September 12, 1941.

To Mr. and Mrs. O. K. King, Jr. (Carol Fritz), a son, Steven Kerryn King, on December 11, 1941.

To Mr. and Mrs. H. H. Hawley, Jr. (Eva Smither), a son, John Richard, on April 6, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Geo. D. Nash (Mary Cullum), a son, Geo. Davis, Jr., on April 15, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Don Gay (Virginia Carlisle), a daughter, Nancy Ann, on May 23, 1942.

To Mr. and Mrs. Tom Reilly (Sarah Davidson), a son, Tom Reilly, Jr., on June 19, 1942.

#### UTAH ALPHA

#### Marriage

Virginia Alyce Gledhill and Alton H. Gage, & M A, on September 24, 1941. At home, 1127 W. 41st Pl., Los Angeles, Calif.

#### Personal

Eileen Johnson who is with the Western Airlines is a new member of the Butte-Anaconda Alumnæ Club.

#### VERMONT ALPHA

#### Marriages

Eleanor Gillett and Henry S. Blauvelt, on August 8,

1942.
Edith Egbert and Tom Bennett, in November, 1941.
Elizabeth Gates and Irving W. Tuttle, on October 4,
1941. At home, 304 Hillside Ave., Nutley, N.Y.
To Mr. and Mrs. Richard Hubbard (Ruth Colesworthy), a son, Richard Minor, on December 15, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. J. Franklin Jones, Jr. (Betty Anne Dunning), a son, David, in January, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Francis H. Whitcombe (Catherine Carrick), a daughter, on April 19, 1941.

#### Personal

Mr. and Mrs. Gray N. Taylor (Georgiana Hulett) are moving to Cherry Valley, N.Y., where Mr. Taylor will be principal of the Central School.

#### VERMONT BETA

#### Marriages

Elizabeth Marshall and Lt. Carl Howard Schofield, on

Elizabeth Marshall and It. Carl Howard Schoneld, on March 7, 1942. Elizabeth H. Wright and Frederick G. Ahrens, on May 23, 1942. At home, 62-65 Saunders St., Forest Hills, Long Island, N.Y.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd W. Fiske (Marguerite Bean), a daughter, Sherril Elaine, on April 4, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Howard Martin (Elizabeth Jane Aiken), a daughter, on May 23, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. David Webster (Dorris H. Skinner), a daughter, on March 9, 1942.

Personal

Elizabeth Gurney is now employed as dietitian at the station hospital at Camp Devens, Mass.

#### VIRGINIA ALPHA

#### Marriage

Mary Worthen Penick and W. N. Brandon, Jr., at the Old Christ Church in Alexandria, Va., on April 25, 1942. At home, 510 Wolfe St., Alexandria, Va.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. J. H. Bauer (Mary Alice Rowell), a daughter, Barbara Ann., on Pebruary 10, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. L. H. Kerr, Jr. (Marion Timmens), a daughter, Nancy Jane, on January 29, 1941.
To Mr. and Mrs. Alvin Filstrup, Jr. (Elaine Hogenson), a son, Scott, on April 4, 1942.

#### Personal

Sincere sympathy is extended to Mrs. Max (Grace Thompson), in the death of her father, Max Molloy

#### VIRGINIA GAMMA

#### Marriage

Edith Grinnell Rathburn and Loyd Victor Bell. Lieutenant, Army of the United States, in the Wren Chapel, College of William and Mary, May 30, 1941.

To Mr. and Mrs. Ashton Jones, Jr. (Lucy Pilcher), a daughter, Susan DuVal, on March 26, 1942.

#### WASHINGTON ALPHA

#### Marriage

Mary Elizabeth Shipman and Lt. Alfred J. Lomen, on May 9, 1942.

#### Personal

Eleanor Soule, granddaughter of Founder Inez Smith Soule, received her A.B. at commencement, University of North Carolina.

#### WASHINGTON BETA

Jean Howard and Lt. Maurice R. Smith, Σ N. on December 28, 1941. At home, 106 Park Ave., Yakima, Wash.

#### Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Clarence Stromsness (Hallie Mc-Cullough), a son, Chris Michael, on April 30, 1942.

#### WEST VIRGINIA ALPHA

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. J. T. Dunn (Marian McClure), a son, Jesse Thomas, Jr., on August 20, 1941.

To Mr. and Mrs. James A. Hyslop (Mary Elizabeth Nutter), a daughter, Pamela Jane, on March 13, 1942. To Mr. and Mrs. T. O. Williams (Elizabeth Reed), a son, on April 2, 1942. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert P. Barry, Jr. (Jane McClure), a daughter, Sara Jane, on July 18, 1941.

#### WISCONSIN ALPHA

#### Marriage

Margaret G. Stephens and John William Crawford, on February 7, 1942. At home, 904 Hinman Ave., Evanston,

#### Births

Mr. and Mrs. J. Harold DeNike (Virginia Hoiles), a daughter, Joanne, on June 22, 1941.
To Mr. and Mrs. John F. Adams (Nancy Duggar), a son, Charles Farnham, on January 8, 1942.
To Mr. and Mrs. Alfred L. Nimz (Ruth Nason), a daughter, Nancy Ellen, on February 25, 1942.

#### WISCONSIN BETA

#### Marriages

Catherine Porter Yarnelle and Leland Powers Maxwell, on April 17, 1942. At home, 1213 W. Washington Blvd., Ft. Wayne, Ind. Virginia Ruth Adam and Robert H. Higley, in April, 1942. At home, 1288 W. 71st Terr., Kansas City, Mo.

#### Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. R. E. Baker (Barbara Bible), a son, on October 5, 1941.

#### Personal

Catherine Yarnell Maxwell (Mrs. Leland Powers) is one of the new provisional members of the Junior League of Ft. Wayne, Ind.

#### WISCONSIN GAMMA

#### Marriage

Virginia Dahlstrom and Rowland Davis, in April, 1942. At home, Milwaukee, Wis.

To Mr. and Mrs. Donald C. Porter (Harriet Krieck-hause), a daughter, Anne Katherine, on November 23,

#### WYOMING ALPHA

#### Marriages

Eleanor Keefe and Lt. George Dorrington, on December 23, 1941. At home, Stuart Apts., Rolla, Mo.
Betty Lee Fath and Wilbur Hall Knight, on December 26, 1941. At home, 709 North St., Jackson, Miss., Barbara Nelson and Richard Mullens, on April 12, 1942. At home, Laramie, Wyo.
Eleanor Hitchcock and Glen Mullens, on January 1, 1942. At home, Omaha, Neb.
Eleanor Calberg and Jack Weppner, in June 1942. At home, Cheyenne, Wyo.
Shirley Beeson and Kenneth Kirkbride, on June 21, 1942.

# 1942. Patricia Stewart and Keith Morris, Σ A E, on June 23, 1942. At home, Box 368, A.F.A.F.S., Luke Field, Ariz.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. William O. Thomas (Olive Williams), a daughter, Janyce Eleanor, on March 9, 1942. To Mr. and Mrs. Charles Pope (Barbara Jean Tell), a daughter, Joan, on May 17, 1942. To Mr. and Mrs. John R. George, Jr. (Dorothy Porter), a daughter, Kathleen Ann, on May 14, 1942. To Mr. and Mrs. W. V. Brinegar (Charlotte Burkett), a daughter, Marilyn Martha, on March 9, 1941.

## IN MEMORIAM

ELIZABETH ADAMS, initiated January 22, 1916, into Kansas B, died March 28, 1942.

FLORENCE JUDITH WALKER BATCHELDER (Mrs. J. Roland), initiated October 31, 1897, into Vermont A, died January 16, 1942.

MARGARET BAYLY, initiated February 22, 1893, into D.C. A, died in May, 1942.

LUELLA WHITNEY DUNN (Mrs. Frank C.), initiated November 2, 1894, into Vermont A, died December 15, 1941.

ELLA GARDNER, initiated December 19, 1914, into D.C. A, died March 29, 1942.

FLORENCE PROVINCE GARSHWILER (Mrs. William P.), initiated October 30, 1893, into Indiana B, died April 26, 1942.

LETA MARIE SCHREIBER GOSDEN (Mrs. Freeman F.), initiated February 9, 1918, into Colorado B, affiliated with Minnesota A, died in Spring 1942.

ELEANOR TINGLE KNEASS (Mrs. Donald), initiated February 1, 1936, into Oregon A, died in 1941.

CHARLOTTE ALLEN KOONS (Mrs. Raymond), initiated March 2, 1912, into Nebraska B, died March 30, 1942.

RACHEL HAVNER KYNER (Mrs. L. M.), initiated October 6, 1929, into Iowa Γ, died in April, 1940.

GERTRUDE McClure, initiated in August, 1886, into Iowa T, died October 24, 1940.

LELA MARCH NEIL, initiated December 18, 1934, into Texas A, died February 2, 1942.

MARGARET ANASTATIA OURSLER, initiated October 3, 1907, into Iowa Z, died in October, 1941.

EDNA HARKER THOMAS (Mrs. Elbert D.), initiated September 11, 1929, into Utah A, died April 29, 1942.

BESS CURL WITSELL (Mrs. Ben), initiated October 17, 1925, into Arkansas A, died November 5, 1941.

MARIA M. ROBERTS, initiated 1888, into Iowa F, died in April, 1942.



#### OFFICIAL CALENDAR

Communications for the Central Office should be addressed: Pi Beta Phi Central Office, Marshall, Illinois. For addresses of other officers, consult the Fraternity Directory immediately following the Official Calendar in this issue. List of blanks and other supplies with prices, on page 135.

#### ACTIVE

Send checks for initiation fees to the Assistant to the Grand Treasurer

Make checks for Senior dues payable to the 'Assistant to the Grand Treasurer and send to your Province President.

Make checks for Settlement School payable to the Treasurer of the Settlement School and send to your Province President.

Make checks for Loan Fund payable to the Chairman of the Loan Fund and send to your

Province President.

Make checks for jewelry payable to the Pi Beta Phi Central Office and send to that office, Payment for badges in Canada is sent direct to Birks & Co. after order has been okeved by the Pi Beta Phi Central Office. Make checks for magazine subscriptions payable to the Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency,

Marshall, Illinois,

EXCEPTION: NEW YORK ALPHA, NEW YORK GAMMA and NEW YORK DELTA send donations and initiation fees to the Assistant to the Grand Treasurer.

#### NOTICE TO CANADIAN CHAPTERS

Canadian chapters make all checks for payments of initiation fees and contributions to all funds payable to the Assistant to the Grand President, Miss Isabel A. Clark, 196 Elm St., Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada.

#### GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

Chapter treasurers should see that the Financial Statement to Parents of Pledges are sent approximately two weeks before the proposed initiation. They should be sent only to the parents of the girls who have met the initiation requirements and whom the chapter definitely plans to initiate. This means too that the blanks should only be sent to the girls who have received the required vote of the Executive Council and the Alumnæ Advisory Committee for approval of initiation.

Chapter treasurers should see that badges are ordered through the Central Office. It takes two weeks to complete badge orders. Badges for prospective initiates should not be ordered

until all initiation requirements have been met.

Chapter treasurers should send the initiation fee of \$40.00 for each initiate with Form GT1 to the Assistant to the Grand Treasurer within three days of initiation. Canadian chapters send initiation fees to the Assistant to the Grand President.

The corresponding secretary should report to the Central Office changes in chapter officers if they are made, any time during the year.

SEPTEMBER 10. Chapter president send letter to Province President. Chapter officers meet, read manuals, and prepare

SEPTEMBER 10. Chapter president send letter to Province President, Chapter officers meet, read manuals, and prepare for college year.

SEPTEMBER 25. Chapter scholarship chairman send Scholarship Blank 31 to the National Scholarship Chairman, one copy to Province Scholarship Supervisor, and one copy to the Province Scholarship Supervisor, and one copy to the Province President. Send a letter to the Province Scholarship persident scholarship include forms A and B.

SEPTEMBER 30. Chapter scholarship chairman send last year's rating of the chapter, also plans for study for the actives and pledges to the Province President.

OCTOBER 1. Chapter corresponding secretary send list of actives to the Central Office.

OCTOBER 1. Chapter rice-president send Membership Lists to the Central Office.

OCTOBER 1. Chapter pledge supervisor send a list of pledges, on forms intended for that purpose, to the Assistant to the Grand President and to the Central Office.

OCTOBER 1. Chapter corresponding secretary of chapters maintaining residences mail to Chairman of Committee on Chapterons, printed card concerning chapteron and also blank containing data on chaperon.

OCTOBER 1. Pledge sponsors send national and chapter Letters to Parents of Pledges as soon as possible after pledging.

OCTOBER 5. Chapter corresponding secretary prepare and mail chapter letter for AIROW to reach Chapter Letter Editor by October 10.

OCTOBER 5. Chapter corresponding secretary prepare and mall chapter letter for ARROW to reach Chapter Letter Editor by October 10.

OCTOBER 16. Chapter operations and letter and copy of Bylaws to the Province President.

OCTOBER 16. Chapter corresponding secretary notify Central Office if supplies for fall work have not been received. Chapter corresponding secretary return receipt for fall supplies to the Central Office as soon as the supplies are received. Chapter corresponding secretary send Fraternity Study and Examination Blank 1105 to the Province Supervisor of Fraternity Study and Examination not later than October 15 and before if possible secretary notify the Chairman of the Committee on Transfers on the official Introduction Transfer Blank of members who have registered on campuses other than those of their own chapters.

OCTOBER 15. Retiring chapter rush captain send eport and the name and address of the new rush captain send eport and the name and address of the new rush captain send eport and close of the formal rushing season, the rush captain report to the Province President the results of rushing and piledging 12.

OCTOBER 15. Censors submit plans to the Province President for chapter meeting programs for the first semester.

OCTOBER 15. Chapter corresponding secretary notify the Chalman of the Committee on Transfers on the official Introduction Transfer Blank of members who have registered on campuses other than those of their own chapters.

OCTOBER 15. Chapter treasurer send to the Assistant to the Grand Treasurer 55.00 to cover both the bond for the chapter treasurer and the bound ARROWS of preceding year. With this send report of delinquent members with names and addresses, time and amount of delinquency.

OCTOBER 15. Deadline for material for December ARROW. OCTOBER 26. Due to Supervisor of Chapter Accounting from chapter treasurer: Summer-September Report, 2 copies of budget, assessment roll, expense sheet from all chapters.

OCTOBER 26. Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Province Supervisor.

OCTOBER 30. Chapter president send form to the Assistant to the Grand President stating that all employees handling food at the chapter house have passed a physical examination.

NOVEMBER 5. Chapter corresponding secretary send article.

tion.

NOVEMBER 5. Chapter corresponding secretary send article,
"What A Fraternity Girl Thinks" to reach the Chapter
Letter Editor on November 10.

NOVEMBER 10. Chapter president send letter to Province

President, NOVEMBER 15, Chapter scholarship chairman send to the Province President, National Scholarship Chairman, and Province Supervisor on Scholarship copies of Scholarship Blank \$2, Send earlier if possible. This is the deadline for

this blank, NOVEMBER 15. Pledge president send letter to Province

NOVEMBER 15. Pledge president send letter to Province President.

NOVEMBER 20. Chapter social exchange chairman send material on Homecoming, Floats, Stunts, Formal Parties, Rushing, to Province Supervisor of Social Exchange.

NOVEMBER 20. Due to Supervisor of Chapter Accounting from chapter treasurer: October report, assessment roll, expense sheet, from chapters reporting monthly.

NOVEMBER 25. Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Province Supervisor on Scholarship, chairman send subscriptions for Christmas delivery to the Pl Beta Phi Magazine Agency. (This does not mean that subscriptions will not be received after this date, but it does mean that to insure Christmas

delivery the subscriptions should be received at the agency

by this date.)

JANUARY 10. Chapter president send letter to Province

DECEMBER 15. Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to

DECEMBER 15. Chapter Smourrage chapter Accounting Province Supervisor.

DECEMBER 20. Due to Supervisor of Chapter Accounting from chapter treasurer: November report, assessment roll, expense sheet, from chapters reporting monthly.

JANUARY 5. Chapter corresponding secretary prepare and mail chapter letter for ARROW to reach Chapter Letter Editor by January 16.

JANUARY 10. Chapter president send letter to Province President.

JANUARY 16. Chapter president send letter to Province President.

JANUARY 15. Chapter pledge supervisor send letter to Province President.

JANUARY 15. Chapter corresponding secretary notify Central Office if supplies for spring work have not been received. Return receipt for supplies to the Central Office immediately after supplies have been received and distributed.

JANUARY 15. Chapter treasurer is responsible for the sending of the annual report of the Chapter House Corporation to the Assistant to the Grand Treasurer and the Province President, and for the sending of a \$5.00 fee for honding the treasurer of the House Corporation. Blanks for the report will be sent to the treasurer of the House Corporation who makes out the report and sends the \$5.00 fee, but the chapter treasurer must see that both reports and fee are sent. JANUARY 15. Deadline for material for March ARROW.

JANUARY 20. Due to Supervisor of Chapter Accounting from chapter treasurer: December report, assessment roll, expense sheet, from chapters reporting monthly and quarterly.

JANUARY 25. Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Province Supervisor.

Province Superise Successful Control of the National Historian and cone copy to the Province President, State of the National Historian and one copy to the Province President, FEBRUARY 19, Chapter president send letter to Province President.

President, FEBRUARY 10. Final date for the election of chapter officers, FEBRUARY 13. Chapter corresponding secretary send one copy of officer list to Central Office. FEBRUARY 15. Final date for chapter president to send nomination of candidates for the Amy Burnham Onken award to the Province President, (See Bulletin on Official Pi Beta Phi Awards.)

to the Province President, (See Bulletin on Omera Price Phil Awards.)
FEBRUARY 15. Chapter activity chairman send report to the Province President.
FEBRUARY 15. Censors submit plans for chapter meeting programs for the second semester.
FEBRUARY 26. Due to Supervisor of Chapter Accounting from chapter treasurer: January report, assessment roll, expense abect, from chapters reporting monthly.
FEBRUARY 25. Chapter acholarship chairman send letter to Province Supervisor and send copies of Blank 21 to National Scholarship Chairman, Province Supervisor of President. Send Forms A and B to Province Supervisor of Scholarship. Scholarship Chairman, Province Supervisor, and Province President. Send Forms A and B to Province Supervisor of Scholarship.

MARCH 1. Chapter treasurer send a report to the Assistant to the Grand Treasurer giving names and addresses of members delinquent in their payments of chapter dues and fees. Include the amount and duration of their delinquency.

MARCH 1. Bilank of Instructions of Officers should be filled out and sent to the Central Office.

MARCH 1. Bilank of Instructions of Officers should be filled out and sent to the Central Office.

MARCH 1 (or before if possible). Chapter vice-president within have been placed in the card file.

MARCH 1 (or before if possible). Chapter vice-president send one copy of Membership Lists to the Central Office.

MARCH 1 (or before if possible). Chapter corresponding secretary send one copy of active list to the Central Office.

MARCH 1. Chapter orresponding secretary prepare and mail chapter letter for AIROW to reach the Chapter Letter Editor not later than March 5.

MARCH 10, Chapter president send letter to the Province President.

MARCH 20, Due to Supervisor of Chapter Accounting from

chapter treasurer: February report, assessment roll, expense sheet, from chapters reporting monthly.

MARCH 25, Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Province Supervisor. Also send to National Scholarship Chairman first semester rating of chapter and scholarship ring o k form.

MARCH 31. Final date for mailing of annual frasternity examination for active members to Province Supervisor of Fraternity Study and Examination.

APRIL 1. Chapter scholarship chairman send to Province President:

(1) First semester rating of chapter

President:
(1) First semester rating of chapter
(2) Plans for study for actives and pledges
(3) Winner of Scholarship Ring.
APRIL 5. Chapter corresponding secretary notify the Central
Office if supplies for completing year's work have not been
received. Return receipt for supplies to the Central Office
immediately after supplies have been received and distributed.
APRIL 10. Chapter president send letter to the Province President

dent.

APRIL 20. Due to Supervisor of Chapter Accounting from chapter treasurer: March report, assessment roll, expense sheet, from chapters reporting mentally and quarterly.

APRIL 25. Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Prov-

ince Supervisor,
APRIL 28, Founders' Day.
MAY I, Charter

APRIL 28. Foundars' Day.

MAY 1. Chapter corresponding secretary send one copy of
Annual Chapter Report to the Central Office. Keep one copy
for chapter files.

MAY 1. Order supplies for Department of Chapter Accounting
for next year.

MAY 10. Chapter president send letter to the Province Presi-

dent.

MAY 10, Chapter social exchange chairman sond material on Founders' Day to the Province Supervisor of Social Exchange.

MAY 15, Final date for election of chapter officers.

MAY 15, Chapter corresponding secretary send one copy of new officer list to the Central Office. Changes of Addressor are also sent on Addressograph lists furnished by the Central

Office.
MAY 15, Rush captain report to the Province President, out-lining plans for summer and fall rushing.
MAY 15, Chapter activity chairman report to the Province

Inding plans for summer and fall rushing.

MAY 15. Chapter activity chairman report to the Province President.

MAY 26. Each senior is required to fill out a blank called "Senior Application to an Alumnse Club Membership," and give the chapter treasurer \$1.00. The chapter treasurer is required to forward the Senior Applications and money to the Province President. Senior Applications and money to the Province President Senior dues of mid-year graduates at this time. Canadian chapters send Senior dues to the Assistant to the Grand President, if Province President is located in U.S.A.

MAY 20. Due to Supervisor of Chapter Accounting from chapter treasurer: April report, assessment roll, expense sheet, from chapters reporting monthly.

MAY 25. Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Province Supervisor of Scholarship.

JUNE 1. Chapter president takes the pin of any girl who is financially delimpent at the close of school.

JUNE 1. Chapter historian submit chapter history to the National Historian and a copy to the Province President, JUNE 16. Copy of all printed or mimcographed bulletins used for rushing must be approved in advance by the Grand President,

JUNE 10. Chapter president send letter to the Province Presi-

JUNE 10. Due to Supervisor of Chapter Accounting, from chapter treasurer: Final report, assessment roll, expense sheet, 2 reconcilement sheets, sheets A, B, and C, from all

JUNE 5. Chapter scholarship chairman send report and pic-tures of honor students to National Scholarship Chairman, using Scholarship Blank \$4. Send a copy also to the Province President.

Reports of Panhellenic delegates are requested semi-annually by the Grand President and blanks for this purpose are sent out to her.

#### ALUMNÆ

Make checks for Settlement School Donations payable to the Treasurer Settlement School Committee, and send to Province Vice-President.

Make checks for Loan Fund Donations payable to the Chairman of the Loan Fund Committee, and send to Province Vice-President.

Make checks for Holt House Contributions payable to the Treasurer of the Holt House Committee, and send to Province Vice-President.

Individual contributions to the Holt House Fund, send direct to Treasurer of Holt House Committee.

National alumnæ dues to Province Vice-Presidents.

Orders for badges, jewelry, and novelties to Pi Beta Phi Central Office, Marshall, Ill.

ARROW subscriptions to Central Office,

Magazine subscriptions to Magazine Agency, Central Office.

Endowment Fund payments due on pledges to Treasurer of Endowment Fund Committee, Mary Campbell Gregory (Mrs. J. K.), E. Dickson Street, Fayetteville, Ark.

NOTICE TO U.S. CHAPTERS AND CLUBS IN ALPHA WEST PROVINCE. Send all dues or donations and payments which you would regularly send to your Prevince President or Province Vice-President to the Assistant to the Grand Treasurer, Mrs. E. L. Holton, 217 N. 14th St., Manhatan, Kans. This exception is made because your Province President and Vice-President are residents of Canada.

NOTICE TO CARADIAN ALUMNÆ CLUBS: Kindly make out checks for alumnæ dues, Settlement School, Loan Fund, Holt House to "PI BETA PHI FRATERNITY" and send them to Isabel A. Clark, 196 Elm St., Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada, Please arrange for exchange which is charged for depositing checks outside your out; Be sure to advise to which account the check is to be deposited, that is, for dues, Settlement School, Loan Fund, Holt House (Restoration or Maintenance),

#### FRATERNITY DIRECTORY

FOUNDERS OF THE FRATERNITY

For Fanny Whitenack Libbey (deceased).
Inez Smith Soule (deceased).
Margaret Campbell (deceased).
Libbie Brook Gaddis (deceased).
Jennie Horne Turnbull (deceased).
Jennie Nicol, M.D. (deceased).
Fannie Thomson (deceased).
Nancy Black Wallace (deceased).
Ada Bruen Grier (deceased).
Rosa Moore (deceased).
Emma Brownlee Kilgore (deceased).
Clara Brownlee Hutchinson (deceased).

#### PRESIDENT EMERITUS

Mary L. Keller, Westhampton College, University of Richmond, Va.

#### GRAND COUNCIL

Grand President—Amy Burnham Onken, Chapin, III.
Grand Vice-President—Ruth Barrett Smith (Mrs. Warren T.), Lake Stevens, Wash.
Grand Secretary—Lois Snyder Finger (Mrs. Ray H.), 606 N. Elm Dr., Beverly Hills, Calif.
Grand Treasurer—Lois Franklin Stoolman (Mrs. A. W.), 1001 S. 3rd St., Champaign, III.
ARROW Editor—Adèle Taylor Alford (Mrs. T. N.), 930 Olive Ave., Coronado, Calif.

Assistant to Grand President—Isabel A. Clark, 196 Elm St., River Heights, Winnipeg, Man., Can.
Assistant to Grand Vice-President—Marianne Reid Wild (Mrs. Robert S.), 445 E. 71st St., Indianapolis, Ind.
Assistant to Grand Treasurer—Lillian Beck Holton (Mrs. Edwin Lee), 217 N. 14th St., Manhattan, Kan.

#### NATIONAL HISTORIAN

Frances Rosser Brown (Mrs. Stacey Lewis), 1511 Boston Ave., Muskogee, Okla.

#### NATIONAL BOARD OF TRUSTEE FUNDS

Chairman—Lois Franklin Stoolman (Mrs. A. W.), 1001 S. 3rd St., Champaign, Ill.; Mary Stuart Kinder (Mrs. Jean), 1144 Crestdale Rd., Lincoln, Neb.; Elizabeth Heitmuller Love (Mrs. Ernest T.), 175 Gramercy Pl., Glen Rock, N.J.; Myrtle Ziemer Hawkins (Mrs. Prince), 546 Court St., Reno, Nev.; Amy Burnham Onken, Chapin, Ill.

#### NATIONAL SUPERVISOR OF CHAPTER ACCOUNTING AND ASSISTANTS

Ada L. Waugh, 1556 Glendon Ave., Los Angeles, Calif. National Supervisor.

Lois Boardman Nichols (Mrs. H. W.), 816 N. San Gabriel Blvd., San Gabriel, Calif., Alpha East, Alpha West,

Gamma, Zeta Provinces.

Edwinna Reed Perkins (Mrs. L. J.), 360 North Saltair, Brentwood Highlands, Los Angeles, Calif., Beta, Delta, Eta Provinces.

Ethel Hardie MacFarland (Mrs. Wendell Stewart), 1850 Bentley Ave., Los Angeles, Calif., Epsilon, Theta, Iota Jean Cleveland Foster, 10937 Wellworth Ave., Los Angeles, Calif., Kappa, Lambda, Mu Provinces.

#### PI BETA PHI MAGAZINE AGENCY

Beatrice Stephenson Purdunn (Mrs. C. M.), Director, Marshall, Ill.

#### PI BETA PHI CENTRAL OFFICE

Director of Central Office-Beatrice Stephenson Purdunn (Mrs. C. M.), Marshall, Ill.

#### SETTLEMENT SCHOOL COMMITTEE

Chairman—Ethel Hogan Copp (Mrs. Joseph P.), 424 Muirfield Rd., Los Angeles, Calif.

Treasurer—Lolita S. Prouty (Mrs. Frank H.), 1760 Locust St., Denver, Colo.

Editor of News from Little Pigeon, Publicity—Mildred Odell Sale (Mrs. Clarence M.), 3741 Purdue, Dallas, Tex.

Programs and Publicity—Elizabeth Brainard LeRoy (Mrs. Harris G.), 142 Forest St., Winchester, Mass.

Secretary, Ways and Means—Ann Leichliter Munn (Mrs. Hiram), 726 Duff, Ames, Iowa.

Director, General Information, Applications for Positions—Elizabeth Comstock Peck (Mrs. Charles C.), Pi Beta Phi

Settlement School, Gatlinburg, Tenn.

Arrowcraft Department Orders for Products, Information Concerning Fireside Industries—Atrowcraft Shop, Pi Beta

Phi Settlement School, Gatlinburg, Sevier County, Tenn.

#### STANDING COMMITTEES

Committee on Extension—Mildred Bowers Baliman (Mrs. Richard), 5429 Western, Omaha, Neb., Chairman Members of Committee: Loretta Mercer LaClair (Mrs. Charles H., Jr.), 820 W. Marshall St., Norristown, Pa. Evelyn Gay Howe (Mrs. Walter S.), 1220 Madeline, El Paso, Tex.

Committee on Nominations for Active Session:

Mu Province Vice-President, Miss Helen Waugh, 1556 Glendon Ave., Los Angeles, Calif., Chairman
Lambda Province Vice-President, Emma Louise Daubert Thompson (Mrs. T. A. L.), 2311 E. 17th Ave.,
Spokane, Wash.
Vermont Alpha Delegate; Iowa Gamma Delegate; Kansas Beta Delegate.

Committee on Nominations for Alumna Session:
Beta Province President, Lucile Douglas Carson (Mrs. Floyd H.), 15 Scenery Rd., Wilkinsburg, Pittsburgh,
Pa., Chairman

Committee on Scholarship—Marie Borries, 1804 Fernwood, Louisville, Ky., Chairman
Assistant Chairman—Sally Sandidge Stiglitz (Mrs. William G., Jr.), 1334 Cherokee Rd., Louisville, Ky.
Province Supervisors on Scholarship:
Alpha, East—Clara Dell Parks Haggeman (Mrs. J. F.), 32 Merrimack St., Concord, N.H.
Alpha, West—Ann Little, Ontario Hospital, London, Ont., Can.
Beta—Janice Boone Seibert (Mrs. George H.), 30 Oakland Ave., Elm Grove, W.Va.
Gamma—Maude Alice Martin Davis (Mrs. C. B.), 160 Lockland Ave., Winston-Salem, N.C.
Delta—Virginia Neely, 300 S. Brainard Ave., La Grange, Ill.
Epsilon—Rose McColloch Dressler (Mrs. E. B.), 7240 Madison, Kansas City, Mo.

Zeta—Virginia Jones Foill (Mrs. Frederick L.), 925 Cedar St., South Jacksonville, Fla. Eta—Dorothy Coleman Thorman (Mrs. Floyd M.), 1221 Elm St., Winnetka, Ill. Theta—M. Regina Brennan, 219 Chestnut, Grand Forks, N.D. Iota—Jesse Nason, 111 North Happy Hollow Blvd., Omaha, Neb. Kappa—Robertellen Corbin Garrett (Mrs. Clint G.), 1401½ W. 3rd Ave., Stillwater, Okla. Lambda—Harriet Johnstone, 5203 18th N.E., Seattle, Wash. Mu—Virginia Dean, 2784 Fleur Dr., San Marino, Calif.

Committee on Transfers-Katherine Hosmer, 3 Claremont Rd., Bernardsville, N.J.

Committee on Transfers—Katherine Hosmer, 3 Claremont Rd., Bernardsville, N.J.

Committee on Fraternity Study and Examination—Gladys Reineke Finch (Mrs. Hugh A.), 17378 Warrington Dr., Detroit, Mich., Chairman Frostner Supervisors on Fraternity Study and Examination:

Alpha, East—Ruth Carney Lindstrom, 15 Lund St., Worcester, Mass.
Alpha, West—Rhea Nelson Poppink (Mrs. Everett), 91 Richland St., Rochester, N.Y.
Beta—Margaret Ann Black, 128 W. Franklin St., Baltimore, Md.
Gamma—Jane McGraw, 4607 Connecticut Ave. N.W., Washington, D.C.
Delta—Margaret Lou May, 914 Atwater, Bloomington, Ind.
Epsilon—Florence Hunt Isert, 1823 Edgeland Ave., Louisville, Ky.
Zeta—Barbara Seaman, 1028 S. 40th, Birmingham, Ala.
Eta—Kathryn Leutwiler Sloan (Mrs. R. C.), 1420 Lowell, Springfield, Ill.
Theta—Josephine Rogers Carper (Mrs. Donald B.), R.R. 1, Mt. Pleasant, Iowa.
Lota—Bettv McClellan, 4103 E., 17th St., Denver, Colo.
Kappa—Helen Marie Robinson, 1609 S. Newport, Tulsa, Okla.
Lambda—Ruth E. Sturley, 3119 N., 27th St., Tacoma, Wash.
Mu—Virginia Miller Tatom (Mrs. William Leigh), 10602 Kinnard, Los Angeles, Calif.
Committee on Loan Fund—Josephine McCleverty, 602 McIrose Ave. N., Seattle, Wash., Chairman

Committee on Loan Fund—Josephine McCleverty, 602 Melrose Ave. N., Seattle, Wash., Chairman Committee Members:
Emma J. Woerner, 912 Cherokee Rd., Louisville, Ky.
Edith Bacon, 958 5th St., Santa Monica, Calif.

Committee on Social Exchange-Frances Keen Jeffries (Mrs. Charles H.), 240 S. Palm Dr., Beverly Hills, Calif.,

nmittee on Social Exchange—Frances Keen Jeffries (Mrs. Charles H.), 240 S. Palm Chairman
Province Supervisors on Social Exchange Committee:
Alpha, East—Barbara Butterfield, Manchester, Vt.
Alpha, East—Barbara Butterfield, Manchester, Vt.
Alpha, West—Isabella Phelps, Newport, N.Y.
Beta—Louise Brosius, 325 N. Neville St., Pittsburgh, Pa.
Gamma—Mary Elizabeth Nash, 107 W. Myrtle St., Alexandria, Va.
Delta—Helen Sheridan, 38-G Donaldson Arms, Evansville, Ind.
Epsilon—Elizabeth Ann Sheppard, 4634 Lindell Blvd., St. Louis, Mo.
Zeta—Virginia McMahan, 1926 16th Ave. S., Birmingham, Ala.
Eta—Murine Firestone Cook (Mrs. C. Rav), 8143 Richmond Ct., Wauwatosa, Wis.
Theta—Winifred Cannon, 4745 S. Kimbark, Chicago, Ill.
Iota—Jean Moore Martin (Mrs. William L.), 521 E. 12th St., Winfield, Kan.
Kappa—Mattalou Marshall Roth (Mrs. Milo K.), 902 Josephine, Sweetwater, Tex.
Lambda—Mary Barbara Mason, 11137 89th Ave., Edmonton, Alberta, Can.
Mu—Luella Sharp Heath (Mrs. Rodoman H.), 770 Ashton Ave., Salt Lake City, Utah.

Committee on Fraternity Music—Margaret Kellenbach, 526 E. Fall Creek Parkway, Rose Court, Apt. 14, Indianapolis, Ind., Chairman
Committee Members:
Ruby Burtness Olmstead (Mrs.), 404 Sellwood Bldg., Duluth, Minn.
Louise Spalding Malin (Mrs. Douglas), 524 Galer Pl., Glendale, Calif.
Winifred Hudson Hossack (Mrs. J. Eric), 298 Keele St., Toronto, Ont., Can.
Dorothy Vale Durrand (Mrs. Harvey S., Jr.), St. Clair Inn, St. Clair, Mich.

Committee on Chapter House Building and Plans—Dorothy Hill Thrasher (Mrs. R. B.), 1909 Cliff St., Austin, Tex., Chairman Committee Members:
Marion Coe Palmer (Mrs. Willis H., Jr.), 10771 Rochester Ave., Westwood Hills, Los Angeles, Calif. Hazel Wallace Paddock (Mrs. W. F.), 1920 Shenandoah Dr., Seattle, Wash.

Committee on Publicity-

Hazel Wallace Paddock (Mrs. W. F.), 1920 Shenandoah Dr., Seattle, Wash.

mmittee on Publicity—Virginia A. Davis Hatfield (Mrs. J. J.), 2035 N. Meridian, Indianapolis, Ind.

Province Supervisors on Publicity Committee:

Alpha—Elizabeth Wolfington, 811 Earlington Rd., Upper Darby, P.O., Pa.

Beta—Candace Clovd Johnson (Mrs. H. C.), 39 Walnut, Crafton, Pittsburgh, Pa.,

Gamma—Harriet Wilmot Caldwell (Mrs. Wallace E.), 412 E. Rosemary St., Chapel Hill, N.C.

Delta—Dorothy Puckett Pence (Mrs. R. C.), 915 S. 10th, Lafayette, Ind.

Epsilon—Mrs. Mark Duderstadt, 401 6th St., Fort Madison, Iowa.

Zeta—Charlotte Stevens, 524 W. College, Tallahassee, Fla.

Eta—Hazel Murdock Murkland (Mrs. Philip), 743 Park Ave., Beloit, Wis.

Theta—Edna Westfall Foster (Mrs. Wayne J.), 2304 Hillicrest Dr., Cedar Rapids, Iowa.

Iota—Gladys Kirchner Bunten (Mrs. Joseph C.), 4020 Bent, Cheyenne, Wyo.

Kappa—Frankie Cohran Hill (Mrs. Raymond H.), 2310 San Gabriel, Austin, Tex.

Lambda—Elva Ayler Cowan (Mrs. Frank T.), 411 W. Garfield, Bozeman, Mont.

Mu—Alice Burns, 431 S. Camden Dr., Beverly Hills, Calif.

Committee on Chaperons-Miss Jessie W. Lockett, 235 N. Fairview, Decatur, Ill., Chairman

Committee for Holt House-Lorette Chapman Terrell (Mrs. Frank H.), 824 W. 60th Ter., Kansas City, Mo., Chairman

Adaline Ward Barnum (Mrs. Lester E.), 220 S. 8th St., Monmouth, Ill.

Geraldine Gushard Sproat (Mrs. Philip H.), 640 S. Siegel St., Decatur, Ill.

Edna Uhler Gillman (Mrs. William Franklin), 1016 N. 16th St., Burlington, Iowa.

Iantha Silence Perfect (Mrs. Dallas E.), 5128 N. Diversey Blvd., Milwaukee, Wis. (Treasurer)

Army and Navy Auxiliary—Chairman, Army; Phyllis O'Day, Washington B, c/o H. E. Gregory. 5203 38th N.E., Seattle, Wash. Navy: Elizabeth Hawkins Custer (Mrs. Ben Scott), California A, Naval Air Station, Pensacola,

Committee for War Work—Chairman: Consult Grand President.

Subchairman for active chapters: Anne McDonald D'Aule (Mrs. John F.), California I, 509 N. Las Palmas, Los Angeles, Calif. Subchairman for alumna clubs: Ruth Jane Dunlop Wheeler (Mrs. Raymond Holder), Oregon A, 1108 West Hills Ter., Lawrence, Kan. Subchairman for Canadian Clubs and Chapters: Mary Foley, 25 Bloomingdale Terrace, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada.

#### NATIONAL PANHELLENIC CONGRESS

Pi Beta Phi Representative—Amy Burnham Onken, Chapin, III.
Chairman—Mrs. M. C. Burnaugh, B Σ O, 423 Blackhawk St., Chicago, III.
Committee on College Panhellenics—Mrs. Arthur K. Anderson, 123 S. Sparks St., State College, Pa.

## Active Chapter Directory

## Corresponding Secretaries

#### ALPHA PROVINCE EAST

President—Hazel Sawyer Everett (Mrs. Victor E.), 883 Broadway, South Portland, Me.

Maine Alpha—University of Maine, Mary Lovely, 30 N. 4th St., Old Town, Me. (University located at Orono, Me.)

Nova Scotia Alpha—Dalhousie University, Yvonne Mounsey, Shirreff Hall, Halifax, N.S., Canada.

Vermont Alpha—Middlebury College, Barbara Higham, Hepburn Hall, Middlebury, Vt.

Vermont Beta—University of Vermont, Marjorie Esther Abell, 31 Robinson Pkwy., Burlington, Vt.

Massachusetts Alpha—Boston University, Jean MacDonald, B.U., C.L.A., 688 Boylston St., Boston, Mass.

#### ALPHA PROVINCE WEST

President—Elizabeth Harvey Murray (Mrs. K. S., Jr.), 810 Talbot St., London, Ont., Can.

New York Alpha—Syracuse University, Alice Bennett, 210 Walnut Pl., Syracuse, N.Y.

New York Gamma—St. Lawrence University, Dorothy Dake, Pi Beta Phi House, Canton, N.Y.,

New York Delta—Cornell University, Ora Jane Wenning, 522 Thurston Ave., Ithaca, N.Y.

Ontario Alpha—University of Toronto, Margaret Stock, 85 St. George St., Toronto, Ont., Canada.

Ontario Beta—University of Western Ontario, Audrey Garen, 338 St. James St., London, Ont., Canada.

#### BETA PROVINCE

President—Lucile Douglas Carson (Mrs. Floyd H.), 15 Scenery Rd., Wilkinsburg, Pittsburgh, Pa.

Pennsylvania Beta—Bucknell University, Doris Ranck, 35 Market St., Lewisburg, Pa.

Pennsylvania Gamma—Dickinson College, Marcia Mathews, Metzger Hall, Carlisle, Pa.

Ohio Alpha—University of Ohio, Catherine Barger, 6 S. College St., Athens, Ohio.

Ohio Beta—Ohio State University, Mary Frances Thompson, 2396 Andover Rd., Columbus, Ohio.

Ohio Delta—Ohio Wesleyan University, Jean Kendall, Monnett Hall, Delaware, Ohio.

West Virginia Alpha—University of West Virginia, Mary Faith Bailey, 1493 University Ave., Morgantown, W.Va.

#### GAMMA PROVINCE

GAMMA PROVINCE

President—Nell Anderson Spruce (Mrs. Samuel S.), 4309 Van Ness St., Washington, D.C.

Maryland Alpha—Goucher College, Helen Wine, Goucher College, Baltimore, Md.

District of Columbia Alpha—George Washington University, Jeanne Vietor, 1701 16th St. N.W., Washington, D.C.

Virginia Alpha—Randolph-Macon Woman's College, Helen Reinartz, Randolph-Macon College, Lynchburg, Va.

Virginia Gamma—College of William and Mary, Jean Handy, Pi Beta Phi House, Williamsburg, Va.

North Carolina Alpha—University of North Carolina, Anne Archer, 401 Spencer Hall, Chapel Hill, N.C.

North Carolina Beta—Duke University, Margaret Mercer, College Station, Durham, N.C.

South Carolina Alpha—University of South Carolina, Jeanne Stafford, Sims Dormitory, University of South Carolina,

Columbia, S.C.

#### DELTA PROVINCE

President—Vivian Lyon Moore (Mrs. D. K.), 25 S. Broad St., Hillsdale, Mich. Michigan Alpha—Hillsdale College, Ann Harwood, 233 Union St., Hillsdale, Mich. Michigan Beta—University of Michigan, Janet Osborn, 836 Tappan, Ann Arbor, Mich. Indiana Alpha—Franklin College, Rose Marie Kinnear, 246 S. Hougham St., Franklin, Ind. Indiana Beta—Indiana University, Betty Thompson, Pi Beta Phi House, Bloomington, Ind. Indiana Gamma—Butler University, Edelle Smith, 5402 N. Kenwood Ave., Indianapolis, Ind. Indiana Delta—Purdue University, Jean McCartney, 1012 State, West Lafayette, Ind.

#### **EPSILON PROVINCE**

President—Ruth Wilson Cogshall (Mrs. W. B.), 2001 Emerson Ave., Louisville, Ky.

Missouri Alpha—University of Missouri, Lena Louise Dickinson, Road's End., Columbia, Mo.

Missouri Beta—Washington University, Marian Grimm, 7166 Pershing St., St. Louis, Mo.

Missouri Gamma—Drury College, Jean Haseltine, R.R. 7, Springfield, Mo.

Kentucky Alpha—University of Louisville, Elizabeth Murphy, 123 E. Shipp St., Louisville, Ky.

Tennessee Alpha—University of Chattanooga, Nell Turner, University of Chattanooga, Chattanooga, Tenn.

Tennessee Beta—Vanderbilt University, Patricia Komlos, McTyeire Hall, Vanderbilt Campus, Nashville, Tenn.

#### ZETA PROVINCE

President—Mary Hanley Brooks (Mrs. John Reese, Jr.), 1455 Edgewood Circle, Jacksonville, Fla. Alabama Alpha—Birmingham-Southern College, Ann Blevins, 2965 Rhodes Circle, Birmingham, Ala. Florida Alpha—John B. Stetson University, Donna Smith, 545 N. Orange Ave., De Land, Fla. Florida Beta—Florida State College for Women, Louise Perkins, Pi Beta Phi House, Tallahassee, Fla. Florida Gamma—Rollins College, Barbara Brown, Mayflower Hall, Rollins College, Winter Park, Fla. Georgia Alpha—University of Georgia, Virginia Starr, Lucy Cobb Dormitory, Athens, Ga.

#### **ETA PROVINCE**

President—Miriam E. Williams, 410 N. Madison St., Carthage, Ill.

Wisconsin Alpha—University of Wisconsin, Joan Carey, 233 Langdon, Madison, Wis.

Wisconsin Beta—Beloit College, Evelyn Young, Emerson Hall, Beloit, Wis.

Wisconsin Beta—Beloit College, Marilyn Doherty, Sage Hall, Appleton, Wis.

Illinois Alpha—Monmouth College, Joan Fulton, 403 N. 9th, Monmouth, Ill.

Illinois Beta-Delta—Knox College, Mary Onken, Whiting Hall, Galesburg, Ill.

Illinois Epiilon—Northwestern University, Dorothea Sprague, 636 Emerson St., Evanston, Ill.

Illinois Eta—University of Illinois, Barbara Jean Holmes, 714 S. Elm, Champaign, Ill. (University located at Champaign-Urbana, Ill.)

Illinois Eta—James Millikin University, Margaret Duerr, 155 N. Oak Crest, Decatur, Ill.

#### THETA PROVINCE

President—Ann Hager Trauber (Mrs. O. E.), 714 Stanton Ave., Ames, Iowa.

Manitoba Alpha—University of Manitoba, Joyce Johnston, 71 Cordova St., Winnipeg, Man., Canada.

North Dakota Alpha—University of Month Dakota, Verna Radke, 409 Cambridge, Grand Forks, N.D.

Minnesota Alpha—University of Minnesota, Marie Bergman, 5153 Upton Ave. S., Minneapolis, Minn.

Iowa Alpha—Iowa Wesleyan University, DaLoris Nihart, 308 S. Jackson, Mt. Pleasant, Iowa.

Iowa Beta—Simpson College, Jean Hurst, 410 W. Girard, Indianola, Iowa.

Iowa Gamma—Iowa State College, Barbara Caine, 2218 Donald St., Ames, Iowa.

Iowa Zeta—University of Iowa, Barbara Henry, 815 E. Washington St., Iowa City, Iowa.

#### IOTA PROVINCE

President—Coleita Aitken, 3427 Sheridan Blvd., Lincoln, Neb.
South Dakota Alpha—University of South Dakota, Barbara Pitkin, 118 N. Plum, Vermillion, S.D. Nebratka Beta—University of Nebraska, Mary Jean Warburton, 426 N. 16th St., Lincoln, Neb. Kaniar Alpha—University of Kansas, Jill Peck, 1246 Missispipi, Lawrence, Kan. Kaniar Beta—Kansas State College of Agriculture & Applied Science, Jean M. Shane, 505 Denison, Manhattan, Kan. Colorado Alpha—University of Colorado, Helen Alford, 890 11th St., Boulder, Colo. Colorado Beta—University of Denver, Virginia McCammon, 2380 Albion St., Denver, Colo. Wyoming Alpha—University of Wyoming, Alice Holland, Pi Beta Phi House, Laramie, Wyo.

#### KAPPA PROVINCE

President—Elizabeth Trumbo Branan (Mrs. Herbert L.), 508 "S." St. S.W., Ardmore, Okla.
Oklaboma Alpha—University of Oklahoma, Dorothy Campbell, 802 Lahoma, Norman, Okla.
Oklahoma Beta—Oklahoma Agricultural & Mechanical College, Pauline Payne, 83 College Circle, Stillwater, Okla.
Arkanias, Alpha—University of Arkansas, Lucy Jane Nunn, Carnall Hall, Fayetteville, Ark.
Texas Alpha—University of Texas, Kittie Ruth Jackson, 2300 San Antonio, Austin, Tex.
Texas Beta—Southern Methodist University, Nancy Johnson, Snider Hall, S.M.U., Dallas, Tex.
Louisiana Alpha—Newcomb College, Mildred Mort, 63 Audubon Pl., New Orleans, La.
Louisiana Beta—Louisiana State University, Caroline Williamson, Box 5018, University, La.

#### LAMBDA PROVINCE

President—Lou Ann Chase Tuft (Mrs. Stewart), 1938 S.W. Edgewood Rd., Portland, Ore.

Alberta Alpha—University of Alberta, Betty Cullerne, 11114 83rd Ave., Edmonton, Alta., Canada.

Montana Alpha—Montana State College of Agriculture and Mechanic Arts, Lucille Westlake, 315 W. Main, Bozeman. Mont.

Mont, Mont,

#### MU PROVINCE

President—Edyth Allen Manning (Mrs. Paul R.), 365 Escobita Ave., Palo Alto, Calif.

California Alpha—Leland Stanford Ir. University, Nan Whedon, Pi Beta Phi House, Stanford University, Calif.

California Beta—University of California, Eleanora Dawson, 2325 Piedmont Ave., Berkeley, Calif.

California Gamma—University of Southern California, Mary Rose Callicott, 647 W. 28th St., Los Angeles, Calif.

California Delta—University of California at Los Angeles, Beverly Sinclair, 1661 Buckingham Rd., Los Angeles, Calif.

Nevada Alpha—University of Nevada, Mary Prida, 203 Maple St., Reno, Nev.

Arizona Alpha—University of Arizona, Kay Thompson, R.R. 2, Box 194, Tucson, Ariz.

Utah Alpha—University of Utah, Jean Murdock, 679 S. 13th East, Salt Lake City, Utah.

#### SEND FUNDS AS FOLLOWS:

Settlement School Donations Loan Fund Donations Holt House Donations

Active chapters to Province President Alumnæ Clubs to Province Vice-

Senior Alumnæ Dues to Province President. National Alumnæ Dues to Province Vice-President. Initiation fees to Assistant to Grand Treasurer. Orders for badges, jewelry, and novelties to Pi Beta Phi Central Office, Marshall, Illinois.

ARROW subscriptions to Central Office.

Busey System reports on chapter finances to Assistant National Supervisor of Chapter Accounting in charge of your province. (See latest ARROW for name and address.)

Magazine subscriptions to Magazine Agency, Central Office.

Endowment Fund payments on pledges to Treasurer of Endowment Fund Committee, Mary Campbell Gregory (Mrs. J. K.), E. Dickson St., Fayetteville, Arkansas.

Holt House Subscriptions: Individual donations to this Fund should be sent to Treasurer of Committee, Mrs. Dallas E. Perfect, 5128 Diversey Blvd., Milwaukee, Wis. Active chapters send donations to Province President. Alumnæ clubs send donations to Province Vice-President. Make all checks payable to Treasurer of Holt House Committee.

## Alumnae Department Directory

Secretary for the Alamnae and Grand Vice-President—Ruth Barrett Smith (Mrs. Warren T.), Lake Stevens, Wash.

Assistant to the Grand Vice-President—Marianne Reid Wild (Mrs. Robert S.), 445 E. 71st St., Indianapolis, Ind.

Alumnae Club Editor—Lotta J. Weir (Mrs. Benjamin), 855 6th St., Charleston, Ill.

Send letters for March Arrow to Mrs. Weir by January 10.

Send letters for May Arrow to Mrs. Weir by March 5.

Send reports for year for September Arrow to Mrs. Weir by June 10.

Alumnae Personals—In charge of Central Office, Marshall, Ill.

Send Personals which include notices of marriages, births and deaths to the Central Office.

For September Arrow each by July 1.

For September ARROW send by July 1.
For December ARROW send by October 10.
For March ARROW send by January 10.
For May ARROW send by March 5.

#### Alumnæ Club Corresponding Secretaries

\*No Officer Lists Received

#### ALPHA PROVINCE EAST

Vice-President—Erminie L. Pollard, 7 Shultas Pl., Hartford, Conn.
Boston, Mass.—Mrs. L. H. Smith, Jr., 59 Clark St., Framingham, Mass.
Burlington, Vi.—Marion Herberg, 46 Cliff St.
Hartford, Conn.—Elizabeth D. Flower, 454 Washington St.
Montreal, Que., Can.—Margaret Kerr, 1418 Towers St.
New Haven, Conn.—Mrs. J. A. Schiavone, 67 Pickwick Rd., Hamden, Conn.
Nova Scotia Alumna Club—Mrs. R. D. Hurst, 5 Waegwoltic Apts., Halifax, N.S., Canada.
Portland, Me.—Alberta Hobson, 139 Washburn Ave.

#### ALPHA PROVINCE WEST

ALPHA PROVINCE WEST

Vice-President—Mary G. Herdman Scott (Mrs. Robert B.), 90 Rose Park Dr., Toronto, Ont., Canada. Albany, N.Y.—Mrs. E. B. Stringham, II, 309 Kenwood Ave., Delmar, N.Y. Buffalo, N.Y.—Mrs. H. A. Meinweiser, 111 Russell Ave.

London, Ont., Can.—Mrs. J. W. Burns, 67 Thornton Ave. Mid-Hudon Valley—Jane Julien, Vassar College, Poughkeepsie, N.Y.

Mohawk Valley—Mrs. Parker Scripture, 805 N. Washington St., Rome, N.Y.

New York City, N.Y.—Mrs. E. B. White, 260 Ocean Pkwy., Brooklyn, N.Y.

Northern N.J.—Mrs. S. F. Hauser, 94 Evergreen Ave., Bloomfield, N.J.

Rochester, N.Y.—Mrs. William D. Powler, 100 Selye Ter.

Schenectady, N.Y.—Mrs. Kenneth Buhrmaster, 506 Glen Ave., Scotia, N.Y.

Syracuse, N.Y.—Mrs. Guy J. Chaffee, 2827 E. Genesee St.

Toronto, Ont., Can.—Mrs. W. W. Evans, 416 Russell Hill Rd.

Westchester County—Mrs. Wilfred F. Howard, 205 Madison Rd., Scarsdale, N.Y.

#### BETA PROVINCE

Vice-President-Lois A. Stonebraker Vasek (Mrs. Joseph A.), 2878 Corydon Rd., Cleveland Heights, Cleveland, Ohio.

Akron, Obio—Mrs. E. J. Holmquist, 862 Eastland Ave.
Akbens, Obio—Mrs. Gordon Gray, 17 Franklin Ave.

\*Central Pennsylvania—

Cinimani Ohio—Mrs. R. E. McNaughton, 3366 Hanna \*Central Pennsylvania—
Cincinnati, Obio—Mrs. R. E. McNaughton, 3366 Hanna Ave.
Cleveland, Obio—Mrs. Frank Barton, 3140 E. Overlook Rd., Cleveland Heights, Ohio.
Columbus, Obio—Mrs. F. A. Lambert, 168 14th Ave.
Dayton, Obio—Mrs. J. H. Clark, 22 S. Horton.
Harrisburg-Carlisle, Pa.—Mrs. C. S. Rhein, 21 N. 14th St., Harrisburg, Pa.
Maboning Valley—Mrs. W. M. Wood, 394 Willard Ave. S.E., Warren, Ohio.
Morganiown, W.Va.—Mrs. Charles H. Ambler, 128 Simpson St.
Obio Valley—Mrs. Robert Johnston, 4515½ Guernsey St., Bellaire, Ohio.
Philadelphia, Pa.—Mrs. R. C. Miller, Jr., 2943 Oakfard Rd., Ardmore, Pa.
Pittsburgh, Pa.—Laura Ann Hays, Cathedral Mansions, Ellsworth Ave.
Southern New Jersey—Mrs. Albert Parent, 124 Morris Ave., Pitman, N.J.
South Hills, Pittsburgh, Pa.—Mrs. W. S. Ioler, 529 Parkview Dr., Mt. Lebanon.
Toledo, Obio—Mrs. A. J. Martin, 2464 Maplewood Ave., Toledo, Ohio.

#### GAMMA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Mary Alese Schaff Greear (Mrs. James N., Jr.), 3532 Edmonds St. N.W., Washington, D.C. Baltimore, Md.—Beverly Meyer Fertig, 3505 Edgewood Rd.
Chapel Hill, N.C.—Julia Booker, 203 Battle Lane.
Chapel Hill, N.C.—Rosannah Blair, 2062 Hopedale Rd.
\*Columbia, S.C.—Rosannah Blair, 2062 Hopedale Rd.
\*Columbia, S.C.—Mrs. Donald Weeks, 28 Rio Vista Lane.
\*Tri-City— Washington, D.C .- Mrs. H. W. Herzog, 22 Duvall Dr., Friendship Station.

#### DELTA PROVINCE

DELTA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Helen Anderson Lewis (Mrs. Benjamin C.), 14625 Artesian, Detroit, Mich.

Ann Arbor, Mich.—Mrs. Edwin H. Gault, 1600 Shadford Rd.

Bloomfield Hills, Mich.—Mrs. R. W. Angsman, 319 Greenwood, Birmingham, Mich.

Bloomington, Ind.—Jean Hardy, 317 N. Washington.

Detroit, Mich.—Mrs. W. J. Chappell, 14391 Warwick Rd.

Flint, Mich.—Liby Barnes, 2218 Frances Ave.

Fort Wayne, Ind.—Mrs. Eric Holmgren, 4316 Beaver Ave.

Feanklin, Ind.—Mrs. K. N. Rider, Jr., 589 Graham Rd.

Gary, Ind.—Mrs. F. L. Kempster, 2010 W. 5th Ave.

Grand Rapids, Mich.—Mrs. John S. Bundy, 1035 Eastwood S.E.

Hillsdale, Mich.—Mrs. W. C. McCall, Budlong St.

Indianapolis, Ind.—Martha W. Scott, 3926 N. Capitol Ave.

Lalayette. Ind.—Mrs. Curtis Walker, 1016 S. 11th St.

Northern Indiana—Jean Kinzler, 100 N. Prospect, Sturgis, Mich.

Richmond, Ind.—Mrs. Ralph Wunderlich, 1731 Hilldell Ave.

Southwestern Ind.—Mrs. Robert C. Holdcroft, 119 W. Indiana St., Evansville, Ind.

Southwestern Mich.—Mrs. Donald Whitman, Country Club Hills, Battle Creek, Mich.

Terre Haute, Ind.—Mrs. L. H. Wallace, 116 Van Buren St.

EPSILON PROVINCE

EPSILON PROVINCE

Vice-President—Katherine Kibler Lyons (Mrs. Donald E.), 4512 Broadway, Kansas City, Mo. Chattanooga, Tenn.—Mrs. Roy McKenzie, Jr., 918 Oak St.
Columbia, Mo.—Mrs. W. D. Blake, 1312 University Ave.
Jefferson City, Mo.—Msriorie Riepima, 402 Madison Ave.
Kansas City, Mo.—Mrs. John M. Dobbin, 1608 W. 37th St.
Listle Pigeon—Marilyn Abel, Pi Beta Phi School, Gatlinburg, Tenn.
Louisville, Ky.—Suzanne Nevin, 2210 Highland Ave.
Memphis, Tenn.—Mrs. M. A. Umsted, 2183 Washington.
Nashville, Tenn.—Mrs. Fred L. Parker, 1920 Portland Ave., Ivy Lodge Apt. No. 3.
St. Joseph, Mo.—Mary Marshall Miller, 2522 Francis St.
St. Lonis, Mo.—Mrs. F. E. Williams, 6208 Rosebury Ave.
Springfield, Mo.—Mrs. W. E. Taylor, 1900 S. Jefferson.

#### ZETA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Helen Cavenaugh Lloyd (Mrs. John H.), 802 Hardee Rd., Coral Gables, Fla.

Atlanta, Ga.—Elaine Fuller, 63 Lafayette Dr.

Birmingham, Ala.—Zoe Saunders, 3103 Salisbury Rd.

\*Payiona Beach, Fla.—

De Land, Fla.—Mrs. Wm. W. DuBose, 538 N. Florida Ave.

Jackson, Miss.—Mrs. A. E. Wood, Clinton, Miss.

Jacksonville, Fla.—Mrs. William Yandell, 2752 Hershell St.

Lakeland, Fla.—Mrs. Charles F. Abel, 426 W. Palm Dr.

Miami, Fla.—Mrs. W. A. Weatherup, 126 Salamanca Ave., Coral Gables, Fla.

Orlando, Fla.—Jane Maguire, 800 Euclid Ave.

St. Petersburg, Fla.—Mrs. John Dickinson, 2555 3rd Ave. N.

Tallabassee, Fla.—Mrs. Kenneth Collins, 1143 Terrace St.

Tampa, Fla.—Sara Lou Bowyer, 253 Hyde Park Ave.

#### ETA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Harriette Helen Avery MacClyment (Mrs. Geo.), 101 S. Maplewood Ave., Peoria, Ill.

Avon, Ill.—(Libbie Brook Gaddis)—Edith Crissey, Avon, Ill.

Beloit, Wis.—Milded Schettler, 2000 Sherwood Dr.

Bloomington-Normal, Ill.—
Caribage, Ill.—Beulah F. Smith.

Chicago Business Women's Club—Ruth Weyrauch, 2 Bank St., Chicago, Ill.

Chicago North—Mrs. W. A. Mueller, 2641 Estes Ave., Chicago, Ill.

Chicago North—Mrs. W. A. Mueller, 2641 Estes Ave., Chicago, Ill.

Chicago North Suburban (North Shore Club)—Mrs. Roger Carison, 9500 Learnington, Skokie, Ill.

Chicago South—Mrs. Henry O. Koechler, 6043 University Ave., Chicago, Ill.

Chicago South—Mrs. Henry O. Koechler, 6043 University Ave., Chicago, Ill.

Chicago Wess—Mrs. C. G. Dryer, 4135 Ellington Ave., Western Springs, Ill.

Decatur, Ill.—Janet Kunz, 1421 W. Main St.

DaPage County—(Nina Harris Allen Club)—Mrs. P. O. Gentry, 696 Grand Ave., Glen Ellvn, Ill.

Elgin, Ill.—Mrs. Charles M. Martin. 391 Fulton

Fox River Valley—Mrs. James Murphy, 637 Chestnut St., Neenah, Wis.

Galesburg, Ill.—Mrs. H. C. Garver, 670 Willard St.

\*\*Jacksonville, Ill.—

Joliet, Ill.—Mrs. H. C. Garver, 4102 Council Crest.

Mailwaukee, Wis.—Mrs. John Felsher, 4102 Council Crest.

Milwaukee, Wis.—Mrs. John Felsher, 4102 Council Crest.

Milwaukee, Wis.—Mrs. Lawrence McConachie, 500 W. 4th Ave.

Peoria, Ill.—Mrs. V. E. Kell, 757 Moss Ave.

Oak Park-River Forest, Ill.—Mrs. Lee H. Williams, 1147 Keystone Ave., River Forest, Ill.

Rockjord, Ill.—Mrs. Paul Wanless, 2004 S. Walnut.

#### THETA PROVINCE

THETA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Laura Storms Knapp (Mrs. Seaman A.), 822 Brookridge, Ames, Iowa.

Ames, Iowa—Mrs. L. K. Soth, 1221 Marston.

Burlington, Iowa—Mrs. J. B. Lundgren, 1514 Smith St.

Cedar Rapids, Iowa—Lillian Locher, 200 13th St. S.E.

Council Bluffs, Iowa—Mrs. C. A. Wheeler, 345 49th St. Pl.

Del Moines, Iowa—Mrs. C. A. Wheeler, 345 49th St. Pl.

Dulutb-Superior—Mrs. Ruby B. Olmstead, 404 Sellwood Bldg., Duluth, Minn.

Grand Forks, N.D.—Mrs. F. A. Hicks, 1209 Belmont.

Indianola, Iowa—Mrs. W. H. Seiler, 221 S. Gilbert St.

Minneapolis, Minn.—Mrs. H. M. Chope, Hazelwood, Wayzata, Minn.

Minneapolis Evening Club—Mrs. Eugene Seiberlich, 5324 York Ave. S., Minneapolis, Minn.

Mt. Pleasant, Iowa—Mrs. Frank Grube, 208 W. Pearl St.

St. Paul, Minn.—Mrs. S. J. McIntosh, 2201 Scudder.

Sioux City, Iowa—Mrs. W. L. Walling, Jr., 2831 Summit St.

Winnipeg, Manitoba, Can.—Mary Rogers, 269 Yale Ave.

#### IOTA PROVINCE

IOTA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Marjorie Harbaugh Colvin (Mrs. Russell), 1844 Collins Ave., Topeka, Kan. Bonlder, Colo.—Mrs. Irvin Dommon, 710 Concord.

Casper, Wyo.—Bette J. Newman, 1015 S. Durbin.

Cheyenne, Wyo.—Catherine M. Newton, E. Cheyenne Apts.

Colorado Springs, Colo.—Lucille Adams, 1602 Alamo Ave.

Denver, Colo.—Mildred Bailey, 1090 South Race St.

Hutchinson, Kan.—Mrs. W. R. Perkins, 3002 Farmington Rd.

Kansas City, Kan.—Mrs. H. J. Hoover, 444 N. 18th.

Laramie, Wyo.—Mrs. Nelson McKaig, Jr., Summit Apts., 709 Ivinson Ave.

Lawrence, Kan.—Mrs. Dean Alt., 1246 Mississippi.

Lincoln, Neb.—Betty Orme, 3025 Sheridan Blvd.

Manhattan, Kan.—Mrs. Paul Peak, 1008 Pierre.

Omaba, Neb.—Mrs. Ivan J. Klingaman, 525 S. 58th.

Poudre Valley, Colo.—Mrs. H. S. Looper, 330 Jackson Ave.

Papello, Colo.—Mrs. N. Hawk, 523 W. Evans St.

Topeka, Kan.—Nadine Blair, 1321 Buchanan.

Vermillion, S.D.—Yvonne Belson, 25 N. University St.

Wichita, Kan.—Mrs. Kenneth E. Rall, 843 Woodman Lane.

#### KAPPA PROVINCE

KAPPA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Olivia Smith Moore (Mrs. Henry, Jr.), 420 Pine St., Texarkana, Tex.

Andmore, Ohla.—Mrs. H. T. Branan, 508 S St. S.W.

Austin, Tex.—Mrs. Darn F. Searight, 1518 Enfield Rd.

\*Baton Rouge, La.—

Corpus Christi, Tex.—Mrs. H. I. Kirkpatrick, 118 Cole.

\*Corsicana, Tex.—

\*Corsicana, Tex.—

\*Dallats, Tex.—

\*Pallats, Tex.—

\*Ballats, Tex.—Mrs. Herman Tuck, 1036 N. Highland.

Fi. Smith, Ark.—Mrs. Dorset Crane, 2726 Reeder.

Fi. Worth, Tex.—Marjorie Mitchell, 1208 Thomas Pl.

Houston, Tex.—Mrs. John P. Thompson, 2055 Colquitt.

Little Rock, Ark.—Mrs. G. T. Huckaby, 307 Fairfax Ave.

Maskogee, Okla.—Mrs. Glotts, 2406 Columbus.

Oklaboma City, Okla.—Mrs. Jack B. Lehnhard, 2113 N. Bush.

\*New Orleans, La.—

\*Norman, Okla.—

\*Norman, Okla.— Oklaboma City, Okla.—Mrs. Jack B. Lehnhard, 2113 N. Bush.

\*New Orleans, La.—

\*Norman, Okla.—

\*Norman, Okla.—

Okmulgee, Okla.—Miriam Thompson, 509 N. Morton.

Ponca City, Okla.—Mrs. Lewis J. McCoy, 123 Elmwood Ave.

Sabine District—(Nita Hill Stark Club)—Fay Randolph Wilson, 1111 9th St., Beaumont, Tex.

San Anlonio, Tex.—Lydia Bryant, 230 W. Summit.

Shreepport, La.—Mrs. A. N. Barnette, 1533½ Stephens.

Stillwater, Okla.—Mary Margaret Reed, 402 Duncan St.

Texarkana, Ark. Tex.—Katherine Ione Steel, 1124 Hickory, Texarkana, Ark.

Tulsa, Okla.—Mrs. J. Denny Estes, 1344 South Owasso.

Tyler, Tex.—Mrs. Norman Smith, 430 S. Chilton.

#### LAMBDA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Emma Louise Daubert Thompson (Mrs. Ted A. L.), 2311 E. 17th Ave., Spokane, Wash. Billings, Mont.—Arlene Weedman, 841 Lewis Ave.
Boise, Idabo—Mrs. H. W. Allen, 2507 Regan.
Boseman, Mont.—Mrs. O. A. Parsons, 709 W. Harrison Ave.
Butte-Anaconda, Mont.—Mrs. O. A. Parsons, 1216 W. Aluminum St., Butte, Mont.
Calgary, Alta., Can.—Mrs. Charles Yule, Exhibition Grounds.
Corvalits, Ore.—Patricia Donert, Gazette-Times Office.
Edmonton, Alta., Can.—Betty Burke, 11145 86th Ave.
\*\*Fueene, Ore.— Covallis, Ore.—Patricia Donert, Gazette-Times Office.
Edmonton, Alita., Can.—Betty Burke, 11145 86th Ave.
\*Eugene, Ore.—
Everett, Wash.—Mrs. Clare R. Dobler, 3523 Federal Ave., R. 4.
Moscow, Idabo—Mrs. D. M. Loehr, 906 West C St.
Olympia, Wash.—Viola Sorensen, 1014 S. Columbia.
Portland, Ore.—Mrs. J. W. Copeland, 1222 S.E. 57th Ave.
Pullman, Wash.—Audrene Gregory, 1710 "B" St.
Salem, Ore.—(Nina Black Wallace Club)—Mrs. Elbert Roberts, 1525 N. 21st.
Seattle, Wash.—Mrs. Burnett Mason, 12302 Sand Point Way.
Spokane, Wash.—Mrs. William P. Gale, 921 E. 32nd Ave.
Tacoma, Wash.—(Inez Smith Soule Club)—Mrs. David A. Ekberg, 1206 North G St.
Wenatchee, Wash.—Mrs. J. O. Nicholson, Burke Hill Apts. \$66.
Yakima, Wash.—(Fanny Whitenack Libbey Club)—Mrs. Wilbur Logan, Wapato, Wash.

#### MU PROVINCE

WU PROVINCE

Vice-President—Helen Waugh, 1556 Glendon Ave., Los Angeles, Calif.
Berkeley, Calif.—Mrs. I. R. Kraemer, 15 Alida Ct., Oakland, Calif.
El Paso, Tex.—Florence Harris, 2920 Silver St.
Fresno, Calif.—Mrs. H. N. Ferguson, 135 Cambridge Ave.
Glendale, Calif.—Mrs. H. F. Campbell, 1900 Bel Aire Dr.
\*Honolulu, T.H.—

Long Beach, Calif.—Mrs. Glenn W. Pratt, 311 Carroll Park East.
Los Angeles, Calif.—Mrs. P. S. Postell, 5051 Dockweiler St.
Marin County, Calif.—Mrs. Kenneth R. Schramm, 426 Marion Ave., Mill Valley, Calif.
Nevada Alumna—Thelima Armstrong, 1008 E St., Sparks, Nev.
Ogden, Utab—Marian Holliday Jeremiassen, 563 23rd St., Apt. 1.
Palo Alto, Calif.—Mrs. C. Kenneth Brown, 1866 Loma Vista Ave.
Phoenix, Ariz.—Betty Burkhart, 1510 W. Almeria Rd.
Sacramento, Calif.—Mrs. G. Kenneth Brown, 1866 Loma Vista Ave.
Phoenix, Ariz.—Betty Burkhart, 1510 W. Almeria Rd.
Sacramento, Calif.—Mrs. G. A. Bonfils, 3544 Indiana St.
San Iosgo, Calif.—Mrs. G. A. Bonfils, 3544 Indiana St.
San Francisco, Calif.—Mrs. Ruth Smale, 1535 Emory.
San Mateo County, Calif.—Mrs. Hugh L. Davis, 466 Hazel Ave., Millbrae, Calif.
Santa Barbara-Veniura, Calif.—Mrs. Joseph H. McFarland, 214 Palo Colorado, Santa Barbara, Calif.
\*Santa Maria-San Luis Obsipo, Calif.—
Santa Monica-Westwood—Mrs. Philip W. O'Neil, 1641 Greenfield Ave., West Los Angeles, Calif.
Tucton, Ariz.—Mrs. J. R. Cullison, 2321 E. 6th St.

## Change . . . of Address

When you change your address for the Arrow please fill out the following form and mail it at once to Pi Beta Phi Central Office, Marshall, Ill.

Note: Mailing list closes September 1, December 1, March 1, May 1. To have the Arrow forwarded, ask the person forwarding to attach sufficient postage to the wrapper. Otherwise the Post Office returns it to the Central Office.

If your ARROW is returned on account of an incorrect address, it costs the fraternity 15¢. Please remember to send in your correct address when you move.



Pres	ent date Chapter Date of Init
Mar	ried Name
Mai	den Name
Clas	s Numeral Degree Received
	FORMER ADDRESS
	Street and Number
	City and State
	PRESENT ADDRESS FOR THE ARROW. (Check one.)
Peri	nanent
	Street and Number
	City and State
	PERMANENT ADDRESS FOR NATIONAL DIRECTORY
	Street and Number
	City and State
	Official fraternity title, if any

# Official Price List of Pi Beta Phi Badges

All orders accompanied by check or money order must be sent to Beatrice S. Purdunn (Mrs. C. M.), Director, Pi Beta Phi Central Office, Marshall, Ill. When ordering badges please give name of your CHAPTER and date of initiation. Make checks payable to Pi Beta Phi Central Office. CANADIAN CHAPTERS send orders to Pi Beta Phi Central Office for an okay. The order is then returned to Canadian chapter. Accompanying check and order is then forwarded to Birks & Co., by chapter. Send to nearest Birks' store.

	3.75
PRICES FOR JEWELS ADDITIONAL	
B-Close set jewelled points (Add \$3.75 to these prices for official badge)	2.50
2 diamonds and 1 pearl\$1	1.25
	9.00
2 pearls, opals or garnets, and 1 diamond	
1 emerald	1.50
1 diamond	
3 diamonds	7.50
2 pearls and 1 sapphire	1.75
2 pearls and 1 sapphire	badge)
D-Crown set jewelled shaft (Add \$3.75 to these prices for official badge)	3.00
	4.75
Alternate pearls or opals and diamond	7.00
Sapphires or rubies	0.00
Emerald	3.25
Alternate pearl and ruby or sapphire	8.50
Alternate diamond and emerald	2.75
Alternate sapphire or ruby and diamond	9.50
Diamonds 5	1.00
Engraved point	6.50
E—Raised settings on shaft (Add \$3.75 to these prices for official badge)	6.50
Stones may be set diagonally if desired	
2 pearls or opals and 1 diamond	6.00
	2.50
2 pearls, opals and garnets	
3 pearls, opals and garnets	7.50
3 pearls, opals and garnets	5.00
1 pearl or opal and 2 diamonds	6.00
1 pearl or opal and 1 emerald	6.50
1 pearl or opal and 1 ruby	6.00
3 emeralds 1	2.50
1 emerald and 2 diamonds	1.00
1 diamond 1	
2 diamonds 2	
3 diamonds 3	9.75
4 sapphires 1	1.00
F-Recognition pin, plain	2 75
	2.75 4.25
Recognition pin with 1 diamond	9.50
Recognition pin, gold filled	1.25
G—Pledge pin	
Pledge pin, gold filled	.75
gold	1.75
H—Coat-of-arms	
Coat-of-arms with chain, small	122
solid	2.75
	3.25
Medium solid	3.25
I—Patroness or Mothers Pin Large St	3.75
	mall
	3.25
K—Brothers pin or charm	1.50
	2.75
	1.50
	3.75
gold filled	1.75
Large 10kt.	6.50
	3.75
Novelties are available in Pi Beta Phi jewelry. To secure prices, illustrations and description to L. G. Balfour & Co., Attleboro, Mass., for "Balfour's Blue Book."	
Crown settings are all hand made. Badges supplied in natural yellow gold only and the	
white gold or platinum is prohibited excepting for settings.	

Kindly add 10% Federal tax on all U.S.A. orders for jewelry. Members ordering jewelry for delivery in states where the U.S.E. tax is in operation add this tax also.

L. G. BALFOUR COMPANY, Attleboro, Mass.

## The Fraternity Supplies Are Kept As Follows

BY GRAND PRESIDENT:

Blank applications for the fellowship.
Blank charters.
Blank notification of fines to Chapter President.
Blank notification of fines to Grand Treasurer.
Voting blanks for chapters on granting of charters.
Voting blanks for Grand Council.

BY GRAND VICE-PRESIDENT:

Blank applications for alumnæ club charters. Charters for alumnæ clubs,

BY GRAND SECRETARY:

Key to fraternity cipher, List of allowed expenses to those traveling on frater-nity business.

PI BETA PHI CENTRAL OFFICE, MARSHALL, ILLINOIS:

Affiliation Ceremony

Affiliation Ceremony.

Alumnæ Advisory Committee Manual, 15¢.

\*Alumnæ Advisory Officer Lists.

Alumnæ Club Duties of Officers.

Alumnæ Club Model Constitution, 25¢.

Alumnæ Club Officer Lists.

Alumnæ Club Officer Lists.

Alumnæ Club Roceipt Books (blue, triplicate receipts, no charge) no charge).

ARROWS (other than Calendar Year) . . . price to chapters for completing archives, 15¢.

\*Acknowledging letter of recommendation, 15¢ for

Affiliation and Transfer.

\*Introduction Transfer.

\*Transfer.

\*Affiliation.

\*Annual Report, due May 1. \*Broken Pledge.

\*Blank for Data on Chaperon.

\*Application Blank for Chaperon.

\*Application Blank for Chaperon.

\*The Relations Between a Chapter and Its

Chapteron."

\*Uniform Duties of Chapter House Chapteron.

\*Initiation Dues Blanks, 50¢. (Sometimes called GT1.)

GT1.)

\*Chapter Office Lists.

\*Consent to Pledge Blanks.
Contents of Archives Card.

\*Credentials to Convention.

Dismissal and Reinstatement Blanks.

\*Automatic Probation.

\*Automatic Dismissal.

\*Dismissal.

\*Dismissal.

\*Expulsion.
\*Honorable Dismissal.

\*Reinstatement.

\*Embossed Initiation Certificate (lost ones replaced, 50¢ each).

\*Fraternity Study and Examination Blanks, \$105, \$205, \$305.

\*Initiation Certificates.

\*List of chapter members at the beginning of each term. (Active Lists.)

\*List of chapter members not returning to college at beginning of each term. Officer Bill Forms.

\*Recommendation Blanks, 15¢ for 25.

\*Scholarship Blanks, \$11, \$2, \$44, A, B and Ring okay form.

\*Senior Applications for Membership in Alumnæ Club. \*Reinstatement

Club

Club.

Book of Initiates' Signatures (formerly called Bound Constitution) \$5.00 each.

(Before ordering chapters must have permission from Province President or Visiting Officer.)

Book of Pledges' Signatures, \$3.00 each.

Candle Lighting Ceremony.

Cards—to be used for ordering supplies from the Central Office, 10 for \$4.

Chapter Card Markers (green dots indicate dismissal, black dots indicate deceased).

Chapter File Cards 3 x 5 inches (in lots of not less than 100. The colors are white, salmon and blue).

354 per 100.

Chapter File Instruction Booklet. 154 each.

Chapter Manual, 154 each. \$1.50 per dozen.

Chapter Officers' Manuals:
President (loose-leaf leather notebook).
Pledge Supervisor (loose-leaf leather notebook).
Vice-President, Corresponding Secretary, Recording Secretary, Treasurer, Historian, Rush Captain, Pledge Sponsor, Censor, Delegate, Magazine Chairman, 25¢ each.
\*Chapter Presidents' Calendar.
Chapter Presidents' Reference Binder, \$1.75.
Chapter Recording Secretary's Book, \$4.50. (For minutes of meetings.)
Constitution, 30¢ each.
Cook Books, 50¢ each. (If purchased in dozen lots, 35¢ each.)

35¢ each.)

35¢ each.)
Dismissal Binder, \$3.50.
Pinancial Statement to Parents of Pledges.
Pinancial Statement to Parents of Pledges.
History, \$2.00 each.
Historical Play. I.C. Sorosis, 50¢ each.
Play. I.C. Sorosis, 50¢ each.
Historical Play. I.C. Sorosis, 50¢ each.
Historical Play. I.C. Sorosis, 50¢ each.
Initiation Ceremony, 15¢ each, \$1.50 per dozen.
Initiation Equipment. Two weeks' notice required.
Write to the Central Office for particulars.
Instructions to visiting officers.
Letters to Parents of Pledges.
Manual for Alumnæ Club Magazine Chairmen, 25¢ each.

each. Manual of Instructions for Contributions to the ARROW,

Manual on Province Conferences.

Manual of Social Usage, 25¢.

"My Seven Gifts to Pi Beta Phi." 5¢ each. 50¢ per dozen.

Manuals for Standing Committees.
\*Official ARROW chapter letter stationery, 15¢ per 25

sheets.
Official Correspondence stationery, 500 sheets and 500 envelopes, \$5.50.
Order forms for official badges and jewelry, 50¢ plus postage.

postage.
Outline for By-Laws of Active Chapters.
Panhellenic—Manual of Information.
Pattern for model initiation gown, 50¢.
\*Pi Beta Phi Book Plates, \$1.50 per 100.
Pi Beta Phi Symphony, 30¢ each.
Pledge Book—50¢ each. This book includes questions and answers for pledge examinations. A copy is furnished to each pledge without charge. The 50¢ price is a replacement price or sale to members.
Pledge Ritual, 20¢ per dozen.
Pledging Ceremony, 10¢ each, \$1.00, per dozen.
Policies and Standing Rules applying to active chapters.

Receipts for Province Vice-President, and Province

Presidents.

Receipts for Province Vice-President, and Province Presidents.

Receipts for Province Presidents for collection of Senior Dues. (Red Receipt Books.)

Record of Membership Book, full leather \$10.00. (Before ordering, chapters must have permission from Province President or Visiting Officer.)

Ribbon: Orders for wine and blue ribbon may be obtained in both shades in three widths at the following wires.

obtained in both shades in three widths at the following prices:

#2, 36 inch wide, 10¢ per yard.

#3, 36 inch wide, 15¢ per yard.

#40, 3 inches wide, 40¢ per yard.

#40, 3 inches wide, 40¢ per yard.

Ritual, 20¢ per dozen.

Roll Call of Chapters. (One is included with each Pledge Book ordered.)

Senior Farewell Ceremony, 15¢ each.

Songs of Pi Beta Phi, 50¢ plus postage charge. Songs of 1940 Convention in pamphlet form are included with each song book.

Social Exchange Bulletins.

Study Aids, 5¢ each.

The Wishing Well—a playlet, 15¢ each.

(Not all supplies handled in the Central Office are listed. Write for further information if you wish supplies not listed.)

BY CHAIRMAN OF EXTENSION COMMITTEE: Instructions to petitioning groups.

BY CENTRAL OFFICE:

Duplicate copies of ARROW files.

BY FLANIGAN-PEARSON, PRINTERS, CHAMPAIGN, ILLINOIS. Busey System and Accounting Blanks,

(\* Indicates sample blanks that are to be bound in the Chapter President's Reference Binder.)

# Publications of the Pi Beta Phi Fraternity

The Arrow: Official magazine of the Fraternity. Published in September, November, February, and May. Subscription price, \$1.50 a year; single copies, 50 cents; life subscriptions, \$15.00. Send subscriptions to Pi Beta Phi Central Office, Marshall, Illinois. Special, temporary life subscriptions for alumnæ, \$7.50.

# Order the following through Pi Beta Phi Central Office, Marshall, Illinois

The Pi Beta Phi Symphony: Artistically lettered in gold on a decorated card. Price 30 cents.

"My Seven Gifts to Pi Beta Phi": Printed on stiff cardboard; 5 cents each. 50 cents per dozen.

The 1931 Pi Beta Phi Songbook. Reduced to 50 cents, plus postage.

Historical Play "I C. Sorosis." 50 cents each.

Pi Beta Phi Cook Books. 50 cents each (if purchased in dozen lots, 35 cents each).

Pi Beta Phi Ribbon. (See page on Fraternity Supplies.)

Pi Beta Phi Bookplates. (See page on Fraternity Supplies.)

Initiation Robes. (See page on Fraternity Supplies.)

Pi Beta Phi History: 1936 edition. Price \$2.00 a copy.

Pi Beta Phi Pledge Book, 50 cents.

Founders' Day Play, with records, by Helen Hartley, California I.

#### Order the Following Direct

Pi Beta Phi Handkerchiefs: Orders should be sent to Mrs. L. E. Scott, 2309 Summit Ave., Little Rock, Ark. Handkerchiefs, 11x12 inches, 75 cents, 18x18 inches, \$1.00. Wine and blue, II B Φ monogram in corner.

Pi Beta Phi Wine Carnations: Orders may be sent to Mangel, Florist, Chicago, Ill.

Arrow Cake Pans: \$2.50. Tucson Alumnæ Club, Mrs. J. R. Cullison, 232 E. 6th St., Tucson, Ariz.

#### NOTICE

PI BETA PHI SETTLEMENT SCHOOL BEQUESTS Legal title for use in making wills:

"The Pi Beta Phi Settlement School, of Pi Beta Phi, at Gatlinburg, Tenn."

# OUR OPPORTUNITY FOR SERVICE

\* \* \*

Both to you in college and to your friends in the Armed Forces

TODAY your Official Jewelry Contract serves you more valuably than ever.

PROTECTION of your name and insignia has been made possible through your loyal patronage and cooperation in discouraging unauthorized manufacture of your insignia.

ANTICIPATING the present shortage of material and labor, we have prepared sizable stocks of your approved insignia for your protection, to assure you of reasonably prompt delivery free from any price advance.

\* \* \*

Free Copy
BALFOUR BLUE BOOK
features fraternity jewelry,
saddle leather, military insignia, pass cases, writing portfolios, and gifts for men in the
Service.

Mail post card for YOUR FREE COPY

## STATIONERY

Samples Free on Request Weekly letters on fine crested paper keep up the morale of friends in the Service. Use crested stationery for rushing.

FREE SAMPLES
Invitations—Programs—
Place Cards

CHRISTMAS CARD SAMPLES FREE Mail your order early. Send cards to all friends in the Service.

Official Jeweler to Pi Beta Phi

\* \* \*

L. G. BALFOUR

COMPANY

ATTLEBORO

MASSACHUSETTS

